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HISTORY  
More than 20 years of organic growth and market expansion 

2014 A Group restructured and ready for continuing development 
With the Group's restructuring now completed, Naturex's organisation is well-prepared to meet the 
challenges of future market trends. At the start of the year, the Group announced the acquisition of a 
majority interest in Chile Botanics, a young Chilean company specialised in the production and marketing of 
Quillaja extracts, an endemic plant of Chile, used as a foaming agent for beverages and as a natural surfactant 
for cosmetics. With this acquisition, the Group asserts its sustainable development approach, formalised by a 
charter and the creation of a Sustainable Development Committee a few months earlier, and its strategy to 
shift the focus of the portfolio in favour of the differentiated high value-added products. 

 
2013 The Group launches a new phase of development 

A solid foundation is laid with a capital structure supported by two long-term shareholders: SGD, held by 
Finasucre (the Lippens family) and Caravelle, held by the Martel family. 
The Group also has optimised its organisation and operating capabilities to meet the challenges of the rapid 
growth of recent years, by strengthening its workforce. 
Finally, Naturex carried out an €18 million OCEANE convertible bond issue, with €12 million taken up by 
France's Strategic Investment Fund (Fonds stratégique d’Investissement or FSI) and €6 million by Salvepar 
(Tikehau Capital), providing additional resources to pursue its future expansion.  
 

2012 Acquisition of Pektowin in Poland, Valentine in India and DBS in the United States 
2012 was sadly marked by the sudden passing of Jacques Dikansky. As a homage to his memory, Naturex 
foundation was renamed "Fondation Naturex-Jacques Dikansky". 
In 2012, Naturex finalised the acquisition programme launched in October 2011 with the addition of three 
new companies:  Pektowin in Poland, specialised in the production of fruit and vegetable concentrated juices, 
Valentine India, specialised in the production of fruit and vegetable powders and natural colours and finally 
DBS in the United States, specialised in cranberry extracts. 
These acquisitions allowed Naturex to develop industrial bases in two emerging countries with strong growth 
potential and acquire a portfolio of high value added products with the acquisition of DBS. 

 
2011 Burgundy acquisition (France and Spain)  

In October 2011, Naturex launched a rights issue that raised €48.8 million to finance a new acquisition cycle. 
Burgundy, specialised in the production and marketing of plant extracts for the nutraceutical, pharmaceutical 
and cosmetic industries, was the first in a series of acquisitions. With this addition, Naturex has two high-
capacity quality pharmaceutical plants and benefits from an enhanced product line for the nutraceutical, 
pharmaceutical and cosmetic segments. 
 

2010 Successful integration of the Ingredients Division of the Spanish group Natraceutical and continued sales 
development worldwide 

 Naturex doubled its size in one year and posted record organic growth over the year, while continuing to 
develop its sales network. 
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 HISTORY  
More than 20 years of organic growth and market expansion 

 

2009 Acquisition of the ingredients division of the Spanish group, Natraceutical 
 With this acquisition, Naturex becomes the world leader in speciality plant-based ingredients 

through a balanced global presence, high-performance and complementary production sites and an 
expanded product range. 

 
2008 Acquisition of the "Actifs Innovants" (innovative active ingredients) Division of French company, Berkem 
 Naturex benefits from a range of innovative plant extracts whose effectiveness has been proven through 

clinical trials. Naturex creates a Chinese subsidiary based in Shanghai with a quality control laboratory 
dedicated to sourcing raw materials. 
 
The Naturex Foundation is established. Its aim is to help improve the social conditions of the 
communities in those countries that provide Naturex with its raw materials. The Foundation supports 
missions in Morocco, Peru and India with its programme destined to be expanded to new projects in other 
countries. 

  
2007 Acquisition of Hammer Pharma and HP Botanicals, two Italian companies based in Milan. 
 With Hammer Pharma, Naturex acquires a genuine pharmaceutical site. 
 Acquisition of the American company Chart Corporation  
 This addition expands Naturex's product range for the flavouring and beverage industries.  
 
2005 Acquisition of Pure World Inc., an American company specialised in the production of plant extracts for the 

food processing, nutraceutical, pharmaceutical and cosmetics industries. Naturex now benefits from real 
identity in the US market and production facilities that allow it to supplement and expand its product range. 

 
2004 Acquisition of a rosemary extracts business held by two US companies, RFI Ingredients and Hauser 

Naturex becomes a leading player in the natural antioxidant market with its two renowned brands and three 
patents for its rosemary extracts. 
 

2002 Acquisition of the US company, Brucia Plant Extracts Inc. 
As such, Naturex supplements its product range in the nutraceutical market and strengthens its positions in 
the American market. 
 

1997 Naturex expands into the nutraceutical market 
Naturex opens a subsidiary in the United States (Mamaroneck, New York).…………………………………… 
The production unit in Morocco moves to Casablanca and is enlarged.  
 

1996 IPO and listing on the Paris stock exchange  
(NYSE Euronext Paris – Segment B) 

 
1992 Naturex is founded in Avignon by Jacques Dikansky and Thierry Lambert 

The company opens two factories, in Avignon (France) and in Kenitra (Morocco), and begins to produce plant 
extracts with flavouring, colouring and anti-oxidant properties for the food processing industry. 
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2012: Non-current expenses of €4.4 million and Non-current income of 
€6.1 million 
2013: Non-current expenses of €0.8 million 
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KEY FIGURES 
A new year of growth 

�  Sales of 9.7% 
at constant exchange rates  

� Good resilience for current operating income 
despite the comparison base from €6.1 million in non-current 
income in 2012 
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� Selected financial information 
 

€ millions - IFRS FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2011* 

Consolidated income statement    

Revenue 320.8 299.8 253.6 

Gross margin 196.0 175.5 148.6 

Current operating income (EBIT) 35.3 35.9 30.1 

Current operating margin (%) 11.0% 12.0% 11.2% 

Net operating income 34.5 37.6 28.5 

Operating margin (%) 10.7% 12.5%  

Net income attributable to the Group 16.8 22.9 15.6 

Consolidated balance sheet 31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011* 

Non-current assets 266.2 251.3 209.8 

- of which goodwill 111.8 114.9 93.5 

- of which property, plant and equipment 128.1 117.0 103.2 

Current assets 249.5 220.4 216.3 

- of which inventory 155.6 137.2 115.2 

- of which trade and other receivables 79.9 71.1 61.6 

- of which cash and cash equivalents 12.6 10.6 37.7 

Total assets 515.8 471.6 426.1 

Shareholders’ equity 273.2 258.6 236.6 

Non-current liabilities 106.5 86.1 103.3 

- of which other long-term debt 91.0 69.3 87.3 

Current liabilities 136.1 126.9 86.2 

- of which current financial liabilities 72.2 51.0 17.6 

- of which trade and other payables 58.6 64.5 65.2 

- of which bank credit facilities - 7.2 0.9 

Total equity and liabilities 515.8 471.6 426.1 

Group net financial debt 150.7 116.9 68.2 

Cash flow highlights 31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011* 

Cash flow 52.6 51.3 42.1 

Net cash provided by operating activities 7.8 14.6 25.6 

Net cash used in investing activities (32.9) (56.6) (25.9) 

Net cash provided by financing activities 33.9 8.5 20.9 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 8.7 (33.6) 20.6 

 

* Early adoption of IAS 19 
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LEGAL STRUCTURE  
An integrated multinational organisation 
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I. Naturex: global leader in speciality plant-based natural 
ingredients1 

Naturex produces and sells speciality plant-based natural ingredients for the food, nutraceutical, pharmaceutical and 
cosmetics industries. 
 

Naturex's strength is in knowing how to develop genuine expertise in specific products that form niche markets. 
 

Naturex's strategy has been based on sustained organic growth combined with steady expansion through selective 
acquisitions to develop a positioning as a world leader in the speciality plant-based ingredients market. 
 

This strategy has enabled Naturex to substantially grow in size, with revenue multiplied by twenty over the last ten 
years. This result highlights its expertise and an established track record in integrating companies or divisions of 
businesses offering synergies and creating value. 
 

The success of the strategy is based on a proven economic model driven in particular by: 
- High-performance and quality-certified industrial resources, supplemented by a high degree of expertise in 

the sourcing of raw materials and sustained research and development; 
- A high value added product range segmented around three complementary markets; and 
- A dynamic worldwide sales network. 

I.1  Unique expertise in the production 
of speciality plant-based natural ingredients 

Naturex controls all production phases, from selecting raw materials to the finished product based on an extremely 
rigorous quality control process. 
 

Research and development is a key component of this process, driving innovation in elaborating natural ingredients 
with high value added to best meet our customers’ specific needs.  
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
                                                           
1 According to Naturex’s assessment in view of its positioning in its markets. 

SOURCING R&D SALESPRODUCTION

Qualité & Traceability Expertise & innovation Technical know-how Proximity & Service
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Responsible sourcing with a focus on quality 

By leveraging its positioning as a world leader in speciality plant-based natural ingredients, Naturex has substantial 
sourcing capabilities that give it access to a wide selection of plants with an ability to select the best species in the 
world. 
 

This focus on quality is accompanied by a stringent procurement policy with suppliers in more than fifty countries 
through eight purchasing offices worldwide and coordinated by the Group's head office to best satisfy the quality, 
price and lead-time criteria customers expect: 

- Over the years, Naturex has developed close relations with its partners and sources 
its supplies: 

� Directly from local producers (cooperatives, independent growers, etc.) 
for irreproachable quality and perfect traceability of raw materials; 

� Near the production sites that represent strategic sources of procurement 
(rosemary, apricot kernels in Morocco, etc.), and 

� From industrial intermediaries for purchases of crude extracts (paprika, 
turmeric, ginseng, green tea, etc.) or concentrates (tomato concentrate, 
etc.). 

- Naturex selects its main suppliers with the aim of improving performances of the 
sourcing and collection processes, and moving to develop activities in the area of crop and plant harvesting 
defined and managed through partnership agreements with local market participants. 

- Naturex pays special attention when selecting carriers and forwarders to ensure the fully reliable transport for 
raw materials or semi-finished products to the production sites. 
 

The Group also shares with its local partners the practice of ethical standards essential for responsible and sustainable 
collaboration: 
- Naturex is a member of the United Nations Global Compact and ensures compliance with its principles, and 

notably in the areas of human rights, labour standards, anti-corruption and protecting the environment, 
- In March 2008, Naturex created the Naturex Foundation, an independent non-profit entity, whose purpose is to 

improve the living conditions of the communities located in the regions where the Group obtains its raw 
materials. Since its creation, the Naturex foundation has supported missions in Morocco, Peru, India and the 
Amazon region… 
 

Preserving biodiversity 

Since it was founded, sustainable development and preserving biodiversity have been a guiding priority of Naturex. 
With the assistance of an ethnobotanist, Naturex teams conduct very targeted worldwide sourcing campaigns seeking 
to develop close relations with local farmers and ensuring complete traceability for raw materials from selection to 
harvest.  
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High-performance industrial resources 

Over the years, Naturex has built a network of high-performance production facilities, primarily through acquisitions. 
Indeed, only the Avignon site in France and the Casablanca site in Morocco were created by the company. 
 
Its 15 production sites, located in Europe (France (2), Italy, Spain, United Kingdom, Switzerland (2) and Poland), 
Morocco, the United States (2), Brazil, Australia and India, allow Naturex to not only increase its production capacities 
but also to acquire a significant competitive advantage in terms of products, markets, expertise and innovative 
potential (approved pharmaceutical sites in France, Spain and Italy, the world's tallest spray dryer tower in 
Switzerland, etc.). Furthermore, it is important for Naturex to develop its own identity as a local producer as a way of 
strengthening local ties with customers. 
 
The industrial facilities at each site meet high quality standards and make use of highly advanced technological 
resources. Even though the service life of this equipment is relatively long, regular maintenance, technological 
monitoring and targeted investments contribute to the building a permanent industrial base and boosting Naturex’s 
level of expertise. 
 
Through the flexibility and the quality of its industrial resources, Naturex has developed genuine expertise, allowing it 
to provide customised solutions fully in line with regulatory standards. The production process is comprised of the 
following steps: 
 

- Extraction, transforming the plant into an extract. 
This extraction process requires expertise in the science of natural chemistry. This involves an ability to identify 
and extract the main aromatic, colouring, health, etc. agents contained in plants. 
 

- Drying, which involves extracting all moisture contained in the extract through evaporation until a dry product is 
obtained, or dehydrating a liquid product and transforming it into a powder, using a vacuum spray or drying 
technique. 
This is a major intermediate step in the process that requires powerful and substantial industrial resources to 
obtain premium-quality ingredients (tomato powders, ingredients for baby, etc.). For example, Naturex has the 
world's tallest low-temperature spray dryer tower in Burgdorf, Switzerland. 
 

- Formulation for transforming the crude extract into a customised extract. 
The formulation process makes it possible to modify the chemical and physical properties of the extracts to be 
adapted according to the final applications.  

 
 

At present, Naturex has one of the largest extraction and drying capacities in the world in its business speciality with 
annual production of several thousand tonnes of plant extracts. 
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Quillaja Saponaria

� 16 industrial sites worldwide (excluding the joint venture with AKER BioMarine) 
 

�

France Spain 
 

 
Created in 1992 

Avignon 
2 x 107,639 sq.ft. 

 

 
Acquired in 2011 

Reyssouze 
- 

 

 

 
Acquired in 2010 

Valence 
120,555 sq.ft. on 27.18 ac 

 
Acquired in 2011 

Palafolls 
- 

 

United Kingdom Switzerland Italy 
 

 
Acquired in 2010 

Birmingham 
60,277 sq.ft. on 2.71 ac 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Acquired in 2010 
Burgdorf 

93,646 sq.ft. on 4.20 ac 

 
 
 

 
Acquired in 2010 

Bischofszell 
105949 sq.ft. on 39.53 ac 

 

 
Acquired in 2007 

Milan 
78,576 sq.ft. on 5.68 ac 

 

United States Brazil Australia 
 

 

 
Acquired in 2002 

Shingle Springs-California 
26,479 sq.ft. on 3.45 ac 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Acquired in 2005 
South Hackensak-New Jersey  

96,875 sq.ft. on 4.94 ac 
 

 
Acquired in 2010 

Manaus 
105,949 sq.ft. on 3.95 ac 

 
 

 
Acquired in 2010 

Sydney 
215,288 sq.ft. on 0.98 ac 

 

Morocco Poland India Chile 

Created in 1998 
Casablanca 

38,750 sq.ft. on 1.4 ac 

 
 

 
Acquired in 2012 

Jaslo 
- 

 

 
Acquired in 2012 

Roha 
- 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Acquired in 2013 

Chile 
- 
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Strict quality control for full traceability 

Naturex owes its expertise not only to continuously optimised production facilities, but also to a team of men and 
women driven by the same creative and proactive spirit committed to helping customers develop their projects and 
provide them with a high-quality, personalised service, in compliance with national and international regulatory 
requirements. 
 
Naturex has adopted a quality control process based on the principle of continuous improvement, revolving around 
three major priorities:  
- Improve competitiveness; 
- Maintain growth momentum; 
- Improve the reliability of existing systems. 
 
This quality policy aims to (i) maintain Naturex's forward momentum relative to competitors and thereby confirm its 
position as a leader in the world market and (ii) optimise its organisation by improving the quality process every day, 
in line with customer requirements. 
 
Naturex has implemented quality control steps at all phases in the manufacturing process. 
- Incoming raw materials are sampled and completely analysed; 
- Each batch of plants undergoes a series of tests to check their identity and their quality before entering the 

production cycle;  
- Finished products (plant extracts) are inspected in order to comply with the most stringent analytical standards 

and guarantee consumer safety (pathogens, pesticides, heavy metals, etc.). 
 

This work is based on developing and validating new methods for analysing new products, in line with customer 
expectations. 
 
Finally, each new product developed undergoes a full review to ensure it complies with applicable regulatory 
requirements, customer-specific requirements and internal quality criteria. 
 
All Group production sites are equipped with an independent quality control laboratory with powerful analytical 
equipment (HPLC-MS, HPLC, PPSL, NMR, GC-MS, ICP, ICP-MS, HPTLC, TLC). 
 
On each site, a quality management leader coordinates the application of the quality management system and 
ensures it is improved continuously in the Company’s various departments through regularly updated documentary 
support, tracking indicators and scheduled audits, in order to carry out any corrective and preventive action necessary 
to ensure compliance with the objectives defined previously as part of the quality policy. 
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Sustained research and development 

For all of these processes (sourcing – production – quality control), research and development exercises a pivotal 
strategic role for the development of innovative, personalised and high value added solutions. Research and 
development represents approximately 5% of Group sales. 
15% of Group personnel work in the scientific department which includes R&D, quality assurance and regulatory 
affairs, quality control and the support laboratories. 
Spearheaded from the head office in Avignon, the Group's R&D labs are located in six countries (France, the United 
Kingdom, Switzerland, Poland, India, the United States, and Australia). It has furthermore has established application 
labs (front labs) in France (Avignon), Russia (Moscow), the United States (South Hackensack in New Jersey and 
Gainesville in Florida), Brazil (Sao Paulo), China (Shanghai) and Australia (Sydney) with the goal of creating regional 
hubs throughout the world located near customers. 
In laboratories with state-of-the-art technology, Naturex's scientific teams have developed unique know-how in the 
botanical identification, extraction and formulation of extracts. 
Over the years this work has led to innovative discoveries (specific properties of a natural ingredient, unknown agents, 
etc.) and the perfecting of new manufacturing processes. 

This strong involvement in research and development and capacity for innovation provides Naturex with a definite 
competitive advantage. Naturex's research teams regularly publish articles in international scientific journals. 
Naturex also works closely with its customers’ R&D departments for increased proximity and anticipation concerning 
their technical requirements, as well as with international university research centres to remain constantly up-to-date 
on the latest technological breakthroughs and create collaborative gateways to develop innovative projects.  
 
Selective collaborative projects: 

- ORTESA - A collaborative research programme with the University of Avignon for the analysis of eco-extraction 
processes 
The laboratory will be installed at the Naturex site in a 270 m² extension of its R&D laboratories managed jointly 
by Antoine Bily, head of Naturex's R&D and Pr. Farid Chemat, head of the green research laboratory at the 
University of Avignon. Its objective is to incorporate sustainability into all the extraction phases: choice of the 
solvent or technology, use of by-products, the reduction in the number of operations and the limitation of 
chemical alteration of plant extracts. This programme is supported by three-year funding from the French 
national research agency, ANR (Agence Nationale pour la Recherche). 
 

- SATIN (SATiety Innovation) project which aims to develop new satiety-enhancing food products that can help 
manage energy intake and weight control 
Naturex is an active partner of the consortium, which includes small and medium size companies, European 
universities, as well as multinational food & beverage companies from 9 European countries. This 5-year project 
will benefit from Naturex’s wide scientific expertise in biological compounds. Numerous extracts from Naturex 
will be tested, and several clinical trials will be carried out before 2016. The results of this research will contribute 
to the creation of new functional food and beverage products specially formulated to improve satiety. The SATIN 
project which includes in vitro studies and several clinical trials is 50%-funded by the European Union’s 7th 
Framework Programme (FP7). 
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� An organisation promoting in-house innovation 
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I.2  Three strategic and complementary markets 

Since it was created and through acquisitions carried out in recent years, Naturex's know-how in designing and 
producing speciality plant-based natural ingredients has been constantly progressing through continuous advances. 

The range of natural ingredients developed by Naturex has grown substantially over time, especially through the 
acquisitions carried out as part of its development strategy, and has become increasingly segmented in light of the 
specific properties offered by each plant extract and possible applications:  
- Flavouring, colouring, preserving and texturising properties for the food processing market; and 
- Health and well-being effects extended to the nutraceutical, pharmaceutical and cosmetics markets. 

In addition, Naturex benefits from a highly favourable underlying trend linked to increasing worldwide demand, 
including in emerging countries, for healthy natural-origin products, supported by increasingly strict regulations. 

To effectively leverage its business experience with its customer base and raise the visibility of its product range, 
Naturex is organised around three strategic and complementary markets: 

 

- Food & Beverage, for food processing industries and flavouring specialists worldwide. 
The Group's core business, this activity represented 57.4% of revenue in 2013. 
 

- Nutrition & Health, for the nutraceutical and pharmaceutical markets. 
This activity, which is particularly dynamic in the United States and Southeast Asia, but with increasingly strict 
regulations in Europe, represented 35.2% of revenue in 2013. 

 
- Personal Care, for the cosmetics industry plus beauty and care brands. 

This activity, which has substantial growth potential, represented nearly 2% of revenue in 2013. 

This segmentation makes it possible to design ranges, through a global offering of speciality plant-based natural 
ingredients perfectly targeted and adapted to the specific needs of each customer profile. 

Each product range is coordinated by a market manager serving as the interface between the various support 
departments (R&D, marketing, sales, etc.) and the customers. This makes it possible to provide all assistance and 
recommendations they expect and adapted to their specific constraints and requirements. 

Naturex also provides toll extraction services for selected customers.  
This high value added activity allows Naturex’s customers to use its extraction resources and know-how for their own 
specific needs. This business (5.6% of revenue in 2013) is based on long-standing sustainable industrial partnerships, 
involving close collaboration in light of the rather long industrial process that requires very specific technological and 
scientific know-how. 
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� A very large and evolving product range for a differentiating high added value offering 

Acquisitions made by Naturex within the framework of its development strategy have enhanced its product ranges 
while adding specific knowledge and additional know-how in a number of areas (plants, extracts, production 
processes, etc.). 
Naturex's resulting product range is consequently very extensive which makes it possible to offer multiple 
combinations for custom-made solutions. 

Food & beverage, the Group's core business 

This market is specialised in the design and development of speciality plant-based natural ingredients with flavouring, 
colouring, preserving, texturising and sweetening properties or properties that provide a health benefit. Naturex 
targets worldwide flavouring specialists and food processing manufacturers (multinationals, subsidiaries of large groups or local 
SMEs). 

The Food & Beverage product line is comprised of different ranges for food applications and beverages that make it 
possible to satisfy specific demands by manufacturers for innovative and high-performance ingredients and consumer 
demand for entirely natural products: 

- NAT stabil® is a range of plant extracts (rosemary, pomegranate, etc.) that improve the preservation of foods and 
beverages through their anti-oxidant property. 
 

- NAT arom® offers a rich palette of plant extracts (hydroalcoholic extracts, oleoresins and essential oils) for 
flavouring specialists, beverage producers and food processing manufacturers. Exclusive industrial development 
processes allow aromatic compounds to be protected from the natural loss and degradation of flavouring. 
 

- NAT color® includes two segments: 
� E-Color™designates a range of natural colouring additives. Extracted from natural raw materials, these 

additives that comply with European regulations cover a large range of precise and intense colours. They 
are formulated to provide a stable solution for all types of food processing applications. 

� VegeBrite™ covers a range of fruit and vegetable concentrates with colouring powers achieved without any 
extraction solvent, formulation additives or preservatives. These “Colouring Foodstuffs” meet the strictest 
criteria of the “clean label” designation highly valued by manufacturers. 

 
- NAT healthy™ is a line of plant extracts known for their beneficial health effects. It includes natural ingredients 

with physiological benefits (antioxidants, digestive, energising, anti-stress properties, etc.) for functional foods. 
 

- NAT F&V™ designates a range of fruit and vegetable powders based on a drying process that uses state-of-the-art 
technology. These powders are produced from fruit and vegetable concentrates and intended for applications like 
infant food, soups, sauces, seasoning, cereals, etc. 

 
- NAT textur™ is a range of apple and citrus pectin offered for customised applications in sweets, jams, 

preparations for yoghurt, other desserts, etc. Pectin is known for its gelling and thickening properties, but it is also 
a source of soluble fibres that present unquestionable nutritional and health benefits. 

 
- NAT taste™ is a range of ingredients to improve the taste of food products: 

� Talin® (Thaumatococcus daniellii) is a natural protein extracted from the Katemfe fruit, gathered in the 
tropical forests of West Africa. Talin® is a "multifunctional" ingredient that can notably react as a flavour 
enhancer or a bitterness masker. It can be used in beverages, pastries, sweets, etc. Talin® received the “Best 
innovative Stevia Product 2010” award at the Malta 2010 Conference on Stevia (natural sweetener), 
organised by ISANH (International Society of Antioxidants in Nutrition and Health). 

� Kemfe™ is a natural ingredient, also extracted from the Katemfe fruit with a sweet flavour that can improve 
the overall perception of taste.  
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Nutrition & Health, recognised scientific expertise 
This market is specialised in the design and development of plant extracts and ingredient concepts for nutraceuticals 
applications and plant extracts for pharmaceutical products.  

Consumer trends in the pharmaceutical / nutraceutical market (products sold in personal hygiene and beauty shops, 
dietary supplements, etc.), primarily address the concerns of an older and more urban population that pays more 
attention to well-being as well as a positive perception by public authorities in most countries towards nutritional 
programmes in favour of health, against the background of a stringent regulatory framework concerning health 
benefits and claims.  

Innovation is a key priority for development focusing on the objective of meeting the requirements of market 
professionals and complying with the regulatory authorities.  

The Nutrition Health product line is comprised of three ranges that not only comply with strict regulatory 
requirements (European Directives, ASMF procedures – Active Substance Master Files, etc.) but also with draconian 
controls by Naturex's partners (regular audits of Naturex factories by international pharmaceutical laboratories). 

Naturex’s teams include seasoned scientists who provide their expertise in identifying the exact characteristics of raw 
materials, assistance on in-depth bibliographical research and =conducting in vitro, in vivo or clinical trials. 
Regulatory and marketing materials are also made available to customers to provide a basis for creating concepts and 
marketing products under their own brand (compiling of regulatory files, patent filing, registered trademarks, 
positioning study, and information website for consumers, etc.). 

- NAT life™ is a range of patented natural ingredients, with clinically proven effects, marketed under registered 
trademarks for dietary supplements and functional foods. 
Among these innovative extracts may be cited natural ingredients that favour cognitive performance 
(Cereboost®), slimming ingredients (Svetol®), anti-stress ingredients (Cyracos®), ingredients that improve 
performance and energy (Powergrape®), extracts recognised for their action on discomfort associated with 
menopause (Lifenol®), a hibiscus flower extract to reduce the frequency of urinary infections (Utirose™) and more 
recently, two cranberry extracts , Pacran™, used as agents useful against urinary infections and Flowens™, 
recommended for the prevention of benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) as well as an ash tree extract that 
improves glucose regulation (Glucevia™). 
 

- NAT activ® is a broad line of pure plant extracts known for their beneficial health effects, formulated for the 
nutraceutical market.  
 

- NAT pharma™ is a range of plant extracts designed for pharmaceutical laboratories. This range benefits from 
ASMF files (Active Substance Master Files) compiled by the Naturex teams for many plant extracts, so they can be 
used in pharmaceutical products as traditional plant-based medications. 

 

Personal Care, a high potential market 

This market is specialised in developing agents, natural ingredients and plant extracts for cosmetics applications. 
The natural cosmetics market has very strong growth potential in Asia, Europe and the United States in the coming 
years (Kline Group Study). 
These trends confirm consumers’ (primarily women) awareness of the toxicity of ordinary beauty products, which 
consequently are turning to natural plant-based products and the increased number of cosmetics companies with an 
international scope launching natural products in response. The quality of the natural products selected for cosmetics 
applications and the various certification models are essential factors that guide the choice of consumers who are very 
demanding in this area.   
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The Personal Care product line is comprised of two ranges that meet the specific needs and requirements of the 
cosmetics industry. The scientific teams at Naturex make use of their expertise to identify raw materials that are 
perfectly adapted to cosmetics applications, select highly targeted and standardised extracts, and conduct in vitro 
trials for the formulation of unique extracts. 

- NAT beauty™ offers innovative agents. This range focuses on unique extracts whose mechanisms of action and 
activity have been proven by in vitro trials: 
� Macaderm™ is an anti-ageing agent derived from Peruvian Maca; 
� Effineo™ is a caffeine-free slimming agent derived from green coffee; 
� Seveov™ is a capillary agent that stimulates hair growth; 
� Aurealis™ is a moisturising agent extract derived from the flower of orange trees; 
� Dragon’s blood (extract of dragon’s blood – Croton lechleri) is a revitalising agent that repairs and 

regenerates cutaneous tissues for youthful skin. 
 

- NAT select™ is a range of plant extracts specially formulated for cosmetic applications.  
At the InCosmetics 2013 exhibition held in Paris in April 2013, Naturex unveiled its new Magic of Africa botanical 
collection, a new line of extracts sourced from the continent with legendary virtues. This collection's origin is rooted in 
the biodiversity of the African Ivory Coast (green coffee, cacao, kola nut) to South Africa (green rooibus) and Burkina 
Faso (hibiscus) and Togo (kigela). Each of these natural ingredients is proposed in the form of standard extracts but 
can also be fine-tuned through toll extraction to specific formulation requirements. 
NAT oleis™ is a complete range of botanical oils selected from around the globe with benefits recognised since the 
dawn of time. 
The latest collection of the range "Super Flowers" presented in Hamburg at the InCosmetics Trade Show in March 
2004, is a selection of delicate flower petals with evocative names (Blue Lotus, Torch Ginger, Jasmine, and Blue Malva) 
with reported efficacy supported by strong scientific data. "Super Flowers" constitutes a flagship collection that will 
strengthen the portfolio of plant extracts for the cosmetics industry. These ephemeral blossoms reveal a high 
concentration of antioxidants and free radical scavengers, like polyphenols and flavonoids as well as glycosides and 
polysaccharides. The raw materials undergo a selective extraction process to ensure a high concentration in botanical 
markers. 
 

 

     

 

"Magic of Africa" 
Collection of African plants 

 

I.3  An integrated global sales network 

Naturex operates worldwide through a fully integrated sales network present in 20 countries(France, Italy, Spain, 
United Kingdom, Belgium, Germany, Switzerland, Russia, Poland, Morocco, India, UAE., Thailand, Japan, China, 
Australia, United States, Canada, Mexico and Brazil).  

This local presence on all five continents results in a dense geographical coverage that increases Naturex's visibility 
worldwide, both in developed and mature countries as well as high growth potential emerging countries. In this way, 
it is able to respond to specific demands from multinationals in the food processing industry, 
pharmaceutical/nutraceutical industry and in the cosmetics sector. 
 

NAT oleis™, plant extracts 

"Super Flowers" 
Flower collection 
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Indeed, the presence of regional sales offices has several advantages: 

- Proximity with the main production sites and sources of raw materials; 

- Reinforcement of the relations with local SMEs or the subsidiaries of major international groups contending with 
specific issues linked to their site and their manufacturing process; and 

- Better visibility and local recognition which can form a point of entry into certain markets and a springboard for 
establishing positions, especially in Asia. 

This worldwide network provides customers with flexible, efficient and quick responses. 

Naturex combines this sales network with an industrial presence when opportunities arise that fit its development 
strategy in order to strengthen its local industrial base that further reinforces proximity to customers. 
 

A customer-centric focus 

In order to ensure customer trust and satisfaction, Naturex has agreed to provide raw materials of an irreproachable 
quality and constantly improving services, with very strict rules concerning safety and hygiene. 

A strong focus on customer demand is a key component of Naturex's strategy and a driving force behind the Naturex's 
privileged relations it cultivates with each of its customers. 

As such, Naturex's sales engineers identify customer needs and expectations and act as the interface with the various 
departments in the Group and, in particular, the research and development teams 

An international and diversified customer base 

Naturex maintains close and long-standing relationships with a highly diversified worldwide customer base that 
includes flavouring specialists, local independent SMEs, subsidiaries of large well-known international and 
multinational groups in the food and beverage markets, in the pharmaceutical and nutraceutical industry and in the 
cosmetics markets. 
 
These partnerships accelerate Naturex's development and strengthen its positioning in the various markets. 
 
 

Customised offerings of solutions 

Naturex's product range is not limited to offering a portfolio of standardised products. The value-added resides in the 
Group's ability to create customised technical solutions based on very precise specifications, defined beforehand with 
the customer's laboratories and Naturex's research and development department. 

Relations with the customer are initiated in the earliest stages of a product’s production phase, either on the occasion 
of a request to substitute a speciality plant-based natural ingredient for a synthetic ingredient or, above all, through 
long-term partnerships concluded within the framework of strategic projects concerning new product launches. 
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The project gestation period can be long (two to three years) and sometimes may never be completed or undergo 
many simulations in order to find the right compromise between the customer's requirements, the specific features of 
their final product and the properties of the natural extract. 

Bolstered by its expertise and based on the creativity of its teams, Naturex has successfully developed a highly varied 
portfolio of customised formulas and solutions, in line with customer requirements and in accordance with current 
regulatory practices. 

Maintaining permanent relations to build long-term customer loyalty 

Relations with the customer last throughout the product's life cycle in order to detect any improvements that can be 
made to the composition of the speciality plant-based natural ingredients and anticipate the customer's future needs 
based on market trends and changes. 

Naturex has set up a genuine centralised IT platform that makes it possible to compile a database that the research & 
development and quality assurance departments keep up to date, bringing together all of the created extracts shown 
in the Group's product portfolio. In the event a customer requests information on its product, Naturex's international 
sales teams have access to all of the certificates and technical data sheets so they can provide the customer with 
information. 

In addition, customers conduct quality audits of the Group's production sites in order to verify the quality of our 
production process. 

This relationship built on exchange and trust is essential to continue innovating in perfect harmony with customers. 
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� Systematic presence at international trade shows 
 
Naturex is also present at numerous professional trade shows around the world to promote its know-how in terms of 
innovation and quality. 
 
These events offer key opportunities for acquiring sales contacts to present the various product ranges to all 
professionals in the markets where Naturex operates and initiate new partnerships. 
 
During these trade shows the Group's market managers also participate in conferences on targeted themes in order to 
inform professionals of a product’s latest technical and scientific breakthroughs or provide an overview of trends. 
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� A geographic presence both global and local 
16 manufacturing sites (excluding the joint venture with AKER BioMarine), 8 purchasing offices 
and 23 sales offices 
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II. Positioning 

The speciality plant-based natural ingredient market in which Naturex operates is in a still fragmented market in spite 
of a very strong trend of consolidation over the last 10 years.  

A very fragmented market undergoing consolidation 

In the speciality plant-based natural ingredient market, there are two categories of participants:  

-  A multitude of small or medium-size participants, representing nearly half of the market. 
These are most often small family-operated companies, benefiting from historical know-how about the market 
and almost craft like production facilities.…………………………………………………………………………………………… 
Lean structures, these SMEs have a similar profile. For the most part, they are profitable because they have a loyal 
customer base, even if their development is hindered by increasingly restricted means and increasingly 
complicated constraints (regulations, quality control, supplier concentration, etc.). 
 

These participants can be divided into three categories: 
� Medium-size companies positioned in market niches with specific product ranges or customer targets. 
� Small companies or cooperatives located near the raw materials they use. For the most part, they are mono-

customer. 
� Companies with a different core business though engaged though transforming raw materials as a secondary 

activity. 
 

- About fifteen companies of an average size 
These are independent SMEs or subsidiaries of major groups in the food processing, pharmaceutical or cosmetics 
industry. 
Few in number, these companies have substantial capital coming either from the financial markets or private 
financing from major groups or merchant banks. They are profitable in their market. 
Over the years, these companies have acquired a strong reputation in their segment linked to their business 
expertise, the notoriety of their customer base or the performance of their production facilities and their high 
capacity for innovation.    
 
This category includes the most dynamic participants, Naturex's direct or indirect competitors, which are driving 
the trend of concentration in the natural ingredients market. 
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A leadership position 
in the speciality plant-based natural ingredient market 
 

Naturex is positioned in niche markets (speciality products) and covers the food processing, nutraceutical and 
cosmetics markets:  

- Each market has its own ecosystem and participants; 
- Naturex competes with several participants around the world in each of its markets and these same participants 

can sometimes represent a target customer base; 
- Finally, Naturex does not participate in traditional products referred to as commodities, but markets speciality 

products whose initial production requires special know-how or where the format meets specific requirements. 
There are few competitors for each product or range of products, especially since each participant tries to 
differentiate its own product (raw material, new properties, formulation, etc.). 

Naturex has been among the main consolidators in the market with 12 successful acquisitions over the last ten years, 
and the Group believes it is the revenue leader in all of its markets. 

Naturex's strategy has consistently focused on acquiring companies or divisions of companies operating in its core 
business and offering possibilities to provide a complementary range of products and additional technical and 
manufacturing know-how that supplement the Group's sales and manufacturing geographical presence. 

Naturex's competitive advantage is based on its position as an independent company with high-performance 
production facilities, a permanent focus on research and development, privileged access to a broad selection of raw 
materials and a wide range of customised solutions with high value added, for the speciality plant-based natural 
ingredient market, allowing it to be the privileged partner for a customer base of world-class companies. 

Naturex is a “pure player” in the speciality plant-based natural ingredient market and collects a comprehensive body 
of know-how in various extracts that comprise niches. 

With no competitors having been identified that operate in all its markets (Food & Beverage, Nutrition & Health, and 
Personal Care) or ranges, Naturex's global offering is unique. 

Solid barriers to entry 
The risk of new companies arriving in the market is limited given the strong barriers to entry into the natural 
ingredients market, which are closely interrelated: 

- The regulatory standards in the various markets are increasingly restrictive and require a genuine internal 
organisation in terms of quality assurance and anticipation, based on very active research and development 
efforts; 

- There are substantial technological constraints in terms of business know-how (raw materials procurement, 
manufacturing processes, etc.) and the ability to innovate, which require considerable capital resources; 

- The size effect is a strategic stake in terms of purchasing power for raw materials procurement, but also within 
the framework of the process of becoming an authorised supplier of multinationals and the audit procedures they 
conduct throughout the year; 

- Speciality plant-based natural products meet very precise specifications that are developed by working closely 
with customers over often long periods of time and for that reason cannot be substituted by a product from a 
competitor’s portfolio.  
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III. Identifying and managing the main risk factors 
 

As required by regulation, Naturex Group has conducted a review of risks that could have a material adverse effect on 
its business, financial position or results and considers that no other material and specific risks have been identified, 
other than those presented below: 

III.1 Financial risks 

Financial risks are described below in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements presented in chapter 6 of this 
document:  

Credit risk 

Credit risk is a risk of financial loss for the Group in the event a client fails to meet its contractual obligations. The 
Group’s credit risk is limited for several reasons, and notably its extensive customer base. Accordingly, the top ten 
customers in 2013 account for 21% of Group revenue, the top 20 account for 29% and the top 30 account for 33% 
compared to 18%, 25% and 30% respectively in 2012. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk involving a potential inability by the Group to honour its debts when they reach their term. The 
Group's policy regarding the management of its liquidity risk is to ensure, through a Group wide daily cash 
management system, that it always has sufficient funds to honour its liabilities when they reach maturity, both under 
normal and "difficult" conditions, without incurring losses that could harm the Group's reputation. 

The Company performed specific reviews of its liquidity risk and considers that it is able to honour the terms for future 
payments (see the full Note 15.2 to the consolidated financial statements). 

Exchange rate risk 

Naturex Group carries out most of its transactions in foreign currencies and therefore incurs an exchange rate risk due 
to exchange rate fluctuations of these currencies. Since 2010, the currency exposure has been substantially modified 
with the integration, in addition to the dollar (43% of the Group's revenue is billed in dollars), of the pound sterling 
(6%) and the Swiss franc (4%). 

These three currencies and the euro represent 92% of the Group's revenue. The financial debt was restructured in 
2009 in line with this change (see Note 12 – Financial debt). 

At year-end the Group had exchange derivatives (forward exchange purchase) on the Swiss franc. 

Interest rate risk 

At 31 December 2013, the Group's interest rate risk was essentially linked to its variable-rate loans. 

The Group's policy is to use financial derivatives only for cash flow hedging purposes, so that these instruments do not 
correspond to speculative operations (see the full Note 15.4 to the consolidated financial statements). 
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III.2 Market risks 

Equity risks 

At 31 December 2013, the Group held 7,291 treasury shares within the framework of its liquidity agreement. On this 
date, this liquidity agreement had a value of €772,717.00 (€347,724 recognised in the liquidity account plus a unit 
value of €55 for treasury shares held). Furthermore, on the same date, the Group did not hold shares of listed 
companies. 

III.3 Legal risks 

Litigation risks 

At 31 December 2013, no material litigation had been identified. As indicated in Note 14 to the consolidated financial 
statements, current provisions at 31 December 2013 concerned mainly provisions of €0.4 million for employee-related 
disputes. 

Risks when filing patents 

The legal risks tied to Naturex’s activities are essentially related to the use of patents. 

The purpose of the research carried out by Naturex is to add to the Group’s manufacturing expertise and to create 
customised solutions for customers. 

In line with market practices, Naturex does not systematically file patents, preferring to safeguard the confidentiality 
of formulations and designs. 

Although Naturex monitors the filing of new patents and trademarks, it is possible that a competitor that has filed or is 
in the process of filing a patent may bring legal proceedings against Naturex on such matter.  

Litigation risks in such matters can be substantial, especially in the United States where the costs involved in the 
defence or challenge of patents can be high and result in substantial legal fees.  

Otherwise, there is no risk of dependency on a particular patent. 

Regulatory risks 

In light of the public health issues linked to worldwide demographic growth and the ageing population as well as 
increased risks of malnutrition (fat, sugar, etc.) and deficiencies (vitamins, minerals, nutrients, etc.), regulations have 
been substantially tightened over the last few years, primarily in the agri-food and nutraceutical markets.  

According to the circumstances, these regulations are aimed at reinforcing: 

- Information systems with regards to consumers (labelling, list of prohibited ingredients, alerts on the risks 
incurred, etc.); they can then contribute favourably to the replacement of synthetic ingredients and other 
chemical additives by natural ingredients and, in particular, specialty plant-based natural ingredients; 



Chapter 1 

Presentation of Naturex 

26  2013 Registration Document 

- The systems concerning the control and the quality of the composition of an ingredient or manufacturing 
standards (clinical trials, ASMF files, good manufacturing practices, etc.); this could then favour the adoption of 
ingredients whose traceability has been perfectly verified. 

The examples hereafter describe the extent of the current regulatory constraints: 

- Mandatory labelling of food products based on nutritional profiles, 
- Southampton study of the risks with synthetic colourings on hyperactivity in children and mandatory statement 

on the packaging, 
- Filing of ASMF files (Active Substance Master Files) is mandatory in Europe for "Traditional Herbal Remedies", and 
- GMP (Good Manufacturing Practice) standards imposed by the FDA (Food and Drug Administration) on the 

dietary supplement industry in the United States. 

These regulatory changes are rather favourable to Naturex because they constitute a growth lever that is favourable 
to speciality plant-based natural ingredients and they represent real barriers to entry for certain players who have not 
anticipated the tightening of these regulations and who consequently do not have the required infrastructures or 
suitable technical equipment. 

Naturex has the technical and the scientific potential required: 

- For years now, Naturex has compiled ASMF files for many plant extracts, thereby authorising their use in any 
application, including for pharmaceutical products. 

- Since 2007, Naturex has had a pharmaceutical site based in Italy capable of carrying out clinical trials on plant 
extracts, which is most certainly a competitive advantage in meeting the highly targeted demand of the 
worldwide pharmaceutical laboratories, in complete compliance with current regulations. The acquisition of 
Burgundy in October 2011 has provided Naturex with two additional certified pharmaceutical facilities in France 
and Spain. 

III.3 Operating, industrial and environmental risks 

Risk of volatility in raw material prices 

Since 2010, the sector experienced a trend of across-the-board rises in prices of agricultural commodities and certain 
food staples. 

In general, Naturex has very little exposure to the volatility of the prices of certain raw materials, such as pepper, 
turmeric, paprika or, more recently, carmine. 

Indeed, the specialty plant-based natural ingredients used in the composition of a product are extremely limited in 
quantity and consequently represent often between 0.1 and 1% of the manufacturing cost price. 

Nevertheless, the "natural" portion contained in industrial products is admittedly low in cost but represents a 
significant value for manufacturers in terms of quality in light of the marketing and promotion system set up around 
the finished product’s positioning. 

With nutraceutical products like dietary supplements (capsules), the share of the speciality plant-based natural 
ingredient constitutes the entire product though marketing and promotional costs of the finished product in particular 
are much higher than the cost price of the raw ingredients contained in the capsule. 

As such, Naturex does not have any difficulties in passing on the increase in the price of raw materials to its customers 
and can consequently neutralise the impact on the margin. The Company is also able to take measures to protect itself 
from price increases for certain raw materials by establishing contracts with the producers or farmers at the beginning 
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of the season at a set price, on the one hand, and by proceeding in the same manner with customers, as a means for 
ensuring stable prices in response to risk of fluctuations. 

However, over time, the probability of prices increasing significantly over a significant portion of the niche raw 
materials remains very low. 

Competitive risk 

Since the integration of Natraceutical’s Ingredients Division, Naturex believes that it is the only Group of this size 
operating in all market segments: Food & Beverage, Nutrition & Health and Personal Care. 

The speciality plant-based natural ingredient market in which Naturex operates is in a still fragmented market in spite 
of a very strong trend of consolidation over the last 10 years. 

There are two categories of participants in the speciality plant-based natural ingredient market:  

- A multitude of small or medium-size players, representing nearly half of the market, and 
- About 15 or so average-size independent SMEs or subsidiaries of major groups in the food processing, 

pharmaceutical or cosmetics industry. 
Few in number, these companies with substantial capital originating either from financial markets or private 
financing from major groups or investment funds, they are profitable in their markets. 
Over the years, these companies have acquired strong name recognition in their segment based on their business 
expertise, the notoriety of their customer portfolio, the performance of their production facilities and high 
capacity for innovation.    
This category includes the most dynamic participants, Naturex's direct or indirect competitors, which are driving 
the trend of concentration in the natural ingredients market. 

The risk of the emergence of new competitors in the market is very limited for the following reasons: 

- The regulatory standards in the various markets are increasingly restrictive and require a genuine internal 
organisation in terms of quality assurance and anticipation, thanks to very active research and development 
efforts. 

- There are substantial technological constraints in terms of business know-how (raw materials procurement, 
manufacturing processes, etc.) and the ability to innovate, which require considerable capital resources; 

- The size effect is a strategic stake in terms of purchasing power for raw materials procurement, but also within 
the framework of the process of becoming an authorised supplier of multinationals and the audit procedures they 
conduct throughout the year; 

- Speciality plant-based natural products meet very precise specifications that are developed by working closely 
with customers over often long periods of time and for that reason cannot be substituted by a product from a 
competitor’s portfolio.  

Country risks 

Naturex is an international Group with operations in more than 20 countries on 5 continents. 

Its international positions are a key advantage in the framework of its development strategy, its raw materials 
procurement policy, and especially the relationship of proximity that Naturex has been able to create with customers 
worldwide over the years. 
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The diversity of its locations in mature markets and in developing countries makes it possible to better assess risks of 
all types (environmental, political, economic or financial), which could have an impact on the Group's assets and 
profitability, even if the production sites are not dedicated to a specific geographical region. 

Indeed, in light of the increased production capacities since the acquisition of Natraceutical’s Ingredients Division as 
well as other acquisitions in October 2011 (Burgundy in France and Spain), in 2012 (Pektowin in Poland, Valentine in 
India, DBS in the US) and in 2013 (Chile Botanics in Chile), at the filing date of this document Naturex had 16 
manufacturing sites in the world, compared to five in 2009.  

Consequently, some sites can replace others momentarily in order to cope with a crisis situation or offset any 
production problems. 

For example, the Avignon site is capable of producing the majority of the ingredients manufactured in Morocco. 

Also, Naturex has taken the necessary measures to diversify its sources of raw materials procurement to prevent any 
shortages and to meet its commitments. 

Customer credit risks 

In light of the wide diversity in Naturex's customer base, comprised of worldwide flavouring specialists, local 
independent SMEs, subsidiaries of large well-known international and multinational groups in the food processing 
markets, the pharmaceutical and nutraceutical industry and the cosmetics markets, the bad debt risk is relatively 
diluted. 

As such, in 2013 the Group’s top 10 customers account for 21% of revenue, the top 20 for 29% and the top 30 for 33%. 

Risks related to production facilities 

Over the years, Naturex has built a network of high-performance production facilities, primarily through acquisitions. 
Indeed, only the Avignon site in France and the Casablanca site in Morocco were created by the company. 
Naturex now has 15 production sites located in Europe (France, Italy, Spain, United Kingdom and Switzerland), 
Morocco, the United States, Brazil, Australia and India. 
The production facilities at each site meet high quality standards and use very advanced technology and equipment. 
The service life of this equipment is relatively long; regular maintenance and targeted investments help perpetuate 
the production facilities and boost Naturex’s know-how. 

As such, a decline in technical production expertise seems improbable, given that: 

- "Traditional" equipment is used to manufacture products of this type, and 
- The basic manufacturing know-how resides in the composition of recipes whose implementation does not pose 

any major problems. 
With regard to the risk of operating incidents in the installations due to the use of more or less inflammable or 
explosive solvents, Naturex’s exposure is similar to that of any company working with materials of this type. The 
production installation consists of a number of specialised lines per product that are independent of each other, which 
limits the risks of prolonged production stoppages. 

Naturex is insured against business interruption. 
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In addition, as part of the environmental management system set up by the Group, a Group Health Safety and 
Environment (HSE) manager, in charge of coordinating the Health Safety and Environment managers of each 
production site, ensures that the HSE practices are complied with across all of the Group's sites and that the defined 
safety measures are applied (safety clothing, explosion-proof workshops, etc.). 

Quality and brand image risk 

Naturex products are primarily intended for food or nutraceutical consumption. Consequently these products are 
exposed to the risk of toxicity, in particular resulting from a malfunction during their production. 

However, this risk is mitigated in the case of food since the final product contains an extremely low proportion of the 
ingredients developed by Naturex. 

Furthermore, since the degree of trust is quite strong amongst partners in this sector, any serious problem concerning 
the quality of a delivery would likely impact the brand image of the Company and of the Group. 

As part of the Quality Management System, Naturex has set up a strict Quality Control policy in order to: 

- Control the raw materials received using predefined standardised methods and check their purity through tests 
before they enter the production cycle, 

- Control the plant extracts in order to meet the strictest health and safety standards (microbiology, pesticides, 
heavy metals, etc.), and 

- Completely review finished products before delivery to ensure they comply with the applicable regulatory and 
legal requirements and customer-specific requirements. 

In addition, customers also carry out tests on finished products in their laboratories. 

All of the Group's production sites have a Quality Control laboratory. 

On each site, a quality management leader coordinates the application of the quality management system and 
ensures it is improved continuously in the Company’s various departments through regularly updated documentary 
support, tracking indicators and scheduled audits, in order to carry out any corrective and preventive action necessary 
to ensure compliance with the objectives defined previously as part of the quality policy. 

Risk of dependence on suppliers 

Bolstered by its positioning as a world leader in speciality plant-based natural ingredients, Naturex has substantial 
procurement capabilities that give it access to a wide selection of plants and allow it to select the best species in the 
world. 

The Supply Chain, which is centralised at a Group level, has developed a very stringent purchasing policy with 
suppliers in more than 50 countries around the world, in order to best satisfy the quality, price and lead-time criteria 
expected by customers. 

Over the years, Naturex has developed close relations with its partners and ensures that its main suppliers are 
identified in order to improve the procurement process’ performance. 

Indeed, if Naturex's procurement requirements are low in relation to the size of the raw materials markets, it is 
nevertheless true that most plants only grow once a year and therefore it is important to schedule procurement based 
on the various harvesting campaigns throughout the world and to anticipate the supply of raw materials at least one 
year in advance in order to avoid the disastrous consequences of a shortage in inventory. 
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Consequently, in addition to the anticipating and scheduling measures taken by the Group, some raw materials are 
covered by contracts with the identified suppliers. 

Technological and environmental risks 

Naturex decided a few years ago to implement an environmental management system to improve its industrial 
performance while reducing the impacts of its activities on man and the environment in compliance with regulations. 

The sustainable development commitment is tailored for all of the subsidiaries in the Naturex Group. 

The main risk identified on Naturex's industrial sites is the handling of inflammable liquids (solvents used in plant 
extractions); however, the quantities used remain well below the thresholds stipulated in the SEVESO directive. 

Naturex has implemented the necessary technical, human and organisational resources to control these risks and 
ensure the proper steps are taken in the event of an incident. Moreover, its Health, Safety and Environment 
Department constantly monitors technical and regulatory developments to ensure the safety and environmental 
procedures are continuously improved. 

Dependence on key executives 

Following the death of Mr. Dikansky in late September 2012, Mr. Lambert was appointed Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer of Naturex. The Company has taken certain measures to limit the consequences should its executive 
officer become partially or completely unavailable so as not to adversely affect the Group's development in the 
pursuit of its strategic priorities: 

- With respect to operating management, an Executive Committee was formed headed by Thierry Lambert, 
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and including the most 
experienced executives responsible for the Group's main operating departments, and who for the most part have 
worked at Naturex for many years.  

- In the area of governance, Naturex finalised restructuring measures carried out by the company by: 

- adding two long-term shareholders (SGD/Finasucre and Caravelle) who are also represented on the Board of 
Directors; 

- creating Board committees including the Audit Committee and the Nominating and Compensation 
Committee tasked with formalising processes for making strategic decisions; 

- Expanding the Board of Directors with new members, by adding in particular an independent director.     

Contractual risks 

There are no major contracts within the Group, other than those concluded within the normal scope of business, 
concerning raw materials or finished product supply contracts with suppliers referenced by the Naturex Group or 
partnership contracts in the framework of long-term contracts (SENIFOOD in Spain, etc.). 

On the publication date of this document, no member of the Group was a party to a contract that could give rise to 
any obligation or substantial commitment for the Group as a whole, other than contracts concluded in the normal 
course of business. 
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III.4 Other risks 

There are no other legal, judicial or arbitration proceedings (including any that, to the Company's knowledge, are 
pending or threatened), which may have or have had during the last twelve months, a material effect on the financial 
position or profitability of the Company and/or Group. 

III.5 Insurance and risk management 

The Group's objectives in terms of insurance and risk management are to protect its assets, prevent the consequences 
of the liabilities incurred vis-à-vis third parties and personnel and minimise the impact of damages on the Group’s 
accounts. 

The Group has taken out policies with top-tier insurance companies, including for civil liability, casualty and property, 
business interruption, environmental damage and goods in transit. 

The details on insurance coverage by type of risk are presented below: 

Type of risk Total coverage 
(€ millions) 

Property and business interruption 
(limit of €100 million per claim) 

662.4 

Environmental damage 4.6 
Goods in transit (per claim) 0.5 
Business liability 20.0 
Completed operations liability 20.0 
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CSR REPORT (CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)  
Reconciling development and corporate responsibility  

Naturex's strategy is guided by a responsible vision and long-term approach to its development. From its inception, 
Naturex made the commitment with its employees, partners, customers and shareholders to pursue a policy in favour 
of employment-related, environmental and social responsibility. 

For Naturex, sustainable development involves reconciling economic development, equitable employment practices 
and respect for the environment through a continuous improvement approach that includes the prevention and 
management of risks inherent to its activities. 

This CSR process (Corporate Social Responsibility) is gradually developed over time so to be incorporated in the 
decision-making mechanisms at Naturex and its subsidiaries and shared, based on each country's specific 
characteristics.  

I. A global sustainability program 

A key component of Naturex's business model since its creation, sustainable development has today become a major 
factor of differentiation vis-à-vis, on the one hand, competition and on the other hand Naturex's partners, in particular 
customers and communities in countries where we source our raw materials. 
In response to growing concerns by all stakeholders regarding issues concerning: 
- intelligent and sustainable use of resources; 
- application of the best agricultural, manufacturing and logistics practices with a continuing focus on quality and 

safety; 
- an equitable distribution of value created. 

Naturex wanted to formalise its sustainable development principles in order to structure and implement action plans 
addressing the key challenges in terms of responsibility and performance. 

I.1 A collaborative programme 

In September 2013, NATUREX launched a sustainable development program with an integrated approach covering the 
entire value chain from the field to the finished product, encompassing all strategic dimensions and its business 
activities organised around three main principles and commitments included within a Charter available at the Group's 
website: 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

Environmental stewardship

Economic prosperity

Social responsibility

€



Chapter 2
Sustainable Development 

 

34  2013 Registration Document 

This programme has been implemented in line with measures already undertaken by Naturex and in accordance with 
its core principles. 
In effect, Naturex is well-positioned with particular legitimacy in this area since its origins, and very early on focused 
on sustainable development through the United Nations Global Pact (a signatory since 2003), ISO 14001 certification 
programs for its plants since 2007 (through the implementation of Environmental Management Systems) and its 
Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation created in 2008. This year, Naturex entered into the UEBT (Union for Ethical Bio 
Trade) certification process destined to promote biodiversity. 
 
With a multidisciplinary team representing the Group's main departments led by Serge Sabrier, Chief Procurement 
and Supply Chain Officer of the Group and an Executive Committee member, the Sustainability Committee was 
created to ensure that operating activities and the growth strategy remain consistent with the principles adopted. 
This Committee is responsible for setting all issues relating to implementing action plans in order to pursue and 
expand the scope of Naturex's activities in the areas of employment-related environmental and social responsibility. 
 
Naturex appointed Chris Kilham as the "Sustainable Development Ambassador" who regularly travels the globe in 
search of new plants and has collaborated with Naturex for many years as an ethnobotanist. With a respect for the 
environment and local cultures he will be successful in faithfully conveying Naturex's sustainability strategy. 

 
In light of its international dimension, Naturex has been a signatory since 2003 of the Global 
Compact initiated by the United Nations to promote corporate social responsibility. As such, 
Naturex has undertaken to comply with and promote human rights principles, labour rules, the 
fight against corruption and protecting the environment. 
 
 
 

 
Naturex is among the companies included in the Gaia Index, the SRI Index for French Small & Mid Caps. This CSR index 
launched in 2008 by EthiFinance and IDMidCaps includes 70 top ranking Mid Caps listed on NYSE Euronext Paris 
operating in all sectors selected from a panel of more than 200 companies. This selection is based exclusively on extra-
financial criteria (corporate governance, human resources management, environmental impact, relations with 
stakeholders). 

I.2 Employment-related and environmental reporting 

At the same time, extra-financial reporting includes employment-related and environmental data in compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements in order to spearhead the approach and develop a high-performing program for 
continuing improvement. 
The Group has chosen to present CSR information in accordance with the disclosure requirements established by the 
French regulatory framework (the implementation decree of the "NRE" law, article L.225-102-1 of the French 
commercial code, "Grenelle II Act" of 12 July 2010, completed by the implementation decree of 24 April 2012). For 
environmental information, this has been supplemented by reference to selected performance indicators based on 
the GRI (Global Reporting Initiative) "sustainability reporting guidelines" though without applying all the 
methodologies in light of Naturex's structure and degree of advancement in the area of CSR. 
Information required by Article 225 of the "Grenelle II Act" of 12 July 2010, and the implementation decree of 24 April 
2012 destined to inform the public on the social and environmental consequences of companies' activities and their 
societal commitments in favour of sustainable development is thus presented below in three sections: (social, 
environmental and societal). 

Naturex is among th
aunched in 2008 b
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Methodological note on employment-related and environmental reporting 

� Reporting boundary 
 

The employment-environmental and social reporting boundary covers all companies included in the financial 
consolidation scope according to the following principles: 

- Employment and social reporting: all companies with the exception of those acquired within the last year 
(acquisition of Chile Botanics in Chile in December 2013), and those considered non-material (I-Trad 
consolidated as from the 2012 2nd half and including mainly temporary personnel or making use of 
subcontractors); 

- Environmental reporting: all manufacturing production sites. 
Where exclusions may be defined for certain indicators, this is specified in the comments. 

For fiscal 2013, the extra-financial reporting indicators have been reviewed by KPMG, our Co-Statutory Auditors 
appointed as Independent Third-Party. At the same time, on-site audits were conducted based on a selection of 
employment and environmental indicators for two representative Group entities: NATUREX S.A. in France and 
NATUREX AG in Switzerland. 

� Organisation of reporting and methodology 

Indicator sheet: Reported information is based on indicators described in the indicator sheets which specify in 
particular the reporting frequency, the objectives of the indicator, its scope of application, the calculation 
methodology and consistency checks. 

� Reporting participants and responsibilities 

Employment-related data with the exception of health-related and safety data is collected by the human resources 
department through monthly reporting. In an initial phase, each entity completes and consolidates its own reporting 
and, in a second phase, the human resources department consolidates all data for the entire scope and verifies its 
consistency. 

Environmental data as well as health and safety data is collected, verified and validated by the Group HSE coordinator. 
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II. Employment information 

II.1 A dynamic and centralised policy of labour relations  

The human resources management process covers notably management of: 

- Recruitment and internal mobility; 
- Training and the skills of personnel. 

Executive management sets the main guidelines of the Group's employee relations policy, with the purpose of 
anticipating human resources needs and identifying the skills needed to implement the Group's strategy in order to 
manage its development and meet future economic challenges. 

The human resources department ensures that each Group subsidiary applies these priorities, while respecting the 
specific local and cultural regulatory constraints in a manner consistent with the company's values: business 
responsiveness and motivation, mobility, creativity and a sense of innovation, team spirit and company spirit. 
 

Anticipating human resources needs 

� A proactive recruiting policy 

Naturex conducts a proactive recruiting policy throughout the year, not only since 2013 through the internal 
recruitment department but also with international recruitment agencies as well as specialised institutions of higher 
education, especially in the fields of chemistry and food processing, after Group departments and Executive 
Management have identified needs. 

� International career management 

Naturex combines a balanced international mobility policy with the joint development of local talents, thereby 
encouraging cultural diversity and the sharing of know-how in each of the Group's businesses. 
In light of its continuous growth and its extensive international expansion, Naturex has adopted international career 
management procedures to: 
- Promote geographical and functional mobility of executives within Group entities; 
- Identify young talent; and 
- Plan for the Group development trends based on market opportunities. 

Promoting broad-based employee engagement 

Naturex’s goal is to offer its employees working conditions that favour their professional growth and the achievement 
of their assignments. 
Naturex's employee relations policy strives to consolidate, strengthen and increase personnel’s skills in order to 
encourage their development. 
Naturex has implemented an active integration and training process to facilitate the adaptation of all employees to 
their professional and market environment. 

� Individualised support 

On their first day, all employees are provided by the human resources department a welcome booklet, including 
environmental protection rules (waste separation, energy consumption, water consumption) professional risks, as 
well as health and safety instructions and the internal rules of procedure of the company they are joining. 
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An IT Charter, aimed at specifying the measures concerning the proper use of IT resources and Internet services is also 
given to Group employees. 

All personnel are made aware of the importance of their activities and their contribution to achieving the Group's 
Quality objectives within the framework of the quality management system. 

� Targeted skills development 

The development of know-how and innovation is essential in Naturex's skills management policy, in light of its rapid 
development in growing markets. 
 
As such, Naturex has set up a skills development process revolving around two key processes: annual assessment 
interviews and training management. 
- These assessment interviews are organised throughout the Group once a year between the employee and 

his/her manager using a form developed by the human resources department to measure individual 
performance over the previous year and set objectives for the year ahead.  
These interviews are an opportunity to evaluate skill development actions carried out during the year and to 
determine the actions to be taken or continued in order to progress further in the function or in preparation 
for a future change (functional or geographical mobility). 
 

- Training management not only represents an advantage for the Group, but above all it is a tool for social 
advancement in the service of employees. 

 
Each manager identifies the training needs in his department at least once a year and whenever necessary, in 
agreement with Executive Management. 
These needs are identified through: 
� Analysis of the skills chart used to define each department's needs in terms of versatility and to identify 

development opportunities and the new skills the employee should acquire, and 
� Needs expressed by the personnel themselves to managers during departmental meetings, health and 

safety meetings, good manufacturing practices meetings, etc. 
In addition, anyone destined to work in the manufacturing department or scientific department receives 
training on health and safety rules as well as the good environmental practices applicable to each production 
site. 
The purpose of this training is to provide the personnel performing work with an impact on product quality 
with the skills required for their job. The HSE manager conducts this training. 

 
Finally, through the health and safety management system applicable at all industrial sites , Naturex has set up an 
approach for improving its health and safety performance in the workplace with the goal of preventing and controlling 
the existing risks on its sites, for its own employees and for subcontractors that work at the sites. 

� Genuine Group cohesion  

Naturex maintains a permanent link with all Group employees regardless of their geographical location, through 
internal communication media as well as frequent contacts. 
 
These tools strengthen the notion of belonging to a Group with shared values and in this way stimulate employee 
motivation and involvement: 
- Information is sent by email to all Group employees following each publication of financial, strategic or 

commercial information; 
 

- The CEO also sends each employee by email a review of activity for the period ended following the publication 
of annual and half year results and also reports on changes in the Group structure as well as new arrivals. 
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- The main executives of the operational departments are frequently present at the different sites and directly 
contribute in this way to promoting the Group's culture. 
 

- Targeted work meetings or seminars covering special subjects are organised on a regular basis at the Group's 
head office or at one of the main sites, thereby favouring opportunities to share experiences and the 
measurement of progress. 
 

II.2 Employment 
Employee diversity, a valuable asset and source of creativity 

An international Group 

Customer proximity is a top priority for Naturex's strategy. To this purpose, it has established production, scientific 
and commercial operations worldwide. Committed to strengthening its international dimension, Naturex privileges 
the development of its workforce in local markets. 

At 31 December 2013, the Group was present on all continents with 1,514 employees. France accounted for 26% of its 
workforce and international operations 74%. In 2012, the Group had a workforce of 1,455, (23% in France and 77% for 
international operations). 
This change in headcount includes the recruitment of 359 employees by the Group in the period, with France 
accounting for 39% and the US 16%. The increase in the number of employees reflects both the development of 
business but also the continuation of restructuring measures initiated in the 2012 2nd half destined to support the 
Group's new organisation following the passing of Mr. Jacques Dikansky and also to strengthen second line 
management in the operating departments. 

The number of dismissals recorded by the Group at 31 December 2013 of 70 employees concerns mainly (53%) the 
restructuring plan implemented in Poland following the acquisition of Pektowin. 

� Geographic breakdown of Group personnel 
 

 

 

 

 

Europe/Africa
75%

Americas
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Asia/Pacific
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Promoting diversity and equal opportunity 

Naturex’s strength resides in the diversity of its employees. Diversity in terms of origins, education, culture and points 
of view represent strengths that stimulate Group creativity. 
Promoting diversity means taking advantage of individual skills and encouraging the sharing of best practices. 

This diversity contributes to greater responsiveness vis-à-vis customers while constituting a genuine source of 
innovation to drive growth.  

Today, Naturex's operations are located in 21 countries on five continents. 
Naturex applies a policy of equal opportunity employment based on equitable practices of recruitment, career 
management and personal development of employees without discrimination. 
Equal opportunity, equal access to employment between workers without disabilities and disabled workers and 
professional gender equality are Naturex priorities in the day-to-day management of human resources. 

� Gender breakdown of Group personnel by region 

At 31 December 2013, women represented 31% of the total workforce, unchanged from 31 December 2012. 
In France, women represented 40% of the total workforce at 31 December 2013 compared to 37% one year earlier. 
 
Gender breakdown by region: 
 
 
 

 

A young and multicultural workforce 

The profile of Group personnel is young with 58% in the “under 30” and “30 to 39” age brackets.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013 2012 
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� Group personnel by age bracket 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Equitable compensation policy 

The Group's policy is to grant, in each country, remuneration proportional to the level of skill, training, responsibilities 
and performance of each employee and ensure conditions in line with the local legislation in terms of labour law. 

Naturex makes every effort to comply with local laws in each of the countries where it operates. All companies 
operate in countries having ratified the core conventions of the International Labour Organisation (ILO) and that 
possess worker protection legislation in all areas covered by the conventions. 
In 2013 Naturex adopted a system for salary annual reviews, supplementing the annual performance assessments 
carried out in all Group entities. 
This mechanism makes it possible to examine the different fixed and variable components of compensation based on 
the position occupied, the skills involved and the performances and potential of each employee. 
Compensation within the Group thus includes both fixed and variable components linked to the achievement of 
individual performance targets. 

In 2013, Group payroll amounted to €69.1 million compared to €58.4 million the previous year. 
Payroll for Naturex S.A. France increased from €17.6 million at 31 December 2012 to €22.9 million at 31 December 
2013. 

Stock options 

Naturex grants stock options each year to a selected category of Group employees according to their level of 
responsibility to foster retention, reward performance and promote the adoption of a long-term interest in the 
Group's development linked to their contribution to its growth in value. 
The terms and conditions, and procedures of grant of these options are determined by the company' Board of 
Directors. 
 
 
 
 

2013 2012 
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Statutory employee profit-sharing 

A statutory employee profit-sharing plan (intéressement) provided for under French law exists in France and as such 
does not apply to foreign entities of the Group. 
In June 2013, Naturex S.A. adopted a statutory employee profit-sharing plan for the Company in accordance with 
Articles L3311-1 of the French labour code for a three-year period covering 2013, 2014 and 2015. 
French statutory employee profit-sharing represents a mechanism which provides employees with remuneration 
linked to the company's results. As such, it provides an incentive to employees to contribute to the company's results 
or performances. 
Naturex would like its personnel to become more actively engaged in contributing to its results. 
This plan concerns all employees of NATUREX S.A with more than three months of seniority. 
Procedures for calculation are based on a breakdown of beneficiaries by three work units (WU): 
- The Production WU covering personnel of the Avignon plant,  
- The Reyssouze Production WU covering personnel at the Reyssouze plant; 
- The Development and Support WU covering all other employees. 
According to predefined indicators (operating performance indicators), each WU receives its own profit-sharing bonus 
corresponding to a percentage of all employees included in the given WU.  
This percentage will be determined based on achievement of performance objectives by WU employees:  
- A common objective for all three WU; 
- Specific objectives for each WU. 
This bonus will be subsequently allocated among WU employees, with one half based on their compensation and one 
half based on their seniority. 
 
This profit-sharing calculation is performed every year in April for the previous financial year, after publication of the 
Company's annual results and paid to employees in June. 
Profit-sharing payments may also be made directly to the Company employee savings plan (Plan d’Epargne 
Entreprise). 

Company employee savings plan 

A Company employee savings plan (Plan d’Epargne Entreprise or PEE) has been set up in which each beneficiary can 
pay amounts originating from the profit-sharing plan.  
This PEE savings plan is accessible online through the website of the fund manager. This fund manager will provide 
employees with the option of choosing from among several types of investments (equities, money market, bonds).  

II.3 Work organisation 
Working time organisation 

Working time organisation 

For Naturex S.A. in France, an agreement for organisation of reduced work hours was signed on 20 April 2000, 
formalising the transition to the 35-hour work week based on the agreement for the chemistry industry sector to 
which the Company is a party. In the interest of the quality of customer service, schedules for appropriate work 
periods and worktime arrangements have been implemented in certain departments at Naturex S.A. 
A company-level agreement for autonomous executives and supervisors was signed on 2 January 2007 within the 
framework of annualised days-per-year based working time arrangements. 
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In 2013, the average work week for Naturex S.A. employees was 35 hours for full-time employees. 
Four other Group entities, working time arrangements comply with the applicable laws in force in their respective 
countries. 

Absenteeism 

The absenteeism rate calculated for the Group includes absences due to sick leave, occupational accidents, including 
work commute accidents, occupational illnesses and other absences (unjustified absences). This definition excludes 
authorised absences such as annual vacation, leaves for study, maternity/paternity leaves, and family-related leaves. 
For the Group the absenteeism rate is 3.81% and for France, 3.17%. 

II.4 Labour relations 
Promoting dialogue with employees and labour organisations 

Promoting quality dialogue with employees and labour organisations represents a priority for Naturex and a means for 
promoting optimal working conditions. 
A number of information meetings are organised on a regular basis between the head of human resources and the 
Works Council of NATUREX S.A. to encourage the exchange of information with employees and promote constructive 
dialogue with employee representatives. The CEO systematically presents and provides explanations on the Group's 
half-year and annual results after their publication. 

At the international level, the local HR function is either in the process of being established in certain entities or, in the 
smaller commercial structures where it does not exist, this function is generally assumed by the local manager who 
coordinates dialogue with employee representatives. 

At the same time, the Group regularly provides employees with information about its strategy, earnings, acquisitions, 
but also its participation in trade shows relating to its commercial activities, product launches or progress with 
scientific projects. 

Information relating to employee representation bodies is provided only for Naturex S.A., in light of the recent 
formalisation of the Group human resources function and also the disparate nature of the profiles specifically devoted 
to human resources in selected subsidiaries that are in the process of being restructured and for which it was not 
possible to coordinate the collection and ensure the reliable reporting of information 

Report of collective bargaining agreements 

Naturex's labour policy promotes a number of collective bargaining agreements based on the regulatory requirements 
of the countries where the Group operates. To date, no Group-wide agreement has been signed as the Group Human 
Resources Department was recently formally structured. The major collective bargaining agreements signed with 
employee representatives applied to Naturex S.A. These agreements concerned the length of the terms of office of 
employee representatives, working hours and, for 2013, a "generational contract" involving profit-sharing. Reviews 
are being conducted to draw up a gender equality agreement at Naturex S.A. 

Regarding health and safety, in light of the regulations and the thresholds set to define arduous work and exposure to 
major risks, Naturex S.A. is not exposed to these risks and is not required to draw up collective bargaining agreements 
in this area. However, Naturex S.A. is a responsible employer that works to guarantee the health and safety of its 
employees. As such, individual risk exposure information sheets are being drawn up as part of the Health, Safety and 
Environment policy, while a committee for health, safety and working conditions monitors and implements preventive 
measures regarding professional risks. 
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Personnel representation 

For Naturex S.A. in France, through a collective bargaining agreement signed with trade union representatives, the 
duration of the terms of office of personnel’s representatives has been set at four years. 
New elections were organised in June 2013 to renew the membership of employee representation bodies of the 
Company in France. 

Trade union representation 

Pursuant to Law No. 2008-789 of 20 August 2008 on the Renovation of Social Democracy and Reform of the Working 
Time, five trade unions (CGT, CFTC, CFDT, FO, CFE-CGC) are represented in Naturex S.A. 

Health and Safety conditions 

In accordance with regulations, at the Avignon site, a committee for health, safety and working conditions has been 
set up and meets on a quarterly basis. This committee works to implement communication initiatives and engage with 
labour unions and employer organisations on policy to prevent professional risks. Similar committees have been set 
up at other Group sites (Spain, Morocco) and are required to meet similar regulations. 
Risk prevention training is organised throughout the year. 

II.5 Occupational health and safety 
Managing health and safety conditions 

Naturex places great emphasis on providing a safe environment for its employees and individual contractors that 
presents no health hazards. Over the past several years in line with its development, the Group has gradually been 
implementing a formal industrial and professional risk management strategy as part of a global Health, Safety and 
Environment policy. It also defines the Group's commitment to develop, produce and distribute innovative products of 
the highest quality, by adopting ethical behaviour and guaranteeing the health and safety of our employees, clients 
and the local communities where Naturex operates or sources its raw materials. The HSE department formed under 
the Group Industrial Department contributes to the proper application of this policy at all Group industrial sites and 
works through local HSE representatives who put initiatives in place. 
This policy is based on a number of principles, which include: 
- Complying with applicable regulations where the Group operates; 
- Continuously training all employees and raising their awareness on risk prevention topics;  
- Informing visitors and service providers of good HSE (Health, Safety and Environment) practices and the rules 

specific to each industrial site; 
- Managing the environmental impacts of our businesses by implementing and maintaining effective treatment 

systems; 
- Involving our suppliers and contractors in our Health, Safety and Environment policy; 
- Analysing risks related to professional activities and processes to foster continuous improvement; 
- Monitoring all improvement measures through a system shared by all the departments involved. 

 
In 2013, Naturex led a large-scale site-by-site overhaul of the definition and monitoring of performance indicators. The 
frequency rates of occupational accidents with leave and severity rates are calculated every month for all Group sites. 
For the first time, this performance monitoring was used to define targets for the following year. 
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The Group's safety results over the past three years are presented below: 
 

 
 
The following definitions were adopted at all our sites to calculate these indicators: 

� Occupational accident with leave (A): Employee accident with an injury causing death or permanent invalidity 
or a leave of absence of ≥ 1 day 

� Hours worked (H): Total number of hours worked by Naturex employees during the reference period  
� Number of days of leave (D) = Number of lost time days – in full calendar days, not including the day of the 

accident 
� Frequency rate = A x 1,000,000/H (Number of accidents with leave per million hours worked) 
� Severity rate = J x 1,000/H (Number of days of leave per thousand hours worked) 
If the days of leave extend into the following years, they are counted retroactively in year N. For example, days of 
leave in 2013 due to an accident in 2012 are reported in the 2012 severity rate.  
� Constant scope: all consolidated Group sites in 2011 
� Actual scope: including acquisitions made in 2012 (Reyssouze/France, Palafolls/Spain, Jaslo/Poland) and 2013 

(Roha/India) 
 
Group results for 2013 and the targets for 2014 are presented below: 

 Frequency rate Severity rate 

2013 Group results 22.05 0.51 

2014 Group targets 20.00 0.40 

 
The targets represent an expected drop of nearly 10% in the Frequency Rate and 22% in the Severity Rate and have 
been broken down for each site. 
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To improve our 2013 results, a number of significant measures have been taken at our industrial sites. The most 
important are detailed below: 

Morocco  
- Safety goggles are required for the entire production site. In implementing this safety measure, we realised that 

many operators had vision problems and did not have prescription glasses. A campaign to conduct ophthalmic 
exams and buy safety goggles with prescription lenses was initiated and financed by Naturex for all employees.  

- Workstation ergonomics was optimised with the installation of new filter presses, and trolleys were provided to 
transport barrels more easily. 

- Systems to prevent employee falls were carefully reviewed, including railings, staircases and grating. 
- An automatic grounding device used to increase the safety of transferring flammable liquids was also installed. 

Avignon  

- The Avignon site has been OHSAS 18001 certified since 2012. In 2013, a large extension was added to the site, 
substantially improving working conditions. New offices now feature natural light, and more spacious reception, 
maintenance, order preparation and shipping areas were created, improving the ergonomics of workstations. 
No instances of non-compliance were identified during the OHSAS 18001 maintenance audit in January 2014. 

Switzerland 

Major investments have gone into improving safety at our two Swiss sites since they were bought by Naturex in 2010. 
In 2013, our efforts primarily focused on: 

- The safety of isolated workers with the set-up of special protection systems that set off an alarm in the event of a 
loss in mobility or a fall; 

- The prevention of falls from heights, improved safety of roof and blending area access. 

India 
Following the takeover of Valentine in April 2012, the Group employs about fifty people at an industrial site near 
Mumbai, India. The Group has since introduced its internal work safety procedures, which include: 
- Required safety footwear; 
- Training of 17 employees in first aid; 
- The set-up of a local HSE team formed by different members of the plant's management team; 
- The implementation of a workstation safety reception and a building permit system. 
 
In 2014, each site set quantitative targets to reduce the number of occupational accidents. After reporting was 
centralised in 2013, the prevention program is being structured further. In 2014, a major phase will be initiated with 
the set-up of a safety management platform. It will include: 
- Operational management solutions (shared system to assess professional risks, monitor action plans, ensure 

regulatory watch, etc.); 
- Defined guidelines to provide a common framework for all sites (management of external companies, building 

permits, management of technical projects, etc.); 
- Standardised good practices by developing shared IT solutions; 
- The rollout of a Group HSE policy that applies to all sites. 
The Group also plans to extend its OHSAS 18001 certification to two additional sites (Reyssouze, France and South 
Hackensack, New Jersey, United States) by the first quarter of 2015 at the latest. 
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II.6 Training 
Promoting skills development 

Given the differences in the training data collection methods at international subsidiaries and the gradual 
implementation of monthly reporting on training by dedicated local HR representatives or designated employees at 
subsidiaries, training data is limited to the French scope, Naturex S.A. 
 
A training initiative comes from a pre-established, target-based program in the form of classroom workshops, remote 
training or in-house training. 
It includes all types of theoretical and practical professional training, any training or course taken internally or 
externally and partially or fully funded by the legal entity, any training on specific subjects such as health and safety. 
 
Training courses focus mainly on adapting workstations, developing or maintaining employment, enhancing 
knowledge about the Company's businesses and for managers, monitoring change and people management. 
In 2013, Naturex S.A. provided 2,858 training hours.  

Naturex S.A. plans to intensify its training program in 2014. A training plan is being developed and will be submitted to 
the Executive Committee for approval. 

II.7 Equal treatment 
Developing diversity 

Measures adopted to promote gender equality 

Gender equality is a key issue for Naturex in its day-to-day management of human resources. 
An agreement concerning Naturex S.A. is being officially finalised to meet a legal requirement in France. The 
engagement with labour unions and employer organisations initiated in late 2013 is moving forward based on targets 
and measures taken to promote gender equality throughout employees' professional career. 

Measures adopted to promote integration of disabled persons 

Naturex plans to roll out various initiatives to promote the employment and integration of disabled workers.  

For example in 2013, Naturex S.A. enlisted a company that employs disabled workers to carry out painting and mailing 
work at its Avignon plant. 
At 31 December 2013, Naturex S.A. employed one disabled worker and hired a disabled intern in the Finance 
Department for accounting work. 
In Italy, a plan is being developed to subcontract cleaning services, which is currently subcontracted or ensured by 
temporary staff, to similar companies. 

Measures adopted to promote intergenerational balance 

On 23 January 2014, Naturex S.A. signed a Company-wide agreement on the three-year generation contract. 
This agreement marks Naturex's commitment to promote the employment of younger and older generations while 
emphasising the transfer of knowledge and skills. The agreement not only impacts young and old generations, but also 
those in between, which take on a role of guiding young people, passing down knowledge and skills and providing 
training. Young new hires will benefit from the support of a representative at the Company, who is responsible for 
making sure the new recruit's integration advances smoothly. A program was introduced to ensure the smooth 
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integration of young new hires. It includes welcome procedures and a welcome pack with the Company's internal 
rules and the list of collective bargaining agreements applicable at the Company. 
In this agreement, Naturex has set quantitative targets for the long-term integration of young people at the Company: 
- For young workers on permanent employment contracts, Naturex aims for 4% of the employees hired over the 

term of the agreement, either through training or work-study programs, to be under age 26; 
- For interns, Naturex will promote the integration of interns to equal 4% of total staff. To achieve this target, 

Naturex develops partnerships with schools and universities in the region. 
The commitments to promote the employment of older workers include hiring and maintaining them in their jobs 
(about 3% of total staff were under age 50 when the agreement was signed), by improving working conditions and 
preventing situations that involve arduous work. 
Furthermore, to anticipate employee career development and manage the age breakdown, Naturex will also work 
with employees over age 45 who request it to review their career path until their retirement. Employees over 50 will 
benefit from a training assessment every three years, after which they will have priority access to training. 

II.8 Promoting compliance with the fundamental conventions of the ILO 
(International Labour Organisation) 

The Group adheres to the ILO's Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work, even though these 
standards already fully apply in the labour laws of most of the countries where Naturex operates: 
- Abolition of slavery and forced labour; 
- Abolition of child labour; 
- Freedom of association and collective bargaining; 
- Equal remuneration policy (in line with minimum wage conventions); 
- Elimination of moral or physical harassment; 
- Elimination of any form of discrimination (employment and occupation); 
- Non-discrimination, equal opportunity. 
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III. Environmental data 
 

III.1 General environmental policy 
A responsible worldwide environmental policy 

Conservation of natural resources and respecting the environment 

The raw materials used by Naturex originate exclusively from nature itself. Since it was founded, respecting the 
environment and the conservation of natural resources have constituted a central priority of Naturex's strategy. 
As such, Naturex is a committed stakeholder in the communities where it operates and its Foundation helps enrol 
these communities in contributing to its priority for sustainable economic, social and environmental development. 
The Group's environmental program is based on three pillars: 
- Compliance with regulations in effect in all the countries where the Group operates; 
- Analysis of environmental impacts; 
- Monitoring of all improvement measures. 

Finally, Naturex strives to share its concerns for sustainable development with all of its own stakeholders by: 
- Increasing employee awareness about environmental issues through regular information initiatives and training in 

this area; and 
- Sharing its ethical values with its suppliers and subcontractors for the application of the principles of sustainable 

development. 

Applying an Environmental Management System 

- Naturex considers that sustainable development is an essential aspect in the conduct of its operations. This 
priority is reflected in the definition of a Sustainable Development Charter that includes environmental 
principles specifically related to the Group's businesses. 

The main objective of this commitment is to promote good environmental practices across the entire value chain and 
throughout the ingredient production process. 
A Group Management System is gradually being implemented to improve the industrial performance at the different 
sites through a number of tools and good practices, while reducing the impact of our businesses on people and the 
environment in accordance with regulations and beyond ISO 14001 standards. 
 
The measures adopted by Naturex to establish and maintain its environmental management system are based on the 
principle of continuous improvement: 

Planning > Implementing > Inspecting > Reviewing and Improving 
The goal is to achieve increasingly higher levels of performance. 
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Based on a harmonised and coherent Group approach, adapted to each site, a detailed environmental analysis and 
customised regulatory monitoring are used to define the environmental specific objectives.  
Objectives may concern a wide range of areas: 
- Consumption (energy, water); 
- Water and atmospheric emissions;  
- Waste; 
- Reporting and self-monitoring; 
- Pollution prevention; 
- Supplier and subcontractor involvement. 

Naturex's Executive Management has undertaken to implement all means necessary to achieve these objectives. 
The Avignon site has been ISO 14001 certified since 2007. This certification was renewed in 2013 following an in-depth 
audit performed by Bureau Veritas Certifications. The Birmingham site, certified since 2008, was audited by the British 
Standards Institution. 

A well-designed organisation 

A HSE (Health, Safety and Environment) policy was implemented in the Group based on the presence of fully 
dedicated engineer level HSE representatives for the main sites (France, Spain, New Jersey, Italy, Morocco and 
Switzerland, Poland) or partially dedicated at smaller scale sites in terms of manufacturing activity (United Kingdom), 
backed by a Group HSE Coordinator in charge of harmonising and distributing good practices. New sites acquired since 
October 2011 (Burgundy in France and Spain, Valentine in India, Pektowin in Poland, Chile Botanics in Chili) will also 
benefit from this organisation. 

The Group also benefits from staff who are sensitive to environmental issues and involved in the continuous 
improvement approach through in-house training sessions in the form of a slideshow sent by email. Employees must 
then complete a questionnaire to pass the training course. 

Reporting system that encourages the implementation of environmentally friendly solutions 

All of our environmental initiatives are guided by a spirit of pragmatism and continuous efforts to improve efficiency.  
To monitor its actions in favour of the environment based on a process of continual improvement, Naturex 
implemented a balanced scorecard system at all its production sites making it possible to monitor for each month a 
certain number of performance indicators (consumption of energy, water, solvents, effluents, waste, etc.) based in 
part on GRI (Global Reporting Initiative) metrics and meeting extra-financial reporting requirements for environmental 
data now provided for under French regulations (Article 225 of the "Grenelle II Act" of 12 July 2010, and the 
implementation decree of 24 April 2012 . 
This Group reporting will be monitored monthly starting in 2014 to identify any problems far upstream and enable the 
Group to react rapidly. 

Within the framework of its safety, security and environmental strategy and the environmental management system, 
efforts for improvement are focused on: 
- Pursuing and improving the monitoring of our environmental impacts; 
- Ensuring the continuous performance of treatment systems for atmospheric and liquid emissions and adapt these 

systems to production sites changes; 
- Pursuing the widespread application of recycling and recovery processes for industrial waste. 

At 31 December 2013, there were no provisions or guarantees for environmental risks. 

To promote the sustainable use of resources in line with our primary objective for limiting environmental impacts, the 
reporting system monitors key indicators broken down below. 
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III.2 Pollution and waste management 

Measures to prevent, reduce or repair serious adverse effects on the environment from the 
release of waste into the atmosphere, water and soil 

� Wastewater  

Wastewater management is a major issue for some of our plants, 
as the businesses can potentially generate high amounts of organic 
contaminants. To reduce this risk, five Group plants were equipped 
with biological wastewater treatment systems using an activated 
sludge process to decontaminate water prior to release, which may 
be into the natural environment or the local water supply, 
depending on the plant. 
Average DCO (chemical oxygen demand) for these five sites 
(Avignon and Reyssouze in France, Casablanca-Morocco, Palafolls 
and Valencia in Spain) amounted to 434 mg /L. in 2013.  
 
Some of the main achievements in 2013 include: 
- The biological wastewater treatment system at the Avignon site: the system covers two underground floors to 

prevent any visual, noise or odour nuisance or any heat loss in winter. The wastewater pool is buried seven 
meters underground, with a 6-meter high flotation clarifier used to separate biomass; 

- Rainwater filtration system at the New Jersey plant in the United States; 
- Optimisation of the wastewater treatment system at the Palafolls site in Spain. 
 
Future projects will cover: 
- Expansion of the systems at Reyssouze and Valencia, Spain; 
- Expansion of the system in India; 
- Collection of water used for fire-fighting at the Bischofszell site in Switzerland.  
  

Wastewater treatment station – Avignon site (Avignon)
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� VOC (Volatile Organic Compounds) 

The use of organic solvents, which are inherent to our business, generates volatile organic compounds. To reduce 
VOCs, efficient recovery systems have been designed to recycle most of the solvent. 
Organic solvents are required for two of our activities: 

- Extraction 
- Pectin manufacture  

As the processes are different for each activity, we report two separate indicators. 

Pektowin was taken over in January 2012. As a result, the Jaslo site is not included in the 2011 scope. 
Major improvements were made at the Jaslo site in Poland in 2013 involving the solvents produced by the pectin 
manufacture process. 
Improvements are also planned to recycle solvents at the Reyssouze (France) and Bischofszell (Switzerland) sites. 
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Landfill 8.1%
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Disposal
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Treatment of NHIW

Waste prevention, recycling and elimination measures 

� Waste 

Naturex generated an estimated 20,662 metric tons of waste in 2013. 
Hazardous waste represented only 1.4% of this amount. 
The three-year target is to extend reporting on the weight of waste produced to cover 100% of sites, versus the 
current 67%. 
The current scope (excluding New Jersey and California in the United States, Morocco and Australia) has set targets to 
increase the proportion of waste currently recovered from 84% to 88% and to reduce the proportion of waste sent to 
landfills from 8% to 5%. 

The chart below shows the current breakdown of the treatment of Non-Hazardous Industrial Waste (NHIW). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Various methods are used to recycle green waste: composting most often, animal feed (Switzerland), methanization 
(Spain) or biomass for an ISO 14001 certified brickyard (Morocco) used to produce compost, animal feed or biomass 
(by methanization). 
Packaging waste is sorted for recycling. Special communication initiatives (sorting instructions, posters, etc.) have 
been deployed to raise workers' awareness at the various sites about this environmentally-friendly practice. These 
efforts also contribute to reducing waste treatment costs.  

The management of noise pollution and other forms of pollution specific to an activity 

Naturex pays close attention to controlling the nuisances that the Group may cause in operating its production sites, 
especially noise and odour related. 
Most of our industrial sites are not particularly noisy, and are not located in residential areas. For those sites that may 
cause these types of nuisances or that are located in urban areas, Naturex has defined a set of standards indicating its 
quantitative and qualitative targets. Any complaint from a local resident is recorded in the Management System as an 
anomaly report and investigated to find out the cause. Checks are run on a regular basis at each site. 
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III.3 Sustainable use of resources 

Water supply and consumption 

Depending on the site, water may be supplied from:  
- The local water network; 
- Groundwater; 
- Surface water; 

To date, no site has been subjected to water use restrictions. However, as a corporate citizen, Naturex makes efforts 
to limit its consumption of this natural resource and use it wisely. 

� Water supply and consumption indicators 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Group's significant achievements in this area for 2013 include the Valencia, Spain site's new cooling towers and a 
refrigeration unit used to cut water use while increasing productivity: 

 

June to December 2012 June to December 2013 Reduction 

124,470 m3 74,330 m3 40 % 
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At the Jaslo site in Poland, a new cooling tower was installed in November 2013 to reduce water consumption: 

December 2012 December 2013 Reduction 

16,274 m3 11,160 m3 31% 

 
The three-year target is to reduce the water consumption ratio based on a comparable structure by 10%, i.e. 22.5 m3 
per metric ton produced. 

The consumption of raw materials and measures taken for improving efficiencies in their use 

Naturex uses several thousand tons of plant raw materials every year that are carefully selected from our farming 
partners or from local communities. The Group has signed a number of agreements on their cultivation and collection. 
Thanks to our close relationships and the expertise of our agricultural engineers, we can share good agricultural and 
collection practices (GACP) and technical advice to improve processes (selection of varieties, fertilisation, irrigation, 
insect control) and yields, thereby reducing the volumes used. 
As a result, in line with GACP, in Northern Europe Naturex selected producers that have developed sophisticated 
farming methods for valerian. During plantation, the tractor is guided by GPS to follow the determined path for 
accuracy within 1 cm. This innovative method is used to optimise the distribution of plants in the field, improve yield 
and help reduce the use of herbicides by at least 30% when combined with mechanical weed control. 
Given the significant disparity in the type of raw materials used by the Group, it has not been able to define a 
consistent, adequately relevant indicator to measure the consumption of raw materials against the improved 
efficiency in their use. 
The Purchasing Department's policy to promote relations with local producers by setting up a procurement system 
through farming contracts based on GACP will provide better visibility on the sustainable supply of our raw materials 
and foster continuous improvement in farming, collection and consumption methods.   
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Energy consumption 

� Scope of industrial sites and source of energy used 

  Electricity Gas Gasoil/fuel oil Coal 

France - Avignon X X     

Spain - Valencia X X     

Italy – Milan X X     

UK - Swadlincote X   X   

Switzerland - Bischofszell X X     

Switzerland - Burgdorf X X     

Morocco - Casablanca X   X   

Brazil - Manaus X   X   

USA - New-Jersey X X     

USA – California X       

Australia- Sidney X X     

France - Reyssouze X X     

Spain - Palafolls X X     

Poland - Jaslo X X   X 

India - Valentine X X X   

 
The gas, gasoil/fuel oil and coal energy sources are covered by the fossil fuel indicator. 
 

� Indicators by energy source 

Energy consumption 

 
The electricity efficiency target is 1.0 kWh/kg produced over the next three years. 
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Fossil fuel consumption 

The fossil fuel target is to reduce consumption by 5%, for a ratio of 3.2 kWh/kg produced. 

To preserve natural resources and biodiversity, which represent Naturex's core business, the extension at the Avignon 
site was built in line with ambitious sustainability targets to minimise its energy consumption and environmental 
impact, from design (insulation, dual-flow ventilation, energy-saving power sockets that shut off outside working 
hours to prevent machines from consuming energy while in hibernation mode, eco-designed furniture made with FSC-
certified wood) to building operation (water treatment system integrated into the site environment).  

Sites are also investing in measures to optimise energy efficiency: 
- Priority on low-energy lighting; 
- At the plant in New Jersey, United States, three compressors that consumed 120 kW 

were replaced with a new variable frequency drive model that consumes an average 
of 60 kW, i.e. a 50% decrease. The site's efforts were recognised by the New Jersey 
Department of Environmental Protection, which awarded it an "Environmental 
Stewardship" certificate. 

 
The Group's industrial strategy generally aims to replace air evaporation processes with 
membrane separation whenever possible. In addition to the many advantages offered in terms of final product 
quality, this technology is significantly more energy efficient.  

The main projects for 2014 will cover: 
- Outdoor lighting for the extension at the Roha site will be generated by solar panels; 
- The implementation at the Poland site of a system used to recover heat generated by the ethanol distillation 

process. The site will also launch the initial phase in renovating the steam generator and the insulation of its 
piping; 

- The launch of a program to replace/substitute the R22 refrigerant with new fluids featuring a considerably 
better GHG emission coefficient at a number of our sites. 

Land use 

Reducing all types of pollution is also a top priority in Naturex's environmental program. We are sensitive to 
compliance with the rules of land use (in particular maintaining unbuilt land without soil sealing). Hazardous materials 
(solvents, cleaning products) are disposed of in special storage systems that prevent any form of pollution (retention 
basins, compatibility checks, leak detection if applicable). 

Our business depends on nature, plants and therefore land. A good ingredient begins at the source to produce a 
quality raw material. Working closely with our partners through our eight purchasing offices worldwide, our 
agricultural engineers engage with local populations to share good agricultural and collection practices and technical 
advice to protect the land and improve yields. 
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III.4 Climate change 

Greenhouse gas emissions 

The forms of energy included in the "Direct CO2 emissions" indicator are fossil fuels and electricity. 

Adapting to the consequences of climate change 

Naturex sources over 600 categories of raw materials in more than 50 countries across six continents. With eight 
purchasing offices set up worldwide and our agricultural engineers' thorough understanding of plants, we can move 
our sourcing areas based on climate conditions:  

- towards better suited geographic regions or towards farming areas when collection areas can be substituted; 
- towards varieties better suited to climate changes. 

 

III.5 Protection of biodiversity 

Measures taken to preserve or develop biodiversity 

Biodiversity covers all living things, from human beings to micro-organisms, including the multiplicity of ecosystems. 
Protecting biodiversity is key to the planet's long-term survival. It helps protect the numerous varieties of farming 
products that are essential to food safety. 
Nature is our only supply source. Protecting, maintaining and helping develop this heritage is crucial to Naturex's 
success. 
Biodiversity is a key issue for the Group. Through its Purchasing Department and purchasing offices worldwide, 
Naturex works to create procurement systems that ensure greater traceability of raw materials and better protection 
of resources. 
Naturex teamed up with Sedex in 2008 to uphold sustainable and ethical practices within its supply chains. In 2013, 
the Group initiated UEBT (Union for Ethical BioTrade) certification to promote biodiversity mainly for its Personal Care 
business used in the cosmetics industry. The Union for Ethical BioTrade is a non-profit organisation that promotes the 
"Sourcing with Respect" of ingredients that come from biodiversity. Members commit to gradually ensuring that their 
sourcing practices promote the conservation of biodiversity, respect traditional knowledge and assure the equitable 
sharing of benefits all along the supply chain. 
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IV. Societal information 

IV.1 Regional, economic and employment-related impact of the Group 

On employment and regional development 

Naturex's exponential growth over the last 12 years has contributed to job creation at all locations where the Group 
operates throughout the world, and particularly at its head office site in Avignon that houses both a production facility 
and Group support functions. 

Naturex S.A. employs 390 people, with the majority working at the Avignon head office site, or more than 25% of the 
Group workforce. As such it is an important stakeholder and contributor to the local economy. The second largest site 
in terms of workforce is the regional head office for the Americas/Asia-Pacific division located in the US with 211 
employees. For the other Group sites, the impact on employment of its activities is proportional to the size of the 
companies and the nature of the local economic environment. 

On neighbouring or local populations  

The Naturex-Jacques Dikansky foundation, a community engagement 

Since its creation, Naturex has travelled extensively across the globe looking for and selecting the best plant raw 
materials for its products. This approach has naturally strengthened over the years its relationships with the people 
who produce and harvest these plants. This proximity has contributed to Naturex's awareness of the difficulties these 
populations face on a daily basis. 

The Naturex Foundation was created in 2008 at the initiative of the CEO of Naturex, Jacques Dikansky, today 
deceased. Renamed Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation, its mission is to improve the living conditions of the 
populations in the countries where Naturex sources its raw materials, in a selfless and independent manner and with 

an exclusively humanitarian purpose. 

The environment, health, education and economic 
development are priority areas for intervention. This initiative 
constitutes a long-term commitment and illustrates Naturex’s 
commitment to assuming its environmental and corporate 
responsibility based on values it has always defended.  

The Naturex-Jacques Dikansky foundation is involved in 
creating programmes with a strong human and environmental 

dimension. On this basis it seeks to develop active partnerships with associations that sponsor projects contributing to 
improved quality of life for local populations in the countries where Naturex operates. 

To ensure its funding resources are used to maximum benefit, Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation works exclusively 
with associations and NGOs operating under principles of complete financial transparency. 

Naturex has also set up an endowment fund to allow third parties to make donations to the Foundation. 

The Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation is managed by a board of six members including both persons from the 
company and outside figures. This board meets three times a year to define the Foundation’s policy and general 
orientations and to study projects having been submitted. 
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The Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation supports projects in Morocco, Peru, India and Cambodia including: 
 
Renovation of a school in the Ivory Coast 
In June 2013, our Foundation undertook the renovation of three classrooms at the primary school in 
Ingrakon in collaboration with Mintsin, a women's organisation that aims to improve living conditions and 
access to education. Ingrakon is a village with a population of 3,000 located 7 kilometers from Alépé. This 
region of the Ivory Coast supplies Naturex with katemfe, cocoa, kola nut, green coffee, and more.  
The three classrooms where 120 schoolchildren in five grades attended classes were in extremely poor 
condition (roof leaks, building structure eroded by moisture, dangerous staircases, windows and doors 
without insulation). The work began at the end of the school year in late June  2013 and was completed for 
the beginning of the next school year in September. The renovation enabled the children to work in an 
improved environment, and the school could remain open year round despite seasonal weather conditions.  
 
The Apus Boat project 
Since February 2013, our Foundation has supported the Apus Boat initiative, providing free dental care to 
the Shipibo villages located on the banks of the Ucayali River, a major tributary of the Amazon, south of the 

city of Pucallpa in the Amazonian forest of Peru.  
 
Dental care provided includes an exam, scaling, 
treatment of caries and the distribution of new 
toothbrushes. 
Several villages are located along the Ucayali River, all 
with extremely limited or non-existent access to 
dental care. The boat was specifically designed for 
navigation in shallow water, making it considerably 
easier to reach riverbanks banks otherwise more 
difficult to access. Each village is unique.  

 
 
Integration of young disabled workers in agriculture in Morocco 
Since 2009 and in association with the NGO, Agrisud, our foundation has provided opportunities to ten youth 

with disabilities to gain access to a professional activity.  
 
Excluded from the formal education system, these young people have no appropriate academic 
structure. Ten young Moroccans are sponsored by the Foundation and have successfully 
completed their apprenticeship program. They now have their own farms. In this way, the 
Foundation has contributed to the realisation of rabbit breeding or apiculture projects… 

 
 

Combating early abandonment of schooling in Morocco 
Since 2011, the Foundation has supported the not-for-profit EMA (Enfance Maghreb Avenir) that promotes 
access to schooling for disadvantaged young people in Morocco. 
Through this partnership, the primary school of Matar Nouaceur located near the plant of Naturex Maroc 
was renovated in 2011. In 2012, the Foundation renewed its partnership in this region to carry out 
renovation work on sports facilities of the Dakhla middle school. This establishment located near the Matar 
Nouaceur School opens its doors to 1500 students every year. The goal of providing access to sports 
activities is to combat absenteeism resulting from insufficient motivation, the absence of team spirit and 
respect between students and teachers but also among the students themselves and reduce in this way t he 
disparities between girls and boys. 
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Through this renovation work completed in December 2012, the middle school now has a basketball court, a 
volleyball court, a racetrack and high jump runway, a half -size football field as well as locker rooms.  
 
Financing for a dental office and an Internet centre in Peru 
Naturex makes regular visits to Ninacaca for its supply of maca. The Foundation funded a dental practice and 
internet centre. 
Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation supports the "Kalisayas Outreach" project with the goal of improving 
the living conditions of the inhabitants of Ninacaca, a village located in the Peruvian highlands.  
Very isolated, the local populations face many difficulties concerning in particular access to healthcare, 
education and means of communications. 
Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation contributes to maintaining the health clinic and in particular the 
dental care dispensary. Supplementing this initiative, the Foundation also supports the local internet centre 
that provides computer courses for children. The aim of these actions is to permanently improve the lives of 
people in Ninacaca. 
 
These efforts and their success pave the way for other projects around the world, with the objective of strengthening 
Naturex’s community commitment by helping to provide the basic needs of vulnerable populations, while protecting 
natural resources. Other examples of initiatives by Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation can be found at the website: 
www.fondation.naturex.com along with a link to a form for making donations. 
 

At the NuW Excellence Awards 2012 ceremony of the Health Ingredients Europe (HIE) trade show 
in Frankfurt held in November 2012, Naturex received special recognition by the jury for the 
"Sustainability and Environment Initiative of the Year". This reward was granted for the 

achievements of the Naturex-Jacques Dikansky foundation within the framework of its relations in the local 
communities where Naturex sources its plant-based raw materials. 
 
Benefit Sharing 

To promote the positive direct impact on the environment and local communities where the 
Group sources its raw materials, in 2013 Naturex S.A. began donating to the Naturex-Jacques 
Dikansky Foundation a subsidy of 1% of the sales of the NAT oleis™ line, its new line of vegetable 
oils as part of its Sustainable Development program. 

 
 

  



Chapter 2 

Sustainable Development 

2013 Registration Document   61 

IV.2 Outsourcing and suppliers 

Impact of social and environmental considerations on the company's purchasing policy 

Reflecting its positioning in the value chain and the specific nature of its activity, preserving natural resources 
constitutes a major strategic priority for Naturex's development. 

The Group's purchasing policy is in line with the Group's Health, Safety and Environment policy which is rolled out 
through an Environmental Management System. To meet these requirements, the Avignon (France) and Birmingham 
(United Kingdom) sites have been ISO 14001 certified. 

This policy is based on our commitment to meet regulatory requirements through a continuous improvement process 
focusing on the following developments: 
- Implementing, monitoring and evaluating action plans defined following the assessment of environmental, health 

and safety risks; 
- Ensuring the participation of our suppliers and subcontractors in health, safety and environmental processes; 
- Maintaining a constructive attitude of transparency and dialogue vis-à-vis third parties and concerned parties. 

Matters relating to purchasing processes are described in the Group's Quality Manual and general procedures for 
purchasing, logistics and the management of logistics flows. 
The Group's Purchasing/Supply Chain department evaluates and selects suppliers according to their ability to provide 
a product meeting the defined specifications of Naturex, particularly for suppliers of raw materials. Methods for 
evaluating suppliers are described in the general procedure "supplier evaluation" as well as the instructions for 
"quality management" and "purchasing/logistics/management of flows". 
Naturex's eight purchasing offices located throughout the world (France, United States, Brazil, Morocco, Ivory Coast, 
China, India and Poland) contribute to developing relationships of proximity with local farmers and exercising effective 
control for the entire sourcing cycle, from the phase for selecting the raw material, cultivation up to harvesting. 
Partnerships are concluded locally with farmers, notably in the form of cultivation contracts with predefined 
specifications. In addition, audits are conducted on a regular basis to ensure a more effective control over the sourcing 
cycle and complete traceability for raw materials. 
Furthermore, in the process of selecting a raw material, Naturex systematically gives preference to sustainable and 
responsible cultivation methods adopted by local farmers and the preservation of biodiversity. 

Outsourcing volume and the manner that the social and environmental responsibility of 
suppliers and subcontractors are taken into account in relations with these parties 

The Group uses subcontractors and outside service providers in the conduct of its operations in a wide range of areas: 
transport/logistics, plant maintenance, upkeep for offices and green spaces, printing/graphic creations, 
media/communications, etc. 

The Group subcontracted €2.9 million in services in 2013. 

A vendor approval form must be completed for each supplier, service provider or subcontractor to complete 
verifications with the employment regulatory and tax authorities of the country of origin and ensure compliance with 
basic rules governing lawful employment in compliance with the labour law of the country and ILO core conventions 
and, in particular, with respect to undeclared work or child labour. 
 
Information on the safety and environmental practices of raw materials suppliers is requested for referencing. 
Furthermore, the main suppliers are audited on a yearly basis, which covers social and environmental issues. 
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External companies that work at Naturex's industrial sites must comply with strict health and safety rules (work permit 
system) and are informed about the Group's environmental management policy. 
An environmental survey is sent to road transport companies in France and the United Kingdom. A project is being 
developed to extend this survey to other countries where the Group operates. 
Through this policy, the Group shares with its local partners the ethical standards that are essential to maintaining 
lasting, sustainable collaboration. Naturex is a member of the United Nations Global Compact and ensures compliance 
with the main principles concerning human rights, labour rules, anti-corruption and protecting the environment. 

Naturex is also a member of the Sedex (Supplier Ethical Data Exchange), a not for profit membership organisation 
dedicated to driving improvements in ethical and responsible business practices in global supply chains. It provides a 
platform for sharing supplier information in four areas: labour standards, health and safety, the environment and 
business ethics. 

Self-assessment questionnaires on these topics are compiled in a database that is shared with other members. Sedex 
also performs certification audits based on its standards. Four of the Group's industrial sites are already certified (in 
the United Kingdom, Brazil and Switzerland). The Avignon site initiated the audit process in 2013. Sedex certification is 
a way of demonstrating our commitment to labour standards, health and safety, the environment and business ethics. 
In addition, some of our sites are in the process of being certified ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 that impose rigorous 
standards for verifying suppliers and subcontractors. 

IV.3 Fair trade practices and other measures taken to defend Human Rights 

Measures taken to prevent corruption 

By introducing a formal sustainable development program, Naturex further defined its framework for applying 
business ethics. The Sustainable Development Committee is drafting a Code of Business Conduct that will incorporate 
the human rights principles defined in the Global Compact and the ILO convention. It will describe good business 
conduct practices involving all stakeholders (employees, suppliers, clients, bankers and shareholders). 

Measures taken in favour of consumer health and safety 

Managing the risk of adulterated plants, fruit and vegetables is a constant challenge for the food and nutraceutical 
industries. To gain long-term consumer trust, industrial groups need to be able to count on a reliable partner that 
checks the production process end to end for the ingredients sold to them. 

From the arrival of raw materials at the plant until they are shipped, ingredients undergo a full battery of tests and 
analyses at all the key steps in the manufacturing process. Naturex has over 350 different analysis methods, from 
macroscopic and microscopic authentication based on botanist assessment to phytochemical analysis involving 
sophisticated methods such as high performance thin layer chromatography (HPTLC), high performance liquid 
chromatography (HPLC) and gas chromatography (GC).  

In addition to its extensive arsenal of analyses, Naturex's fundamental expertise consists in determining precisely the 
right test suited for each plant. For example, in 2013 Naturex took part in determining the specifications and analysis 
methods for the new USP standards applied to rosemary extracts.  
Naturex has introduced a quality assurance system at each Group plant. All sites that produce and ship ingredients are 
certified based on at least one of the following GMP standards: GFSI (FSSC 22000, BRC, IFS), NSF for food supplements 
or GMP (ICH Q7A) to meet pharmaceutical regulations. This quality system certified by independent organisations 
guarantees full traceability throughout the supply chain and ensures perfect control of the risk of cross-
contamination. 



Chapter 2 

Sustainable Development 

2013 Registration Document   63 

STATUTORY AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENT THIRD-PARTY REPORT 
on the consolidated employment related, environmental and social information included in the Management 
Report 

Year ending 31 December 2013 

This is a free translation into English of a report issued in the French language and is provided solely for the convenience of English 
speaking readers. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and professional 
auditing standards applicable in France. 

 
To the Shareholders: 

As Statutory Auditor of Naturex S.A. (hereafter the "Company") , designated as an independent third party and 
certified by COFRAC under No.3-1048 , we hereby present our report on the consolidated employment-related, 
environmental and social information (hereinafter referred to as “CSR Information”) provided in the management 
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 pursuant to the provisions of article L. 225-102-1 of the 
French commercial code. 

Responsibility of the company  

The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing a management report including CSR Information in accordance 
with the provisions of Article R. 225-105-1 of the French commercial code and with the procedures used by the 
Company (hereinafter the “Guidelines”) summarised in said report reproduced in Chapter 2 "Sustainable 
Development" and available on request from the company's headquarters. 

Independence and quality control  

Our independence is defined by regulations, the code of ethics of the profession and by the provisions of Article L.822-
11 of the French Commercial Code. We have also implemented a quality control system comprising documented 
policies and procedures for ensuring compliance with the codes of ethics, professional auditing standards and 
applicable legal and regulatory texts. 

Responsibility of the auditors 

On the basis of our work, it is our responsibility to: 

- certify that the required CSR Information is presented in the management report or, in the event that any CSR 
Information is not presented, that an explanation is provided in accordance with the third paragraph of Article R. 
225-105 of the French commercial code (Statement of disclosure of CSR Information); 

- express limited assurance that the CSR Information, taken as a whole, is, in all material respects, fairly presented in 
accordance with the Guidelines (Reasoned opinion on the fairness of the CSR Information).  

Our work was conducted by a team of three persons between November 2013 and March 2014. In the performance of 
this engagement, we were assisted by our specialised CSR experts. 
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We performed our work in accordance with the professional auditing standards applicable in France and with legal 
order published on 13 May 2013 determining the conditions in which the independent third party performs its 
engagement and concerning the reasoned opinion of fairness in accordance with the ISAE 3000 international 
standard1. 

 

1. Statement of disclosure of CSR information 

We obtained an understanding from interviews with management of the relevant departments, on priorities for 
sustainable development, according to the employment-related and environmental impacts of the Company's activity 
and its social commitments and, where appropriate, the resulting actions or programmes. 

We compared the CSR Information presented in the management report with the list as provided for in Article R.225-
105-1 of the French Commercial Code; 

For any consolidated Information that was not disclosed, we verified that the explanations provided complied with the 
provisions of Article R. 225-105, paragraph 3 of the French Commercial Code. 

We ensured that the CSR Information covers the scope of consolidation, i.e., the Company, its subsidiaries as defined 
by Article L. 233-1 and the entities it controls as defined by Article L. 233-3 of the French Commercial Code within the 
limitations set out in the Chapter 2 "Sustainable Development" of the management report; 

Based on this work and the limitations mentioned above, we attest to the completeness of the required CSR 
Information in the management report. 

2. Reasoned opinion on the fairness of the CSR Information 

Nature and scope of our work 

We conducted several interviews with persons responsible for preparing CSR information, departments responsible for 
collecting information and, where appropriate, those in charge of internal control and risk management procedures in 
order to: 

- assess the suitability of the Guidelines in light of their relevance, completeness, reliability, impartiality and 
comprehensibility, and taking industry best practice into account when necessary;  

- verify the implementation of a data-collection, compilation, processing and control procedure that is designed to 
produce CSR Information that is exhaustive and consistent, and familiarise ourselves with the internal control and 
risk management procedures involved in preparing the CRS Information 

We selected the CSR information to be tested and determined the nature and scope of the tests, taking into 
consideration their importance based on the Company's profile, the social and environmental impact of its activities, 
priorities in terms of sustainable development and industry best practice.  

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                 
1 ISAE 3000 – Assurance engagements other than audits or reviews of historical financial information  
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With regard to the CSR Information that we considered to be the most important2:  

- at the level of the consolidating entity and controlled entities, we have consulted documentary sources and 
conducted meetings to corroborate qualitative information (organisation, policies, actions), we implemented 
analytical procedures for quantitative information and verified, using sampling techniques, calculations as well as 
the consolidation of data, and have verified their consistency and concordance with other information contained in 
the management report;  

- at the level of a representative sample of entities we selected3 according to their activity, contribution to the 
consolidated indicators, location and a risk analysis, we conducted interviews to verify the correct application of 
procedures and identify possible omissions and implement tests on details based on samples, consisting in 
verifying calculations and reconciling data with supporting evidence. The selected sample represents 26% of 
headcount and between 14% and 75% of quantitative environmental data. 

For the other CSR consolidated information published, we assessed its consistency based on our knowledge of the 
Company.  

Finally, also assessed the relevance of explanations given for any information not disclosed, either in whole or in part. 

We consider that the sampling methods and the size of the samples retained based on our professional judgement 
allow us to issue a moderate assurance. A higher level of assurance would have required more extensive verifications. 
Due to the use of sampling techniques and other limitations inherent to all information systems and internal control 
systems, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement in the CSR Information cannot be completely eliminated.  

Conclusion 

Based on our work, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the CSR Information, taken as a 
whole, is not presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the Guidelines. 

  

                                                                 
2  Social information:  

- Quantitative data: Total workforce at the end of the reporting period and breakdown by gender, age and region, number of 
employees hired and dismissed, number of training hours, frequency and severity rates, payroll. 

Environmental information:  
- Quantitative data: Fossil fuel consumption, electricity consumption, water consumption, quantities of hazardous and 

nonhazardous waste, total production, VOC (Volatile Organic Compounds) emissions by quantity of raw materials processed 
and by quantity of pectin produced and CO2 emissions linked to energy consumption. 

- Qualitative information: Certifications and environmental management systems, preservation of biodiversity. 
Qualitative social information: Dialogue and managing relations with local populations, sustainable purchasing, and combating 
corruption.  
 
3  On-site interventions: Naturex S.A. (France), Bischofszell and Burgdorf sites (Switzerland). 
Off-site intervention: South Hackensack site in the US (for the VOC emissions indicator). 
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Comments 

Without qualifying the opinion expressed above, we draw your attention to the following: 

- The need to increase awareness in the subsidiaries about the correct application of the reporting guidelines and 
strengthen internal controls for employment-related data, and in particular for training in absenteeism indicators. 

 

- The definition of the 2013 severity rate adopted by the Group explained in Chapter 2 "Sustainable Development" 
of the management report: the number of lost time days resulting from occupational accidents does not include 
lost time days of 2003 linked to occupational accidents occurring in preceding periods. 

 

 
Paris-La Défense, 24 April 2014 

 
 
 

KPMG Audit 
Department of KPMG S.A. 

 
French original signed by: 

 

Jean Gatinaud Philippe Arnaud  
Partner Partner 

Climate Change & Sustainable Development 
Department 
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ORGANISATION AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

I. General information 

Legal form (art. 1 of the articles of association)  
French Société Anonyme (public limited company) with a Board of Directors governed by the French commercial code. 

Company name (art. 2 of the articles of association) 

Naturex 

Corporate purpose (art. 3 of the articles of association) 

The company’s purpose, in France and in all countries, is to: 
- Manufacture, market and distribute wholesale/semi-wholesale and retail all edible products for human and 

animal food and provide related services, 
- Manufacture and market all extracts intended for the cosmetic, dietary and pharmaceutical industries and all 

related activities, and 
- Invest in and manage securities in all companies in France and other countries with related and/or 

complementary activities. 

It may engage in all activities that are compatible and related to and contributing to this purpose. 

Head office (art. 4 of the articles of association) 

The company's head office is located at: Z.A.C. Pôle technologique Agroparc - BP 1218 - 84911 Avignon Cedex 09 - 
France. 
It can be transferred to any location in the same département or in an adjacent département, by a simple decision by 
the Board of Directors, subject to ratification by the next ordinary shareholders' meeting, and anywhere else by virtue 
of a ruling by an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting, subject to provisions of the laws in force. 

Date of incorporation and term (art. 5 of the articles of association) 

The company’s term is 99 years commencing on the date it was registered in the Trade and Companies Register on 22 
July 1992, unless extended or terminated in advance. 

Trade and Companies Register 
The company is registered with the Avignon Trade and Companies Register (RCS) under the number: 
384 093 563 

The Company’s APE (primary business) code is 2053 Z. It corresponds to the Chemical Industry sector. 

Company year (art. 46 of the articles of association) 

From 1 January to 31 December. 
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Consultation of legal documents 
The Company’s articles of association, minutes of shareholders’ meetings and other company documents may be 
consulted at the Company's head office. 

Appropriation and distribution of earnings (art. 48 of the articles of association) 

The profit or loss for the year is calculated as the difference between the year's income and expenses after deducting 
amortisation, depreciation and provisions. 
From this profit, less, if applicable, any previous year’s losses, at least 5% is set aside to fund the legal reserve. This 
deduction ceases to be mandatory when the reserve reaches one tenth of the share capital. This deduction again 
becomes mandatory if, for whatever reason, the reserve falls below this level of one-tenth the share capital. 
Distributable income is comprised of the year's net income less any losses carried forward and appropriation to the 
legal reserve, plus any retained earnings. 
From distributable income, after an appropriation, as applicable, to the special reserve for long-term capital gains, the 
ordinary shareholders' meeting, acting on the Board of Directors’ proposal, has the right to deduct any amounts it 
deems appropriate to be allocated to retained earnings for the following year or to one or more extraordinary, 
general or special reserve funds. Said reserve funds can receive any appropriations decided by the shareholders’ 
meeting, acting on the Board of Directors’ proposal. 
Any remaining balance is distributed amongst all shares, redeemed or unredeemed. 
Furthermore, the shareholders' meeting may decide to distribute amounts deducted from available reserves. In this 
case, its decision must expressly indicate the reserve accounts from which the deductions are made. Nevertheless, 
any dividends shall first be deducted from the distributable income for the year. 
The revaluation adjustment cannot be distributed though may be added back in total or in part to the share capital. 
The Shareholders' Meeting has the right to grant each shareholder an option, for all or part of the dividend or interim 
dividend, for distribution in the form of cash or shares. 

General meetings (art. 30 to 45 of the articles of association) 

The General Meeting comprises all of the shareholders, regardless of the number of shares they hold.  

� Notice of meeting for shareholders' meetings 

The Board of Directors calls shareholders’ meetings. Otherwise, they can be called by those designated by the French 
commercial code, in particular by the auditor or auditors, by an agent designated by the president of the commercial 
court issuing a summary ruling at the request of shareholders who own ordinary shares representing at least 5% of the 
share capital or, with regards to a special shareholders' meeting, one-tenth of the shares of the category concerned. 
Shareholders' Meetings are held at the head office or at any other location in Metropolitan France. 
Shareholders’ Meetings are called and held in accordance with the provisions of French law. 
At least thirty-five days prior to the date of the meeting, the company publishes a notice of a meeting in the Bulletin 
des Annonces légales obligatoires (French official legal announcement publication), which specifies the meeting 
agenda and contains the texts of the draft resolutions submitted by the Board of Directors to the meeting.  

� Agenda 

The agenda for the meeting is set by the person who calls the meeting or by the legal order designating the agent in 
charge of calling the meeting. One or more shareholders representing the share of the capital set by the legal and 
regulatory provisions are authorised to request that draft resolutions be added to the meeting agenda. The Works 
Council has the same rights. The meeting may not consider an item not on the agenda, which can only be modified in 



Chapter 3 

Organisation and corporate governance 
 

2013 Registration Document   69 

a second notice of meeting. However, in any circumstances it can revoke one or more directors and have them 
replaced. 

� Admission to the meetings – Representation of shareholders – Voting by mail 

Any shareholder has the right to participate in the shareholders’ meetings or to be represented, regardless of the 
number of shares owned, as soon as the shares are fully paid up.  

Any shareholder can be represented by another shareholder holding shares of the same class or by his or her spouse. 
This proxy is granted for a single meeting. It may however be granted for two meetings, an ordinary and an 
extraordinary meeting, if they are held on the same day or within a period of fifteen days. This proxy is valid for 
successive meetings called with the same agenda.  

Any shareholder can vote by mail under the conditions set by laws and regulations in force. 

The company must enclose the information provided for by applicable law with any proxy or mail voting form that it 
sends to shareholders. 

If the shareholder is not a resident of France, he or she may be represented by an intermediary registered in 
accordance with the provisions provided for under applicable laws and regulations. 

In the event of separation of the legal and beneficial ownership of a share, the beneficial owner holding the voting 
rights can attend or be represented at the shareholders’ meeting without prejudice to the bare owner’s right to 
participate in all shareholders’ meetings. Owners of undivided shares are represented as stipulated in Article 14. 

The right to attend the shareholders meetings is evidenced by an accounting entry showing the number of shares in 
the name of the shareholder of record (or the intermediary of record for the account) on the third business day 
preceding the meeting at midnight (Paris time), either in the accounts for registered shares maintained by the 
company, or in the accounts for bearer shares maintained by the authorised intermediary.  

All shareholders of a particular category may participate in special shareholders’ meetings for this category under the 
above-mentioned conditions. 

� Holding the meeting – Officers of the meeting 

The meeting is chaired by the Chairman of the Board of Directors or in his or her absence by the Vice-Chairman or by 
the director who is temporarily delegated the functions of Chairman. Failing this, the meeting itself elects its 
Chairman.- When the meeting is called by the auditors, an agent appointed by the court or the liquidators, it is chaired 
by the person or one of the persons having called it. 
The functions of observers (scrutateurs) responsible for vote counting shall be performed by the two members of the 
meeting who are present and accept such duties, possessing the greatest number of voting rights. The presiding 
officers appoint a secretary for the meeting who can be selected from outside the members of the meeting. 

At each meeting, an attendance record is maintained containing the information required by regulations in force. The 
attendance record, duly initiated by the shareholders and proxy agents, is certified by the officers of the meeting. It is 
filed at the head office and must be forwarded to any shareholder who so requests. 
The presiding officers run the meeting, but their decisions may, as requested by any member of the meeting, be 
submitted by vote to the ultimate authority of the meeting itself.- 

� Effects of decisions 

The shareholders' meeting duly constituted and authorised accordingly to conduct proceedings shall represent all 
shareholders. The decisions made in accordance with the law and with the articles of association are binding on all 
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shareholders, even those who are absent, dissenting or unable to vote. However, when the decisions of a 
shareholders’ meeting affect the rights of certain classes of shares, these decisions will be become definitive only after 
ratification by a special meeting of those shareholders whose rights are modified. 

� Minutes 

The decisions of shareholders’ meetings are recorded in the minutes drawn up in accordance with applicable 
regulations.- Copies or extracts of these minutes are duly certified by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, by the 
director temporarily appointed to perform the functions of Chairman or a director exercising the functions of chief 
executive officer.- These minutes must also be certified by the secretary of the meeting. In the event of the liquidation 
of the company, they are certified by a single liquidator. 

Voting rights and quorum (art. 37, 40 to 43 of the articles of association) 

� Voting rights 

The voting right attached to ordinary capital or dividend shares is proportional to the share of capital they represent 
and each ordinary share confers a right to at least one vote. However, dual voting rights in lieu of the single vote 
granted to other ordinary shares, with regards to the proportion of the share capital they represent, are granted to all 
fully paid-up shares registered in the name of a single shareholder for at least two (2) years, with the stipulation that 
with regards to ordinary shares resulting or which will result from the conversion of preferred shares, the calculation 
of the aforementioned holding period commences on the date they were registered, in the form of preferred shares, 
in the name of the same holder. 
Furthermore, in the event of capital increases through the capitalisation of reserves, earnings or additional paid-in 
capital, a double voting right is granted upon issuance to registered ordinary shares freely allotted on the basis of 
rights conferred upon shareholders by existing ordinary shares. For other shares, double voting rights are acquired, 
cease or are transferred in the cases and conditions provided for by statute. 
Votes are cast either by show of hands or by roll call. A secret ballot can only be held based on the terms set by the 
meeting and at the request of members who represent, by themselves or as agents, the majority required for voting 
on the resolution in question.- 
The exercise of voting rights on own shares acquired by the Company is prohibited. In addition, the following are 
deprived of voting rights: shares not fully paid-up, shares of potential subscribers in meetings called to vote on 
revoking pre-emptive subscription rights, shares of the party concerned in the procedure provided for in Article 27 
and preferred shares except in special shareholders’ meetings called for the holders of this class of shares. 

� Quorum and majority for ordinary shareholders' meetings 

An ordinary shareholders' meeting makes all decisions that exceed the powers of the Board of Directors and not 
falling within the remit of extraordinary shareholders’ meetings. It meets at least once a year, within six months of the 
end of the financial year, to vote on all questions concerning the financial statements for the year. This six-month 
period can be extended at the request of the Board of Directors by an order of the president of the commercial court 
ruling on the request. 
An ordinary shareholders’ meeting can only validly conduct proceedings, after the first notice of meeting, if the 
shareholders present, voting by mail or represented hold at least one-fifth of the ordinary shares with voting rights. 
No quorum is required on the second notice of meeting. Decisions are rendered on the basis of a majority of votes 
held by the shareholders present, voting by mail or presented by proxy. 
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� Quorum and majority for extraordinary shareholders' meetings 

Only the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting has the authority to make any changes in the provisions of the articles 
of association. However, it cannot increase shareholders’ commitments, except on the occasion of a legally executed 
reverse share split or for the trading of "fractional shares" in the event of corporate actions like capital increases or 
reductions. It also cannot change the company’s nationality, unless the host country has signed a special agreement 
with France allowing the company to acquire its nationality and transfer the head office to its territory while retaining 
its status as a legal entity. 

Notwithstanding the exclusive authority of the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting concerning any modification of the 
articles of association, the Board of Directors can make modifications to the provisions concerning the amount of the 
share capital and the number of shares it represents, insofar as these modifications correspond materially to the result 
of a an increase, decrease or redemption of share capital. 

Subject to the special dispensations provided for certain capital increases and transformations, an extraordinary 
shareholders’ meeting can validly conduct proceedings only if the shareholders present, voting by mail or represented 
hold at least, on the first notice of meeting, one-fourth and, on the second notice of meeting, one-fifth of the ordinary 
shares with voting rights. Failing this latter quorum, the second meeting may be postponed to a date no later than two 
months after the date for which it was called. Subject to these reservations, decisions are rendered based on a two-
thirds majority of votes held by the shareholders present, voting by mail or represented by proxy. 
When a meeting rules on approving a contribution in kind or granting a special benefit, the quorum and majority are 
calculated only after deducting shares of the contributor or the beneficiary, which do not have voting rights for 
themselves or as proxy agent. 

� Special shareholders’ meetings 

Special meetings are authorised to conduct proceedings only if the shareholders present, voting by mail or 
represented hold at least, on the first notice of meeting, one-third and, on the second notice of meeting, one-fifth of 
the ordinary shares with voting rights and for which a modification to the rights is being considered. If the latter 
quorum is not reached, the second meeting may be postponed to a date no later than two months after the date for 
which it was called. Decisions at these meetings are rendered based on a two-thirds majority of votes held by the 
shareholders present, voting by mail or represented by proxy. 

Shareholders' right to information, written questions (art. 45 of the articles of association) 
Shareholders have a right to information, temporary or permanent depending on the subject, in accordance with 
applicable laws and regulations, which ensures they possess the necessary information to have knowledge of the 
company’s situation and exercise all of their rights. 
Starting on the day when the right to information can be exercised prior to any shareholders’ meeting, each 
shareholder has the right to submit questions in writing that the Board of Directors will be required to answer during 
the meeting. 

Form and transfer of shares (art. 12 and 13 of the articles of association) 

Ordinary shares may be in registered or bearer form at the choice of the shareholder. However, shares may be in 
bearer form only after having been fully paid up. 
Preferred shares must be registered shares and title cannot be divided between beneficial and legal ownership on a 
contractual basis. 
The Company is entitled to request at any time from the entity responsible for clearing securities transactions the 
information permitted by law concerning the identity of holders of securities conferring, immediately or at a later 
date, a right to vote at Shareholders' Meetings.  
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The company is also entitled to request, in accordance with the provisions of the French commercial code, the identity 
of shareholders if it believes that certain holders whose identities have been disclosed hold shares on behalf of third 
parties.  
All individuals or legal entities acting alone or in concert are required to disclose when they have acquired a number of 
shares or voting rights crossing above thresholds provided for by applicable regulations. The same disclosure 
requirement is applicable when the percentage of capital or voting rights held falls below these statutory thresholds. 
Shares are freely negotiable except subject to conditions to the contrary by applicable laws and regulations. Sales or 
transfers of shares involving third parties and the Company shall be carried out by transfer from out from one account 
to another in accordance with applicable regulations. 

Identifiable bearer shares 
In accordance with Article 263-1 of the Law of 24 July 1966, the Company can use the Euroclear procedure for 
"identifiable bearer shares" (titres au porteur identifiable) at any time. 
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II. Chairman’s Report on the preparation and organisation of the 
Board’s work and internal control procedures implemented by 
Naturex S.A. 

 

Pursuant to the provisions of Article L225-37 of the French commercial code, amended by the financial security law 
No. 2003-706 of 1 August 2003, the Chairman of the Board of Directors reports herein on the application of the 
principle of the balanced representation of men and women on the Board, the preparation and organisation of the 
Board's work and internal control and risk management procedures implemented by the Company and, in particular, 
the procedures relating to the preparation and processing of financial and accounting information for the annual and 
consolidated financial statements. 
This report also specifies the principles and rules adopted to determine the compensation and benefits of any nature 
granted to the corporate officers and the special terms concerning shareholders’ participation in the general meeting. 

Furthermore, we inform you that in accordance with the provisions of Article L.225-100-3 of the French commercial 
code, items with a potential impact in the event of public offerings are described in the registration document 
(Chapter 4 – Share capital and shareholder structure). 

The present report was presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee on 27 March 2014, then approved by the 
Board of Directors during its meeting of 28 March 2014 and sent to the Statutory Auditors.  

It will be made public in accordance with the conditions provided for by statute. 

II.1 Corporate governance and the preparation and organisation of the Board of 
Directors' work 

II.1.1 Corporate governance code of reference 

Pursuant to the law of 3 July 2008 and the provisions of Article L.225-37 of the French commercial code, since fiscal 
2010 Naturex S.A. has adopted as its reference the principles of the corporate governance code for small and mid caps 
of MiddleNext, the independent French association representing listed SMEs and mid caps, published in December 
2009 and available at its websitewww.middlenext.com.. 

In light of Naturex S.A’s size and market capitalisation, application of the MiddleNext Code was considered more 
appropriate.1 

This code is consistent with applicable law, rules and the recommendations of the French financial market authority 
(Autorité des Marchés Financiers or AMF). 

The Board of Directors once again duly noted the MiddleNext code "vigilance points" ("points de vigilance") not 
resulting in recommendations, in order to measure progress achieved with respect to good governance practices and 
raise questions regarding Board work to be planned.  

In accordance with the "comply or explain" principle , this document describes how the Company applies the 
recommendations of this corporate governance code and explains the reasons why it has decided not to apply 
selected provisions  
 

                                                           
1 "Entreprise de Taille Intermédiaire" or mid-size company as defined under French law: a company having between 250 and 4,999 employees with 
less than €1.5 billion in revenue and less than €2 billion in total assets. 
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II.1.2 Summary of the rules on the Board of Directors’ composition 

Composition 

The Company's articles of association provide for a minimum of at least three members and a maximum of eighteen, 
except for temporary dispensation provided for in the event of a merger. 
On the date of the signature of the Chairman's report or 28 March 2014, the Company was governed by a Board of 
Directors with seven members including one member meeting MiddleNext code criteria for independent directors.  

First name - Last 
name Directorships and offices Age Date of appointment /  

Reappointment 
Expiration date 
of term of office 

Thierry Lambert 
Chairman of the Board of 
Directors 
and Chief Executive Officer 

60 
years 8 June 2012 

AGM ruling on the 
financial statements for 
the year 
ending 31 December 2017 

Stéphane Ducroux 

Director 
Vice President of Sales and 
Operations for the America/Asia-
Pacific Regions and Vice Chairman 
 of Naturex Inc. 

41 
years 30 June 2008 

AGM ruling on the 
financial statements 
for the year ending 31 
December 2013 

Paul Lippens 
Director 
Executive officer of Finasucre 

61 
years 

13 September 2011  
(appointed by co-option) 

8 June 2012 (AGM ratification) 

AGM ruling on the 
financial statements for 
the year ending 31 
December 2014 

Olivier Lippens 
Director 
Executive officer of Finasucre 

60 
years 8 June 2012 

AGM ruling on the 
financial statements 
for the year ending 31 
December 2017 

Hélène Martel-
Massignac 

Director 
Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer of Caravelle 

52 
years 

25 February 2013 
(by co-option) 

26 June 2012 (AGM ratification) 

AGM ruling on the 
financial statements for 
the year ending 31 
December 2016 

Anne Abriat 

Independent Director 
Senior Director, Fragrance 
Technology, Testing and Technical 
Perfumery, Coty (Geneva) 

50 
 

26 June 2013 
 

AGM ruling on the 
financial statements 
for the year ending 31 
December 2018 

Miriam Maes 
Director 
Founding Chairman of "Foresee" 

58 
 

26 June 2013 
 

AGM ruling on the 
financial statements 
for the year ending 31 
December 2018 

� The expertise and complementary profiles of Board members  

In the spirit of good governance, the duty of Board members is to collectively ensure that the interests of all 
shareholders are taken into account and respected. The directors ensure that executive management has the capacity 
to run the company on a long-term and sustainable basis. 
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The balance of powers exercised by the Board of Directors of Naturex is assured on the one hand by: 
- By the diversity of its membership:  

� Two members exercising line management functions within the Group (Thierry Lambert and Stéphane 
Ducroux) and possessing an historic an in-depth knowledge of the company in its environment; 

� three members representing the two leads shareholders (Paul et Olivier Lippens for FINASUCRE/SGD and 
Hélène Martel-Massignac for CARAVELLE); 

� Two outside members without a significant interest in the Company's share capital (Miriam Maes and Anne 
Abriat). 

- Through the complementary nature of its members' experiences and skills (expertise in accounting and finance, 
manufacturing, marketing, markets, etc.) that allows them to form an opinion on the Chairman’s proposals, 
exchange points of view and ensure that the Company’s strategy is consistent with its corporate interest. 

� Age limit 

Under the provisions of the articles of association, the number of directors having reached the age of 70 cannot 
exceed one-third of the members of the Board of Directors. If this limit is reached, the oldest director is considered to 
have automatically resigned. 
At present, no member of the Company’s Board is older than 70. 
The average age of the current members of the Board of Directors is at present 54.6. 

� Balanced representation of men and women 

Law No. 2011-103 of 27 January 2011, pertaining to balanced gender representation on boards of directors and 
supervisory boards and professional gender equality, was published in the Journal Officiel (the official French 
publication for legal notices) on 28 January 2011 and established the following principles in companies whose shares 
are listed for trading in a regulated market: 

- The respective percentages for men and women serving on the board of directors or supervisory board may not 
be less than 40%; 

- When one of the two genders is not represented on the Board of Directors on the date the law is published, at 
least one representative of this gender must be appointed at the next ordinary general meeting called to approve 
the appointment of directors; and 

- When the Board is no longer in compliance with this statutory quota (40%), the Board shall make temporary 
appointments to correct this situation within six months, from the date when the vacancy occurs. 

The Law provides that on 1 January 2014, the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board of listed companies must 
meet quotas for men or woman of at least 20%, and the 40% quota must be reached by 1 January 2017. 
Compliance with this quota will be determined at the first general meeting following this deadline. 

With the creation of the nominating and compensation committee in 2012 providing a tool for selecting potential 
candidates based on an approach promoting the openness and diversification in Board membership, Naturex has 
taken the necessary measures to comply with the legal quota targets entering into effect on 1 January2017. 

On that basis, on 31 December 2013, out of the seven members making up the Board of Directors, three are women, 
representing a ratio of 43%. 

� Independence of directors 

The MiddleNext Code recommends that the Board of Directors includes at least two independent directors, and one 
independent director for Boards with five or less members. 
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Four criteria have been retained to determine the independence of members of the Board defined as the absence of 
any material financial, contractual or family relationship that could compromise their free exercise of judgement and 
notably, Board members shall not: 
- Be a current employee or corporate officer (mandataire social) of the company or a company of its group or have 

been so within the past three years; 
- Be a significant customer, supplier or banker of the Company or its group, or for which the company or its group 

accounts for a significant portion of its business; 
- Be the lead shareholder of the Company; 
- Be related by close family ties to a corporate officer or a lead shareholder; 
- Have been an auditor of the company within the previous three years. 

Accordingly, on December 4, 2014, the Board of Directors duly noted the recommendations of the nominating and 
compensation committee which, after reviewing the situation of each director in reference to the criteria of the 
MiddleNext code mentioned above, considered that: 
- Thierry Lambert and Stéphane Ducroux do not meet the criteria of independence with respect to their position of 

executive officer within the Group; 
- Hélène Martel Massignac as well as Paul and Olivier Lippens also do not meet the definition of independent 

director of the MiddleNext Code in light of the functions they exercise respectively in the companies Caravelle 
and Finasucre/GSD, the lead shareholders; 

- Miriam Maes, whose candidature to serve as director was backed by the FSI (Fonds Stratégique d’Investissement) 
(henceforth Banque Publique d’Investissement - BPI) to the nominating and compensation committee of Naturex 
which at the end of deliberations, issued a favourable recommendation to the Board of Directors for an 
appointment at the general meeting of 26 June 2013, may not be qualified as independent to the extent that the 
FSI subscribed for the OCEANE convertible bond issue for an amount of €12 million in January 2013 and that 
Miriam Maes acts in concert with BPI with respect to positions to be adopted on items to be submitted for vote at 
the Board of Directors' meetings. It is specified that with this position, the nominating and compensation 
committee exceeds the criteria for independence recommended by the MiddleNext Code ; 

- Anne Abriat qualifies for the status of independent director in accordance with the criteria of the code and has no 
ties of interest with the Company's management or shareholders. 

 
In consequence, only one out of seven of Naturex Board's directors may be qualified as independent, whereby the 
MiddleNext recommends at least two. 
In light of the board's possible balanced composition resulting from the mix of profiles of the Company's directors as 
well as its capacity for discernment, the Board does not currently plan to open up its membership to additional 
independent directors.   

Information on directorships 

� Term of office 

Naturex S.A. directors are appointed for terms of six years that expire at the end of the general meeting called to 
approve the financial statements for the period ended and held in the year in which their term expires. Every outgoing 
director is eligible for re-appointment. 
The MiddleNext corporate governance code for small and mid caps recommends that the Board ensures that the term 
of office established by the articles of association is adapted to the Company’s specific characteristics, within the limits 
set by statute. 
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The Company does not believe it is necessary to amend the articles of association in this respect to reduce directors’ 
term of office since the statute and the articles of association allow the term of office of a director to be revoked, 
without notice or compensation. Furthermore, the Company believes that given its size and the make-up of its Board, 
the six-year term does not limit directors’ experience or knowledge of the Company, its markets and its activities in 
the context of their decision-making duties or decrease the quality of oversight. 

� Appointment and renewal of directors 

Directors are appointed and renewed for terms of office by shareholders through ordinary general meetings that may 
revoke them at any time. Legal entities appointed as directors must designate a permanent representative subject to 
the same conditions and obligations as individual directors appointed in their own name. 
An employee of the Company can be appointed as director only if his or her employment contract corresponds to an 
actual position. The number of directors bound to the Company by employment contracts cannot exceed one third of 
the total members serving on the Board.  

The Company is pursuing measures for restructuring and increasing transparency in governance as well as efforts 
undertaken to promote the diversification of Board membership including changes following the passing of Jacques 
Dikansky at the end of September 2012.  
Accordingly, after reviewing the candidates, the nominating and compensation committee that communicated its 
recommendations to the Board of Directors, submitted three nominations to the Board to the vote of the 
shareholders at the next combined general meeting of 26 June 2013: 
- Ratification of Hélène Martel-Massignac's appointment as director on 25 February 2013 of the Board by co-option 

following the resignation of Olivier Dikansky, for the remainder of the latter's term or until the end of the annual 
general meeting that will be called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ending 31 December 
2016. 
It is noted for the record that Hélène Martel-Massignac is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Caravelle Group that on 5 December 2012, acquired the 15.35% stake of Natraceutical in Naturex; 

- Appointment of Anne Abriat as director for a term of six years ending on the close of the annual general meeting 
that will be called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ending 31 December 2018. 

- Appointment of Miriam Maes as director for a term of six years ending on the close of the general meeting that 
will be called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ending 31 December 2018. 
It is specified that her appointment was proposed by France's Strategic Investment Fund (Fonds stratégique 
d’Investissement or FSI that took up €12 million of the Naturex's €18 million convertible bond issue in January 
2013) to the Nominating and Compensation Committee at its meeting of 3 May 2013, who after review, rendered 
a favourable opinion to the Board of Directors to be submitted to a vote by the shareholders. 

On 28 March 2014, the nominating and compensation committee examined the office of director of Stéphane 
Ducroux expiring at the end of the general meeting of 26 July 2014 called to approve the financial statements for the 
fiscal year ended 31 December 2013. This committee issued a favourable recommendation to the Board of Directors 
to renew the appointment of Stéphane Ducroux whose nomination will be submitted to the shareholders' vote at the 
next general meeting. This new appointment, if approved, would be for a term of six years ending on the close of the 
general meeting that will be called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ending 31 December 2019. 

It is duly noted that Stéphane Ducroux is also the Vice President of Sales and Operations for the America/Asia-Pacific 
Regions and Vice Chairman of Naturex Inc. 

No other candidates will be submitted to the shareholders' vote at the general meeting of 26 June 2014.  
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� Resignation of directors 

On 3 May 2013, the nominating and compensation committee informed the Board of Directors' meeting held that 
same day of the resignation of the company SGD from the office of directors for which Charles FEYS, Secretary-
General of Finasucre had been appointed as permanent representative. It is noted that SGD was appointed director on 
19 November 2012 by co-option following the vacancy resulting from Mr. Jacques Dikansky's passing. 
Pursuant to this resignation, no candidature was examined by the nominating and compensation committee for co-
option by the Board of Directors for the remainder of the term, or until the end of the general meeting called to 
approve the financial statements for the period ending 31 December 2017. 

Professional rules of conduct of directors 

In accordance with the MiddleNext Code recommendations, Company directors are encouraged when appointed, to 
comply with a number of rules of professional conduct, with the objective of raising awareness with respect to their 
responsibilities as directors and consistent with the company’s interest. 

When taking office, each member of the Board shall become acquainted with the resulting obligations and in 
particular those related to holding multiple corporate offices. Each new director signs the Board Charter. 
Each director must ensure that he or she obtains all necessary information before Board meetings on the items 
included on the agenda. Directors must also participate actively and diligently in all Board meetings and any 
Committees of which they are members and attend shareholders’ meetings. 
This list of the basic obligations of Board members is completed hereafter and set forth in the Board Charter. 

� Management of conflicts of interest 

Directors shall be bound by an obligation of strict professional confidentiality on subjects discussed during Board 
meetings. Each director must also immediately inform the Board of any conflict of interest, even potential, and refrain 
from voting on the corresponding decision and, where applicable, resign. The absence of such disclosure constitutes 
recognition that there is no conflict of interest. 
On the filing date of this registration document, no conflicts of interest have been reported by directors. 

Additional information relating to corporate officers provided for in Appendix 1 of Commission Regulation (EC) No 
809/2004 is presented herein in point III.3 of Chapter 3 "Corporate Governance". 

� Obligation to be a shareholder 

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association and the Board Charter, each director must hold at least one 
registered share. 
Shares held by directors that have been registered for at least two years benefit from double voting rights, in 
accordance with the Company's articles of association. 
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At 31 December 2013, the shares held by the directors of Naturex S.A. are as follows: 

Directors NATUREX SHARES 

Thierry Lambert 5,617 

Stéphane Ducroux 848 

Paul Lippens 1 

Olivier Lippens 1 

Hélène Martel-Massignac 100 

Miriam Maes 1 

Anne Abriat 3 

It is duly noted that: 
- Hélène Martel Massignac is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Caravelle that directly holds 1,188,402 

Naturex shares or 15.15% of the Company's capital. 
- Paul Lippens and Olivier Lippens are executive officers of Finasucre, that directly hold 24,048 Naturex shares or 

0.32% of the share capital and through SGD, 1,651,735 Naturex shares or 21.06% of the capital. 
 

� Restrictions on holding multiple corporate offices 

Each member of the Board shall become acquainted with the obligations resulting from his directorship before 
accepting it and in particular those related to the legal regulations concerning holding multiple corporate offices. 
The MiddleNext Code recommends that a director, when he exercises an “executive” office, should not accept more 
than three directorships in listed companies, including foreign companies, outside of his or her own Group. 
The list of offices and duties exercised by directors at 31 December 2013, in accordance with the requirements of 
Article L. 225-21 of the French commercial code, is provided in the "Corporate Governance” chapter in the registration 
document. 
On this date, no cases of the holding of multiple directorships by directors have been noted. 

� Market code of conduct, management of privileged information 

In light of the privileged information they possess that is not yet made public, directors are considered as permanent 
"insiders" and in this capacity required to observe the strictest prudence when they plan to trade in the Company’s 
shares. Furthermore, directors are also subject to a general obligation of abstention defined by article 622-1 of the 
AMF General Regulation. On this basis, they are required to abstain from dealing in shares of the Company when they 
hold insider information. 

In accordance with AMF2 recommendations, the Company has established a code of conduct with the objective of 
preventing insider misconduct within the Group. This system includes in addition "closed periods” linked to the 
financial communications calendar for the period in progress, applicable to directors, executives and executive 
equivalents of the Company and all other persons having regular or periodic access to privileged information and 
included in the list of insiders drawn up by Naturex and regularly updated.  

The Board of Directors is informed in the Board Charter (rules of procedure) of the rules to be applied to prevent 
insider misconduct, and on that basis, transmission and use of privileged information shall be limited exclusively to 
professional purposes and duly codified. 

Board members have duly noted that in consequence trading in the Company’s shares is prohibited during the 
following periods: 
                                                           
2 Recommendation°2010-07 of 3 November 2010 amended on 8 July 2013 
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- 30 calendar days before the release of annual and half-yearly financial statements and, where such is the case, 
full quarterly statements; 

- 15 calendar days before quarterly announcements (quarterly revenue and results); 
- as well as accordingly, at any time when in possession of privileged information, even outside close periods 

established in connection with the financial communications calendar. 

When Company directors and persons closely associated with them trade in the Company’s shares, they are required 
to report to the AMF (Autorité des Marchés Financiers), the French financial market authority, the transactions carried 
out in accordance with applicable laws and regulations (Article L. 621-18-2 a) and b) of the French Monetary and 
Financial Code) as soon as the amount exceeds €5,000 for the current calendar year. To that purpose, they are to send 
their declaration to the AMF through the electronic filing platform, ONDE3, within five trading days following the 
transactions along with a copy of this declaration, to the Secretary of the Board of Directors of the Company. 

II.I.3 Board practices 

Chairmanship of the Board of Directors and Executive Management 

� Chairmanship of the Board of Directors 

In compliance with the provisions of Article 21 of the articles of association, the Board of Directors selects from among 
its individual members a Chairman and sets his/her compensation, on a proposal from the Nominating and 
Compensation Committee, sets the terms of his/her functions that may not exceed his/her term of office as director. 
The Board may select one or more Vice Chairmans whose functions will consist, exclusively in the absence of the 
Chairman, in chairing meetings of the Board of Directors and general meetings.  
In the absence of the Chairman and/or Vice Chairmans, the Board appoints one of the directors present to chair the 
meeting. The Board may appoint for each meeting, a Secretary that is not required to be a shareholder. 

Thierry Lambert has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Naturex since 16 October 2012, the date of his 
appointment to the Board, with a term coinciding with the duration of his term as director, or until the general 
meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year ending 31 December 2017. 

� Executive Management 

In compliance the provisions of Act 2001-420 of May 15, 2001 (New Economic Regulations Act or "NRE"), the Board of 
Directors issued a ruling with respect to the Chairmanship of the Board of Directors and the exercise of Executive 
Management. On that basis, it opted for the system of corporate governance that combines these functions and 
provides for the option of appointing one or more natural persons to assist the Chief Executive Officer (Directeur 
Général) with the title of Deputy Chief Executive Officer (Directeur Général Délégué). 
On 8 June 2012, following the general meeting, the meeting of the Board of Directors held the same day appointed 
Thierry Lambert as the Chief Executive Officer of Naturex S.A., replacing Jacques Dikansky for the remainder of the 
latter's term of office, or until the end of the annual general meeting to be called to approve the financial statements 
for the fiscal year ending 31 December2017. 

On the filing date of this document, Thierry Lambert exercises both the functions of Chief Executive Officer and 
Chairman of the Board of Directors. No Deputy Chief Executive Officers were appointed by the Board of Directors. 

                                                           
3 ONDE: The centralised system for filing information with the Autorité des Marchés Financiers (AMF) on transactions by executive officers and 
persons mentioned in article L.621-18-2 of the French monetary and financial code in the Company s shares. 
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It has not been considered that separating the functions of Chairman of the Board of Directors and Executive 
Management (vigilance point of the MiddleNext on the executive management function) would adversely affect the 
quality of the work of Naturex's Board or in any way hinder the expression or judgment of its members. Possessing a 
complementary range of expertise, the directors collectively assure that measures adopted by Board meetings 
contribute to the implementation of Naturex's strategy, and that discussions, encouraged by the Chairman, are 
conducted with transparency and on an in-depth basis. Board members are also vigilant about maintaining a balance 
in the powers within the Board with an obligation to oversee that the Chairman's activity is exercised without 
irregularities that could potentially compromise the sustainable performance of the Group. 

Board charter 

The French commercial code and the Company’s articles of association define the main provisions related to the 
Board of Directors. They are completed by a Board Charter in accordance with the recommendations of the 
MiddleNext code. 
Naturex’s current Board Charter specifies: 
- The role of the Board of Directors and the list of transactions subject to prior authorisation in accordance with the 

law and the articles of association; 
- The composition of the Board and the criteria of independence for members; 
- members’ duties and the applicable rules of professional conduct (loyalty, confidentiality, disclosure of conflicts 

of interest and the duty to refrain from voting, insider information, trading in shares and closed periods when 
trading is banned, etc.); 

- The Board's procedural rules (frequency, notice of meeting, members’ information and use of videoconferencing 
and telecommunication technology) and the Audit Committee's procedural rules (Board of Directors meeting as 
Audit Committee); and 

- the rules for determining members’ compensation. 

26 March 2012, the Board revised its charter that had been approved on 19 March 2004 to update its provisions 
according to AMF recommendations. During the same meeting, the Board of Directors also adopted the Audit 
Committee Charter. 

On 5 February 2013, the Board of Directors amended its Charter in order to specify the scope of duties of loyalty and 
confidentiality incurred by directors with respect to the Company. In particular, Company directors are prohibited 
from serving on the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board, Executive Board or any other body of corporate 
governance of a company that is a competitor of Naturex.  

Notices of meeting and information for members 

The notices of Board of Directors meetings are made by any written means (letter, fax or telegram) and even orally. 
Meetings are held at the head office or at any other venue indicated in the notice of meeting. 
The Board meeting agenda is sent with each meeting notice. 
During fiscal 2013, the average period of formal notice for Board meetings was 6.8 days (compared with 5.1 days in 
2012 and 10 days in 2011). 

The Board of Directors meets as often as required, pursuant to meeting notices, and notably when the closing of 
annual half-year accounts is scheduled according to the financial communications calendar published each year in 
compliance with obligations that apply to companies listed on NYSE Euronext Paris and AMF recommendations. 
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The following persons are convened to meetings of the Board of Directors: 
- Members of the Board; 
- Two members of the Works Council delegated by this body (one belonging to the technical manager and 

supervisor category and the other to the employee and worker category). These members can attend the Board 
of Directors meeting in an advisory manner. 

- The auditors, only for meetings that review or close the annual or interim accounts (in particular the half-year 
financial statements) or for any other subject that requires their presence. 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is required to provide each director with all documents and information 
necessary to fulfil his or her duties. 
Accordingly, a file is sent to each director three business days before the Board meeting containing relevant 
documents relating to the main agenda items. 
- For meetings concerning the annual or half-year financial statements: the parent and/or consolidated financial 

statements and notes, the management report and the management planning items and the market information 
documents (press release, presentation, registration document, etc.); 

- For other meetings: any information allowing the directors to make decisions regarding the proposed agenda. 

Providing information to directors is important for the effective performance of the Board by contributing to 
knowledge on the subjects addressed, formulating an opinion and contributing to discussions. 

Meeting attendance 

In 2013, the Board of Directors met twelve times The attendance rate for members of the Board of Directors was 
87.89% for the 12 meetings held in 2012 compared with 78.5% for 11 meetings held in 2012.  

Representation of members 

Any director can give, in writing (e.g.; letter, fax or telegram), a proxy to another director to represent him or her at a 
Board meeting. Each director is limited to a single proxy for the same meeting. 
This option was exercised eight times in fiscal 2013, compared with four times in 2012. 

Participation in meetings by videoconferencing or telecommunication means 

The Company’s articles of association and the Board Charter give directors the opportunity to participate and vote in 
Board meetings by any video conferencing or telecommunication means in accordance with applicable legal 
provisions. In accordance with the provisions of the articles of association, this latter option may not be used for 
meetings relating to the closing of half-year and annual financial statements. 
This option was exercised five times by the Company in 2013 compared with five times in 2012. 

Decision-making 

Board decisions are made on the basis of a simple majority of members present or represented, with the Chairman 
casting the deciding vote in the case of a tie. 

Board proceedings 

Proceedings of the Board of Directors are valid only if at least half the members are present. The Board Charter 
provides that directors participating in the meeting through videoconferencing or telecommunication systems, within 
the limits and under the conditions set down by applicable laws and regulations, are considered as present in 
calculating the quorum and the majority.  
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Board proceedings are recorded in the minutes drawn up in accordance with current legal provisions, and signed by 
the Chairman of the meeting and a director, or when the Chairman of the meeting is unable to sign, by two directors. 
The minutes of the Board of Directors meetings indicate the names of the directors in attendance. 
Where applicable, copies or extracts of the minutes of the proceedings are certified by the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors. 

Assessment of Board performance 

In order to comply with the recommendations of the MiddleNext Code, the Board Charter also specifies procedures 
for the assessment of the Board. This does not involve adopting an external assessment procedure that would entail 
too much formalism in light of the Board’s make-up. Instead priority is given to self-assessments by directors so they 
can provide input on the Board's compliance with operating principles and on the preparation of its work with the aim 
of improving the Board’s efficiency and effectiveness.  
As such, every year after the meeting to approve the financial statements for the past year, the Board will conduct a 
self-assessment focusing on the following: 
- Operating procedures; 
- Treatment of agenda items; and 
- Measurement of the actual contribution of each director to the Board’s work through his or her expertise and 

participation in the discussions. 

This discussion will be recorded in the meeting minutes and any areas for improvement may result, as applicable, in 
an update with an adjustment to be made to the Board Charter for the implementation of improvement measures, as 
applicable. 

During prior years, the Company did not believe it was necessary to perform an assessment of the functioning of the 
Board of Directors. Given its make-up, the exchanges of points of view between the directors on the various subjects 
addressed were sufficient for the Board meetings to run smoothly and provided a continuous self-assessment of its 
operation. 

Concerning fiscal 2011, a review of the various documents regarding the Company’s governance (Chairman’s report 
on the Board’s work, the Board charter and the Audit Committee’s charter) and the subsequent exchanges as part of 
their approval, made it possible for the directors to analyse the Board’s work over the past year and to measure the 
Board’s progress in terms of its organisation and operation. This approach complies with the spirit of the MiddleNext 
Code’s recommendations. 

The assessment of the Board as defined by the Board Charter for fiscal 2012 was not carried out due to significant 
changes to Board membership having occurred during this period.  

The Board of Directors will be called upon to issue an assessment for the 2013 financial period, after the closing of the 
2013 annual report on the frequency of meetings, the format of information provided in connection with activity in 
general, strategic orientations and key events in the life of the Group.  
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II.1.4 Duties of the Board of Directors 

Powers and authorities 

The Board of Directors’ task is to determine the operating priorities of the Company and ensures they are 
implemented. Subject to the powers granted to shareholders' meetings and within the limits of the company's 
corporate purpose, the Board may address any matter pertaining to the proper management of the Company and 
settle all items of business relating thereto. 
In addition to these legal and regulatory attributes, the Board of Directors: 
- Manages any matters of relevant to the effective operations of the Company and settles all matters relating 

thereto; 
- Oversees the Company’s management and ensures the quality of the information provided to shareholders and 

the market through the financial statements or, on the occasion of major transactions, especially involving the 
company’s shares; 

- Examines financing activities, guarantees and cautions given to the Group’s various entities;  
- examines any internal or external transaction likely to have a material effect on results or significantly alter the 

structure of the balance sheet; 
- Carries out the inspections and verifications it deems necessary; and 
- Calls shareholders’ meetings and proposes amendments to the articles of association. 
These powers and authorities are set forth in the Board charter. 

Board Committees 

In the 2012 first half, two special committees were created to support Naturex's development and adapt its 
organisation to its new size following the series of acquisitions and rapid organic growth in recent years. 

The purpose of these Special Committees whose work is submitted to the Board of Directors for review, is to formalise 
the strategic decision-making process. 

� Audit Committee 

In 2012, and in accordance with the exemption provided for under Article L.823-20 of the French commercial code 
(Code de Commerce) and in light of its status as a small/mid-cap (VaMPs)4, the Company decided to create an Audit 
Committee and task the Board of Directors to fulfil its function. 

On 27 March 2013, in light of efforts undertaken in the area of transparency, governance and formalisation of special 
committees, Naturex's Board of Directors opted to create an independent Audit Committee with its own specific areas 
of intervention. 
The Company has referred to the "Report of the Working Group on Audit Committees" of the AMF working group5 of 
22 July 2010 in defining the attributes of this Committee. 

In accordance with article L.823-19 of the French commercial code, the Audit Committee is responsible in particular 
for monitoring: 

- The process for producing financial information; 
- The efficiency and effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems; 
- The statutory audit of the annual and consolidated financial statements by the statutory auditors; and 
                                                           
4 VaMPs (Valeurs Moyennes et Petites"): small and mid-cap companies listed in market segments C and B of NYSE Euronext Paris. Naturex S.A. is 
listed in Segment B (Mid-Caps). 
5 Report of the Working Group Chaired by Olivier Poupart - Lafarge on Audit Committees, Member of the AMF Board on 22 July 2010. 
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- The independence of the statutory auditors. 

In addition, the Committee issues a recommendation on statutory auditors proposed for appointment to the 
Shareholders’ Meeting. It reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its tasks and informs it immediately of any 
difficulty encountered. 

The Committee can take up at any time any significant financial or accounting question and formulate any opinions or 
recommendations to the Board in the aforementioned areas.  

The Board may also entrust the Committee with any other assignment it deems appropriate. 

The Charter of the Board of Directors meeting in the capacity of the Audit Committee of 26 March 2012 was amended 
on 27 March 2013 in order to take into account the independent nature of this Board Committee. In particular it sets 
forth the make-up, attributes and operating procedures of the Audit Committee of Naturex S.A. 

Composition of the Audit Committee 

Pursuant to article L.823-19 of the French commercial code, it is up to the Board to establish the Committee’s make-
up. Nevertheless, the Committee must be made up exclusively of Board members (with a minimum of three or, for 
small and mid caps, a minimum of two, subject to explanations thereof by the Board) whereby members of the Audit 
Committee must not exercise management functions within the Company. 

On the publication date of this document, membership of the Audit Committee was as follows 

- Olivier Lippens, who also serves as the Committee's Chairman; 
- Paul Lippens; 
- Hélène Martel-Massignac. 

In accordance with the applicable legal provisions, the directors have special financial or accounting expertise. 

At the present time, there are no independent directors serving on the Audit Committee. 

The term of office for a Committee member does not exceed the term of his or her directorship.  

Unless the Committee decides otherwise, the statutory auditors attend all meetings. 

In addition to the statutory auditors, the Committee must be able to hear under the conditions it determines, any 
persons of the Company it deems useful for the performance of its duties, including Executive Management members, 
managers with responsibilities in finance and accounting, internal audit, internal control, cash management, 
management control, legal, etc. as well as, where appropriate, the line managers. 
 
� Nominating and Compensation Committee  
 
On 30 August 2012, the Board of Directors' meeting approved the creation of the Nominating and Compensation 
Committee tasked with making recommendations and proposals to the Board on the following subjects: 
- The appointment of new directors, including in the event of unforeseeable vacancies; 
- The appointment or revocation, on proposal by the Chief Executive Officer, of any executive officer of the 

Company; 
- The appointment or revocation, on proposal of the Board of Directors, of the Chairman of the Board of Directors 

and Chief Executive Officer; 
- The make-up and operating of the Board of Directors and the Board committees (including appointments and 

revocations); 
- Application by the Company of the guidelines adopted for the principles of corporate governance, notably with 

respect to the compensation policy for executive officers. The Committee also provides the Board with its opinion 
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on the section of the annual report devoted to shareholders information relating to these matters and the work 
of the Board; the definition of independent director of the Company and the list thereof that are reproduced in 
the Company's annual report; 

- All components of executive compensation including options to subscribe for or purchase shares as well as 
compensation and benefits of any nature (including retirement benefits and retirement service payments) paid by 
the Company or other Companies of the Group. The Board examines and defines rules for determining the 
variable portion of compensation, their coherence with the annual performance assessment of executive officers 
and the strategy of the Company, and ensures that these rules are then applied;  

- The Company's general policy with respect to options to subscribe for or purchase shares including the frequency 
of grants as well as all proposed stock option plans, including their beneficiaries;  

- The Company's general policy with respect to employee share ownership and any employee stock ownership 
plans that may be considered;  

- Directors' fees and rules governing their allocation.  
 
Formal procedures have been drawn up that specify the composition, attributes and operating procedures of the 
Nominating and Compensation Committee Implemented within Naturex S.A. 

Composition of the Nominating and Compensation Committee 

On the publication date of this document, membership of the nominating and compensation committee was as 
follows: 

- Olivier Lippens, who also serves as the Committee's Chairman; 
- Hélène Martel-Massignac; 
- Miriam Maes. 

It is specified that the Board of Directors' meeting of 26 June 2013 duly noted the resignation of Olivier Lippens from 
the Nominating and Compensation Committee and proposed that Miriam Maes join this Committee. 

Activities of the Board of Directors and special committees in 2013 

The work of the Board of Directors 

In 2013, in addition to regularly overseeing operations, the Board has pursued its work relating to strategy, and 
notably in connection with acquisition projects and has increased its understanding of Naturex' operations, while 
holding one of its meetings at one of the manufacturing sites (the Valencia site in Spain) and by soliciting participation 
of line managers for in-depth presentations on the organisation of their departments. 
 
The work of the Board of Directors during the meetings concerning fiscal 2013 covered, in particular:  

� Financial statements and management decisions 

- The Board approved the signature of a new liquidity agreement; 
- It approved the situation of the half-year financial statements for 2013; 
- It approved the annual parent and consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2013 and proposed an 

appropriation of net income; 
- It reviewed the capital budget. 
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� Preparation of shareholders’ meetings  

- The Board approved the text of the resolutions on the agenda of the 2014 Combined Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting; 

� Matters relating to the capital 

- It granted stock options to employees and/or corporate officers; 
- It recorded the capital increases resulting from the payment of dividends in the form of shares and the exercise of 

stock options; 
- It approved the issue of bonds convertible and/or exchangeable into new or existing shares (obligations à option 

de conversion et/ou d’échange en actions nouvelles ou existantes or OCEANE), entailing the cancellation of 
shareholders' pre-emptive subscription rights, making use of the authority granted to it under the thirteenth 
resolution of the General Meeting of 27 June 2011; 

� Matters relating to strategy and acquisitions 

- It reviewed and approved the strategic orientation plan submitted by the Chairman-Chief Executive Officer; 
- It reviewed and approved the acquisition of Natraceutical Industrial SL; 
- It examined and approved the proposed acquisition of Chile Botanics in Chile; 

� Matters relating to governance 

- It approved the appointment of directors; 
- It approved the appointment of a new member to the nominating and compensation committee; 
- It approved the implementation of an audit committee and the committee charter; 
- It approve the amendment to the Board Charter; 
- It duly noted the resignation of directorships; 
- It set compensation for directors and exceptional remuneration for executive officers for 2013, pursuant to a 

proposal by the nominating and compensation committee; 
- It ruled on the independent nature of its members; 
- It approved the allocation of fees paid to directors for Board meeting attendance; 

� Agreements governed by Article L.225-35 and L.225-38 of the French commercial code 

Details on this subject is provided in the Statutory Auditors’ special report. 

The work of the Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee met four times for fiscal 2013: 
In order to be able to form a clear and precise opinion on the subjects on the agenda, the Committee heard several 
managers including the Group’s Chief Financial and Administrative, Chief Accountant and the Vice President of 
Management Control. In addition, meetings on the organisation of the quality assurance department and the 
presentation of the Group's industrial risks provided line managers with an opportunity to present their work. 
Its work at these meetings focused on: 
- Examining the half-year consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2013; 
- Examining the annual statutory parent company and consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2013; 
- Reviewing the financial information documents accompanying the publication of the annual company and 

consolidated financial statements (management report, press release, presentation for analysts and investors); 
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- Reviewing the main risks identified; 
- Approving the statutory auditor's fees; and 
- The missions of the auditors in the international subsidiaries; 
- The 2013 audit programme; 
- The organisation of the accounting department; 
- Changes in accounting method and impacts on the financial statements; 
- Tax planning work; 
- The review of inventories. 

 
For their part, the statutory auditors presented their work on the year-end closing of the interim consolidated 
financial statements, the separate annual and consolidated financial statements and reported their conclusions. They 
also submitted their statement of independence and the list of services provided by their network and its fees. 
They also gave the Committee their work schedule for fiscal 2013. 

The minutes for these meetings were sent to the Board of Directors. 
For fiscal 2012, the Audit Committee did not perform any evaluations since its duties and prerogatives were until then 
assured by the Company's Board of Directors. 
An evaluation for fiscal 2013 is planned that will be formalised at a meeting following the review of the annual 
statutory parent company and consolidated financial statements for 2013. 

Work of the Nominating and Compensation Committee 

The Nominating and Compensation Committee met twice for fiscal 2013: 
In order to develop a clear and precise opinion about agenda items, the Committee had the opportunity to hear from 
the Chief Financial Officer as well as the Chairman-CEO on certain items of business.  
Its work at these meetings focused on: 
- The organisation and working procedures of the Nominating and Compensation Committee; 
- The designation and appointment of independent directors to the Company's Board of Directors. 
- Areas of study with respect to systems for supplemental compensation for employees; 
- The proposal for stock option grants to employees and executive officers for fiscal 2013; 
- Setting directors' remuneration; 
- Setting the remuneration of executive officers for fiscal 2014; 
- Reviewing the independence of directors; 
- Remuneration of Board of Directors' members; 
- The proposition to appoint a Chief Operating Officer 
 
The minutes of these meetings were sent to the Board of Directors. 
Because it was only recently created, no assessment is planned of the Nominating and Compensation Committee.  

II.I.6 Offices and directorships within the Group and in non-Group companies 

Current corporate offices in all Group companies are established in accordance with the legal provisions established 
by the Act 2001-420 of May 15, 2001 (New Economic Regulations Act or "NRE") with respect to holding multiple 
corporate offices. 
The list of offices and duties exercised by directors at 31 December 2013, in accordance with the requirements of 
Article L. 225-21 of the French commercial code, is provided in chapter 3 on "Corporate Governance” of the 
registration document. 
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II.1.7 Principles and rules for determining compensation and benefits of any kind granted to 
the corporate officers  

Details on the amounts of compensation of any kind received by corporate officers for fiscal 2013 are provided in the 
registration document, chapter 3 "Corporate governance > Compensation and benefits of executive and non-
executive directors". 
 

II.I.8 Shareholders’ participation in the shareholders’ meeting  

Procedures for participation by shareholders in meetings are set forth in Articles 30 to 45 of the Company's articles of 
association and described in chapter 3 “Corporate organisation and governance > General information” of the 
registration document. 

Any shareholders, regardless of the number of shares owned, can participate in a shareholders’ meeting or be 
represented by their spouse or by another shareholder or vote by mail. However, in order to attend this meeting, vote 
by mail or be represented: 

a) Holders of registered shares must be registered in a custody-only account (compte nominatif pur) or a managed 
account (compte nominatif adiministré) on the third business day preceding the meeting at midnight, Paris time; 

b) Holders of bearer shares must be registered on the third business day preceding the meeting at midnight, Paris 
time. The registration or book entry for bearer shares will be evidenced by a participation certificate (attestation 
de participation) issued by the authorised intermediary maintaining the account for these shares. This 
participation certificate must be attached to the mail voting or proxy form or to the admission card request 
established in the name of the shareholder. A certificate may also be issued to bearer shareholders wishing to 
physically attend the meeting who have not received their admission card on the third business day preceding the 
meeting, at midnight, Paris time. Such persons must also ask their financial intermediary to provide them with a 
participation certificate to prove that they are shareholders. 

It should be noted that, in accordance with the applicable laws: 
- Shareholders can obtain the single form for voting by mail or proxy or the admission card request by sending a 

request by mail to their financial intermediary or to the Company. This request can only be met if received by the 
Company at least six days before the date of the meeting; 

- Votes by mail or proxy are only taken into account for forms that have been duly completed, include the 
participation certificate and received by the Company head office at least three days before the date of the 
shareholders’ meeting; 

- All shareholders having sent their form for voting by mail or proxy or who have requested an admission card 
through their financial intermediary may nevertheless sell all or a portion of their shares. For this purpose, the 
authorised intermediary maintaining the accounts informs the company or its agent of the sale and provides the 
shareholder with the required information; 

- Shareholders who have voted by mail will no longer have the possibility to participate directly in the meeting or to 
be represented; 

- Any shareholder can formulate questions in writing, which must be sent to the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
by registered letter with acknowledgement of receipt to the head office, along with a document (attestation 
d’inscription) certifying that shares are duly registered in a securities account, no later than four business days 
before the shareholders’ meeting. 

The practical details concerning the availability of preparatory documents are announced by a press release and on 
the Company's website. 
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II.I.9 Items having a potential impact in the event of public offerings  

In accordance with the provisions of Article L.225-100-3 of the French commercial code, items having a potential 
impact in the event of public offerings are described in the registration document (Chapter 3 “Company organisation 
and governance” and Chapter 4 “Share capital and the shareholder structure”). 
 
 

II.2 Internal control and risk management procedures implemented in the Group 

As part of its continuous improvement process for internal control, Naturex relies on the reference framework for risk 
management and internal control and the guide applicable to small and mid cap companies published by the AMF on 
22 July 2010. 

II.2.1 Internal control scope, definition and objectives 

Scope 

The internal control procedures adopted apply to all companies included in consolidated operations and cover all 
Group's activities. 

Definition 

According to the reference framework proposed by the AMF, internal control is a Company system, defined and 
implemented under its responsibility. 
This system covers all practices, procedures and actions adapted to the specific characteristics of each company 
which: 
- Contribute to the effective management of its activities and operations and the efficient use of resources; and 
- Enable it to properly take into account material financial, operational or compliance risks. 

Objectives 

The objectives of the internal control system aim in particular to ensure: 
- Compliance with laws and regulations; 
- The application of instructions and priorities set by executive management; 
- The effective application of internal processes notably concerning the protection of corporate assets; 
- The reliability of financial information; 
And, more generally, it contributes to the effective management of its activities and operations and the efficient use 
of resources. 
Consequently, internal control is not limited to a set of procedures or only accounting and financial processes. 
The definition of internal control does not cover all initiatives taken by the decision-making bodies or management 
(e.g.; the definition of the Company’s strategy, the determination of objectives, management decisions, risk 
management or performance tracking). 

Furthermore, internal control cannot provide an absolute guarantee that the Company’s objectives will be achieved. 

II.2.2 Internal control components 

In accordance with the AMF reference framework, the internal control system includes five closely related 
components, whose implementation is adapted to the Group’s characteristics: 
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- An organisation with clearly defined responsibilities and adequate resources and skills and that relies on 
information systems, procedures or operating procedures and appropriate tools and practices; 

- Relevant and reliable information is circulated in-house so everyone can exercise their his or her responsibilities; 
- A risk management system that aims to list, analyse and treat the main risks identified with regard to the 

Company’s objectives; 
- Control activities proportionate to the stakes for each process and designed to ensure that necessary measures 

are taken with a view to controlling risks likely to affect the achievement of objectives; and 
- Constant monitoring of the internal control system and a regular review of its performance. 

Internal control environment 

Internal control and risk management in Naturex depend on the involvement of all Group participants where 
everyone’s role and responsibilities are clearly defined. 

A centralised organisation and integrated Group management 

Given its international structure (presence in 20 countries through 15 production sites and 23 sales offices at 31 
December 2013), Naturex has adopted a centralised organisation. 

The Chairman-Chief Executive Officer is responsible for guiding Group management and steering strategy, assisted by 
an Executive Committee organised as follows: 
- A Group Operations Division which coordinates operating activities of the commercial, purchasing and 

manufacturing departments. 
This division implements the Group strategy conveyed by the Chairman-CEO, leads the action plans and ensures 
the objectives of Executive Management are applied in the various operating subsidiaries. Each operating 
department in each subsidiary reports directly to the different specialised operational departments in this 
division; 

- A Scientific Division which coordinates research and development, quality assurance and quality control; 
 

- A Financial and Administrative Division which integrates support functions: human resources, information 
systems, legal, accounting, consolidation, management control, corporate finance, cash management, financial 
communication and investor relations.  

 

This centralised organisation has proven its efficiency and relevance through the realisation of genuine synergies 
between the operational core area and the functional core area, especially during the integration of the 13 companies 
acquired over the past 13 years. 

Executive Committee 

Following the death of Jacques Dikansky, an Executive Committee was formally formed headed by Thierry Lambert, 
Chairman-CEO, comprised of the most experienced executives responsible for the Group's main operating 
departments, and who for the most part have worked at Naturex for many years. 

This Committee exercises an essential role in the Group's corporate governance: 
- It contributes to improved cooperation between the different Group departments and the decision-making 

process; 
- Covering the most important or most sensitive operational areas, it determines and monitors actions to be 

carried out in these areas; 
- It coordinates approaches to cross-functional subjects and projects; 
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- It anticipates and prepares for organisational and strategic developments for the Company and the Group; 
- It assists the Chief Executive Officer in preparing decisions to be submitted to the Board of Directors' approval. 

Executive Committee members: 

- Thierry Lambert, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer; 
- Maxime Angelucci, Chief Operating Officer 
- Stéphane Ducroux, Vice President of Sales and Operations for the America/Asia-Pacific Regions and Vice 

Chairman of Naturex Inc.; 
- Marc Roller, Chief Science Officer; 
- Frédéric Seguin, Chief Industrial Officer; 
- Serge Sabrier, Chief Procurement Officer; 
- Thierry-Bertrand Lambert, Chief Financial and Administrative Officer 

Acting as a core group, these senior executives ensure the coherent implementation of the Group’s strategy in their 
respective departments and that the action plans are coordinated and applied in the Company, the Group and each 
time companies are consolidated. 

A proactive human resources management policy 

Human Resources are placed under the management of the Chief Financial and Administrative Officer. Its role is to 
promote, maintain and increase the skills of employees and encourage their development to ensure the Group has 
the people who possess the knowledge and skills needed to fulfil their responsibilities and achieve Naturex’s current 
and future objectives. 

A powerful and secure information system 

Naturex has implemented an ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) system that provides integrated management for all 
of the Group’s operational processes (purchasing, sales management, inventory management, etc.) interfaced with 
the accounting and financial tools (general accounting, management control, cash management, consolidation, etc.). 
The organisation and operation of Naturex’s information system is subject to security measures that set conditions for 
access to the system, the validation of data processing, backups, data storage and verification of records. 
Its implementation has helped increase reliability and secure the information production process, especially for 
accounting and financial information. 

The Information Systems Department reports to the Chief Financial and Administrative Division. It coordinates the 
system architecture between the Group’s operational and functional divisions as well as the operating continuity of 
the common ERP to ensure production and the reliability of the Group’s accounting and financial information. This 
department is also responsible for backing up and protecting the Group data as well as preventing any system 
intrusions. It upgrades and adapts the accounting and financial information systems based on changes in the Group’s 
size and needs. 

Controlled internal distribution of information 

In accordance with the recommendations of the AMF’s reference framework, Naturex has a process that distributes 
relevant and reliable information in a timely manner to persons concerned in the Group so they can exercise their 
responsibilities. 

Naturex’s information and documentation are available in different forms: 
- All new employees are provided on their first day by the Human Resources Department a welcome booklet, the 

internal rules and regulations, the risk prevention and management plan of the company they are joining and 
information on the health-safety-environment policy, 
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- Group employees are also provided with an IT Charter specifying measures concerning the proper use of IT 
resources and Internet services; 

- All personnel are made aware of the importance of their activities and their contribution to achieving the Group's 
Quality objectives within the framework of the quality management system. 
The quality manual developed from the Company’s quality management system formalises a number of general 
procedures (human resources, information systems, sales administration, research & development, purchasing-
logistics, quality control, production, maintenance, etc.), technical instructions and recommendations, recording 
forms, memos, etc. 
This information is essential for effective business operations and to optimise Naturex’s quality process with its 
customers because it describes the sequence of the main operational and functional processes, the risk 
prevention actions identified and the corrective measures adopted in compliance with applicable legal and 
regulatory requirements. 

This information is accessible to all personnel from the Company server and is updated regularly. 
In addition, minutes are recorded of meetings of the Board of Directors and its Special Committees (Audit Committee 
and Nominating and Compensation Committee), formalised according to the priorities of decisions adopted and the 
actions to be taken so that information is passed on to the relevant operational and functional departments. 

An efficient risk identification, analysis and management process 

In accordance with the AMF’s reference framework, risk management is a real-time Naturex system, defined and 
implemented under the responsibility of Executive Management. 
Risk management constitutes a management driver that contributes to: 
- Creating and protecting the Group’s value, assets and reputation; 
- Securing Group decision-making and processes to promote the achievement of objectives; 
- Encouraging the coherence of actions with Group values, and 
- Ensuring that all employees have a common vision of the main risks and promoting their awareness of the risks 

inherent in their activity. 

To ensure it continues to develop and achieve its objectives, Naturex constantly strives to anticipate and manage the 
risks to which it is exposed through its operations. 

Given the multiple forms of risks the Group faces (manufacturing, environmental, quality, etc.), risk management is 
central to Naturex’s strategy. 

In order to implement this strategy, Naturex is especially committed to safety, quality and environmental approaches 
seeking to identify the risks in these areas, improve its organisation and increase the reliability of existing systems: 

- The application of a quality management system (QMS) by the departments of the Company’s operational 
division has enabled it to produce a map of processes (management process, execution process, support process) 
for their identification (descriptive sheets). The QMS assesses the associated risks and defines risk management 
responses through controls, procedures, indicators and skills. Finally, it proposes the actions plans for 
implementation; 

- The implementation of a safety and environment management system allows Naturex to detect any irregularities 
in the manufacturing process and effectively manage the impact of its production on the environment; 

- Naturex relies on a legal and regulatory monitoring system to comply with the requirements of its business 
segment and ensure it is aware as far in advance as possible of any issues for the Group and actions to be 
implemented. 

The Group's main risk factors are identified and analysed in Chapter 2 “Sustainable development > Identification and 
management of the main risk factors” of the registration document. 
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The Company’s Executive Management prepares the description of significant risks and the different departments in 
the operational and functional divisions implement systems for improved preparedness and responses. 

Control procedures 

Control procedures are carried out throughout the Naturex organisation, at every level and in every function, whether 
focusing on prevention and detection, manual or computerised controls or even reporting line controls. 

The common information system facilitates internal control procedures in Naturex and enables Group sites to access 
any information in real time. In addition, internal control relies in large part on the quality management system to 
formalise procedures. 

Monitoring of the internal control system 

In accordance with AMF recommendations under its reference framework, the internal control system must be 
constantly monitored to ensure it remains relevant and adapted to Group objectives. 

Executive Management 

Executive Management, whether acting directly or through departments acting under its authority, is responsible for 
the quality of the internal control and risk management systems. It is the responsibility of Executive Management to 
design and implement internal control and risk management systems adapted to the Group’s size, business activity 
and organisation and, in particular, to define the roles and responsibilities of all. 

Executive Management must ensure that the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee are provided with 
information in a timely manner. 

Board of Directors 

In accordance with article L.225-100 of the French commercial code, the Board of Directors reports on risks in its 
management report, by providing: 
- A description of the main risks and uncertainties the Company and the companies included in its consolidation 

scope are confronted with, and 
- Information on the Group’s use of financial instruments (financial risks) and exposure to price, credit, liquidity and 

cash flow risks. 
The Group’s main risk factors (financial, legal and operational risks, other risks, etc.) are identified and described in the 
“Sustainable development” chapter of the registration document. 

Audit Committee 

When necessary, the Audit Committee must examine and evaluate the internal control procedures, especially those 
concerning the financial information used to prepare the separate and consolidated annual financial statements. It 
reports on its work to the Board of Directors. 

An Audit Committee Charter approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2012 was updated on 27 March 2013 to 
take into account the change in its status as an independent body now distinct from the Board of Directors The Audit 
Committee’s role and duties are described in Chapter 1 of this document. 

Statutory Auditors 

The statutory auditors are not, within the framework of their legal engagement, stakeholders in the internal control 
and risk management systems. The auditors review these systems and issue an opinion on their relevance. 
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In connection with their audit engagement of the financial statements, during the year they may identify significant 
risks and major weaknesses of the internal control system with a potential material impact on the accounting and 
financial information. 

In the present report they present their observations on the internal control procedures related to the preparation 
and treatment of financial and accounting information and attest that the other information required by law has been 
produced. 

The Audit Committee charter adopted on 26 March 2012 provides that Naturex’s statutory auditors are systematically 
present at Committee meetings. This is destined to ensure that the statutory auditing is regularly monitored and 
enables the Committee to examine the main areas of risk or uncertainty in the annual parent company or 
consolidated financial statements (including the half-yearly financial statements) identified by the statutory auditors, 
their audit approach and any difficulties encountered in in the performance of their engagement. 
 
II.2.3 Internal control procedures for accounting and financial information 

The internal control of financial and accounting information is organised around the following: 
- Uniform monthly accounting reporting; 
- Common accounting methods throughout the Group, and 
- The production of consolidated quarterly reports. 

 
 

Procedures for oversight of the accounting and financial organisation 

Organisation 

The Finance and Administrative Division groups together the following centralised functional departments: 

� Accounting 

In light of the growth in the number of sites and legal entities within the framework of the Group's development, the 
accounting department has been reorganised to pool resources, optimise expertise and apply optimal internal control 
procedures until then rendered difficult by the geographical distance separating accounting teams. 
 
In response, the Group accounting department has been organised into two main units: 
- In New Jersey, grouping the major share of management for accounting operations for the Americas; 
- In Avignon, grouping the major share of management for accounting operations for Europe and the Asia-Pacific 

Region as well as Group consolidation and reporting teams. 
A local accounting team is maintained in certain countries as required for practical considerations and local 
regulations. 
 
Two departments have also been created: 
- A tax department was created to coordinate and manage tax-related issues for the different entities; 
- An internal audit department tasked with performing accounting and financial control and ensuring the proper 

application of Group accounting procedures. 
 

A consolidation department centralises, analyses and controls the accounting and financial information for all Group 
subsidiaries. It is also in charge of the consolidation process that produces the quarterly information and the interim 
and annual financial statements. 
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� Management control 

This department monitors and controls the operational departments’ activities and projects to optimise the Group 
margins. It analyses the monthly reports submitted by all Group subsidiaries (inventories, margins, cost control, etc.) 
and establishes mechanisms to monitor intra-group transfer prices. 

� Corporate finance, cash management, credit management 

This department assures centralised cash management for the different Group subsidiaries and monitors the interest 
rate and exchange rate hedges in the Group. It coordinates relations with banking partners and local banks in 
connection with obtaining financing for all of the Group’s development projects. It is also in charge of optimising the 
management of WCR (trade receivables, inventory levels, supplier payment terms). It also manages acquisitions under 
the authority of the Chief Financial and Administrative Officer. 

� Legal 

The purpose of this department is to secure the Group’s operational and functional activity with respect to the 
applicable laws and regulations (review the Group’s main contracts, manage litigation and disputes, prevent risks 
related to criminal liability, commercial law and intellectual property law). It also manages insurance coverage. It acts 
as the Company’s legal secretary and general counsel and coordinates with outside counsel the legal formalities 
specific to subsidiaries. 

� Financial communication 

This department assures the distribution of information about the Group’s operations, strategy, financial situation and 
results in compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements. 
It is in charge of relations with market authorities, French and foreign investors, financial analysts and individual 
shareholders. It also monitors the Group’s market and competitive environment and regularly informs the Board of 
Directors of regulatory developments and market practices in terms of stock exchange law, governance, social and 
environmental responsibilities, internal control and financial communication. 

Relations with the statutory auditors 

Naturex S.A. is listed on NYSE Euronext Paris (segment B) and has two statutory auditors and two alternate auditors in 
accordance with the law. 
Group subsidiaries of significant size also have independent external auditors. 
During the half-yearly and annual closing of the accounts, the Statutory Auditors: 
- Conduct a prior review of the Group’s procedures and test internal control; 
- Organise a meeting prior to the closing of accounts in order to define the review programme, calendar and 

organisation of their assignment; 
- Review the financial statements sent by the Consolidation service; and 
- Hold a review meeting with Executive Management to summarise their work. 
On this basis, the statutory auditors certify the regularity and fair presentation of the separate and consolidated 
financial statements. 

Preparing accounting and financial information 

The production of Group financial information is broken down into four levels: 
- Production of financial information for each company; 
- Verification of financial information for each company; 
- Production of consolidated financial information; and 
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- Verification of consolidated financial information. 

Production of the local financial information 

Accounting information is recorded for each site in a specifically authorised accounting software application.  
All accounting documents are stamped with the date of their receipt and sent directly to the accounting department 
for entry.  
The original copies of accounting documents issued by non-company parties are retained and scanned. Documents 
issued by the Company are imported electronically in the accounting software when issued, through the Group’s ERP. 

Verification of local financial information 

In 2010 and 2011, the Group changed the accounting system of its companies so that each would have the same 
software (except for the Russian, Brazilian and Indian subsidiaries due to local legislation, as well as the recent 
acquisition in Chile)  
The accounting managers having responsibility for each region have access to the accounting systems in read mode 
which facilitates technical assistance, control and analysis of accounting data. 
 
In an initial phase, the coherence of financial information is reviewed by the Group Chief Accountant and the team 
based at the Avignon head office. 
Every month, they are responsible for producing the reports requested by the Chief Financial and Administrative-
Officer and issuing their comments. Monthly internal procedures consist mainly in reconciling the management and 
accounting information recognised to ensure the accuracy and exhaustive nature of the flows between the Group’s 
companies. 
At each closing of the accounts, a justification sheet is established for each general ledger account to support the 
account balance and the nature of the flow. 
Subsequently, the coherence and relevance of the financial information are controlled by the Group’s Chief Financial 
and Administrative Officer and reviewed by Executive Management. 
Every month all financial information is controlled and reviewed by the Chief Financial and Administrative Officer who 
ensures the information provided is accurate by cross-checking the Group’s management data and applying and 
correcting the interpretation of Group standards. 
He also analyses the coherence and relevance of each company’s financial data through Group reports and in direct 
contact with the local controllers. 
 
Finally, the independent external auditors certify the financial information both to comply with local regulations when 
required or when the Group wishes an independent opinion as well as for the needs of the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements, established according to accounting standards that differ from local standards. 
There is no legal connection between the various outside firms used by the different subsidiaries. 

Production of consolidated financial information 

The production of consolidated financial information is assured by the consolidation department that designs and 
implements methods, procedures and Group accounting and management guidelines. In accordance with EC 
Regulation No. 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002 on the application of international accounting standards, Naturex Group’s 
consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2013 are produced on the basis of IFRS as adopted in the European Union. 
 
The consolidated information is produced from data originating from Group companies.  
As described above, the coherence and relevance of the information collected are confirmed by the Group’s internal 
control procedures. This information are previously controlled in each subsidiary and then controlled internally and 
audited by external auditing firms.  
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Every month, based on the monthly reports, the consolidation department produces a consolidated income statement 
for Executive Management. 
 
Each time the consolidated financial statements are published (income statement and shareholders’ equity at 31 
March and 30 September for quarterly information, summary and complete financial statements respectively at 30 
June and 31 December for half-yearly and annual information), the Group’s Chief Accountant produces the 
appropriate financial items.  

Verification of the consolidated financial information 

The external and independent auditors audit the consolidated financial information on a semi-annual basis. 

Financial communications process 

The entire financial communications process is placed under the authority of Naturex S.A’s Chief Financial and 
Administrative Officer and submitted for approval to the Chairman-CEO and the Company’s Board of Directors (half-
yearly and annual information). This information is first provided to members of the Audit Committee within the 
framework of the interim and annual closings. 
The Group consolidation department produces the information required to publish the financial results that is sent to 
the financial communication manager. 

The financial communication manager prepares the financial communications materials (press releases, analyst and 
investor presentations, management report, registration document, etc.) in accordance with legal and regulatory 
requirements and the recommendations of the AMF and the market associations (MiddleNext). 

The statutory auditors verify the coherence of the information with respect to the financial position and the accounts 
as presented in the registration document. 

A provisional calendar for the publication of financial information is sent to the market and AMF at the beginning of 
the year and posted on the Company’s website. This calendar ensures that the information can be communicated in 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations for financial disclosures, disclosure deadlines and the principle of 
equal access to information for all shareholders. 

II.2.4 Changes anticipated in 2014 

Given the creation of the Audit Committee one year ago, Naturex intends to pursue is continuous improvement 
process commitment for internal control. 

The Audit Committee’s first meeting prepared a calendar for action plans to be implemented to increase its 
knowledge of risks and strengthen its approach to internal control and management of identified risks. 

This approach will draw on items addressed in the AMF reference framework for risk management and internal 
control procedures. 
 

Avignon, 28 March 2014 

 

Thierry Lambert 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
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STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT 
on the report of the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Naturex S.A. established pursuant to Article L. 225-235 of 
the French commercial code 
 
 

This is a free translation into English of a report issued in the French language and is provided solely for the convenience of English speaking readers. This 
report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and professional auditing standards applicable in France. 

------------- 
 

 
Year ending 31 December 2013 
 
 
Dear Shareholders, 

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of Naturex S.A. and in accordance with the provisions of article L.225-235 of 
French Commercial Code (Code de Commerce), we hereby present our report on the report prepared by the Chairman 
of your company in accordance with Article L225-68 of the French Commercial Code for the fiscal year ended 31 
December 2013 

It is the Chairman’s responsibility to prepare, and submit to the Board of Directors for approval, a report on the 
internal control and risk management procedures implemented by the company and containing the other disclosures 
required by Article L225-68 of French Commercial Code, particularly in terms of corporate governance.  

It is our responsibility to: 

- Report to you on the information contained in the Chairman’s report with respect to the internal control and risk 
management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information; and 

- Certify that the report contains the other information required by article L225-68 of the French Commercial Code, 
while specifying that we are not responsible for verifying the fairness of this other information. 

We performed our procedures in accordance with the relevant professional standards applicable in France. 
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Information concerning internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and 
processing of financial and accounting information 

These standards require us to perform procedures to assess the fairness of the information set out in the Chairman’s 
report on the internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of financial 
and accounting information. These procedures notably consist in: 

- Obtaining an understanding of the internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation 
and processing of financial and accounting information, on which the information presented in the Chairman’s 
report is based, as well as existing documentation; 

- Obtaining an understanding of the work performed to prepare this information, as well as existing 
documentation; 

- Ensuring that any material weaknesses in internal control procedures relating to the preparation and processing 
of financial and accounting information that might be detected in the course of our engagement have been 
properly disclosed in the Chairman’s report. 

On the basis of these procedures, we have no matters to report in connection with the information on the internal 
control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of financial and accounting 
information, contained in the Chairman of the Board’s report, prepared in accordance with the provisions of article 
L225-68 of the French commercial code. 

Other disclosures 

We certify that the Chairman of the Board's report includes the other information required by article L22568 of the 
French commercial code.  

 
Paris La Défense, 24 April 2014 Avignon, 24 April 2014 

KPMG S.A.  AREs X.PERT Audit 
French original signed by:  

  
Jean Gatinaud 
 

Laurent Peyre 
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III. Corporate governance 

The information hereafter completes the Chairman of the Board’s report on the conditions for the preparation and 
organisation of the Board of Directors’ work and the implementation of internal control procedures. 

III.1 List of corporate officers 

Naturex Group complies with the applicable French law regarding the holding of multiple corporate offices (the New 
Economic Regulations Act 2001-420 of May 15, 2001) as well as MiddleNext corporate governance code regulations. 

� Offices and directorships exercised by the Group’s non-executive directors 

Paul Lippens, director of Naturex S.A. 

Paul Lippens was appointed director by co-option by the Company’s Board of Directors on 24 August 2011, following 
the resignation from the board of Naturex S.A. of Edmond De Rothschild Investment Partners through its permanent 
representative, Mr. Pierre-Michel Passy. 
This appointment was ratified on 8 June 2012 for the remainder of the term of office of Edmond De Rothschild 
Investment Partners and namely until the Annual General Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the 
year ending 31 December 2014. 
Paul Lippens is a graduate of the Solvay Brussels School of Economics and Management (SBS-EM) of Université Libre 
de Bruxelles. Throughout his career, which began in 1977, he has held several management functions with renowned 
banking institutions in France and abroad. 
Offices and directorships held within the last five years in non-Group companies: 

Company Office/Directorship Comments 

Finasucre Chairman 

Finasucre Group 
Majority shareholding in SGD, lead 
shareholder of Naturex 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

SGD SAS Chairman 
Shareholding in Finasucre Group 
Lead shareholder of Naturex 

Sucrier Group Director 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Iscal Sugar Director 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Galactic Director 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Bundaberg Sugar (Australia) Director 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Compagnie Sucrière (D.R. Congo) Director 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Compagnie Het Zoute Director No legal relationship with Naturex 

CBL – ACP Chamber of Commerce Director No legal relationship with Naturex 
Compagnie Immobilière d’Hardelot Director No legal relationship with Naturex 



Chapter 3 

Organisation and corporate governance 
 

102  2013 Registration Document 

Olivier Lippens, director of Naturex S.A. 

Olivier Lippens was appointed director of Naturex by the General Meeting of 8 June 2012 for a term of six years 
ending on the close of the General Meeting that will be called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year 
ending 31 December 2017; 

Olivier Lippens is a graduate of the Solvay Brussels School of Economics and Management (SBS-EM) of Université Libre 
de Bruxelles. Throughout his career which began in 1978, he has exercised accounting and financial responsibilities 
within Coopers & Lybrand in Brussels before joining the Finasucre Group. 
 
Offices and directorships held within the last five years in non-Group companies: 

Company Office/Directorship Comments 

Finasucre Deputy CEO 

Finasucre Group 
Majority shareholding in SGD, lead 
shareholder of Naturex 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

SGD SAS Director 
Shareholding in Finasucre Group 
Lead shareholder of Naturex 

ISCAL Sugar SA  Deputy CEO 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Galactic SA Director 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Bundaberg Sugar Ltd. (Australia) Director 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Futerro SA Director 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Devolder SA Director 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

JV KIN SA Director 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Compagnie Sucriere SCARL Director 
Finasucre Group 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Subel Vice-Chairman No legal relationship with Naturex 

Wulfsdonck Investment SA Deputy CEO No legal relationship with Naturex 

CEFS Director European Association of Sugar 
Producers 

FEVIA Director The Belgian food industry federation 
(Fédération de l’Industrie Alimentaire) 

UNIBRA SA Director No legal relationship with Naturex 

IRBAB Director 
Royal Belgian Institute for Beet 
Improvement (Institut Royal Belge 
pour l’Amélioration de la Betterave) 

AEDIFICA SA Director No legal relationship with Naturex 

Galeries Royales Saint Hubert Director No legal relationship with Naturex 
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Hélène Martel-Massignac, Director of Naturex S.A. 

Hélène Martel-Massignac was appointed director by co-option by the Company’s Board of Directors on 25 February 
2013, following Olivier Dikansky's resignation from the Board of Naturex S.A. 
Ratification of her appointment will be submitted for approval to the General Meeting of 26 June 2013 for the 
remainder of her predecessor's term of office, and namely until the end of the General Meeting that will be called to 
approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ending 31 December 2016. 
Hélène Martel-Massignac, a trained chartered accountant, has exercised audit and financial and administrative 
management functions at prestigious firms before participating in the creation of Caravelle. 
 
Offices and directorships held within the last five years in non-Group companies: 

Company Office/Directorship Comments 

Caravelle S.A. Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer 

Shareholder of Naturex S.A. 
No legal relationship with Naturex 

Sopra Group Director 
No legal relationship with Naturex 
Resigned on 22 May 2013 

PH Finances SARL Managing Partner No legal relationship with Naturex 

Cooper SAS Chairman of the Supervisory Board No legal relationship with Naturex 
Arcole-Industries Supervisory Board member No legal relationship with Naturex 

Benalu Supervisory Board member No legal relationship with Naturex 

Lamberet Supervisory Board member No legal relationship with Naturex 
PX holding Chairman No legal relationship with Naturex 

Hôtel Atmosphères Chairman No legal relationship with Naturex 
SAS Financiere de la Santoline Chairman of the Supervisory Board No legal relationship with Naturex 

SAS Santoline Chairman of the Supervisory Board No legal relationship with Naturex 

� Offices and directorships held by the Group’s executive and non-executive directors 

Thierry Lambert, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Naturex S.A. 

The appointment of Thierry Lambert as director was renewed by the General Meeting of 8 June 2012 for a term of six 
years ending on the close of the General Meeting that will be called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal 
year ending 31 December 2017. Also on 8 June 2012, he was appointed by the Board of Directors as the Company's 
Chief Executive Officer. 

On 16 October 2012, pursuant to the death of Jacques Dikansky, the Board of Directors approved the appointment of 
Mr Thierry Lambert as Chairman of the Board of Directors, for a period corresponding to his term of office as director 
or until the end of the Annual General Meeting that will be called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal 
year ending 31 December 2017. 

Thierry Lambert has 17 years of experience in the banking sector with BNP Paribas. He was the cofounder of Naturex, 
created in 1992 along with Jacques Dikansky, exercising responsibility for Group's Administrative and Finance 
Department in addition to selected operational, overseeing information systems, etc. At present, he is the Chairman-
CEO of Naturex, coordinating the Group's strategy and development and chairing the Executive Committee. 

 
Thierry Lambert also holds other offices and directorships within the Naturex Group's subsidiaries: 
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Company Office/Directorship Comments 

SCI Les Broquetons Manager Group company 

Naturex SPRL Co-Managing Partner Group company 
Naturex GMBH Co-Managing Partner Group company 

Naturex Inc. Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer  

Group company 

Naturex SpA Sole director Group company 

Naturex Maroc S.A. Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer 

Group company 

Spaciotempo UK Ltd. Director Group company 

Naturex Trading Shanghai Co., Ltd. Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer 

Group company 

Naturex AG Chairman Group company 
Naturex Spain SL Sole director Group company 
Naturex Ltd. Director Group company 
KF Specialty Ingredients Pty Ltd Director Group company 
Naturex Australia Pty Ltd. Director Group company 
Naturex Coöperatief U.A. Director Group company 

Naturex Holdings Inc. Chairman-CEO and Treasurer Group company 
Naturex Cooperative LLC Chairman-CEO and Treasurer Group company 

The Talin Co Ltd. Director Group company 
Itrad Manager Group company 
Valentine Agro Pvt Ltd Director Group company 
Valentine Agro Pvt Ltd Director Group company 
Zpow Pektowin Manager Group company 
Naturex Ingredientes Naturales S.A. 
de C.V Vice Chairman and Treasurer Group company 

Naturex Inc. (Canada) 
Chairman and Chief Executive 

Officer 
 

Group company 

Naturex Korea Director Group company 
Naturex KK Director Group company 
Aker Biomarine Manufacturing LLC Director Group company 

Aker Biomarine Financing LLC Director Group company 
Akbmf Sarl Co-Managing Partner Group company 

Naturex Industrial SL Sole director Group company 
Naturex Pty Ltd. Director Group company 

Naturex Chile SpA Sole director Group company 
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Offices and directorships currently held or held within the last five years in non-Group companies: 

Company Office/Directorship Comments 

SCI Avenue de la Pinède Manager 

A French non-trading property 
company (Société Civile 
Immobilière) 
Owner of the Avignon head office 
building 

SGD SAS Director Shareholding in Finasucre Group 
Lead shareholder of Naturex 

Naturex Foundation Chairman Naturex-Jacques Dikansky 
Foundation 

Naturex Fund Chairman Endowment fund of the Naturex-
Jacques Dikansky Foundation  

Grünes Blatt AG Chairman 

Property company 
Owner of the warehouse facility, 
with a portion leased to Naturex 
AG 

Stéphane Ducroux, director of Naturex S.A. 

The appointment of Stéphane Ducroux as director was renewed by the General Meeting of 30 June 2008 and will 
expire at the close of the General Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ending 31 
December 2013. 
 
Stéphane Ducroux is a graduate of the ESC Pau Business School. He joined Naturex in 1998 within the framework of a 
CNSE program in New York (sales administration, logistics, and accounting). In 2000, he participated in the opening of 
a sales office in the United Kingdom and in 2011 became Vice President of Sales for the US. Today he is Vice President 
of Sales and Operations for the America/Asia-Pacific Regions and also Vice Chairman of the US subsidiary, Naturex Inc. 
 
Stéphane Ducroux also holds other offices and directorships within Naturex Group's subsidiaries: 

Company Office/Directorship Comments 

Naturex Inc. Vice-Chairman Group company 
Naturex Trading Shanghai Co., Ltd. Director Group company 
Naturex Ingredientes Naturales S.A. 
de C.V Vice-Chairman Group company 

Naturex Inc. (Canada) Vice-Chairman Group company 
Naturex Korea Director Group company 
Naturex KK Director Group company 
 
He does not hold any offices or directorships in non-Group companies.  
 
The company SGD, a director of Naturex, does not exercise any other offices or directorships as a legal entity. 
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Miriam Maes, director of Naturex S.A. 

Miriam Maes was appointed director of Naturex by the General Meeting of 26 June 2013 for a term of six years ending 
on the close of the General Meeting that will be called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ending 
31 December 2018. 

With a degree in business administration from the Nijenrode International Business School in the Netherlands, Miriam 
Maes has a great experience in B2B within multinationals of the energy sector (EDF Energy/EDF Group in particular) 
and has also exercised senior responsibilities for nearly 20 years in companies in the food industry sector (Unilever 
and Quest International). She is currently the Chairman-Founder of Foresee, a London-based consulting firm 
specialised in sustainable development and energy management strategy for companies. In 2010 she was appointed 
as an advisor to the British Department of Energy and Climate Change with the mission of supporting the 
governmental energy and CO2 reduction program. 
It is specified that her appointment was proposed by France's Strategic Investment Fund (Fonds stratégique 
d’Investissement or FSI that took up €12 million of the Naturex's €18 million convertible bond issue in January 2013) to 
the Nominating and Compensation Committee at its meeting of 3 May 2013, who after review, rendered a favourable 
opinion to the Board of Directors to be submitted to a vote by the shareholders. 
 
Offices and directorships held within the last five years in non-Group companies: 

Company Office/Directorship Comments 

Foresee Chairman No legal relationship with Naturex 

Vilmorin & CIE Director and Chairman of the Audit 
Committee 

No legal relationship with Naturex 

 

Anne Abriat, director of Naturex S.A. 

Anne Abriat was appointed director of Naturex by the General Meeting of 26 June 2013 for a term of six years ending 
on the close of the General Meeting that will be called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ending 
31 December 2018. 

A graduate of the French engineering school, ESCOM (École Supérieure de Chimie Organique et Minérale), she has 25 
years of experience in the cosmetics industry, mainly with L’Oréal Group, and notably in the fields of Research and 
Development, Innovation and Marketing Strategy and Foresight. She is currently a consultant in sensory sciences for 
food products (flavourings, new technologies, new molecules, ingredients, etc.) through the company she has created 
"The Smell & Taste Lab”. She joined Coty in Geneva as Senior Director for Fragrance Technology, Testing and Technical 
Perfumery. 
Offices and directorships held within the last five years in non-Group companies: 

Company Office/Directorship Comments 

Executive Officer of The Smell & 
Taste Lab Chairman No legal relationship with Naturex 

 

III.2 Compensation and benefits of executive and non-executive directors 

Compensation and benefits of any kind paid during 2013 by Naturex Group to each executive officer and member of 
the Board of Directors of Naturex S.A. (including on the part of controlled companies) within the meaning of the 
provisions of Article L.225-102-1 of the French commercial code are described hereafter.  
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This presentation is also established in accordance with the AMF recommendation of 22 December 2008 concerning 
the compensation of executive officers of companies whose shares are admitted to trading on a regulated market 
(tables 1 to 10). 

It is specified that the terms "non-executive directors ("mandataires sociaux non dirigeants") refers to members of 
Naturex's Board of Directors that do not exercise any operating responsibilities within the Group and the term 
"executive officer" ("mandataires sociaux dirigeants") refers to Board members exercising an operating responsibility 
within the Group, and namely. 
In 2013, those persons identified as executive officers were: 
- Thierry Lambert, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Naturex S.A. 
- Stéphane Ducroux, director of Naturex S.A. and Vice Chairman of Naturex Inc. (United States). 
 
The forms of remuneration and benefits granted to executive officers are presented below: 

Principles and rules for determining corporate officers’ compensation 

The Board of Directors set the methods and conditions for determining compensation for fiscal 2013 according to the 
following criteria: 

� Fixed compensation 

For fiscal 2013, Thierry Lambert, Chairman-CEO, received compensation as officer of Naturex S.A. (France) and 
Naturex Inc. (United States). 

� Benefits in kind 

Benefits in kind granted to executive officers consist exclusively of the use of a company car and contributions to 
retirement and supplemental benefit plans. 

No other benefit in kind is granted. 

� Variable and exceptional compensation 

Each year, the Board of Directors sets the maximum amount of exceptional compensation that each executive officer 
can receive.  
The amount of exceptional compensation for fiscal 2013 was set by the Company's Board of Directors, pursuant to a 
proposal by the Nominating and Compensation Committee, and is contingent on the achievement of operating and 
financial targets. 

� Other benefits 

Thierry Lambert is a beneficiary of retirement severance benefits. 

On 30 August 2012, the Board of Directors decided to guarantee a severance payment for Stéphane Ducroux should 
the latter be dismissed within a period of 18 months following a change in control or management of Naturex S.A. This 
severance payment equals two years of salary. This amount is not due if the dismissal is a consequence of gross or 
wilful misconduct of Stéphane Ducroux. 

Other than these benefits, within the Group there does not exist any: 
- Supplemental pension plan or other social benefits specific to executive corporate officers; 
- Compensation that would be owed to executive officers for non-competition clauses. 
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Principles and rules for determining director’s fees, stock options and bonus shares grants in 
favour of corporate officers 

The system of compensation is supplemented by the following: 

� Directors' fees 

The combined ordinary and extraordinary general meeting of 26 June 2013 allocated an amount of €100,000 to the 
Board of Directors for attendance fees. 
On the proposal of the nominating and compensation committee, on 3 December 2013, the Board of Directors 
approved the allocation of attendance fees for fiscal 2013 payable in equal amounts to directors in light of their record 
of attendance, with the exception of Thierry Lambert and Stéphane Ducroux, who have waived entitlement to these 
fees. 
Accordingly, €20,000 will be paid to each director for attendance fees, with the exception of those directors exercising 
an operating function in NATUREX S.A. 
These fees will be paid on the date of the next general meeting or 26 June 2014. 

� Stock option plan 

Executive officers are beneficiaries of stock option grants.  

Highlights of stock option plans granted by the Board in effect on the date of this document are presented below: 

Highlights of stock option plans granted by the Board in effect on the date of this document are presented below: 
- Exercise price: average of the opening listed price of the twenty trading sessions preceding the grant date; 
- Term of validity: five years from the stock option grant date (except for plans allocated in 2008 and 2009 with 

terms of 6 years); 
- Exercise period: at the end of a three-year vesting period starting on the date of allocation;  
- Lock-in period for tax relief eligibility: four years from the grant date; 
- Obligation to retain the shares for two and a half years from the commencement of the exercise date before the 

beginning of the holding period (période de cession); 
- Obligation to retain in registered form a selected number of shares issued from the exercise of options by 

executives and non-executive directors until they cease to exercise their offices. 
- Automatic cancellation by operation of law in the event the employment contract or the term of office is 

terminated, except in the case of death or retirement. 
As an exception to the recommendations of the MiddleNext code, stock options are not linked to performance criteria 
and are destined to reward all employee beneficiaries as well as executive officers for their contributions over the 
year ended. Nevertheless, stock option grants are subject to two conditions: (i) Naturex’s consolidated financial 
statements should show an operating profit for the past year and (ii) the Company must not have implemented a 
redundancy plan or a job-protection plan during the past year. 
The Company is currently exploring options for the adoption of performance criteria adapted to each category to 
personnel. 

Information concerning the allocation and the exercise of share subscription options in 2012 is provided hereinafter 
(tables 4 and 5). 
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The characteristics of the various stock option plans giving access to the Company's capital (tables 8 and 9) are 
described in Chapter 4 "Share capital and shareholder structure > Potential Capital" of this document. 

The Group has not implemented any other compensation systems such as the grant of director’s fees or bonus shares. 

Summary of the compensation, stock options and shares granted to each executive officer  
(Table 1) 

The table below summarises gross compensation owed for fiscal 2013 to the executive officers as well as the valuation 
of the stock options during the year. 
 

In €000s FY 2013 FY 2012 

Thierry Lambert, Chairman-CEO   

Compensation owed for the fiscal year  
(see table 2) 

576 507 

Value of options granted for the fiscal year  
(see table 4) 

56 100 

Value of bonus shares granted during the fiscal year  
(see table 6) 

- - 

Total 632 606 

 

Stéphane Ducroux, director of Naturex S.A. and Vice Chairman of Naturex 
Inc. 

  

Compensation owed for the fiscal year  
(see table 2) 

440 386 

Value of options granted for the fiscal year  
(see table 4) 

42 75 

Value of bonus shares granted during the fiscal year  
(see table 6) 

- - 

Total 482 461 
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Summary of the compensation of each executive officer (Table 2) 

The table below shows the gross compensation owed and paid to the executive officers, including director’s fees and 
benefits in kind. 

 

 FY 2013 FY 2012 

In €000s Amounts 
owed 

Amounts 
paid 

Amounts 
owed 

Amounts 
paid 

Thierry Lambert, Chairman-CEO    

Fixed compensation 501 493 376 376 

Variable compensation, exceptional compensation* 72 125 128 - 

Directors' fees - - - - 

Benefits in kind** 3 3 3 3 

Total 576 621 507 379 

 

Stéphane Ducroux, director of Naturex S.A. and Vice Chairman of 
Naturex Inc. 

   

Fixed compensation 377 391 371 371 

Variable compensation, exceptional compensation* 57 60 16 - 

Directors' fees - - - - 

Benefits in kind** 6 6 - - 

Total 440 457 386 371 

     
 
 

 

Director’s fees and other compensation received by non-executive corporate officers (Table 3) 

Attendance fees of €20,000 for fiscal 2013 are payable to each non-executive director. These attendance fees will be 
payable on the date of the general meeting of 26 June 2014. 

 

 

 

Variable compensation, exceptional compensation: Each year, the Board of Directors sets the maximum amount of exceptional compensation that each 
executive officer can receive. For fiscal 2013, this compensation is contingent on achievement of operating and financial targets. 

** Company car 
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Stock options to subscribe for or purchase shares granted to each executive officer during the 
financial year, by the issuer and by any Group company (Table 4) 

Executive officer Plan No. and date Nature of 
options 

(for purchase of 
existing shares or 
to subscribe for 

new shares) 

Valuation of 
options 

according to 
the method 

adopted for the 
consolidated 

financial 
statements 

Number of 
options granted 

in the period 

Exercise 
price 

Exercise 
period 

Thierry Lambert Plan 16 
4 December 2013 Subscription € 6.99 8,000 € 65.00 

05/12/2016 
to 
04/12/2018 

Stéphane Ducroux Plan 16 
4 December 2013 Subscription € 6.99 6,000 € 65.00 

05/12/2016 
to 
04/12/2018 

Total Plan 16 
4 December 2013 Subscription € 6.99 14,000 € 65.00 

05/12/2016 
to 
04/12/2018 

On 3 December 2013, the Board of Directors of Naturex S.A. met in order to grant stock options under a new plan. 
Details of this grant are presented in table 8 in Chapter 4 "Share capital and shareholder structure > Potential capital > 
Stock option grants" of the present document. 

Share subscription or purchase options exercised during the year, by each executive officer, by 
the issuer and by any company in the Group (Table 5) 

On 30 March 2013, the heirs of Jacques Dikansky exercised the options granted to the latter under stock option plans 
as follows: 

Stock options exercised on 30 March 2013 in connection within the framework of the settlement of 
Jacques Dikansky's estate 

Name of executive corporate officer Plan No. and date 
Number of options 

exercised 
Exercise price 

Jacques Dikansky's estate Plan 11 

Granted on 25/03/2008 

25,000 € 27.54 

Jacques Dikansky's estate Plan 12 

Granted on 13/03/2009 

25,000 € 24.00 

Jacques Dikansky's estate Plan 13 

Granted on 26/04/2010 

18,000 € 30.12 

Jacques Dikansky's estate Plan 14 

Granted on 15/04/2011 

18,000 € 45.33 

Total  86,000  
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Information on options exercised by Thierry Lambert and Stéphane Ducroux is presented below: 

Name of executive corporate officer Plan No. and date 
Number of options 

exercised 
Exercise price 

Thierry Lambert Plan 11 

Granted on 25/03/2008 

4,500 € 27.54 

Stéphane Ducroux Plan 11 

Granted on 25/03/2008 

3,500 € 27.54 

 

Performance shares granted to each corporate officer by the issuer and any Group company 
(Table 6) 

No performance shares (bonus shares) were granted to each executive officer by the issuer and by any capital 
company. 

Performance shares having vested during the year for each corporate officer (Table 7) 

None 

The details for tables 8 and 9 are provided in chapter 4 "Changes in capital and shareholder structure > Potential 
capital > Stock option grants" of this document. 
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Other information on executive officers (Table 10) 

Executive officers Employment 
contract 

Supplemental 
retirement plan 

Compensation or 
benefits owed or 

potentially owed on 
termination or a 

change in function 

Payments relating to 
non-compete clauses 

 Yes No Yes No Yes No Yes No 

Thierry Lambert  �  �  �  � 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

Appointment as director renewed by the General Meeting of 8 June 2012 for a term of six years ending on the close of the General Meeting that will 
be called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ending 31 December 2017. 

Stéphane Ducroux �   � �   � 

Director of Naturex S.A. and Vice Chairman of Naturex Inc. 

Appointment as director by the General Meeting on 30 June 2008 for a term of six years ending on the close of the General Meeting that will be 
called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ending 31 December 2013. 

As Stéphane Ducroux has an employment contract with the legal entity, Naturex Inc. (United States), he is not 
concerned by the AMF recommendations of 22 December 2008 and 9 February 2012 on combining employment 
contracts with a corporate office. 

Assets belonging to executives 

Senior executives created SCI La Pinède with a view to constructing a building on land next to the current head office 
so it can be extended in the future. Thierry Lambert is the co-managing partner of SCI La Pinède. 

The Naturex AG Group company rents, for use as a warehouse, part of a building located on land adjacent to the 
Burgdorf plant from Grünes Blatt, a real estate company in which the executive officers are shareholders. This 
company granted a 10-year commercial lease to Naturex AG. Thierry Lambert is director of Grünes Blatt AG. 

No asset belongs directly or indirectly to the executive managers or to members of their family. 

Potential conflicts of interest 

To the best of the Company's knowledge, there are no potential conflicts of interest between any duties with respect 
to Naturex of members of the Board of Directors (executive and non-executive) and their private interests. 

For information, SGD, Naturex's lead shareholder holding 21.06% of the Company's share capital on the filing date of 
this document, is 99.79%-held by Finasucre Group, managed by Paul and Olivier Lippens, directors of Naturex S.A. The 
balance is held by selected members of Naturex's Executive Committee, including Thierry Lambert, the Company's 
Chairman-CEO. 

Paul Lippens is the Chairman of SGD SAS and Olivier Lippens and Thierry Lambert are directors. 

Thierry Lambert is also the co-managing partner of SCI La Pinède, owner of the head office building of Avignon and 
director of Grünes Blatt AG, owner of the building of the Burgdorf plant in Switzerland. 
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Trading in own shares by executives and parties mentioned in Article L.621-18-2 of the French 
Monetary and Financial Code 

In accordance with Articles L.621-18-2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code and Article 222-15-3 of the AMF’s 
General Regulations amended by decree on 9 March 2006 published in the Journal Officiel (French publication for 
legal notices) on 21 March 2006, transactions in the Company's shares on the filing date of this document are 
reported below. 

These transactions were reported to the AMF by executive officers pursuant to the legal and regulatory requirements 
(Article L.621-18-2).  

� Disclosures by SGD 

Information on dealings by SGD in Naturex shares in 2013 is presented below: 

- off-market/over-the-counter acquisition from Stéphane Ducroux, of 2,000 Naturex shares for €61.04 per share,  
- acquisition on NYSE Euronext Paris of 21,819 Naturex shares for an average price of €56.76. 

� Disclosures by Stéphane Ducroux 

Stéphane Ducroux reported the sale of 2,000 Naturex shares at a price of €61.04 per share on 2 April 2013, 
corresponding to the average trading price for the 20 trading sessions preceding that date. 

 

III.3 General representations with respect to executive officers 

At the date of this document and to the knowledge of the Company, none of the current directors, over the course of 
at least the last five years: 

- has been convicted of fraud; 
- has been associated with any bankruptcy proceeding of any nature, receivership or liquidation; 
- has been indicted and/or subject to an official public sanction pronounced by the statutory or regulatory 

authorities; 
- has been legally disqualified from serving as members of a Board of Directors, the executive management of a 

company or a Supervisory Board or from participating in the management of the operations of an issuer in the 
last five years. 

To the best of the Company's knowledge, there are no family ties between the members of the Board of Directors 
other than those existing between Paul Lippens and Olivier Lippens (Brothers). 

It is furthermore specified that family ties exist between the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company, 
Thierry Lambert and the Chief Financial Officer, Thierry Bertrand Lambert (father/son). 
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE 

I. Information on share capital 

I.1  Share capital and voting rights 

Share capital 
At 31 December 2013, Naturex's fully paid up share capital stood at €11,764,876.50 for 7,843,251 ordinary shares with 
a par value of €1.50, in light of: 

- The creation of new shares resulting from 101,952 stock options exercised by employees of the Company and 
heirs of Mr. Jacques Dikansky, passed away on 30 September 2012, under all plans. 

- 12,760 new shares created pursuant to approval of the option for payment of stock dividends by the general 
meeting of 26 June 2013. 

For information, at 31 December 2012, the share capital stood at €11,592,808.50 for 7,728,539 ordinary shares (ISIN 
FR0000054694) with a par value of €1.50. 
 
Voting rights 
The voting right attached to ordinary capital or dividend shares is proportional to the share of capital they represent 
and each ordinary share confers a right to at least one vote.  
However, the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of 19 March 2001 decided to allocate a voting right double that 
granted to other ordinary shares, with regards to the proportion of the share capital they represent, to all fully paid-
up shares registered in the name of a single shareholder for at least two years. 
In accordance with Article L.225-124 of the French Commercial Code, shares converted to bearer shares no longer 
benefit from double voting rights, and the same applies to shares resulting from a transfer of share ownership. 
It was also decided that in the event of a capital increase via the incorporation of reserves, earnings or issue 
premiums, dual voting rights will be attached, upon issue, to registered shares allocated free of charge to 
shareholders in exchange for old shares with double voting rights. 
No provisions exist that impose restrictions on voting rights. 
Concerning the new category of preferred shares authorised by the general meeting of 26 June 2013, the shares and 
the rights of their holders are governed by articles L.228-11 et seq. of the French commercial code. For information, 
on the publication date of this document, no preferred shares have been created. The creation of this category of 
shares will depend on bonus shares granted to salaried employees and/or selected executive officers pursuant to the 
authorisation granted to the Board of Directors by the 24th resolution of the combined extraordinary and ordinary 
shareholders' meeting of 26 June 2013.  
It is stipulated that the preferred shares benefit from the same rights as those attached to ordinary shares (rights to 
dividends, subscription rights) but do not carry voting rights at ordinary and extraordinary shareholder meetings while 
however conferring a right to vote at special shareholders' meetings. 
Ordinary shares resulting from the conversion of preferred shares carry double voting rights as long as said shares 
have been registered on the same shareholder's account for at least two years (whether in the form of preferred 
shares or ordinary shares). 
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At 31 December 2013, the gross number of voting rights of Naturex S.A amounted to 8,818,772 which included 
975,521 double voting rights. These voting rights are fully attached to ordinary shares, with no preferred shares 
having been created in the period. 
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� Changes in share capital 

FY Nature of transaction 
Number of 

shares 
issued 

Capital increase Additional paid-in 
capital Par value Number of 

shares 
 

Amount of capital 

20
05

 

Capital increase 414,865 € 622,297.50 € 10,662,030.50 € 1.50 2,579 383 € 3,869,074.50 
Capital increase through 
share subscription 
warrants 

2,743 € 4,114.50 € 93,262 
 € 1.50 2,579,126 € 3,873,189.00 

Capital increase through 
share subscription 
warrants 

79,000 € 118,500.00 € 784,470 
 € 1.50 2,661,126 € 3,991,689.00 

20
06

 

Capital increase through 
share subscription 
warrants 

362 € 543.00 € 12,308.00 € 1.50 2,661,488 € 3,992,232.00 

Capital increase through 
share subscription 
warrants 

30,747 € 45,120.50 € 1,045,398.00 € 1.50 2,692,235 € 4,038,352.50 

Capital increase 266,148 € 399,222.00 € 13,227,555.60 € 1.50 2,958,383 € 4,437,574.50 
Capital increase through 
share subscription 
warrants 

255 € 382.50 € 8,670.00 € 1.50 2,958,638 € 4,437,957.00 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

364 € 546.00 € 4,317.04 € 1.50 2,959,002 € 4,438,503.00 

Capital increase through 
share subscription 
warrants 

229 € 343.50 € 7,786 € 1.50 2,959,231 € 4,438,846.50 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

8,041 € 12,061.50 € 95,366.26 € 1.50 2,967,262 € 4,450,908.00 

20
07

 

Capital increase through 
share subscription 
warrants 

1,453 € 2,179.50 € 49,402.00 € 1.50 2,968,725 € 4,453,087.50 

Capital increase through 
share subscription 
warrants 

18,124 € 27,186.00 € 616,216.00 € 1.50 2,986,849 € 4,480,273.50 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

660 € 990.00 € 4,233.90 € 1.50 2,987,509 € 4,481,263.50 

20
08

 

Capital increase through 
share subscription 
warrants 

7,290 € 10,935.00 € 236,925.00 € 1.50 2,994,799 € 4,492,198.50 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

18,590 € 27,885.00 € 208,579.80 € 1.50 3,013,389 € 4,520,083.50 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

1,590 € 2,385.00 € 18,014.70 € 1.50 3,014,979 € 4,522,765.50 

20
09

 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

198 € 297.00 € 2,221.56 € 1.50 3,015,177 € 4,522,765.50 

Capital increase through 
share subscription 
warrants 

866,863 € 1,300,294.50 € 15,779,318.71 € 1.50 3,882,040 € 5,823,060.00 

Capital increase through 
the issue of ordinary 
shares 

961,557 € 1,442,335.50 € 29,261,703.00 € 1.50 4,843,597 € 7,265,395.50 

Capital increase through 
the issue of preferred 
shares 

1,520,403 € 2,280,604.50 € 46,268,273.00 € 1.50 6,364,000 € 9,546,000.00 
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20
10

 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

         23,192             € 34,788.00 € 603,920.00 € 1.50 6,387,192 € 9,580,788.00 

Capital increase resulting 
from the payment of stock 
dividends 

         23,739             € 35,608.50 € 578,648.00 € 1.50 6,410,931 € 9,616,396.50 

 

FY Nature of transaction 
Number of 

shares 
issued 

Capital increase Additional paid-in 
capital Par value Number of 

shares 
 

Amount of capital 

20
11

 

Capital increase resulting 
from the payment of stock 
dividends 

10,809 € 16,214.00 € 506,503.00 € 1.50 6,421,740 € 9,632,610.00 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription warrants 

1,283,840 € 1,925,760.00 € 45,640,606.00 € 1.50 7,705,580 € 11,558,370.00 

20
12

 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

5,496 € 8,244.00 € 264,632.40 € 1.50 7,711,076 € 11,566,614.00 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

132 € 198.00 € 3,437.28 € 1.50 7,711,208 € 11,566,812.00 

Capital increase resulting 
from the payment of stock 
dividends 

16,871 € 25,306.50 € 637,372.94 € 1.50 7,728,079 € 11,592,118.50 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

460 € 690.00 € 11,164.20 € 1.50 7,728,539 € 11,592,808.50 

20
13

 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

230 € 345.00 € 5,989.20 € 1.50 7,728,769 € 11,593,153.50 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

87,626 € 131,439.00 € 2,558,171.04 € 1.50 7,816,395 € 11,724,592.50 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

6,210 € 9,315.00 € 161,708.40  € 1.50 7,822,605 € 11,733,907.50 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

3,960 € 5,940.00 € 103,118.40 € 1.50 7,826,565 € 11,739,847.50 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

460 € 690.00 € 11,978.40 € 1.50 7,827,025 € 11,740,537.50 

Capital increase resulting 
from the payment of stock 
dividends 

12,760 € 19,140.00 € 649,152.24 € 1.50 7,839,785 € 11,759,677.50 

Capital increase following 
the exercise of share 
subscription options 

3,466 € 5,199.00 € 88,626.24 € 1.50 7,843,251 € 11,764,876.50 

I.2 Unissued authorised capital 

The Combined Shareholders' Meeting of 26 June 2013 granted new authorisations and delegations of authority to the 
Company's Board of Directors with respect to capital increases, replacing and superseding those granted by the 
previous meetings of 27 June 2011 and 8 June 2012. 

The following table provides a summary of current authorisations and delegation of authorities granted by the 
Combined Shareholders’ Meeting of 26 June 2013 to the Board of Directors:  
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� Current authorisations and delegation of authorities, granted by the Combined Shareholders’ 
Meeting of 26 June 2013 to the Board of Directors with respect to capital increases 

Type of authorisation granted AGE date Amount authorised Term of authorisation Use made of the 
authorisation granted 

Issuance of shares and/or marketable 
securities giving access to the 
Company's capital 

26 June 2013 See detail hereinafter according to the 
delegations of authority granted 

26 months 
until 27 August 2015 

 
 

- Delegation of authority to increase 
the capital with pre-emptive 
subscription rights maintained 

26 June 2013 
 

 

€ 7,500,000 
+ nominal amount of the additional 
shares to be issued, where applicable 

26 months 
until 27 August 2015 

None 

- Delegation of authority to increase 
the capital with pre-emptive 
subscription rights revoked for a 
public offering 

26 June 2013 
 

€7,500,000 (limit included under the 
maximum nominal amount of the 
authorisation with pre-emptive 
subscription rights revoked for private 
placement) 

26 months 
until 27 August 2015 

None 

- Delegation of authority to increase 
the capital with no pre-emptive 
subscription rights, via private 
distribution governed by Article 
L.411-2, II of the French Monetary 
and Financial Code 

26 June 2013 
 

€7,500,000 limited to 20% of the share 
capital per year (amount included 
under the maximum nominal amount 
of the authorisation with pre-emptive 
subscription rights revoked for a public 
offering) 
 

26 months 
until 27 August 2015 

None 

- Authorisation to increase the share 
capital in payment of contributions 
in kind of shares or marketable 
securities 

26 June 2013 
 

Limited to 10% of the share capital 
(limit independent of any other 
maximum amount provided for in 
terms of authority to increase the 
capital) 

26 months 
until 27 August 2015 

None 

- Delegation of authority to increase 
the share capital through the 
capitalisation of reserves, earnings 
or premiums 

26 June 2013 €40,000,000 (limits independent of any 
other maximum amounts provided for 
under other authorisations) 

26 months 
until 27 August 2015 

None 

- Authorisation to increase the 
capital through the issuance of 
convertible securities (Bons 
d’émission d’actions or BEAs) 

26 June 2013 
 

Maximum amount of the capital 
increase: € 1,125,000 
Maximum number of BEA convertible 
securities to be issued: 750,000  

18 months 
until 27 December 

2014 

None 

- Authorisation to increase the 
number of securities to be issued 
in the event of excess demand 

26 June 2013 
 

15% of the initial issue 26 months 
until 27 August 2015 

None 

Authorisation to increase the share 
capital by issuing shares reserved for 
members of a Company Savings Plan 

26 June 2013 Up to 3% of the share capital on the 
day of the Board of Directors’ decision 

26 months 
until 27 August 2015 

None 

Authorisation granted for the purposes 
of cancelling shares purchased by the 
Company according to the provision of 
Article L.225-209 of the French 
Commercial Code 

26 June 2013 Up to 10% of the share capital, on one 
or more occasions, per 24-month 
period 

24 months 
until 27 June 2015 

None 

Authorisation granted for the purposes 
of allocating Company share 
subscription and/or purchase options 
for employees and/or company officers 

26 June 2013 Up to 3% of the share capital 
(combined ceiling with the 
authorisation to grant Company shares 
free of charge (bonus shares) 

38 months 
until 27 August 2016 

A nominal amount of 
€69,375 or 0.6% of the 

share capital 

Authorisation granted for the purposes 
of allocating existing shares or new 
shares free of charge (bonus shares) to 
employees and/or company officers 

26 June 2013 Up to 3% of the share capital 
(combined ceiling with the 
authorisation to allocate share 
subscription and/or purchase options) 

38 months 
until 27 August 2016 

None 

Authorisation granted for the purposes 
of allocating preferred shares to 
selected employees and/or company 
officers 

26 June 2013 Up to 3% of the share capital 
(combined ceiling with the 
authorisations to allocate share 
subscription and/or purchase options 
and bonus shares) 

18 months 
until 27 December 

2014 

None 
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I.3 Non-equity securities 

No non-equity securities exist. 

II. Analysis of capital and voting rights 

II.1 Changes in the shareholder structure 

The following table presents the breakdown of share capital and voting rights of Naturex S.A at 31 December 2013 as 
compared with the prior two financial periods: 

 31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011 

 Number of 
shares 

% of 
capital 

% of voting 
rights 

Number of 
shares 

% of 
capital 

% of voting 
rights 

Number of 
shares 

% of 
capital 

% of voting 
rights 

          

 Naturex S.A (1) 7,291 0.09% - 2,357 0.03% - 4,660 0.06% - 

SGD (2) 1,651,735 21.06% 28.13% 1,624,768 21.02% 27.50% 1,605,115 20.83% 24.60% 

Finasucre 25,048 0.32% 0.28% - - - - - - 

Dikansky family* - - - 13,218 0.17% 0.28% 13,190 0.17% 0.20% 

Concert parties(3) 1,676,783 21.38% 28.42% 1,637,986 21.19% 27.78% 1,618,305 21.00% 24.80% 

Thierry Lambert 5,617 0.07% 0.08% 1,111 0.01% 0.02% 1,024 0.01% 0.02% 

Stéphane Ducroux 848 0.01% 0.02% 4,845 0.06% 0.10% 4,837 0.06% 0.11% 

Executive shareholders 6,465 0.08% 0.09% 5,956 0.08% 0.12% 5,861 0.08% 0.13% 

Caravelle (4) 1,188,402 15.15% 13.48% 1,186,137 15.35% 13.59% - - - 

Natra Group - - - - - - 1,595,002 20.70% 3.18% 

Free float 4,964,310 63.29% 58.01% 4,896,103 63.35% 58.51% 4,481,752 58.16% 71.89% 
          

Total shareholdings 7,843,251 100% 100% 7,728,539 100% 100% 7,705,580 100% 100% 

(1) Naturex S.A holds treasury shares within the framework of the liquidity agreement concluded with Natixis that was terminated on 28 June 2013 and transferred to 
Exane BNP Paribas between 13 and 16 August 2013.  

(2) SGD's capital is 98.79%-held by Finasucre following the acquisition of the holdings of Mr. Jacques Dikansky's heirs in SGD on 22 February 2013. 
 
(3) An action in concert exists between SGD, Naturex's lead shareholder and Finasucre in light of the existence of common executive officers for these two entities, Paul 

Lippens and Olivier Lippens, also directors of the Company. 
 

Jacques Dikansky, SGD and the Natra Group jointly held shares (action in concert) within the framework of a shareholders' agreement concluded on 30 December 
2009. The shareholders agreement with Natra Group and the action in concert ended on 28 October 2011 pursuant to crossing below the 5% voting right threshold. 
On 22 February 2013, after the Dikansky family sold its shareholdings in SGD to Finasucre, SGD and the Dikansky family ceased to have common interests. On that 
basis, the shareholders agreement and action in concert became null and void. 

(4) Caravelle Group acquired Natraceutical's shareholdings in Naturex on 5 December 2012 (Natra Group). Hélène Martel-Massignac, Chair and Chief Executive Officer 
of Caravelle, is also a director of the Company. 

* Pursuant to the death of Mr. Jacques Dikansky on 30 September 2012, his direct shareholdings in Naturex were accordingly transferred to his estate. As there exist no 
relationship between the Company and the heirs of Mr. Jacques Dikansky, their holdings of securities are no longer carried over*** to 2013. 

(Source: Naturex and Société Générale Securities Service – 31 December 2013) 
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Capital structure 

Following Jacques Dikansky's passing and, in keeping with the spirit of the agreement concluded when Finasucre 
Group first became a SGD shareholder, Jacques Dikansky's children sold their entire holdings in SGD on 22 February 
2013. On completion of this transaction, the Finasucre Group held 98.79% of SGD's share capital with the balance held 
by selected members of Naturex's Executive Committee. The acquisition of this share by the Finasucre Group remains 
consistent with its initial investment in SGD, and confirms its objective of maintaining its long-term commitment in 
Naturex for the implementation of its development strategy. 

It is noted that Caravelle became a shareholder of Naturex as from 5 December 2012 pursuant to the disposal of 
holdings in Natraceutical (Natra Group). 

These two shareholders of quality with a strong industrial focus have confirmed their long-term commitment to 
support Naturex's projects for development. 

Trading in own shares by executives and parties mentioned in Article L.621-18-2 of the French 
Monetary and Financial Code 

In accordance with Articles L.621-18-2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code and Article 222-15-3 of the AMF’s 
General Regulations amended by decree on 9 March 2006 published in the Journal Officiel (French publication for 
legal notices) on 21 March 2006, transactions in the Company's shares on the filing date of this document are 
reported below. 

- Stéphane Ducroux has reported selling off-market 2,000 Naturex shares at a unit price of €61.0385 on 2 April 
2013 in favour of SGD; 

- SGD, in addition to this off-market acquisition of 2,000 Naturex shares for a per share price of €61.0385, acquired 
21,819 Naturex shares for €56.7595 per share on NYSE Euronext Paris between 3 and 9 April 2013. 

These transactions were reported to the AMF as required by statute and regulations (Article L.621-18-2 of the French 
Monetary and Financial Code).  

Actions in concert 

There exists an action in concert between SGD, Naturex's lead shareholder and Finasucre in light of the existence of 
common executive officers for these two entities, Paul and Olivier Lippens, also directors of the Company. 

Employee share ownership 

On the filing date of this document, there were no employee incentive or profit-sharing plans as defined by Article 
L.225-102 of the French Commercial Code. 
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II.2 Crossing of ownership thresholds 

Thresholds fixed by the articles of association 

In its articles of association, the Company has not set any obligation to declare crossing above or below a capital or 
voting rights threshold, other than the legal thresholds. 

Legal thresholds 

Any natural person or legal entity acting alone or in concert who ends up holding the number of shares or voting rights 
exceeding the thresholds provided by current regulations (Article L.233-7 of the French Commercial Code) must 
comply with the disclosure obligations provided by these regulations. The same information must be disclosed when 
the stake in the capital or voting rights crosses below the thresholds provided by current regulations. 

The crossing of the following thresholds were reported to AMF (Autorité des Marchés Financiers) in 2013: 

AMF 213C0016 declaration of 4 January 2013 
- By letter received on 2 January 2013, and supplemented by a letter received on 4 January 2013, SGD, the 

partnership limited by shares (société en commandite par actions, "SCA"), reported having crossed above on 28 
December 2012, the 25% threshold of voting rights of the Company, and to hold on that date 1,624,768 shares 
representing 2,400,359 voting rights, or 21.02% of the share capital and 27.53% of the voting rights of this 
company on the same date. In its declaration of intent, SGD declared that the crossing of this threshold relates to 
the acquisition of double voting rights on 775,591 shares. 

 
AMF 213C0289 declaration of 28 February 2013 
- By letter received on 28 February 2013, the Belgian-law company, Finasucre, reported having indirectly crossed 

through SGD above the thresholds on 22 February 2013, of 5%, 10% and 20% of the share capital and voting rights 
and 25% of the voting rights of Naturex, and to indirectly hold 1,624,768 Naturex shares representing 2,400,359 
voting rights, or 21.02% of the share capital and 27.49% of the voting rights of the Company. This threshold was 
crossed pursuant to acquisition of a controlling interest by Finasucre in SGD, resulting from the acquisition of 22 
February 2013, of all shares of JDK SARL, the sole limited partner (associé commandité unique) of SGD, as well as 
463,841 SGD shares giving it, with the 717,711 shares already held, 98.79% of the share capital of SGD.  
 

AMF 213C1184 declaration of 6 August 2013 
- By letter received on 5 August 2013, CM-CIC Investissement reported having crossed below on 1 August 2013 the 

5% threshold of voting rights of the Company, and to hold on that date 240,000 shares representing 436,574 
voting rights or 3.07% of the share capital and 4.95% of the voting rights of this company. The crossing of this 
threshold resulted from the disposal of Naturex shares on the market. 

 
On the filing date of this document, the Company had no knowledge of the crossing of other thresholds.  

II.3 Treasury shares 

Own shares held directly by the Company 

On 31 December 2013, Naturex directly held 7,291 of its own shares representing 0.09% of the share capital. These 
shares do not carry voting rights or an entitlement to the distribution of dividends or redemption of additional paid-in 
capital. 
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On 28 June 2013, the Company terminated its liquidity agreement with Natixis that was thereupon entrusted to Exane 
BNP Paribas. The assets of the liquidity agreement were transferred in two tranches between 13 and 16 August 2013, 
the effective date for the commencement of the liquidity agreement with the new service provider. 

Own shares indirectly held through subsidiaries 

No shares of the Company are indirectly held through subsidiaries. 

Description of the share buyback programme approved at the Shareholders' meeting of 26 June 
2013 
This information is also provided in the 2013 interim financial report. 

The Shareholders’ Meeting of 26 June 2013 authorised the Company, in its 10th ordinary resolution, to buy and sell 
treasury shares within the following limits: 

- Maximum share of capital authorised: 10% of the number of shares comprising the share capital, with this 
number adjusted as required to take into account any operations to reduce or increase the capital that 
could take place during the duration of the programme ; 

- Maximum amount allocated to the programme: € 78,213,550.00; 
- Maximum purchase price per share: € 100.00 
 
In the event of an equity transaction, especially a split or consolidation of shares or the allocation of free shares, the 
aforementioned amount shall be adjusted according to the same proportions (multiplier equal to the ratio between 
the number of shares comprising the share capital before the operation and the number of shares after the 
transaction). 
 
The objectives of the Company's share buyback programme, as authorised by the Shareholders' Meeting of 26 June 
2013, are as follows: 
- Support the secondary market and the Naturex share’s liquidity through an investment services provider via a 

liquidity contract in accordance with the code of professional conduct of the French Association of Investment 
Firms (Association Française des Marchés Financiers or AMAFI) recognised by the AMF; 

- Hold the shares thus purchased for subsequent use in exchange or as payment for any acquisitions, with the 
proviso that the shares acquired for this purpose cannot exceed 5% of the Company's capital; 

- Set aside shares to cover share purchase option plans and other forms of share grants to employees and/or 
Company officers of the Group under the conditions and according to the methods provided for by law, especially 
with respect to profit sharing, a company savings plan or the allocation of bonus shares; 

- Set aside shares for the requirements of securities conferring entitlement to grants of Company shares within the 
framework of the current regulation; 

- Cancel any shares acquired, subject to authorisation by this Shareholders' Meeting under the 9th extraordinary 
resolution. 

 
These share purchases can be made by any means, including through the acquisition of blocks of shares and at periods 
the Board of Directors deems fit. 

The Company reserves the right to use optional mechanisms or derivatives within the framework of the applicable 
regulations.  

The Shareholders’ Meeting granted the Board of Directors full authority to carry out these operations, set their 
conditions and the methods, conclude any agreements and carry out any formalities.  
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This authorisation was granted for 18 months starting from the shareholders’ meeting of 26 June 2013. This 
authorisation cancels the authorisation granted to the Board of Directors by the Combined Shareholders’ Meeting of 8 
June 2012. 
 
During the previous share buyback program, the Company did not use any derivative products and to date does not 
hold any open positions on derivative products. The Company also did not use its authorisation to cancel any shares 
held. 
 
On the publication date of this document, the Company had not used this new authorisation. 

Report on the liquidity contract 

The authorisation to carry out this share buyback programme has been entrusted since June 2009 until 13 August 
2013 to Natixis acting up to this date as an investment services provider (underwriter) to purchase shares for and in 
the name of the Company, in compliance with Articles 5 and 6 of the European Commission Regulation 2273/2003 of 
22 December 2003, and in accordance with the code of professional conduct of the AMAFI (Assocation Française des 
Marchés Financiers), the French Association of securities industry and financial markets financial market (ex-AFEI) as 
recognised by the AMF. 
 
On 28 June 2013, the Company terminated its liquidity agreement with Natixis that was thereupon entrusted to Exane 
BNP Paribas. 
 
As from 13 August 2013 and for a period running to 31 December 2013 and subject to tacit renewal, Naturex selected 
Exane BNP Paribas to provide market-making services through a liquidity contract in accordance with the code of 
professional conduct of the French securities industry and financial markets association, AMAFI (Assocation Française 
des Marchés Financiers). 
 
The liquidity agreement assets were transferred in two tranches between 13 and 16 August 2013 according to the 
balances for shares and cash presented below: 
- 7,154 Naturex shares 
- € 346,979.00 
This information was published on 30 August 2013 in the 2013 interim financial report. 
 
On the close-out date of 31 December 2013, amounts included under the balances of the liquidity contract entrusted 
to Exane BNP Paribas were as follows: 
- 8,642 Naturex shares 
- € 269,721.00  

 
The Company files the monthly declarations with the AMF concerning the purchases and sales of shares within the 
framework of the liquidity contract, distributes reports every six months on the liquidity contract and publishes them 
on its website. 
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III. Potential capital 

III.1 OCEANE convertible bond issue 

Making use of the delegation of authority granted to it by the general meeting of 27 June 2011 (13th resolution), on 19 
November 2012 Naturex's Board of Directors approved the principle of the issue of bonds convertible and/or 
exchangeable into new or existing shares (OCEANE) having a maturity date of 30 June 2019, entailing the cancellation 
of shareholders' pre-emptive subscription rights, by way of a private placement with qualified investors within the 
meaning of Article D.411-1 of the French Monetary and Financial Code (Code Monétaire et Financier). The bond issue 
was decided under the authority in turn delegated by the Board of Directors to the Chair-CEO by his decision of 16 
January 2013. 

The nominal value of this issue amounted to €18 million divided by 257,143 OCEANE convertible bonds of €70 at par 
per bond, with issue premium of 21.95% in relation to Naturex's closing price in the regulated market of NYSE 
Euronext Paris for the trading session of 15 January 2013 and 21.69% in relation to the average closing price for the 20 
trading sessions in this market preceding the issue date. 
This OCEANE bond issue was subject to a single delivery-versus-payment on 22 January 2013 and admitted for trading 
on the Euro MTF of Luxembourg Stock exchange under the ISIN code FR0011395672. 

Net proceeds from the issue amounted to approximately €17.6 million. 

This bond issue, coordinated by CM-CIC Securities acting as the lead manager and bookrunner, was carried out 
through a private placement with investors who demonstrated considerable interest in supporting Naturex's next 
phase of expansion. Accordingly, France's Strategic Investment Fund (Fonds stratégique d’Investissement or FSI) 
subscribed for €12 million of this issue and Salvepar (Tikehau Capital Group) for €6 million. Their participation 
underscores a long-term commitment to and significant investment capacity to pursue Naturex's future projects. 

The OCEANE convertible bonds have carried a coupon of 4.40% per annum since their issue date, payable in arrears on 
22 January of each year, and be redeemable at par on 30 June 2019. They will also carry a right to an allotment for 
new and/or existing Naturex shares at a rate of one share per OCEANE bond subject to possible subsequent 
adjustments. A maximum number of 257,1431new shares may be issued from the conversion of OCEANE bonds 
representing a maximum rate of dilution of 3.33% based on the number of shares comprising the share capital on the 
transaction date. 

The OCEANE bonds may also be redeemed in advance at the choice of Naturex under certain conditions. 

Applications for the admission of the new shares for trading on NYSE Euronext Paris will be submitted on a periodic 
basis and the shares will be immediately fungible with existing Naturex shares under the same ISIN code 
FR0000054694. Existing shares remitted pursuant to the exercise of rights for the allotment of shares will immediately 
be eligible for trading on the stock exchange. 
The issue was carried out by way of a private placement with qualified investors within the meaning of Article D. 411-1 
of said Code. In consequence, a prospectus subject to approval by the French financial market authority (Autorité des 
Marchés Financiers or AMF) was not produced for this issue. 

The information memorandum drawn up on 16 January 2013 for admission on the Luxembourg Euro MTF market of 
the OCEANE (Obligations à Option de Conversion ou d’Echange en Actions Nouvelles ou Existantes) convertible bond 
issue is available at Naturex's website. It is furthermore noted that the risk factors relating to the OCEANE bond issue 

                                                           
1 Excluding assumptions with respect to possible adjustments to the basis of conversion. 
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are presented therein in section 2.2 and refer to the 2011 registration document and the 2012 interim financial report 
with respect to risks relating to the Company and its businesses. 

 

III.2 Stock option grants 

The Combined Shareholders' Meeting of 26 June 2013 authorised the Board of Directors, pursuant to Articles L. 225-
177 to L. 255-185 of the French commercial code, to grant, on one or more occasions, options to subscribe for new 
shares or purchase existing shares of the Company, for the benefit of salaried employees or selected employees 
thereof and/or officers, as governed by Article L. 225-185 of the French commercial code, of the Company or 
companies directly or indirectly related to it within the meaning of Article L. 225-180 of the French commercial code. 
The shareholders’ meeting decided that the total number of options that will be opened cannot confer the right to 
subscribe to or purchase a number of shares representing more than 3% of the existing share capital on the day of the 
first allocation. 

The Board of Directors shall determine the subscription price for new shares or the purchase price for existing shares, 
on the day the options are allocated, which may not be less than the minimum price established by the applicable 
existing regulations. 

The Combined Shareholders' Meeting of 26 June 2013 duly noted that no option can be granted (i) during a period of 
ten trading days preceding and following the date on which the annual consolidated financial statements are made 
public, (ii) during the period between the date when the Company becomes aware of information which, if made 
public, could have a significant impact on the Company’s share price, and the ten trading days after this information is 
made public and (iii) less than twenty trading days after detaching a coupon giving the right to dividends or to an 
increase in capital. 

This authorisation is valid for a period of 38 months starting on 26 June 2013*** and replaces and cancels the 
previous authorisation granted by the Combined Shareholders' meeting of 8 June 2012. 
 
On 4 December 2013, the Board of Directors made use of this authorisation in connection with the establishment of a 
new plan for stock options giving rights to new shares of the Company to be issued through a capital increase for a 
total nominal amount of €69,375, corresponding to 46,250 new shares with a par value of one €1.50 per share. 
 
At 31 December 2013, in light of the options that have expired in the different plans in effect, the maximum dilution 
resulting from the various share subscription plans would be 2.54%. 
 

 
  



Chapter 4 

Share capital and shareholder structure 

2013 Registration Document   127 

� Stock option plan highlights  
(Table 8- AMF recommendation of 22 December 2008) 

Highlights of stock option plans in effect on 31 December 2013 implemented by the Board of Directors pursuant to 
decisions by Shareholders’ Meetings of 30 June 2007, 30 June 2008, 30 June 2009, 30 June 2010, 8 June 2012 and 26 
June 2013 are presented below: 
 

 Plan 11* Plan 12 Plan 13 Plan 14 Plan 15 Plan 16 

Board of Directors grant date 25/03/2008 13/03/2009 26/04/2010 15/04/2011 19/11/2012 04/12/2013 

Date of the Shareholders Meeting
authorising the grants 30/06/2007 30/06/2008 30/06/2009 30/06/2010 08/06/2012 26/06/2013 

Strike price (€) 27.54 24.00 30.12 45.33 57.00 65.00 

Exercise 
commencement date 26/03/2011 14/03/2012 27/04/2013 16/04/2014 20/11/2015 05/12/2016 

Expiry date 25/03/2014 13/03/2015 26/04/2015 15/04/2016 19/11/2017 04/12/2018 

Total number 
of options granted 47,362 53,650 52,150 57,094 64,480 46,250 

Of which to the top 10 employee beneficiaries 5,600 10,500 12,200 12,000 16,100 17,600 

Of which by corporate officers  33,000 33,000 26,000 26,000 14,000 14,000 

Jacques Dikansky** 25,000 25,000 18,000 18,000 - - 

Thierry Lambert 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 8,000 8,000 

Stéphane Ducroux 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 6,000 6,000 

Total number of beneficiaries 59 64 78 195 277 58 

Of which by corporate officers 3 3 3 3 2 2 

Number of expired options  4,842 3,438 5,050 4,503 1,728 - 

Number of options 
subscribed 40,124 26,190 18,230 18,000 - - 

Of which by corporate officers 33,000 25,000 18,000 18,000 - - 

Number of outstanding 
options 2,396 24,022 28,870 34,591 62,752 46,250 

* On the filing date of this document, plan 11 established on 25 March 2018 had expired. Between 31 December and the expiration date of this plan, all options still 
outstanding have been exercised.  

** Pursuant to the passing of Mr. Jacques Dikansky on 30 September 2012, his heirs exercised stock options on 30 March 2013 for all plans under of which he was a 
beneficiary, as required by the law and plan regulations. 
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� Options granted to corporate officers and to the top 10 employee beneficiaries who are not 
corporate officers in the period  
(Table 9 - AMF recommendation on executive compensation information to be disclosed in registration documents – 22 
December 2008) 

Stock options granted to and exercised by officers    Total number of options 
granted/shares 

subscribed 

Price 

(€) 

Plan Expiry date 

Options granted in 2013 to corporate officers by the issuer and by any 
company of the Group 

   
14,000 65.00 16 04/12/2018 

Options exercise in 2013 by corporate officers of the issuer and by any 
company of the Group 

   33,000 27.54 11 25/03/2014 

   25,000 24.00 12 13/03/2015 

   18,000 30.12 13 26/04/2015 

   18,000 45.33 14 15/04/2016 

        

Options to subscribe for or purchase shares granted to and exercised 
by the top ten non-corporate officer employee beneficiaries 

   Total number of options 
granted/shares 

subscribed 

Average 
weighted 
price (€) 

Plan Expiry date 

Options granted in 2013 by the issuer and by any company included 
within the option grant's scope, to the ten employee beneficiaries of 
the issuer and of any company included within this scope to whom the 
most options were granted  

   

17,600 65.00 16 04/12/2018 

Options held on the issuer and the aforementioned companies 
exercised in 2013, by the ten employee beneficiaries of the issuer and 
of these companies, who had subscribed to the most options  

   
4,130 27.54 11 25/03/2014 

   
500 24.00 12 13/03/2015 
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IV. Shareholder information 

Naturex has been listed since October 1996 on NYSE Euronext in Paris, Segment B 
 
Number of shares comprising the capital on the filing date of this document:  

� 7,852,055 ordinary shares (ISIN FR0000054694) 
 
 
NATUREX is a component of the CAC Small and Gaïa indexes. 

Naturex is eligible for the "long only" Deferred Settlement Service (SRD). 

In December 2011, Naturex implemented a level 1 sponsored American Depositary Receipt (ADR) programme. 
Naturex’ ADRs are traded over-the-counter in the United States under the symbol NTUXY. 

SYMBOL: NRX - Reuters: NATU.PA - Bloomberg: NRX:FP - DR Symbol: NTUXY 

� Share price and trading activity trends 

 Price (in €) Trading volume 
(in number of shares) 

Trading volume 
(in € millions) 

 Average 
closing price 

High Low Per month Per trading 
session 

Monthly total 

FY 2012 50.24 58.9 42.50 163,987 7,809 8.31 

January 2013 58.089 59.980 56.550 107,683 4,895 6.27 

February 2013 60.794 62.190 58.780 117,542 5,877 7.17 

March 2013 61.039 62.940 58.500 162,271 8,114 9.86 

April 2013 56.599 59.750 54.610 308,185 14,675 17.58 

May 2013 58.405 60.290 56.150 163,759 7,444 9.55 

June 2013 58.008 59.600 55.400 122,260 6,113 7.11 

July 2013 56.657 58.650 55.200 135,144 5,876 7.69 

August 2013 58.504 59.500 57.000 166,675 7,576 9.69 

September 2013 58.933 62.090 56.300 177,444 8,450 10.45 

October 2013 59.377 62.150 56.840 166,219 7,227 9.87 

November 2013 58.836 61.000 57.500 108,639 5,173 6.37 

December 2013 58.056 60.170 55.610 156,319 7,816 9.06 

FY 2013 58.582 62.940 54.610 157,678 7,436 9.22 

 Source: NYSE Euronext Paris (monthly information, trading ranges and averages for the period) 

 
Average monthly trading volume in 2013 amounted to 157,678 shares or capital of €9.22 million, with an average 
closing price of €58.582 per share. 

At 31 December 2013 (last trading session of the month), the closing price of the Naturex share was €€58.29 for a 
trading volume of 2,149 shares traded par session, representing capital of €125,450.79. The market capitalisation on 
this date was €457.2 million based on 7,843,251 ordinary shares making up the share capital. 
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� Securities services 

Securities services for registered shares recorded directly in the Company's share register (nominatif pur) are assured 
by: 

Societe Generale Securities Services (SGSS) 
Service Nominatif Clientèle Emetteurs 
B.P. 81236 
44312 Nantes Cedex 3 - France 

� Management of the liquidity contract 

The management of the liquidity agreement has been assured by Exane BNP Paribas since 13 August 2013. Previously, 
this service was provided by Natixis Corporate Broking. 

� Analyst coverage 

Berenberg Bank, CM-CIC Securities, Davy Research, Exane BNP Paribas, ID Midcaps, Kepler-Cheuvreux, Natixis, 
Portzamparc, Societe Generale. 

� 2013 financial information schedule 
 

Financial information Dates 

Q1 2014 revenue: 28 April 2014 

Q1 2014 results: 26 May 2014 

2014 H1 sales 25 July 2014 

2014 first-half results 29 August 2014 

2014 third-quarter sales 4 November 2014 

2014 third-quarter results 28 November 2014 

Revenue – FY 2014 3 February 2015 

Results – FY 2014 31 March 2015 

Press releases are issued at the end of the trading day. 

� Information for individual and institutional shareholders 

Since it was listed on the stock market, Naturex has sought to foster a relationship of trust with shareholders, whether 
individuals or institutions, based on dialogue and transparency. 

Naturex is committed to directly providing shareholders with information over the long-term on its activity, strategy, 
growth prospects. 

To this purpose, all of the published financial information (press releases, registration document, financial 
presentations, etc.) is made available through its website www.naturex.com in French and English. 

Registration document 
Available in French and in English, this document can be downloaded from the Naturex website. A printed version 
can also be obtained free of charge by contacting the Company. 

Shareholders' Newsletter 
Published at least twice a year, it is available on the website and is sent to identified shareholders by Naturex. 
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Committed to maintaining ongoing dialogue with its individual and institutional shareholders, Naturex participates in 
many events and meetings throughout the year: 

Information meetings and site visits 
Two SFAF (French Society of Financial Analysts) meetings are organised every year when the half-year and annual 
results are presented to the financial community (investors, analysts and financial press). 
Naturex also organises visits to production sites in France at its Avignon site and in Europe. 
 
Meetings with investors 
Naturex participates in many investor meetings in the form of one-to-one meetings, sector-focused conferences 
and road shows, in France and abroad (London, Frankfurt, Brussels, Amsterdam, Geneva and the United States). 

The Actionaria Trade Show 
The year's key investor relations event, Naturex has participated in the Actionaria Trade Show in Paris since it was 
created. This event provides an opportunity to meet with and speak directly to individual shareholders. 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS FOR 2013 
A year of transition and reorganisation 

I. Comments on the 2013 consolidated financial statements 

I.1 Annual operating highlights 

In 2013, despite a difficult macroeconomic environment, Naturex was successful in delivering results largely 
satisfactory while pursuing efforts in restructuring managerial and operational organisations that are necessary for its 
development and completing projects generating value for the future 

Solid foundations for ongoing development 

Continuing Group reorganisation – Organisational changes involving operational departments and support functions 
and the changes related to modernising the management approach, launched in 2012 continued in 2013 to further 
strengthen the organisation of teams within each department and consolidate the structural foundations necessary to 
address evolving trends of our markets and undertake new projects with confidence. 
 
The latest achievements for the year under review related to this reorganisation concerned measures to strengthen 
the different operating divisions starting with the creation of the position for Chief Operating Officer tasked with 
coordinating for sales, purchasing and manufacturing operations and the supply chain division steering committee, 
through a cross-functional approach involving all operating divisions. 

Optimisation of the marketing and commercial approach – The rapid development of the sales network in more than 
20 countries over the recent years has made it necessary to put into place a commercial segmentation and create 
functions for key account managers, in order to better anticipate market trends and adopt more marketing and 
commercial approaches aligned with our customers' needs.  
 
The Group's driving force and decisive advantage, the sales network will profit from marketing and commercial 
measures implemented (segmentation, training programmes covering special topics, CRM tool, digital marketing and 
electronic media) to generate returns from operations, particularly those created in emerging countries, and allow us 
to strengthen our positions in different markets at a profitable and sustainable basis. In this way, as part of the 
regional adaptation of our offering and to strengthen our local positions, three sales offices were opened in the 
United States in December 2013 in Chicago (Illinois), Dallas (Texas) and Atlanta (Georgia). 

Convertible bond issue – In January 2013, Naturex launched an €18 million OCEANE convertible bond issue (257,143 
bonds with a par value of €70 each maturing on 30 June 2019). This issue provided an additional capital injection for 
new external growth opportunities while offering considerable flexibility and multiple advantages for the 
implementation of new investment projects supplementing existing funding resources. France's Strategic Investment 
Fund (Fonds stratégique d’Investissement or FSI) subscribed for €12 million of this issue and Salvepar (Tikehau Capital 
Group) for €6 million. Their participation underscores a long-term commitment and significant investment capacity to 
support Naturex's future projects. 
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Changes in Group structure to support strategic projects 

Changes in Naturex's Group structure including strategic holdings are presented below: 

Valencia site: Securing the industrial base and increased production capacity – At the end of July 2013 Naturex 
finalised the acquisition of the land and buildings of the production plant in Valencia (Spain), that Naturex had been 
renting since acquiring the Ingredients Division from Natraceutical. 
In accordance with the preliminary terms of the agreement concluded in November 2011, Naturex acquired 
Natraceutical Industrial SL (renamed Naturex Industrial SL), including the property assets consisting mainly of land and 
buildings at the Valencia site. 
The amount of this acquisition was €8.5 million payable on 30 June 2017. 
The interest for the Group of such acquisition consists in the opportunity of transforming the Valencia site into an 
extraction development hub for Europe in light of its significant size and possibilities for extensions, notably within 
buildings not fully occupied to date. Strengthening the extraction activity at this site is also planned. 
 
Joint venture with AKER BioMarine: A promising partnership for sharing expertise – In February 2013, Naturex 
announced the creation of a joint venture with Aker BioMarine, the Norwegian-based world leader in krill1 
harvesting and specialised in the development, production and commercialisation of Omega-3 rich krill oil-
based products. This joint venture, named Aker BioMarine Manufacturing LLC, whose production site has been 
established in Houston, Texas (US) for krill extraction commencing in June 2014, supplementing the services provided 
by Naturex for Aker BioMarine through the Valencia site (Spain). 

In effect, Naturex has been a provider of krill extraction services for the Norwegian leader for a number of years. Krill 
oil derived from this extraction process constitutes an excellent source of Omega-3 from which Aker BioMarine 
develops, produces and markets products destined for nutraceutical and pharmaceutical industries.  

This involves a new collaborative approach for Naturex allowing it to pursue its partnership with Aker BioMarine who 
wishes to increase its production of krill oil to meet growing worldwide demand for Omega-3 rich krill oil-based 
products, while continuing to benefit from Naturex's technical expertise. 

DBS, Decas Botanical Synergies (renamed Naturex DBS): Scientific expertise and a portfolio of high-value added 
products – Naturex acquired this company on 19 September 2012, consolidated from that date by the Group. 2013 
was the first full year post-consolidation period for this business in the Group. 

The completion of this acquisition provided Naturex with the opportunity to expand its range to very high quality 
natural ingredients with strong scientific potential (health claims, clinical trials, etc.) and also to strengthen its 
leadership in the segment of natural ingredients for the nutraceutical industry. The weight of this company in the 
Group's revenue mix for 2013 (first full reporting period for business operations since consolidation by the Group) 
highlights the success of the positioning within the NatLife™ range of DBS's flagship product, Pacran®, a clinically 
supported urinary tract health claim substantiated cranberry extract. Following this acquisition, Naturex took over 
direct distribution in Europe previously assured by an independent distributor. The strong involvement of the DBS 
existing managers, stakeholders in Naturex DBS's capital, also positively contributed to the rapid integration of the 
company within the Group and the favourable positioning of cranberry extracts within the NatLife™ range of Group's 
Nutrition & Health division. 

                                                                 
1 Euphausia superba, a small translucent rose-colored species of krill living in enormous swarms represents the base of the Arctic 
Ocean's ecosystem and the primary source of food for whales, seals and penguins. 
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The strategic interest of this accretive acquisition is to rapidly establish a positioning as a specialist in high quality 
plants and fruit extracts originating from North America and an ability to replicate the cranberry model for other local 
specialities. 
 
VALENTINE, extension of the Roha manufacturing site (India) – The integration of the Indian company Valentine 
acquired in April 2012 has gone well. Building from this small structure, Naturex has invested in its manufacturing 
base to develop both locally in the Indian market and in the larger Asian region by installing drying facilities at the 
Roha plant representing a €6 million investment over three years, with the following objectives: 
- Supporting our customers in this region in connection with new projects, and in particular developing the baby 

food market; 
- Reinforcing our positioning in Asia; 
- Reaping the benefits from the long-term growth potential both in the local market but also at the regional level; 
- And increasing our know-how in a country with rich sourcing potential and opportunities. 
 
Majority stake in Chile Botanics, a Chilean company specialised in Quillaja extracts: Reinforcing our positioning in 
Latin America and securing sourcing channels - In January 2014, Naturex announced the acquisition of a majority 
stake in Chile Botanics2, a young Chilean company specialised in the production and sale of Quillaja extracts. This new 
investment for approximately US$3 million fits the Group's strategy of pursuing selective external growth 
opportunities using a collaborative approach, when applicable, to its equity positions. This strategy allows it to 
address the principal market trend related challenges: access to differentiating or complementary raw materials, 
penetrating or strengthening local positions in geographical markets with strong potential, developing an offering 
combining quality, innovation and sustainability. 

Chile Botanics represents in this respect a particularly interesting company, providing both an additional base in Latin 
America where Naturex is already present (Brazil and Mexico), access to very specific resources (Quillaja) and a solid 
positioning as a specialist supported by strong local management. Furthermore, significant commercial and scientific 
synergies may be achieved with this company in connection with measures undertaken to generate value from 
Quillaja extracts in a manner that respects Naturex's sustainable development approach. Located near the country's 
most prolific natural Quillaja forests, Chile Botanics has developed Quillaja sourcing providing for sustained harvesting 
of the wood and branches, with the agreement of the Chilean government and in accordance with environmental 
standards of the Chilean government forest agency (CONAF – Corporación Nacional Forestal). 
The extraction process developed by the two founding managers of Chile Cotanics makes it possible to obtain Quillaja 
extract with different levels of purity and address different markets as effectively as possible according to the final 
applications in the: 

- food industry as a foaming agent, mainly in beverages and as a natural emulsifier and substitute of or 
synthetic emulsifiers or surfactants; 

- cosmetics industry as a surfactant for balms and creams 
and as a foaming agent for emulsifiers and shampoos; 

- pharmaceutical industry as adjuvants for vaccines; 
- agricultural sector as adjuvants for natural herbicides. 

 
- Launch of new products – Ongoing R&D efforts resulted in the launch of two new products of the NatLife™ range, 

a cranberry extract to reduce the frequency of urinary infections linked to the prostatitis (Flowens™) and an ash 
tree extract that improves blood sugar control (Glucevia™). Also, the Personal Care division has launched NAT 
oleis™ a complete new range of botanical oils selected from around the globe with benefits recognised since the 
dawn of time. 

                                                                 
2 Naturex acquires 51% in Chile Botanics following a capital increase of approximately US$3 million; the two founding officers retain 
100% of their initial stakes. 
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I.2 Revenue analysis 

2013: A good growth performance 

� Sales up 9.7% at constant exchange rates 

€000s 
IFRS 

FY 2013 FY 2012 Change (%) Change (%)  
at constant 

exchange rates  

1st quarter 83,196 73,473 +13.2% +14.4% 

2nd quarter 82,558 73,684 +12.0% +12.5% 

3nd quarter 76,817 75,973 +1.1% +6.0% 

4nd quarter 78,215 76,693 +2.0% +6.0% 

Annual revenue 320,786 299,823 +7.0% +9.7% 

 
Fiscal 2003 was marked by difficult global economic conditions that led to slower economic growth, particularly in 
Western Europe. 
In this context, and despite a particularly high comparison base from the prior year's second half, Naturex achieved 
good gains in an ingredients market still benefiting from positive underlying trends in favour of the natural, health and 
well-being. 
On that momentum, full-year sales reached €320.8 million, up 7% from 2012. At constant exchange rates, sales rose 
9.7% including organic growth of 8.0% and 1.7% from changes in Group structure (business of Decas Botanical 
Synergies consolidated as of 19 September 2012). 
Foreign exchange trends (-2.7% for the year) impacted mainly 2013 third and fourth quarter sales due to the 
significant depreciation of several currencies versus the euro, including the US and Australian dollars and selected 
emerging country currencies (Brazil, Mexico, China, Russia, India, etc.). 
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Nutrition & Health driving growth 

€000s 
IFRS 

FY 2013 FY 2012 Change 
(%) 

Revenue 
mix 
(%) 

Change (%)  
at constant 

exchange 
rates 

Food & Beverage 184,085 188,828 -2.5% 57.4% +0.4% 

Nutrition & Health 112,896 92,295 +22.3% 35.2% +24.8% 

Personal Care 5,798 4,797 +20.9% 1.8% +24.0% 

Toll-Manufacturing and misc. 18,007 13,903 +29.5% 5.6% +29.9% 

   

 
 

-  The Food & Beverage had revenue of €184.1 million, with a marginal gain at constant exchange rates from the 
same period in 2012. This limited growth was accompanied by a positive shift in the product mix to higher value-
added products. 

- Nutrition & Health posted excellent growth, 
gaining 24.8% at constant exchange rates to 
reach €112.9 million, reflecting both 
Naturex's strong positioning in North 
America as well as significant development in 
Europe, Asia and Latin America.  

- Personal Care had revenue of nearly 
€6 million, up 24% at constant exchange 
rates. The Group continued to focus on 
developing its range of products specifically 
designed for cosmetic applications, and 
notably the NAToleis™ pure botanical oils 
range launched in September 2013. 

- Toll Manufacturing's revenue came to 
€18 million for the year, up 29.9% at constant 
exchange rates. It is to be noted that the 
production plant created within the framework of the joint venture with Aker BioMarine Antartic will come on 
line in the 2014 second quarter and integrate a portion of production currently assured by the Told 
Manufacturing business unit.  

  

57.4%

35.2%

1.8% 5.6%

Food & Beverage Nutrition & Health

Personal Care Toll-Manufacturing and miscellaneous
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47.0%

40.6%

12.4%

Europe / Africa Americas Asia / Pacific

Growth in all geographic regions 

€000s 

IFRS 

FY 2013 FY 2012* Change 
(%) 

Revenue 
mix 
(%) 

Change (%)  
at constant 

exchange 
rates 

Europe/Africa 150,635 142,291 +5.9% 47.0% +6.9% 

Americas 130,254 120,892 +7.7% 40.6% +11.4% 

Asia/Pacific 39,897 36,640 +8.9% 12.4% +14.7% 

* To take into account the geographic breakdown of our Sales Divisions, countries of the Middle East region previously included in Europe/Africa are 
henceforth presented within the Asia/Pacific region. The breakdown by geographic region for 2012 annual sales in consequence takes into account 
this new presentation. 

 
 Growth performances for three geographical regions were less uneven, despite currency effects, due to the positive 
contribution of emerging countries that account for 17.7% of Group sales. 

- The Europe/Africa region had revenue of 
€150.6 million, up 6.9% at constant exchange 
rates from 2012. In addition to the good level of 
activity for toll manufacturing in this region, 
selected Western European countries showed 
encouraging signs of recovery at year-end. 

- Revenue for the Americas region rose 11.4% at 
constant exchange rates to €130.3 million, 
confirming both the strong contribution of the 
United States and Latin America's continuing 
strength despite the significant depreciation of 
selected currencies, and in particular the Brazilian 
real. 

- The Asia/Pacific region had growth of 14.7% at 
constant exchange rates with revenue of €39.9 
million. Asia continued to show very strong gains 
and now accounts for 53.5% of sales for this region, whereas sales in Australia advanced at a slower pace, with 
growth henceforth focused on the Naturex range of ingredients destined for the nutraceutical market in order to 
offset the historic volatility of the ingredients distribution activity.   
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I.3 Analysis of consolidated results 

Change in accounting methods 

See note 4.1 of the financial statements for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2013. 

Income statement 

€ millions 
IFRS 

FY 
2013 

FY 
2012 

Change 
(%) 

Revenue 320.8 299.8 +7.0% 

Gross margin 196.0 175.5 +11.6% 

Gross margin (%) 61.1% 58.5%  

Operating grants 2.2 2.0  

Other operating income 6.8 8.9  

Staff costs (69.1) (58.4) +18.5% 

External charges (79.5) (71.0) +12.0% 

Taxes other than on income (2.1) (1.6)  

Other current operating expenses (1.3) (4.4)  

Recurring EBITDA 53.0 51.1 +3.8% 

Recurring EBITDA margin (%) 16.5% 17.0%  

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment (17.7) (15.2) +17.0% 

Current operating income (EBIT) 35.3 35.9 -1.8% 

Current operating margin (%) 11.0% 12.0%  

Other non-current operating expenses (0.8) (4.4) - 

Other non-current operating income - 6.1 - 

Net operating income 34.5 37.6 -8.4% 

Share of net income of equity-accounted 
investees (0.1) -  

Operating margin (%) 10.7% 12.5%  

Net borrowing costs (5.4) (5.1) - 

Other financial income and expenses (3.1) (0.9) - 

Income before tax 25.9 31.7 -18.3% 

Income tax expense (9.0) (8.7) - 

Net income attributable to the Group 16.8 22.9 -26.7% 

Net margin (%) 5.2% 7.6%  
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Strong revenue growth  
Consolidated revenue for fiscal 2013 amounted to €320.8 million, up 9.7% at constant exchange rates. Impacted by 
the significant depreciation of several currencies versus the euro, including the US and Australian dollars and selected 
emerging country currencies (Brazil, Mexico, China, Russia, India, etc.), sales at current exchange rates rose 7%. 

Growth was mainly organic (more than 8% at constant exchange rates) and covered all geographic regions and market 
segments; relatively weak for Food & Beverage in Europe due to the economic environment, it was in contrast very 
robust for Nutrition & Health in the United States and for Toll Manufacturing. 

Also noteworthy were the excellent performances by DBS (United States, +50% sales growth), the successful 
integration of Valentine (India) acquired in April 2012, and rapid development in Asia (+35%). 

Good resilience for results 
Naturex's operating performances remained on track despite the impact of unfavourable foreign exchange trends. 
These trends significantly impacted results at two levels: 
- The weakness of several currencies in relation to the euro weighed on the margins of Naturex as an exporter of 

many products from the euro zone and Switzerland. 
- Translation differences for certain currencies limited earnings contributions from international operations in the 

latter part of the year. 

Furthermore, Group restructuring measures rendered necessary by a more than threefold increase in sales in 4 years 
contributed to growth in recurring EBITDA that reached €53 million (+3.8%), marginally outpaced by sales (+7.0%). 
Current operating income came to €35.3 million or 11% of sales. 

Net operating income and net income in 2012 were increased by a sizeable insurance payment (€6.1 million), 
following the death of Mr. Jacques Dikansky. Restated to eliminate this item, net operating income rose 9.5%. 

Breakdown of results: 
- consolidated gross margin amounted to €196 million, up 11.6% from 2012, outpacing growth in sales reflecting a 

favourable shift in the product mix and in particular increase contributions from toll manufacturing. As a 
percentage of sales, the gross margin improved on that basis by 2.6 points to 61.1%. 

- Staff costs rose (+18.5%) in response to the full year integration of companies acquired in 2012 (DBS - United 
States and Valentine - India), the impact of Group restructuring measures (1.3% of sales) and revenue growth, in 
particular for toll manufacturing activities. 

- External charges increased (+12%) in response to growth in sales, reinforced research and the headquarters' 
extension. 

- Recurring EBITDA amounted to €53 million, up from €51.1 million in 2012 or 3.8% with a recurring EBITDA margin 
at 16.5%. 

- Current operating income, remained largely stable in relation to the prior year at €35.3 million representing a 
current operating margin of 11% compared to 12% in 2012 and in line with results for the first three quarters of 
the year. 

- Consolidated operating profit totalled €34.5 million compared to €37.6 million in 2012 for an operating margin of 
10.7% versus 12.5% in 2012. This result includes other non-current operating expenses of €0.8 million, up from 
€4.4 million one year earlier, mainly reflecting: 
� €0.3 million in restructuring costs for Pektowin, significantly down from 2012; 
� €0.3 million in acquisition-related expenses including mainly acquisition costs expensed in accordance with 

Revised IFRS 3. This amount includes primarily costs corresponding to the acquisition of Natraceutical 
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Industrial SL, the owner of property assets of the Valencia site rented by Naturex since it acquired the 
Ingredients Division from Natraceutical in December 2009. 

For information, Naturex had €6.1 million in non-current operating income corresponding to insurance benefit 
payments on the policy taken out by the Group following Jacques Dikansky's death. Excluding this exceptional income 
in 2012, operating profit in 2013 would be up 9.5%. 
- Net borrowing costs for 2013 amounted to €5.4 million, up from €5.1 million (1.7% of sales) in the prior year. 
- Other financial income and expenses represented a net charge of €3.1 million reflecting mainly translation 

differences linked to a €4.3 million foreign exchange loss on intra-group balances plus non-Group foreign 
exchange gains of €1.2 million.  

- Net income attributable to the Group amounted to €16.8 million, up from €22.9 million in 2012, after a tax 
charge of €9 million or a rate of 35% compared with €8.7 million in 2012 and a rate of 27.6%. This increased tax 
rate is mainly due to the higher US contribution to earnings linked to the strong revenue growth and integration 
of DBS. It is furthermore noted that the rate for 2012 was exceptionally low. 
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I.4 Analysis of the balance sheet 

Balance sheet 

Total assets at 31 December 2013 stood at €515.8 million at 30 June 2012 compared to €471.6 million at 31 December 
2012. 
 
ASSETS 

€ millions - IFRS 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 

Non-current assets 266.2 251.3 

Goodwill 111.8 114.9 

Other intangible assets 13.6 12.2 

Property, plant and equipment 128.1 117.0 

Financial assets 1.7 4.9 

Non-current derivatives 4.3 - 

Deferred tax assets 6.7 2.3 

Current assets 249.5 220.4 

Inventories 155.6 137.2 

Current derivatives 0.2 0.3 

Tax receivables 1.3 1.2 

Trade and other receivables 79.9 71.1 

Cash and cash equivalents 12.6 10.6 

TOTAL ASSETS 515.8 471.6 

� Non-current assets 

The Group's non-current assets amounted to €266.2 million at 31 December 2013 compared to €251.3 million at 31 
December 2012 and included mainly: 

- Goodwill of €111.8 million compared to €114.9 million at 31 December 2012.  
Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment annually. Impairment tests were carried out on 31 
December 2013. The assumptions used and rates applied to the geographical regions concerned are presented in 
note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. 
Goodwill at 31 December 2013 can be broken down as follows: 
� €50.1 million for the Americas region with €1.9 in negative translation differences;  
� €55.4 million for the Europe-Africa region with €0.5 million for negative translation differences; 
� €6.3 million for the Asia-Pacific region with €1.2 million of negative translation differences. 

- Other net intangible assets amounted to €13.6 million at 31 December 2013 compared with €12.2 million at 31 
December 2012. 
Other gross intangible assets amounted to €23.5 million at 31 December 2013 compared with €19.1 million at 31 
December 2012 and included mainly: 
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� €0.4 million for acquisitions of customer portfolios from distributors; 
� €1 million for the acquisition of software and trademark licenses; 
� €0.9 million in capitalised development expenditures; 
� €1.3 million for the acquisition of assets under construction. 

- Net property, plant and equipment amounted to €128.1 million compared with €117 million at 31 December 
2012. The depreciable cost (gross value) of property, plant and equipment amounted to €210.8 million compared 
with €185.5 million at 31 December 2012 and included mainly capital expenditures for the extension of the 
Avignon head office and in particular the construction of a wastewater treatment facility, improvements in 
Burgundy production facilities (in France and Spain) and the installation of a fruit and vegetable juices and purées 
in Poland. 

- Net financial assets amounted to €1.7 million at 31 December 2013 compared with €4.9 million one year earlier; 

- €4.3 million in equity investments in the Aker joint venture (equity-accounted); 

- At 31 December 2013, no non-current derivative assets were recognised in the balance sheet, as at 31 December 
2012; 

- €6.7 million in deferred tax assets compared with €2.3 million at 31 December 2012. 

� Current assets 

Current assets amounted to 249.5 million at 31 December 2013 compared to 220.4 million one year earlier and 
included mainly: 
- €155.6 million for net inventories compared with €137.2 million at 31 December 2012; 

€157.4 million in gross inventories at 31 December 2013 compared to €138.6 million at 31 December 2012. 
Changes in gross inventories of €23.3 million include mainly changes in raw materials of €9.1 million and finished 
and semi-finished goods for €13.1 million. Gross inventories also include a €4.6 million negative translation 
difference. 

Provision for inventories in the period amounted to €1.7 million. 

- €0.2 million for current derivatives compared with €0.3 million at 31 December 2012; 
- €1.3 million for current tax liabilities compared with €1.2 million at 31 December 2012; 
- €79.9 million in trades and related receivables, up €8.8 million from €71.1 million at 31 December 2012 and 

breaking down as follows: 
- €57.9 million in trade receivables, up from €52.1 million at 31 December 2012; 
- €20.3 million in tax and social security receivables, up from €13.6 million at 31 December 2012; 
- €3.1 million for other receivables compared with €6.9 million at 31 December 2012. 

The total provisions for the impairment of trade receivables at 31 December 2013 amounted to €1.5 million, 
including €1 million on trade receivables and €0.4 million for other receivables. 

- €12.6 million for cash and cash equivalents compared with €10.6 million at 31 December 2012.  
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  

€ millions - IFRS 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 

Shareholders' equity 273.2 258.6 

Non-current liabilities 106.5 86.1 

Long-term financial debt 91.0 69.3 

Non-current derivatives 0.7 1.6 

Employee benefits 4.0 4.9 

Deferred tax liabilities 10.8 10.3 

Current liabilities 136.1 126.9 

Current financial debt 72.2 51.0 

Current derivatives 0.6 1.0 

Current provisions 0.4 0.4 

Current tax liabilities 4.2 2.8 

Trade and other payables 58.6 64.5 

Bank credit facilities - 7.2 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 515.8 471.6 

� Shareholders’ equity 

Shareholders' equity stood at €273.1 million at 31 December 2013 compared to €258.6 million at 31 December 2012 
comprised of mainly: 

- Net income for the period of €16.8 million; 
- The dividend distribution of €0.8 million for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2012 paid on 30 August 2013 with 

an option for payment in cash or in shares; 
- Income from the exercise by employees of the Company of stock options and related benefits of €3.1 million; 
- A €0.3 million decrease in the amount of treasury shares held within the framework of the liquidity agreement; 
- A €0.8 million equity component for OCEANE convertible bonds, net of deferred tax; 
- Changes in other comprehensive income items (including the effective portion of changes in the fair value of cash 

flow hedges net of tax and translation differences). 

� Non-current liabilities 

Non-current liabilities amounted to €106.5 million at 31 December 2013 compared to €86.1 million at 31 December 
2012 and included: 
- €91 million for long-term financial debt compared with €69.3 million at 31 December 2012; 
- Non-current derivative liabilities of €0.7 million compared with €1.6 million at 31 December 2012. The calculation 

of the fair value of financial assets and liabilities is presented in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements; 
- Employee benefits amounted to €4 million compared to €4.9 million at 31 December 2012. The Group's main 

pension plan is a defined benefit plan of its Swiss subsidiary accounting for 62% of the Group's net benefit 
obligations.  
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The Group applied in advance Amended IAS 19 "Employee benefits" with a date for its first-time adoption of 1 
January 2012 and adjusted its criteria for determining expense and income items for defined benefit obligations; 

- Deferred tax liabilities amounted to €10.8 million at 31 December 2013 compared with €10.3 million at 31 
December 2012. 

� Current liabilities 

Current liabilities amounted to €136.1 million at 31 December 2013 compared to €126.9 million at 31 December 2012. 

This includes, in addition to the current portion of long-term debt of €72.2 million compared with €51 million at 31 
December 2012, the following items: 

- Current derivative instruments amounting to €0.6 million at year end compared with €1 million at 31 December 
2012; 

- €0.4 million in tax receivables, unchanged from 31 December 2012; 
- €4.2 million for current tax liabilities compared to €2.8 million at 31 December 2012; 
- Trade and other payables totalling €58.6 million compared with €64.5 million at 31 December 2012. 
- Short-term bank facilities and overdrafts for non-material amounts compared to €7.2 million at 31 December 

2012. 

Breakdown of long-term debt 

Gross financial debt amounted to €163.3 million at 31 December 2013 compared with €127.5 million at 31 December 
2012, consisting mainly of the structured loan. 

It should be noted that at 31 December 2009, the Group set up a new structured loan. The debt, which was initially at 
a variable rate, was swapped for a portion at a fixed rate in 2010. 

The Group's gross financial debt consisted mainly of borrowings and leasing for amounts of €163.2 million at 31 
December 2013 compared to €118.9 million at 31 December 2012. This increase includes the impact of repayment of 
€24.6 million, €68.8 million in new credit lines, €0.3 million in loans relating to companies consolidated for the first 
time in the period. 
The Group repaid €7.1 million in short-term bank facilities and overdrafts in the period with €1.4 million 
corresponding to investment and shareholder loan-related payables. 

The breakdown of total gross financial debt at 31 December 2013 is as follows: 
- Current financial debt: €72.3 million or 44.3% compared with €58.1 million at 31 December2012 (45.6%); 
- Long-term financial debt: €91 million or 55.7% compared with €69.3 million at 31 December2012 (54.4%). 

At 31 December 2013, total net financial debt (current financial debt + long-term financial debt + net bank credit 
facilities for cash) amounted to €150.7 million, up from €116.9 million at 31 December 2012. 

Net gearing (net financial debt/equity) at 31 December 2013 was 55.16%, up from 45.2% at 31 December 2012. 
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Consolidated cash flows 

 
Operating cash flows were positive with net cash provided by operating activities of €7.8 million after a negative 
change in working capital of €36.8 million. 
Net cash used in investing activities represented outflows of €32.9 million, including in particular: 
- €4.5 million in financial investments corresponding to holdings in the joint venture Aker BioMarine Manufacturing 

LLC; 
- 3.6 million for intangible assets; 
- €28.4 million for property, plant and equipment, of which: 

� Property assets for the Valence production site amounting to €4.4 million originated from the 
former Ingredient's division of Natraceutical. 

� €10 million for current property, plant and equipment; 
� €9.8 million for non-current property, plant and equipment including mainly: 

- €4.6 million for final fixtures and installations following the extension of the Avignon site 
including the construction of a wastewater treatment facility; 

- €1.4 million in capital expenditures for the installation of a juice and purée production line 
at the Pektowin site in Poland; 

- €1.3 million corresponding to capacity extension investments for the Valence site. 

Net cash provided by financing activities represented an inflow of €33.9 million, and included in particular: 
- €3.1 million in income from the issuance of shares (exercise of stock options); 
- €61.6 million in inflows from new borrowings, including €17.6 million from the bond issue (OCEANE convertible 

bonds) and €39.5 million from the drawdown of credit facilities (CAPEX and Revolving); 
- €24.5 million for the repayment of borrowings; 
- €3.8 million for interest expense payments. 

€m - IFRS 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Cash flow 52.6 51.3

Cash payments ( 8.1) ( 5.8)

Change in  WCR ( 36.8) ( 30.9)

Net cash provided by operating activities 7.8 14.6 

Cash from (used in) investing activities ( 32.9) ( 56.6)

Net cash provided by financing activities 33.9 8.5 

Change in cash 8.7 ( 33.6)

Opening cash 12.6 3.5 

Closing cash 3.5 36.7 

Effect of foreign exchange changes on cash holdings ( 0.4) ( 0.3)
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Exchange rate fluctuations had a negative impact on cash of €0.4 million. 
The resulting net change in cash and cash equivalents represented an increase of €8.7 million at 31 December 2013 
for a closing position of €12.6 million. 

I.5 Financing policy 

To finance its development, Naturex signed a structured credit agreement on 30 December 2009, replacing a previous 
structured credit agreement dating from December 2008.  
 
This credit agreement was amended during 2013 to include an additional tranche for capital expenditure financing 
(CAPEX 3 tranche) for €20 million and a short term credit facility tranche (revolving 3) of €25 million. 
 
At 31 December 2013 structured credit lines represented €130.8 million in instalment credit lines primarily used to 
refinance previous loans and finance the acquisition of Natraceutical’s Ingredients Division and including: 
- Short-term revolving credit lines: 

� A €20 million (revolving 1) tranche for short-term facilities of which €20 million had been drawn at 31 
December 2013; 

� A second tranche (revolving 2) of €15 million in short-term credit lines that may be drawn down in EUR, USD 
and CHF with €9.4 million of this multi-currency facility drawn at 31 December 2013; 

� A third €25 million (revolving 3) tranche for short-term facilities set up in 2013 with €16 million drawn at 
31 December 2013; 

- Capex facilities: 

� A €20 million tranche (CAPEX 1) for CAPEX financing fully drawn with an outstanding balance payable of 
€12 million at 31 December 2013; 

� A second €30 million tranche (CAPEX 2) for CAPEX financing of which €30 million had been drawn at 31 
December 2013; 

� A third €20 million tranche (CAPEX 3) for CAPEX financing set up in 2013 and undrawn at 31 December 
2013. 

 
The loan agreement binding the Group to its lenders contains a clause regarding compliance with two bank ratios, 
which are assessed every six months: 
(i) gearing (net financial debt / total shareholders’ equity) and (ii) a financial leverage ratio (net financial debt / 
EBITDA). 
If the Group should breach these contractual ratios and/or the majority of lenders so request, the lenders may 
demand the repayment of the corresponding loan.  
At 31 December 2013, these ratios were respected. 
 

I.6 Capital investment policy 

In 2011, capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment amounted to €14.7 million, in line with the Group's 
capital spending budgets of prior years. These investments concerned mainly installations and improvements for 
production sites, retrofitting to standards certain sites in connection with certification audits (ISO, BRC, etc.) and 
production and laboratory equipment maintenance. 
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In 2012, capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment increased significantly following the consolidation of 
companies acquired and installations and improvements for their plant and machinery and amounting to €26 million. 
The main capital expenditures concerned the sites of Burgundy (France and Spain) and Pektowin (Poland), the extension 
of the Avignon head office with the construction of offices and new installations for the plant (new areas for 
formulation, warehousing, etc.), and the purchase of the building housing the head office of Naturex Inc. in the United 
States. 

For 2013, the Group completed another significant investment cycle relating in part to adjustments to the Group 
structure (continuation of the extension of the Avignon head office with the creation of application labs and a pilot 
facility, the continued upgrading of production sites of companies acquired and investments for joint venture for krill 
extraction with Aker BioMarine), and the implementation of a strategy for development through industrial projects in 
Asia, and in particular in India at the Roha manufacturing site (drying facilities), and the ramping up of our R&D 
efforts. 

Refer to detailed information on non-current assets for 2012 and 2013, including plant, property and equipment in 
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in Chapter 6 of this registration document. 

I.7 Main related party transactions 

Details on related party transactions are presented in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.  

Disclosures on executive compensation  
 
Information concerning the total gross compensation of company officers (executives and non-executive) pertaining 
to 2013 and 2012, is provided in the chapter 3 on Corporate Governance of this document. 
Total gross compensation paid to Naturex’s management bodies amounted to €1.1 million in 2013 compared to 
€1.6 million in 2012. These amounts include compensation, benefits in kind and the valuation of stock options granted 
in the period, and are recognised by Naturex Inc. (€0.7 million) and Naturex S.A. (€0.4 million).  

Other operations with related parties  

Concerning SGD which holds 21.06% of the capital and 28.13% of the voting rights, €5,000 in interest were paid by 
Naturex SA on the current account that had a balance at the end of the reporting period €0.9 million.  SGD also 
received 3,148 Naturex shares as payment in stock dividends for a value of €0.2 million. 

Senior executives created SCI La Pinède with a view to constructing a building on land next to the current head office 
so it can be extended in the future. 

The part of the land purchased by SCI Broquetons (Group company) was transferred to SCI La Pinède as soon as the 
financing was put into place.  

At 31 December 2012, €0.4 million was paid as security for the rent of the extension. The expense recognised for fiscal 
2013 in rent paid to SCI La Pinède amounted to €0.7 million. 

The Naturex AG Group company rents, for use as a warehouse, part of a building located on land adjacent to the 
Burgdorf plant from Grünes Blatt, a real estate company in which the executive officers are shareholders. This 
company granted a 10-year commercial lease to Naturex AG. 

Grünes Blatt rents the building to Naturex AG at market conditions for a maximum of CHF 0.4 million less the amount 
paid by third parties who occupy part of said building. In addition, Naturex AG has the right to build on the free part of 
the land any building it may require. 
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I.8 Off-balance sheet commitments 

The details of these commitments are described in note 25.2 to the consolidated financial statements presented in 
chapter 6 of this document. 

I.9 Material contracts 

Over the past two years no Group company has concluded any material contracts other than those concluded in the 
normal course of business. 
On the publication date of this document, no member of the Group was a party to a contract that could give rise to 
any obligation or substantial commitment for the Group as a whole, other than contracts concluded in the normal 
course of business. 

I.10 Reclassification of a regulated agreement 

The Group services agreement previously subject to authorisation and referred to in the Statutory Auditors' report 
was reclassified by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2014 as a normal agreement. 
The Board of Directors, based on the study performed by the legal research commission of the French National 
Institute of Chartered Auditors (Compagnie Nationale des Commissaires aux Comptes or CNCC) that it constituted an 
ordinary agreement concluded on an arm's-length basis within the Group 
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II. Comments on the annual financial statements of NATUREX S.A. 

II.1 Analysis of annual results 

The annual financial statements of Naturex S.A. are prepared and presented on the basis of French GAAP and notably 
the decisions issued by the French accounting rules committee (Comité de la Réglementation Comptable or CRC 99-
03). 
In fiscal 2013, no changes in accounting methods were adopted by Naturex S.A. 

Income statement 

In €m 2013 2012

Revenue 111.3 110.6 

Operating income 142.3 137.3 

Operating expenses 143 133.1 

Net operating income (0.7) 4.1 

Financial income 11.7 9.2 

Financial expenses 14.4 11.1 

Net financial income (expense) (2.7) (1.9) 

Exceptional income 0.1 3.4 

Exceptional expenses 1.4 1.2 

Net exceptional items (1.3) 2.2 

Income before tax (4.6) 4.5 

Income tax (1.4) (1.1) 

Net income (3.2) 5.5 

 
- Revenue for 2013 amounted to €111.3 million, up from€110.6 million in the prior year. This performance reflects 

a relatively sluggish economic environment in Europe combined with a higher foreign exchange exposure in the 
period. 
 

- Payroll expenses and payroll taxes amounted to €22.9 million, up from €17.7 million in 2012 for a total 
workforce of 342 employees including expatriate staff and salaried employees of the Dubai and Singapore offices. 
The number of personnel at year-end was 400 employees compared with 385 employees at 31 December 2012. 

 
- Net operating income came to a loss of €0.7 million compared to a profit of €4.1 million for the prior period. This 

result takes into account in particular €30.3 million for other external charges compared with €26.8 million at 31 
December 2012 and €4.9 million in allowances for amortisation and depreciation and provisions, compared to 
€4.6 million at 31 December 2012. 
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- Net financial expense amounted to €2.6 million for fiscal 2013, up from €1.9 million in 2012. This result includes 
€11.7 million in financial income (interest from affiliates, foreign exchange gains and the reversal of a provision 
for foreign exchange losses) and expenses of €14.4 million (interest expense and both realised and unrealised 
foreign exchange losses). 

 
- Net exceptional items represented a loss of €1.3 million compared to income of €2.2 million for the prior period. 

This takes into account €0.9 million for accelerated tax depreciation's aunt amortisations. The previous period 
included exceptional income of €3.4 million with €3.1 million from insurance payments on the death of Mr. 
Jacques Dikansky linked to a loan repayment guarantee. 

 
- Net income came to a loss of €3.2 million compared to a profit of €5.5 million in 2012. This result included a tax 

income of €1.4 million compared with €1.1 million in 2012. 

Balance sheet 

Total assets at 31 December 2013 stood at €424.2 million compared to €383.4 million at 31 December 2012. 

ASSETS 

In €m 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 

Non-current assets 255.0 250.9 

Intangible assets 24.5 23.0 

Property, plant and equipment 23.6 18.6 

Financial assets 206.9 209.4 

Current assets 163.2 132.5 

Inventory and work in progress 34.1 29.8 

Trade receivables and related accounts 19.1 19.6 

Miscellaneous receivables 99.6 71.1 

Cash at bank and in hand 5.2 1.1 

Accrual accounts 2.8 2.4 

Translation differences (assets) 8.4 8.5 

TOTAL ASSETS 424.2 383.4 

 

� Non-current assets 

- Net non-current assets total €255 million compared to €250.9 million at 31 December 2012. 
This includes: 
� €24.5 million for intangible assets, up from €23 million at 31 December 2012 and consisting mainly of 

goodwill, concessions and patents and development expenditures with accumulated amortisation and 
impairment charges of €4.3 million; 
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� €23.6  million for property, plant and equipment, compared to €18.6 million at 31 December 2012 and 
consisting primarily of machinery and equipment, miscellaneous fixtures and improvements plus office and IT 
equipment with accumulated depreciation and impairment charges of €19.5 million; 

� €206.9 million for financial assets compared to €209.4 million at 31 December 2012 including mainly equity 
investments and related receivables. 

Acquisitions relating to equity investments in 2013 concerned mainly to Natraceutical Industrial SL (renamed Naturex 
Industrial SL) acquired in July 2013 for €8.5 million. This company was made up mainly of the property assets of the 
Valence production site originating from the former ingredient's division of Natraceutical. 
 
During the year, subsidiaries repaid €11.5 million in redeemable loans. 

� Current assets 

- Net inventories amounted to €34.1 million compared to €29.8 million at 31 December 2012. 
The cost of inventories is evaluated by batch at the cost price and includes purchase costs for raw materials, 
production or transformation costs, the appropriate share of the indirect costs based on the normal production 
capacity and the other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.  
Inventories are measured at the lower of the cost and the net realisable value. 
A provision for impairment is recognised when the purchase cost or cost price falls below the market price 
At 31 December 2013, a provision of €1.4 million was recorded. 
 
The breakdown of inventories is as follows: 
� €6.6 million for raw materials at 31 December 2013 compared to €7 million at 31 December 2012; 
� €28.9 million for finished and semi-finished goods at 31 December 2013 compared to €24.9million at 31 

December 2012. 
 

- Gross trade receivables and related accounts amounted to €19.2 million at 31 December 2013, including 
€13.2 million with affiliated companies, compared to €19.8 million at 31 December 2012 and €14 million with 
affiliated companies.  
Receivables are measured at nominal value. A provision for impairment is recorded when there is a collection risk 
for the full or a partial amount of the receivable. 
On that basis, trade receivables and related accounts amounted to €19.1 million at 31 December 2013 after a 
provision of €0.1 million (0.5% of gross receivables) compared to €19.6 million at 31 December 2012, after taking 
into account a provision of €0.2 million (1% of gross receivables). 
All receivables included under current assets are due within one year. Receivables stated in foreign currency 
amounted to 6.2 million. 
 

- Miscellaneous receivables under current assets amounted to €99.6 million compared to €71.1 million at 31 
December 2012 and included namely: 
� €92 million for receivables relating to current account balances with subsidiaries; 
� €0.4 million for advances to personnel; 
� €6.7 million for government-related, income tax and VAT receivables; 
� €0.5 million for other receivables 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2013 amounted to €5.2 million, compared to €1.1 million at 31 December 
2012 
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

In €m  31/12/2013 31/12/2012 

Shareholders' equity 204.5 203.9 

Provisions for contingencies and expenses 6.2 3.5 

Borrowings and financial liabilities 166.6 125.3 

Bank credit facilities - 7.2 

Partners' current accounts - 1.4 

Trade payables and related accounts 16.7 21.8 

Other payables 27.1 14.4 

Prepaid income 0.1 0.2 

Translation differences (liabilities) 3.1 5.7 

Total liabilities 213.5 176.1 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 424.2 383.4 

 
- Shareholders' equity amounted to €204.5 million compared to €203.9 million at 31 December 2012, after a loss 

of €3.2 million for the period. 
 
- Liabilities amounted to €213.5 million, compared to €176.1 million at 31 December 2012 and namely: 

� Borrowings in financial liabilities of €166.6 million, up from €125.3 million at 31 December 2012; 
� Trade payables and related accounts of €16.7 million compared to €21.8 million at 31 December 2012; 
� Other current liabilities of €27.1 million compared to €14.4 million at 31 December 2012 including mainly 

current account balances with subsidiaries of €19.7 million, payroll tax payables of €2.9 million and accrued 
expenses on employee compensation of €2.7 million. 

- Prepaid income amounted to €0.1 million and relates to the repurchase of certain IT equipment lease contracts 
by a finance lease organisation and written back as the lease payments are invoiced. 

- Translation differences recorded under assets and liabilities amounted to €8.4 million and €3 million respectively.  
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� Statutory aged trial balance information for payables 

Pursuant to article L.441-6-1 of the French Commercial Code and decree No. 2008-1492 of 30 December 2008, aged 
trial balance information for payables for Naturex S.A. is disclosed below for 31 December 2013 and 2013. 

 
Some payables past due are justified by the re-scheduling of major invoices due to late deliveries. 

It is specified that this table includes trade payables of both Naturex S.A. but also inter-company trade payables. 

 

  

Amounts % Amounts %
Not past due 4,799 29% 9,275 42%
1 to 30 days 4,603 27% 5,167 24%
31 to 60 days 2,410 14% 3,080 14%
61 to 90 days 1,050 6% 1,393 6%
More than 90 day 3,885 23% 2,922 13%
Total 16,746 100% 21,837 100%

In €000s
31 December 2013 31 December 2012



Chapter 5 

Review of operations for 2013 

2013 Registration Document   155 

II.2 Five-year financial highlights and other statutory disclosures 

 

II.3 Research and development 

Research and development expenditures for Naturex S.A., expensed in 2013 amounted to €3.2 million compared to 
€2.3 million in 2012. 

II.4 Items classified as luxury expenditures 

Sumptuary expenses as defined under article 39-4 of the French General Tax Code, as well as the corresponding tax 
amounted to €64,800 for fiscal 2013, compared to €42,300 in 2012. 
 

II.5 Proposal for the appropriation of earnings and dividend distribution 

FY 2013 
At the annual meeting of NATUREX S.A. to be held on 26 June 2014 called to approve the financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2013, a proposal will be submitted to transfer earnings of the period of €3,207,282.41 to 
"Retained earnings" and appropriate from this item €784,550.50 for dividends. 

On that basis, each share will be entitled to a total dividend of €0.10 and the full amount distributed will be eligible for 
a 40% tax basis reduction for the calculation of personal income tax provided for under Article 158-3-2° of the French 
General Tax Code. 

The dividend payment date will be 29 August 2014. 
 
 
 
 

 In euros 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2010 31/12/2009
Capital stock at year-end
Share capital 11,764,877 11,592,809 11,558,370 9,616,396 9,546,000
Number of existing ordinary shares 7,843,251 7,728,539 7,705,580 6,410,931 6,364,000
Maximum number of future shares to be issued 0 0 218,098 201,755 177,306
Operations and income for the year
Sales excluding tax 111,330,061 110,644,461 77,243,526 77,225,365 52,493,871
Profit or loss before exceptional items -3,326,341 2,240,653 5,448,652 -682,228 -417,269
Income taxes -1,421,387 -1,077,685 -315,849 -1,131,267 -772,817
Employee profit-sharing for the financial year 0 0 0 0 0
Net income -3,207,282 5,533,498 3,908,053 -353,331 206,903
Income distributed to shareholders* 784,325 772,854               770,558   640,393 701,005
Earnings per share
Net earnings per share -                   0.41                        0.84                        0.51   -                   0.06                        0.03  
Dividend allocated to each share* 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.11
Personnel
Average number of employees 400 385 253 214 176
Wages and salaries 15,288,949 12,253,628 9,341,654 7,448,710 6,269,357
Social charges and benefits 7,619,345 5,380,063 4,174,409 3,194,899 2,700,295

*Subject to approval of the dividend distribution by the General Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2013
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� Option to receive cash or stock dividends 

At the general meeting of Naturex S.A. of 26 June 2014, called to approve the financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2013, a proposal will be submitted for each shareholder to be given the option of receiving dividends in 
the form of cash or shares. 
The share price for stock dividends will equal 90% of the average price over the twenty trading sessions preceding the 
date of this shareholders meeting, less the net amount of the dividend, in accordance with the provisions of Article 
L.232-19 of the French Commercial Code. 
This option applies to the full amount of the dividend paid or €0.10 per share. 
Shareholders wishing to receive dividends in the form of shares will have the period between 8 July 2014 and 14 
August 2014 inclusive to make this request to the financial intermediaries authorised to pay the dividend and/or the 
company. Consequently, any shareholder who has not opted to receive stock dividends at the end of this period will 
receive payment for the dividend in the form of cash. 
The dividend payment date for cash dividends is 29 August 2014. 
Shares issued for the payment of stock dividends will have a record date of 1 January 2014. 
 
For information, Naturex has already made use of this option at the general meeting of 26 June 2013 called to 
approve the financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2012. On that occasion, the shareholders of 
Naturex S.A. were thus provided with the option of receiving dividends in the form of cash (€0.10 per share) or shares. 
The share price set at that time for stock dividends was €52.374, representing a 10% discount on the average closing 
price for the 20 trading sessions preceding the date of the general meeting, less the net amount of the dividend. The 
exercise of that option resulted in the creation of 12,760 new ordinary shares. 

II.6 Dividends paid over the last three financial periods 
 

In euros 
 

FY 
2012 

FY 
2011 

FY 
2010 

Total dividend payout  772,876.90 770,558.00 640,393.10 

Dividend per share € 0.10 € 0.10 € 0.10 
 

NATUREX does not have a dividend distribution policy, as the Group prefers to invest in its development and growth. 
The dividend distribution, involving an amount that is purely symbolic, is intended to build the loyalty of individual 
shareholders who have demonstrated their confidence in Naturex since its initial public offering. In recent years, 
Naturex has provided the option for the distribution of dividends in the form of shares that has met with shareholder 
interest. 
The dividend distribution is eligible for the 40% tax deduction provided in Article 158-3-2° of the French General Tax 
Code for individuals domiciled for tax purposes in France. 
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� Treasury shares without dividends  

FY 2013 
The general meeting of 26 June 2014 will be asked to authorise the Board of Directors to allocate to "Retained 
earnings" that portion of the dividend that may not be distributed in the event of a change in the number of shares 
entitled to receive dividends, and in particular, own shares of the Company held in treasury, before the payment date 
of said distribution.  
For information, on 31 December 2013, Naturex S.A. held 7,291 treasury shares not carrying voting rights or 
entitlement to dividends. 
 
The draft resolutions for the AGM that will be held in Paris on 26 June 2014 will be published in the French publication 
for legal announcements (Bulletin des Annonces Légales Obligatoires or BALO) within the statutory deadlines and will 
be available for consultation at the Company's website (www.naturex.com). 
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III. Outlook 

Demand for natural alternatives for certain ingredients is growing both in geographical terms (traditional markets of 
Western Europe and North America/emerging markets of Asia, Latin America and Eastern Europe), but also by 
segment (strong penetration of natural ingredients not only in the food industry but also for products offering positive 
health effects and cosmetics). This trend is furthermore continuing despite a difficult and uncertain macroeconomic 
environment, particularly in Europe. 
 
Performances in 2013 were achieved through synergies from our fundamental strengths of strong sourcing capacity, 
technical, scientific and quality control expertise combined with our capacity for constant renewal in proposing 
customers differentiated concepts adapted to their expectations and trends in our markets.  

On the strength of these results and its capacity to develop new value-added projects, Naturex intends to pursue its 
strategy of development combining: 

- on the one hand, organic growth driven by the ramping up of contributions from acquisitions (in particular, 
Valentine, DBS and Chile Botanics), the reaching of maturity by certain sales offices, notably in emerging 
countries, and above all by capitalising on our research and development efforts, by pursuing initiatives focusing 
on improving our product mix and boosting our marketing and commercial approach in targeting our customers. 

- and, on the other hand, a strategy of acquisitions based on generating growth and value creation focusing on 
candidates offering a precisely targeted and complementary fit with our businesses, expertise and positioning. 

 
Readers are reminded that Naturex does not disclose quantitative forecasts. 
- The Group is confident in its ability to achieve significant organic growth at constant exchange rates in 2014. A 

portion of revenue will no longer be included in consolidated revenue following the transfer of a portion of krill 
extraction sales for AKER BioMarine (opening of the Houston plant in connection with the joint venture created3) 
that will limit effective sales growth.  
 

- Trends for quarterly sales will differ from those experienced in 2013 that was atypical, resulting in an 
unfavourable comparison base for the beginning of the year. In effect, 2013 registered strong sales for Svetol®4 in 
the 1st half in response to extensive media coverage and Toll Manufacturing sales were very robust in the 1st 
quarter and will remain sustained in 2014 as from the 2nd quarter. Furthermore, major new projects in progress 
will gradually generate revenue over the year. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                 
3 The 50-50 joint venture created with AKER BioMarine; only the share of the joint venture's earnings is integrated into net income of 
equity-accounted investees. 
4 Svetol®4: a slimming ingredient developed from green coffee bean extract with efficacy demonstrated by clinical studies. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

  
 

  

In €000s
Notes 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 266,241 251,280
Goodwill  7 111,843 114,895
Other intangible assets 8 13,597 12,157
Property, plant and equipment 8 128,079 117,010
Financial assets 8 1,725 4,881
Equity accounted investees 8 4,268  -
Non-current derivatives 9  - 4
Deferred tax assets 22 6,729 2,332

CURRENT ASSETS 249,549 220,352
Inventories 10 155,619 137,158
Current derivatives 9 188 307
Tax receivables 1,251 1,193
Trade and other receivables 11 79,867 71,063
Cash and cash equivalents 12 12,623 10,631

TOTAL ASSETS 515,790 471,632

In €000s
31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Capital 11,765 11,593
Additional paid-in capital 169,058 165,511
Reserves 75,544 58,583
Income for the period 16,822 22,939

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 273,189 258,625
   Attributable to owners of the parent 272,775 258,213
   Attributable to non-controll ing interests 414 412

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 106,516 86,105
Long-term financial debt 12 91,025 69,341
Non-current derivatives 9 724 1,583
Employee benefits 13 3,988 4,892
Deferred tax l iabil ities 22 10,778 10,288

CURRENT LIABILITIES 136,085 126,902
Current financial debt 12 72,228 50,976
Current derivatives 9 628 1,046
Current provisions 14 400 378
Current tax l iabil ities 4,172 2,809
Trade and other payables 58,628 64,526
Bank credit facil ities 12 29 7,168

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 515,790 471,632
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 

 
 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

 
 
    

In €000s
Notes 2013 2012

Revenue 16 320,786  299,823  
Change in finished goods and in-progress inventory 14,760  14,885  
Operating grants 2,235  2,048  
Other operating income 6,832  8,947  
Purchases  (139,575)   (139,183)  
Staff costs  (69,139)   (58,358)  
External charges 18  (79,539)   (71,028)  
Taxes other than on income  (2,062)   (1,644)  
Allowances for amortisation and depreciation 8  (17,733)   (15,158)  
Other current operating expenses 19  (1,286)   (4,410)  

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 35,280  35,921  

Other non-current operating expenses 20  (784)   (4,393)  
Other non-current operating income 20  -  6,121  

NET OPERATING INCOME 34,496  37,649  

Share of net income of equity-accounted investees  (86)   -  

OPERATING INCOME AFTER EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES 34,410  37,649  

Net borrowing costs 21  (5,437)   (5,075)  
Other financial income and expenses 21  (3,107)   (894)  

INCOME BEFORE TAX 25,866  31,679  

Tax expense 22  (9,044)   (8,741)  

NET INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 16,822  22,939  

Income for the period attributable to:
   Company shareholders 24.2 16,815  22,901  
   Non-controlling interests 7  38  
Earnings per share:
   Basic earnings per share (in euros) 2.1544 2.9677
   Diluted earnings per share (in euros) 2.1230 2.8925

In €000s
2013 2012

NET INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 16,822  22,939  

Items that will not be subsequently recycled through profit or loss 785   (1,335)  

Actuarial gains and losses 977   (1,543)  
Deferred taxes on actuarial gains and losses  (192)  208  

Items that may be subsequently recycled through profit or loss  (6,993)  174  

Gains and losses from the translation of financial statements of foreign operations  (6,788)   (122)  
Changes in fair value of debt on non-controlling interests  (1,175)   -
Changes in fair value of hedging instruments 1,459  453  
Deferred taxes on hedging instruments  (489)   (157)  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 10,615  21,778  

Attributable to Company shareholders 10,613  21,740  
Attributable to non-controlling interests 2  38  
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

 
The analysis of the statement of cash flows is presented in Chapter 5 "Review of operations*** for fiscal 2013" of this 
document.  
 
 

  

In €000s
31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Net income  16,822    22,939   

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Share of net income of equity-accounted investees  86   
Net amortisation/depreciation allowances and provisions  17,888    14,985   
Expenses and income related to stock options  334    247   
Capital gains / (losses) on disposals (77)   (1,596)   
Net borrowing costs  5,437    5,075   
Other financial income and expenses  3,107    894   
Tax expense  9,044    8,741   

Operating cash flow before WCR  52,641    51,284   

Taxes paid (8,116)   (5,803)   
Change in inventories (22,829)   (18,443)   
Change in trade receivables and related accounts (10,309)   (6,760)   
Change in trade payables and related accounts (3,625)   (5,718)   

Net cash flow from operating activities A  7,763    14,559   

Acquisition of equity interests, net of cash acquired (4,487)   (27,895)   
Intangible investments (3,559)   (5,127)   
Capital expenditures (28,399)   (25,162)   
Financial investments (330)   (3,871)   
Disposals of fixed assets  418    4,954   
Repayment of long-term investments  3,436    510   

Net cash used in investing activities B (32,921)   (56,591)   

Proceeds from share issues  2,792    288   
Dividends paid to shareholders (184)   (107)   
Inflows from new borrowings  61,566    38,926   
Loan reimbursements, net of derivatives (24,915)   (25,586)   
Debt reimbursements resulting from finance leases (192)   (206)   
Changes in other financial l iabil ities (1,395)    1,129   
Proceeds from the sale of treasury shares  -    -   
Interest payments (3,801)   (5,970)   

Net cash provided by financing activities C  33,872    8,475   

Net change in cash and cash equivalents A+B+C  8,714   (33,558)   

Closing cash and cash equivalents  12,594    3,464   
Opening cash and cash equivalents  3,464    36,746   
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (417)   (275)   

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  8,714   (33,558)   
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CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 
 

 
 
 
 

  

In €000s

Capital
Additional paid-

in capital
Treasury 

shares
Group 

reserves
Translation 

reserves
Net income 

(Group share)

Shareholders' 
equity, 

(Group share)

Shareholders' equity
(attributable to NCI)

Total Shareholders’ 
equity

Shareholders' equity at 31 December 2011 11,558  164,594   -   41,051  2,891  15,619  235,714  374  236,088  

Impact of change in accounting method, net of tax  -    -    -   498   -    (32)  466   -   466  

Shareholders' equity at 1 January 2012 (restated basis) 11,558  164,594   -   41,549  2,891  15,587  236,180  374  236,554  

Income (loss) for the period 22,901  22,901  38  22,939  

Change in translation differences  -    -    -    -    (122)   -    (122)  1   (122)  
Changes in fair value of hedging instruments, net of tax  -    -    -   296   -    -   296   -   296  
Actuarial gains and losses, net of tax   -    -    -    (1,335)   -    -    (1,335)   -    (1,335)  

Other comprehensive income  -    -    -    (1,039)   (122)   -    (1,161)  1   (1,161)  

Comprehensive income for the period  -    -    -    (1,039)   (122)  22,901  21,740  38  21,778  

Appropriation of income  -    -    -   15,587   -    (15,587)   -    -    -   
Dividends paid 25  637   -    (770)   -    -    (107)   -    (107)  
Stock options exercised 9  279   -    -    -    -   288   -   288  
Stock option benefits  -    -    -   247   -    -   247   -   247  
Change in treasury shares  -    -    (134)   -    -    -    (134)   -    (134)  

Total transactions with shareholders 34  916   (134)  15,063   -    (15,587)  293   -   293  

Shareholders' equity at 1 January 2013 11,593  165,511   (134)  55,573  2,769  22,901  258,213  412  258,625  

Income (loss) for the period 16,815  16,815  7  16,822  

Change in translation differences  -    -    -    -    (6,783)   -    (6,783)   (5)   (6,788)  
Changes in fair value of debt on non-controll ing interests  -    -    -    (1,175)   -    -    (1,175)   -    (1,175)  
Changes in fair value of hedging instruments, net of tax  -    -    -   971   -    -   971   -   971  
Actuarial gains and losses, net of tax   -    -    -   785   -    -   785   -   785  

Other comprehensive income  -    -    -   581   (6,783)   -    (6,202)   (5)   (6,207)  

Comprehensive income for the period  -    -    -   581   (6,783)  16,815  10,613  2  10,615  

Appropriation of income  -    -    -   22,901   -    (22,901)   -    -    -   
Dividends paid 19  617   -    (820)   -    -    (184)   -    (184)  
Stock options exercised 153  2,930   -    -    -    -   3,083   -   3,083  
Stock option benefits  -    -    -   513   -    -   513   -   513  
Change in treasury shares  -    -    (291)   -    -    -    (291)   (291)  
Equity component of convertible bonds, net of tax  -    -    -   826   -    -   826   -   826  
Other  -    -   2   -    -   2   -   2  

Total transactions with shareholders 172  3,547   (291)  23,421   -    (22,901)  3,949   -   3,949  

Shareholders' equity at 31 December 2013 11,765  169,058   (425)  79,575   (4,013)  16,815  272,775  414  273,189  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.1 Key events for the year 

1.1.1 Convertible debt issue 

On 17 January 2013 Naturex launched an €18 million OCEANE convertible bond issue (257,143 bonds with a par value 
of €70 each maturing on 30 June 2019).  

This bond issue was carried out through a private placement with €12 million taken up by France's Strategic Investment 
Fund (Fonds stratégique d’Investissement or FSI) and €6 million by Salvepar (Tikehau Capital Group).  

Net proceeds from the issue amounted to €17.6 million. 

 
Details of the bond issue are presented in the management report under "IV.3 Potential capital".  

1.1.2 Creation of a joint venture with Aker 

In February 2013, Naturex announced the creation of a joint venture "Aker Biomarine Manufacturing LLC" with Aker 
BioMarine, the Norwegian-based world leader in krill harvesting and specialised in the development, production and 
commercialisation of Omega-3 rich krill oil-based products. 

This joint venture, whose production plant is based in the US, combines Aker BioMarine's know-how with Naturex's 
expertise in extraction, and guarantees increased volumes for sourcing krill oil, supplementing production site of 
Naturex Spain SL. 

1.1.3 Acquisition of Natraceutical Industrial SL 

Naturex acquired Natraceutical Industrial SL (renamed Naturex Industrial SL) in July 2013 for €8.7 million. This company 
was made up mainly of the property assets of the Valence production site originating from the former ingredient's 
division of Natraceutical.  

This acquisition is in line with the Group strategy to secure its production base along with significant capacity for 
industrial expansion in Europe. 

1.1.4 Acquisition of majority stake in Chile Botanics 

In December 2013, the Group acquired 51% of Chile Botanics' capital, through Naturex Chile S.p.A specifically created 
for that purpose, by taking up the capital increase of US$3.2 million. 

Chile Botanics is a Chilean company specialised in the production and sale of Quillaja extracts. 

This investment fits the Group's strategy of pursuing selective external growth opportunities using a collaborative 
approach to its equity positions. This strategy allows it to address the principal market trend related challenges: access 
to differentiating or complementary raw materials, penetrating or strengthening local positions in geographical markets 
with strong potential, developing an offering combining quality, innovation and sustainability. 
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1.1.5 Organic growth 

Consolidated revenue in fiscal 2013 reached €320.8 million, up 7.0% on the prior period despite a difficult worldwide 
economic environment and adverse currency effects. At constant exchange rates, annual sales rose 9.7% including 
organic growth of 8.0% and 1.7% from changes in Group structure (mainly Decas Botanical Synergies). This good 
performance reflects both the Group's strategy to build an increasingly differentiated product offering and extended 
geographical coverage. 

1.1.6 Commercial operations 

The Group has strengthened its worldwide commercial operations with the creation of three new sales offices in the 
United States (Chicago, Atlanta and Dallas) and the creation of a distribution subsidiary in South Africa (in formation). 

1.2 Subsequent events  

There are no post-closing events to report having occurred since the end of the period.  
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NOTE 2 INFORMATION ON CONSOLIDATION 

Consolidated subsidiaries and basis of consolidation 

At 31 December 2013, the Group's consolidated operations included the following companies: 

 
 

Changes in Group structure in the period 

Five companies joined the Group in 2013: 

- AKER Biomarine Manufacturing LLC (equity method consolidation) 
- AKER Biomarine Financing LLC (equity method consolidation) 
- Naturex Chile SpA 
- Chile Botanics 
- Naturex Industrial SL 

The contribution of fully consolidated companies to income and shareholders' equity for the period is disclosed in Note 
6. 

Because the impact of these acquisitions on the Group structure is less than 25%, the Group has not produced proforma 
financial statements.  

Company name Country Controlling 
interest (%)

Ownership 
interest (%)

Naturex SA France N/A N/A
KF Specialty Ingredients Pty Ltd.                    Australia 100% 100%
Naturex AG Switzerland 100% 100%
Naturex Australia Pty Ltd. Australia 100% 100%
Naturex Chile Chile 100% 100%
Naturex Coöperatief U.A Netherlands 100% 100%
Naturex Cooperative LLC United States 100% 100%
Naturex (South Korea) South Korea 100% 100%
Naturex - DBS LLC United States 95% 95%
Naturex GMBH Germany 100% 100%
Naturex Holdings Inc. United States 100% 100%
Naturex Inc. United States 100% 100%
Naturex Inc. (Canada) Canada 100% 100%
Naturex - Ingredientes Naturais Ltda Brazil 100% 100%
Naturex Ingredientes Naturales S.A. de C.V Mexico 100% 100%
Naturex K.K Japan 100% 100%
Naturex LLC Russia 99% 99%
Naturex Ltd. United Kingdom 100% 100%
Naturex Maroc Morocco 96% 96%
Naturex SpA Italy 100% 100%
Naturex Spain SL Spain 100% 100%
Naturex Industrial SL Spain 100% 100%
Naturex SPRL Belgium 100% 100%
Naturex Trading Shanghai Co, Ltd. China 100% 100%
Itrad Ivory Coast 100% 100%
Valentine Agro Private Limited India 100% 100%
Valentine Agro Private Limited India 100% 100%
Zpow Pektowin SA Poland 100% 100%
Naturex UK United Kingdom 100% 100%
SCI Les Broquetons France 100% 100%
The Talin Co Ltd. United Kingdom 100% 100%
Chile Botanics Chile 51% 51%
Aker Biomarine Manufacturing LLC United States 50% 50%
AKER Biomarine Financing LLC United States 50% 50%
Biopolis Spain 25% 25% Not consolidated

Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Equity accounted
Equity accounted

Full consolidation

Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation

Full consolidation

Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation

Full consolidation

Consolidation method

Full consolidation
Full consolidation
Full consolidation
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2.3 Organisational structure 

 

100% 100%

100%

100%

100%

51%
100%

100%
100%

100% 0.002%
99.99%

100%

100%

100%

99%

96.30% 100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100% Legend
Geographic region

100% Europe/Africa

Americas
100%

Asia/Pacific

100%

Naturex Inc.
United States United States

Naturex Spain SL 

Naturex S.A
France

Naturex Holdings Inc.

Naturex AG Naturex - DBS LLC
Switzerland (ex Decas Botanical Synergies)

United States

Naturex Industrial SL 

Spain Aker Biomarine Financing LLC
United States

Naturex Chile SpA
Chile Aker Biomarine Manufacturing LLC

United States
Chile Botanics S.A

Chile Akbmf Sarl
France 

Naturex SPRL

Spain Naturex Cooperative LLC
United States

Naturex Trading Shanghai Co, Ltd.
China Naturex Coöperatief U.A.

Netherlands
Naturex SpA

Italy Naturex Ingredientes Naturais Ltda.
Brazil

Belgium KF Specialty Ingredients Pty Ltd
Australia

Naturex GMBH
Germany Naturex Australia Pty Ltd.

SCI Les Broquetons

Australia
Naturex LLC

Russia Naturex Ltd.
United Kingdom

Naturex Maroc S.A.
Morocco The Talin Co. Ltd.

United Kingdom
Itrad

Ivory Coast

Pektowin S.A Spzoo

France

Spaciotempo UK Ltd.
United Kingdom

Naturex Ingredientes Naturales SA de CV
Mexico

Naturex Inc.
Canada

Naturex K.K
Japan

Naturex
South Korea

South Africa 

Poland

Valentine Agro Pvt Ltd.
India

Valentine Foods Pvt Ltd.
India

Naturex Pty Ltd. 
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NOTE 3 COMPLIANCE STATEMENT  
In compliance with EC regulation No. 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002, governing the consolidated financial statements of 
European companies listed on regulated markets, and given its listing in a country of the European Union, the 
consolidated financial statements of Naturex SA and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) have been 
drawn up in accordance with the IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) accounting standards, as adopted 
within the European Union. 

Naturex’s consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2013 were drawn up in accordance with the principles 
governing the accounting and valuation of transactions as they are stipulated in the IFRS standards applying within the 
European Union. They were also drawn up in accordance with the regulations governing the presentation and content 
of financial statements as defined by the General Regulation of the AMF.  

The Group’s consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2013, were approved by the Board of Directors’ meeting 
of 28 March 2014 and will be submitted to the next Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, which in theory may modify them.  

 

NOTE 4 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND METHODS 

4.1  New standards and interpretations applied on 1 January2013 

4.1.1 Note on the early adoption on 31 December 2012 of Amended IAS 19 

The Group applied Amended IAS 19 in advance as of 31 December 2012. The impact of actuarial gains and losses 
previously recognised through profit and loss is now recognised under other comprehensive income.  

4.1.2 Amendment to IAS 1 on the presentation of other comprehensive income 

Application of the amendment to IAS 1 "Presentation of other comprehensive income" is mandatory for periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The presentation of the consolidated financial statements of Naturex at 31 
December 2013 is impacted by the application of the amendment of this standard. The Group presents separately 
comprehensive income items that may be recycled or not through profit or loss. 

4.1.3 IFRS 13 on fair value measurement 

IFRS 13 provides for a new framework for measuring fair value and related disclosures when permitted or required by 
other IFRSs. This standard provides for a single definition of fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. This 
standard replaces and expands the disclosures to be provided for measuring fair value according to other IFRS, including 
IFRS 7 "Financial instruments: disclosures". The Group has provided additional information in consequence (see note 
9). 

In accordance with IFRS 13 transitional provisions, the Group has applied the new provisions for measuring fair value 
on a prospective basis and has not produced comparative data for these new disclosures. These modifications have not 
had a material impact on the measurement of Group assets and liabilities. " 
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4.2 New standards and interpretations in issue not yet adopted 

New standards, amendments and interpretations will come into effect for financial periods commencing on or after 1 
January 2014 and therefore have not been taken into consideration in preparing these consolidated financial 
statements; Those of relevance for the Group are listed below. The Group has not or does not plan on applying these 
standards in advance.  

FRS 10 "Consolidated financial statements, IFRS 11 "Joint arrangements", IFRS 12, "Disclosure of 
interests in other entities:   

IFRS 10 introduces a single control model for determining if an investee entity must be consolidated. 

According to IFRS 11, even though the existence of a joint arrangement remains an important factor, it is no longer the 
main factor taken into account to determine its accounting treatment and consequently subsequent recognition. 

IFRS 12 covers within a single standard, disclosure requirements for entities having interests in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. 

The Group will not have grounds*** to revise its conclusions with respect to its consolidated operations or to modify 
the recognition for certain of its entities. The Group is currently assessing the provisions for disclosure requirements 
under IFRS 12 compared with those currently required. 

4.3 Estimates and judgements 

When drawing up consolidated financial statements, assumptions, estimates or assessments are sometimes needed to 
establish certain data shown in the financial statements, particularly when it comes to calculating provisions and 
carrying out impairment tests. These assumptions, estimates or assessments are established on the basis of the 
information available or actual situations when the accounts are closed. 

Underlying estimates and assumptions are based on past experience and other factors that are deemed to be plausible 
in light of the circumstances. They in turn serve as a basis for establishing the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, 
which cannot be directly ascertained from other sources. Actual values can differ from estimated amounts. 

Underlying estimates and assumptions are constantly re-examined. The impact of changes in accounting estimates is 
recognised during the period in question when only that period is affected or during the period and any subsequent 
periods where the latter are also affected by the change. 

All information on the main areas of uncertainty related to the estimates and judgements made in applying the 
accounting methods likely to have the most significant impacts on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, 
is reported in the following notes: 

- Note 5.1  Valuation rules and methods – Goodwill 
- Note 5.5  Valuation rules and methods – Inventories 
- Note 5.12 Valuation rules and methods – Taxes  

4.4 Seasonal effects 

Naturex’s activities have a very limited exposure to seasonal effects.  

While the supply of certain raw materials is dependent on harvesting times, it is largely spread over the full year with a 
slight peak in spring and at the start of summer. The supply of extracts is not affected at all by any seasonal effects. 
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Group sales are overall subject to a limited seasonality effect. Certain specific product ranges are subject to seasonal 
effects, such as colouring agents and flavourings for drinks in the Food & Beverage Division in spring and summer, and 
a few of the Nutrition & Health product ranges, which record higher growth in autumn and winter. Overall, these 
products offset each other and the Group’s product mix is such that it is not exposed to any marked seasonal impact. 

4.5 Initial recognition of assets and liabilities 

The closing date for all annual financial statements is 31 December. The account closing date for the Valentine 
companies was 31 March for their statutory accounts and 31 December for consolidation purposes. 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the parent company as well as those 
companies controlled by the parent at the end of the reporting period. The notion of control in this context is taken to 
mean the power to define and manage the financial and operational strategies of a company in order to benefit from 
its activities. The subsidiaries over which the group exercises control, whether directly or indirectly, are fully 
consolidated. 

Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions are booked at the historic exchange rate when they are carried out.  

The gains/losses on foreign exchanges resulting from these conversions are recognised in the income statement, except 
for a financial liability designated as a hedge for a net investment in a foreign entity or instruments characterised as 
cash flow hedges, which are recognised as other items in comprehensive income. 

When the settlement of a monetary item representing a receivable or payable linked to a foreign investment, is not 
scheduled or likely in the foreseeable future, the resulting foreign exchange gains and losses are considered part of the 
net investment in the foreign operation and recognised under other comprehensive income and presented in the 
translation reserve. 

Translation of financial statements expressed in foreign currencies 

The financial statements of the Group's foreign subsidiaries are held in their functional currency. 

The balance sheets of companies whose functional currency is not the consolidation currency are converted into euros 
at the closing exchange rate, except for shareholders' equity, which is converted at its historical exchange rate. 

Income statements are converted at the average exchange rate for the period which, excluding occurrences of major 
currency fluctuations, generally closely corresponds to the exchange rate at the transaction date.  

Translation differences are recorded separately in the "Translation adjustments" line item under shareholders' equity. 
They include the impact of changes in exchange rates on assets and liabilities and the difference between income 
calculated using the average exchange rate and income calculated using the closing exchange rate.  

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries whose functional currency are not the 
euro are considered as assets and liabilities of the subsidiary. They are therefore expressed in the subsidiary's functional 
currency and converted at the closing exchange rate. 
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The exchange rates used were as follows:  

 

 

NOTE 5 VALUATION RULES AND METHODS 

5.1 Business combinations 

5.1.1 Goodwill 

Pursuant to the revised IFRS 3 accounting standard, during a business combination, the Group measures goodwill as the 
fair value of the counterparty transferred (including the fair value of any equity investments previously held in the 
acquired company) plus the amount recognised for any equity investments that do not confer control of the acquired 
company, less the net amount recognised (generally the fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. All of these items are measured at the acquisition date. When the difference is negative, a profit on the 
acquisition at advantageous conditions is immediately recognised in the income statement. 

The Group chooses to value on the acquisition date on a transaction-by-transaction basis any equity investment not 
conferring control, either at fair value or at the share of the acquired company’s net identifiable assets. 

For acquisitions completed prior to 1 January 2010, goodwill represents the surplus of the acquisition cost compared to 
the Group’s share in the amounts recognised (generally at fair value) for assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.  

Business combinations from 1 January 2010 and thereafter are recognised according to Revised IFRS 3 "Business 
combinations" and Amended IAS 27 "Consolidated and separate financial statements." These standards are applied on 
a prospective basis. The main impact of these standards on the Group’s consolidated financial statements is as follows: 

- Acquisition-related costs are expensed on the acquisition date, 
- Contingent consideration is recognised under equity when payment is based on the settlement of a fixed number 

of shares. In other cases, contingent consideration is recognised under business combination liabilities, 
- Adjustments in the value of assets and liabilities relating to acquisitions recognised on a provisional basis (due to 

the absence of the results of appraisals or additional analysis) are recognised as a retrospective adjustment of 

31/12/2013 31/12/2012 2013 2012
Australia EUR / AUD 1.5423           1.2712           1.3667           1.2436           
Brazil EUR / BRL 3.2576           2.7036           2.8175           2.5474           
Canada EUR / CAD 1.4671           1.3137           1.3660           1.2910           
Chile EUR / CLP 723.2380      723.2380      
China EUR / RMB 8.3491           8.2207           8.1762           8.1362           
South Korea EUR / KRW 1,450.9300   1,406.2300   1,450.9300   1,406.2300   
Ivory Coast EUR / XOF 655.9570      655.9570      655.9570      655.9570      
India EUR / INR 85.3660         72.5600         77.7460         69.4944         
Japan EUR / JPY 144.7200      113.6100      126.2554      101.9949      
Morocco EUR / MAD 11.2389         11.1454         11.1990         11.1733         
Mexico EUR / MXN 18.0731         17.1845         17.0220         17.0464         
Poland EUR / PLN 4.1543           4.0740           4.2184           4.1694           
Russia EUR / RUB 45.3246         40.3295         42.3763         40.1561         
Switzerland EUR / CHF 1.2276           1.2072           1.2269           1.2052           
UK EUR / GBP 0.8337           0.8161           0.8482           0.8133           
USA EUR / USD 1.3791           1.3194           1.3253           1.2901           

Country Currencies Closing exchange rate Average exchange rate
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goodwill if they occur within 12 months of the acquisition date. Beyond this period, impacts are recognised directly 
in profit or loss except where they represent the correction of errors. 

Acquisition-related costs, other than those related to the issue of a debt or equity securities the Group would incur due 
to the business combination, were accounted for in the acquisition cost. 

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units (CGUs).  

The CGUs adopted by the Group correspond to the three operating segments described in Note 5.11: 

- Americas ; 
- Europe/Africa; 
- Asia/Pacific. 

In accordance with revised IFRS 3 governing "Business combinations", goodwill is not amortised. It is subject to an 
impairment test as soon as there is any indication of impairment and at least once a year. 

In accordance with IAS 36, the method used by the Group to test impairment of assets involves: 

- Establishing after tax cash flows based on the strategic plan of the CGU in question; 
- Determining the asset’s value in use comparable to the company valuation method by discounting cash flows (DCF) 

according to the sector’s weighted average cost of capital (WACC); and 
- Comparing this going concern value to the asset’s carrying amount to determine whether there is impairment or 

not. 

The discount rate used in these calculations is the WACC after capital tax. 

The going concern value is determined according to the present value of projected future operating cash flows over a 
5-year period plus a residual value.  

In the sector of speciality plant-based natural ingredients, key assumptions used for determining value in use are of the 
same nature and based on the level of current operating income. These assumptions include: 

- The level of the market,  
- The competitive environment, 
- The regulatory environment, 
- The level of capital expenditures. 

Values assigned to each of these partners reflect both past experience and trends anticipated in the plan. 

5.1.2 Put options granted to non-controlling interests  

In accordance with IAS 32, Financial instruments – Presentation, when holders of non-controlling interests have put 
options for the sale of their interest to the Group, a financial liability for the forward obligation to purchase the equity 
instruments is recorded for the amount corresponding to the actual value of the option exercise price.  

In the absence of IFRS recommendations, the Group has opted to recognize subsequent changes in the fair value of 
these liabilities under equity. 

Under the Group's accounting policy, non-controlling interests linked to NCI purchase obligations are not recognized 
and the “anticipated acquisition” method is applied. 
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5.2 Intangible assets (excluding goodwill) 

Research and development 

Research expenditures incurred for the purposes of gaining understanding and new scientific or technical knowledge 
are expensed when incurred. 

Development activities imply the existence of a production plan or model for the production of new products and 
processes or for substantial improvements to them. Development expenditures are capitalised if and only if the costs 
can be measured reliably and if the Group can demonstrate the technical and commercial feasibility of the product or 
process, the existence of likely future economic benefits and its intention as well as the availability of sufficient 
resources to complete the development and use or sell the asset. Expenditures recognised as assets include the costs 
of materials, direct labour and overheads directly attributable and necessary to prepare the asset to be used as 
scheduled plus the capitalised borrowing costs. Other development expenditures are expensed when incurred. 

Development expenditures recorded under assets are recognised at cost, less any cumulative amortisation and 
impairment. 

Other intangible assets acquired are recognised at cost, less any cumulative amortisation and impairment. 

Estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 

5.3 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less any cumulative depreciation and impairment. 

Depreciation is expensed according to the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each tangible asset. 

Estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 

Leasing contracts that result in the transfer to the Group of substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset are classified as finance leases.  

Investment grants are recognised as deferred income and recorded in income symmetrically over the asset’s useful life.  

Grants that offset costs incurred by the Group are recognised symmetrically in income over the period during which the 
costs are recognised. 

5.4 Interest in equity-accounted associates 

Group's interest in equity accounted entities includes interests in associates and joint ventures. 

Fixed asset category Useful life

Customer goodwill Straight-line: 8 to 12 years
Software Straight-line: 3 to 5 years
Patents Straight-line: 10 to 20 years
Trademarks Straight-line: 4 to 5 years
Development expenditure Straight-line: 5 years

Fixed asset category Useful life

Buildings on own land Straight-line: 15 to 20 years
Buildings on leasehold property Straight-line: 10 to 20 years
Plant, machinery and equipment Straight-line: 5 to 10 years
Other tangible assets Straight-line: up to 10 years
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An associate (joint operation) is an entity over which the Group has significant influence on its financial and operating 
policies but not control or joint control.  

A joint venture is a joint arrangement conferring upon the Group the joint control giving it rights to the net assets the 
relating to the arrangement but not rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. 

Group interests in associates (joint operations) and joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method. On initial 
recognition they are recorded at cost which includes transaction costs. After initial recognition, the consolidated 
financial statements include the Group share in net income and other comprehensive income items from equity 
accounted entities until the date on which it no longer exercises significant influence or joint control. 

5.5 Inventories 

The cost of inventories is evaluated by batch at the cost price and includes purchase costs for raw materials, production 
or transformation costs, the appropriate share of the indirect costs based on the normal production capacity and the 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.  

Inventories are measured at the lower of the cost and the net realisable value. 

5.6 Financial instruments 

5.6.1 Non-derivative financial assets 

Non-derivative financial assets held by the Group include deposits and guarantees, non-consolidated securities, 
receivables, cash equivalents and financial assets held for sale. 

Financial assets 

Financial assets consist of deposits and guarantees and non-consolidated securities. They are recognised at fair value 
and, in the rare cases when the fair value cannot be obtained, measured at historical cost. 

When there is an objective indication of impairment, significant and sustainable impairment is recognised on the income 
statement. 

Trade and other receivables 

Accounts receivable are valued at their fair value when they are first booked and then at their amortised cost, less any 
impairment. A provision for impairment is recognised when there is a collection risk (even partial) on receivables. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include liquidities, bank current accounts, very short-term marketable securities readily 
convertible into liquidities and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

5.6.2 Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Except when hedged for fair value, financial liabilities are valued at amortised cost according to the effective interest 
rate method. 
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5.6.3 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest and foreign exchange rates.  

When the hedge is initially designated, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument 
and the hedged instrument, the risk management objectives and the strategy followed when the hedge is set up, as 
well as the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Group assesses, when 
the hedging relationship is set up and on a continuous basis, if it expects the hedging instruments to be "highly effective" 
at offsetting the changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged items over the period for which the hedge is 
designated. 

For a cash flow hedge related to a planned transaction, it must be highly likely that the transaction will take place and 
this transaction must include exposure to changes in cash flow that could end up impacting the result. 

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value. After the initial recognition, derivatives are valued at fair value and the 
resulting variations are recognised using the methods described above. 

Cash flow hedges 

When a derivative is designated as a hedging instrument in a hedge of cash flow variations that can be attributed to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or with a planned transaction that is highly likely and that 
could impact the result, the effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other 
items of comprehensive income and is shown in the hedging reserve in shareholders' equity. The amount recognised in 
other items of comprehensive income is removed and included in the income statement for the period during which 
the hedged cash flow impacts earnings; this amount is recognised on the same line of comprehensive income as the 
hedged item.  

Any ineffective portion of the changes in the derivative’s fair value is immediately recognised in the income statement. 

The Group has set up interest rate swaps to cover its risks on cash flows. 

Fair value hedging 

A fair value hedge covers changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability, or of a non-recognised firm 
commitment, which can impact earnings. 

For hedging the fair value of existing assets and liabilities, the hedged portion of these items is valued on the balance 
sheet at its fair value. The change in this fair value is recognised on the income statement where it is offset by the 
symmetric changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments. 

In order to hedge its foreign exchange risk, the Group has set up foreign exchange hedges on its borrowings in a foreign 
currency. At the end of the reporting period, these hedges had been fully amortized***. 

5.7 Discontinued operations, assets and liabilities held for sale 

In accordance with IFRS 5, assets and liabilities held for immediate sale in their present condition, and consequently 
whose sale is highly probable, are shown on the balance sheet as assets and liabilities held for sale. When a group of 
assets is held for sale in a single transaction, the group and all related liabilities are recognised as a single unit. The sale 
must take place within one year of the asset or group of assets being so recognised. 
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The assets or group of assets held for sale are valued at the lowest price between their net carrying amount and the net 
fair value of the cost of the sale. Non-current assets shown on the balance sheet as held for sale are no longer 
depreciated once they are presented as such. 

Income from discontinued operations is presented separately from income generated by ongoing operations and their 
cash flows are presented on a distinct line on the cash flow statement. 

5.8 Employee benefits 

Post-employment benefits granted by the Group vary according to the legal obligations and the policy of each subsidiary 
in this matter. They include defined contribution and defined benefit schemes. 

With regards to defined contribution schemes, the Group's obligations are limited to the payment of periodical 
contributions to outside organisations that provide the administrative and financial management for them. The 
expenses recognised for these plans correspond to the contributions paid during the period of reference. 

A defined benefit plan represents a form of post-employment benefits distinct from a defined contribution plan. The 
Group's obligation for defined benefit schemes is measured separately for each plan by estimating future benefits 
vested by the employee for service rendered in the current and previous periods that is discounted to determine its 
present value. This value is then reduced by the fair value of plan assets to determine the net benefit liability (asset). 
Net interest expense (income) on the defined benefit liability (assets) for the period is determined by applying the 
discount rate used at the beginning of the period to measure the net defined benefit obligation to the net benefit liability 
(asset). 

The discount rate equals the interest rate at year-end for AA+ rated corporate bonds with maturities close to those of 
the obligations of the Group and in the currency in which benefits are paid.  

These calculations are performed every year by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the 
calculation of the net obligation results in an asset for the Group, the corresponding amount recognised may not exceed 
the present value of any economic benefit available in the form of future refunds or reductions in future plan 
contributions. All minimum funding requirements applicable to Group plans are taken into account to calculate the 
present value of economic benefits. An economic benefit is available for the Group if it can be realised during the life of 
the plan or the settlement dates for plan liabilities.  

Net liabilities (assets) remeasured for defined benefits include actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets 
(excluding amounts taken  into account to calculate net interest on net liabilities (assets) and changes in the asset ceiling 
(excluding amounts taken into account in the calculation of net interest on net benefit liabilities (assets), as applicable. 
These are then immediately recognised by the Group under other comprehensive income and all expenses relating to 
defined benefit plans are recognised in the income statement for employee benefits. 

When adjustments are made to plan benefits, the impact associated to past service rendered by employees is 
immediately recognised in profit or loss at the time of the adjustment. In the case of plan curtailments, the 
corresponding gain or loss is also recognised in the income statement on the curtailment date. 

The Group recognises gains and losses from the settlement of a defined benefit plan at the time of the settlement. Gains 
or losses arising from a settlement equal the difference between the present value of the obligation for the defined 
benefit settled determined on the settlement date, and the consideration for the settlement, including total plan assets 
transferred and all payments directly made by the Group in connection with the settlement. 
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5.9 Provisions 

A provision is booked when the Group has a current legal or implicit obligation resulting from a past event, when the 
obligation can be estimated in a reliable manner and when it is likely that an outflow of resources representing economic 
benefits will be necessary in order to settle the obligation. The amount of the provision is determined by discounting 
expected future cash flows at the pre-tax rate reflecting the market’s current assessments of the time value of money 
and the specific risks concerning this liability. The impact of the accretion is recognised as a financial expense. 

5.10 Asset sales 

The proceeds from asset sales are recognised in the income statement when substantially all the significant risks and 
rewards incident to ownership of the assets have been transferred to the buyer. 

Consolidated revenue consists of the total sales (excluding tax) resulting from the ordinary activities of consolidated 
group companies, after elimination of internal transactions. 

5.11 Segment information 

Pursuant to IFRS 8 concerning segment information, the Group defines an operating segment as a component of an 
entity: 

- that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, 
- whose operating income is reviewed regularly by the entity's chief operating decision-maker to make decisions 

about allocating resources to the segment and to assess its performance, and  
- For which discrete financial information is available. 

 

The internal reporting system made available to Naturex's chief operating decision makers is structured in the same 
way as the Group's management organisation which is based on the following three geographic regions: 

- Americas: including the companies Naturex Inc., Naturex Ingredientes Naturais Ltda, Naturex Inc Canada, Naturex 
Ingredientes Naturales S.A de C.V, Naturex Dbs LLC, Chile Botanics, Aker Biomarine Manufacturing LLC; 

- Europe/Africa : including companies of the Naturex SA Group, Naturex SPA, Naturex Ltd, SCI Les Broquetons, 
Naturex Maroc, Naturex UK Ltd, Naturex AG, Naturex SL, Naturex GMBH, Naturex SPRL, Naturex LLC, Pektowin, 
Itrad; Naturex Industrial SL,Naturex PTY  

- Asia/Pacific: including companies of the Naturex Group Trading Shanghai, KF Specialty Ingredients PTY LTD, Naturex 
Australia PTY LTD, Naturex KK, Naturex Coree, Valentine Agro Pvt Ltd and Valentine Foods Pvt Ltd. 

The Group identifies and presents its operating segments based on the information reported to the Group's 
management.  

5.12 - Income tax 

Income tax includes tax payable and deferred tax. Payable and deferred taxes are recognised in the income statement 
except when they are attached to a business combination or to items that are recognised directly as shareholders' equity 
or as other items in comprehensive income. 

Current tax is (i) the estimated amount of the tax owed (or receivable) for the taxable profit (or loss) for a period, 
determined by using the income tax rates that have been adopted or practically adopted on the closing date, and (ii) 
any adjustment in the amount of the tax payable for prior periods. Current tax also includes any tax liabilities generated 
by the declaration of dividends. 



Chapter 6 

Consolidated financial statements and Notes 
 

178  2013 Registration Document 

Accounting treatments or corrections carried out in the consolidation can result in a change in the results of the 
consolidated companies. The timing differences that appear on the balance sheet between the consolidated values and 
the tax values of the corresponding assets and liabilities give rise to the calculation of deferred taxes. 

In accordance with IAS 12, the Group presents deferred taxes on the consolidated balance sheet separately from the 
other assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are written to the balance sheet when it is more likely than not that they 
will be recovered in later years. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 

In order to assess the Group’s ability to recover these assets, the following items in particular are taken into account: 

- Forecasts of future taxable income; and 
- history of taxable income for prior years. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are valued using the balance sheet liability method (i.e.; using the tax rate that is 
expected to be applied over the period when the carrying amount of the asset or liability is recovered or settled, based 
on the income tax rate (and tax regulations) that have been adopted or practically adopted at the closing date, taking 
any future increases or decreases in the rates into account. 

The valuation for deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would result from the way the 
company expects, on the closing date, to recover or settle the book carrying amount of these assets and liabilities. 

5.13 Earnings per share 

Earnings and diluted earnings per share are presented for the earnings attributable to Company shareholders. 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income for the period attributable to shareholders by the 
average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the period, adjusted for treasury shares. 

When calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit attributable to shares and the average number of shares in 
circulation are adjusted for the effects of all the potentially dilutive ordinary shares. 

5.14 Employee equity compensation 

In accordance with IFRS 2 "Share-based compensation," the fair value of subscription or purchase options and offers 
reserved for employees concerning Group shares are valued on the day they are granted. 

The value of subscription and purchase options is based on the strike price, the probability that the conditions will be 
met for exercising the option, the lifespan of the option, the current price of the underlying shares, the expected 
volatility of the share price, the expected dividends and the risk-free interest rate over the option’s lifespan. This value 
is recorded as a payroll expense on a straight-line basis over the period the rights are acquired with a corresponding 
adjustment to shareholders’ equity for plans settled in shares and employee payables for plans that are settled in cash. 
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NOTE 6 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

6.1 NATUREX DBS LLC 

In September 2012, the Group acquired 95%of the shares of Decas Botanical Synergies, renamed Naturex DBS LLC. The 
remaining 5% stake is held by management of Naturex DBS LLC. Naturex DBS LLC is a US company specialised in 
Cranberry extracts and powders for the nutraceuticals applications for manufacturers.  

This company was consolidated according to the "anticipated acquisition" method.  

On 18 September 2012, the company was consolidated using the full consolidation method. 

 

The definitive allocation of the acquisition price and the assets and liabilities recognised for this business combination 
break down as follows:  

 

The main fair value adjustments are described hereafter: 

(a) The remeasurement of intangible assets concerns mainly customer lists and trademarks. 
(b) An impairment loss of €1.7 million was recorded on inventory. 

  

In €000s

Carrying 
amounts
acquired

Fair value 
adjustments

Detailed 
disclosures

Fair value
at acquisition 

date
Property, plant and equipment 157   - 157  
Intangible assets 272  1,227  (a) 1,499  
Financial assets  -  -  -
Inventories 2,097   (392)    (b) 1,705  
Trade and other receivables 1,283   - 1,283  
Current tax receivables  -  -  -
Deferred tax assets  - 151  151  
Cash and cash equivalents  -  -  -
Borrowings  -  -  -
Deferred tax l iabil ities  -  -  -
Provisions  -  -  -
Trade and other payables  (326)     (16)     (342)  
Current tax l iabil ities  -  -  -
Identifiable net assets and liabilities 3,483  971  4,453  
Goodwill from the acquisition 11,403  
Consideration paid in cash 15,064  
Consideration recognised as short-term financial debt  -
Consideration recognised as long-term financial debt 792  
Net cash acquired  -
Net cash outflow 15,064  
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6.2 VALENTINE 

In March 2012, NATUREX acquired VALENTINE, an Indian company specialised in the production of fruit and vegetable 
powders plus natural colours for the food processing industry.  

At 31 December 2013, Valentine was wholly own by Naturex.  

These two companies were fully consolidated by the Group on 1 April 2012.  

The definitive allocation of the acquisition price and the assets and liabilities recognised for this business combination 
break down as follows:  

 

The main fair value adjustments are described hereafter: 

(a) €1.2 million from remeasurement of fair value of all property by an independent appraiser; 
(b) Inventories remeasured at fair value for €456,000; 
(c) An impairment loss of €81,000 recorded for real estate. 

  

In €000s

Carrying 
amounts
acquired

Fair value 
adjustments

Detailed 
disclosures

Fair value
at acquisition 

date
Property, plant and equipment 1,102  98  (a) 1,200  
Intangible assets  -  -  -
Financial assets 10   - 10  
Inventories 618   (161)    (b) 456  
Trade and other receivables 315   (81)    (c) 233  
Current tax receivables  -  -  -
Deferred tax assets  - 85  85  
Cash and cash equivalents  (395)     -  (395)  
Borrowings  (362)     -  (362)  
Deferred tax l iabil ities  (115)     (30)     (145)  
Provisions  (4)     -  (4)  
Trade and other payables  (212)     (34)     (246)  
Current tax l iabil ities  (84)     -  (84)  
Identifiable net assets and liabilities 874   (123)    751  
Goodwill from the acquisition 5,275  
Consideration paid in cash 6,025  
Consideration recognised as short-term financial debt  -
Consideration recognised as long-term financial debt
Net cash acquired  (395)  
Net cash outflow 6,420  
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6.3 ITRAD 

In 2012, Naturex acquired all the ownership interests of the Abidjan-based Ivory Coast company ITRAD, specialised in 
Aril harvesting for the food industry.  

Itrad was fully consolidated by the Group on 1 July 2012. 

The definitive allocation of the acquisition price and the assets and liabilities recognised for this business combination 
break down as follows:  

 

6.4 Chile Botanics 

The Group acquired 51% of Chile Botanics' shares in December 2013 by subscribing for the capital increase of 
US$3.2 million. The remaining 49% stake is held by management of Chile Botanics S.A. Chile Botanics is a Chilean 
company specialised in the production and sale of Quillaja extracts.  

This company was consolidated according to the "anticipated acquisition" method.  

On 23 December 2013, the company was consolidated using the full consolidation method. 

  

In €000s

Carrying 
amounts
acquired

Fair value 
adjustments

Detailed 
disclosures

Fair value
at acquisition 

date
Property, plant and equipment 105   (15)    90  
Intangible assets  -  -  -
Financial assets 14   - 14  
Inventories  -  -  -
Trade and other receivables 69   - 69  
Current tax receivables  -  -  -
Deferred tax assets  - 22  22  
Cash and cash equivalents 104   - 104  
Borrowings  (2)     -  (2)  
Deferred tax l iabil ities  -  -  -
Provisions  (60)     (36)     (96)  
Trade and other payables  (195)     (37)     (232)  
Current tax l iabil ities  (10)     -  (10)  
Identifiable net assets and liabilities 25   (65)     (41)  
Goodwill from the acquisition 107  
Consideration paid in cash 66  
Consideration recognised as short-term financial debt  -
Consideration recognised as long-term financial debt  -
Net cash acquired 104  
Net cash outflow  (38)  
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The provisional allocation of the acquisition price and the assets and liabilities recognised for this business combination 
break down as follows:  

 

Pursuant to IFRS 3, Chile Botanics goodwill may be revised within the 12 months following the acquisition. 

 

Note 7 GOODWILL 
 

 

The change in fair value for the period results mainly from the remeasurement of the fair value for Naturex DBS LLC 
intangible assets for €1.2 million. 

The increase relating to a first-time consolidation reflects the acquisition of Chile Botanics S.A. for €1.9 million. 

Goodwill is subject to annual impairment tests.  

Impairment tests were carried out on 31 December 2013, based on the following assumptions: 

- 5-year cash flows based on the 2013 actual and projections for the next 4 years. These projections are primarily 
indexed on past experience and adjusted for future medium- and long-term market forecasts. 

  

In €000s

Carrying 
amounts
acquired

Fair value 
adjustments

Detailed 
disclosures

Fair value
at acquisition 

date
Property, plant and equipment 140   - 140  
Intangible assets 45   (43)    2  
Financial assets  -  -  -
Inventories 48   - 48  
Trade and other receivables 92   - 92  
Current tax receivables  -  -  -
Deferred tax assets  -  -  -
Cash and cash equivalents 124   - 124  
Borrowings  (36)     -  (36)  
Deferred tax l iabil ities  -  -  -
Provisions  -  -  -
Trade and other payables  (175)     -  (175)  
Current tax l iabil ities  (5)     -  (5)  
Identifiable net assets and liabilities 233   (43)    190  
Goodwill from the acquisition 1,865  
Consideration paid in cash  -
Consideration recognised as short-term financial debt  -
Consideration recognised as long-term financial debt 2,055  
Net cash acquired 124  
Net cash outflow  (124)  

In €000s
01/01/2013 Fair value 

adjustments
First-time 

consolidation
Translation
differences

31/12/2013

Americas 51,429  (1,229) 1,865  (1,951) 50,114 
Europe/Africa 55,944 5 -  (546) 55,402 
Asia/Pacific 7,524 - -  (1,197) 6,326 

Total 114,895  (1,224) 1,865  (3,695) 111,843 



Chapter 6 

Consolidated financial statements and Notes 
 
 

2013 Registration Document   183 

In view of the international economic context, the Group used rates adapted to the zones concerned: 

- An after-tax discount rate for the Europe zone of 8.06 % for 2013 compared with 8.92 % in 2012, for Asia of 8.25% 
compared with 8.92% in 2012, and for the Americas zone 8.25 % compared with 8.77 % in 2012 , calculated each 
year based on the WACC (Weighted Average Cost of Capital) method (corresponding to the average cost of equity 
and the cost of debt after tax); 

- a terminal value without a terminal growth rate. 

Sensitivity to the discount rate was calculated at 31 December 2013, such that the recoverable value was equal to the 
carrying amount. The discount rates obtained are much higher than those used by the Group (10.88 % for the Europe 
zone, 22.86 % for the Asia zone and 19.66 % for the Americas zone) and indicate an absence of risk of impairment.  

Budgets are drawn up in the fourth quarter of each period in order to take into account the most up-to-date trends 
known, in particular during the first years of the plan. Sensitivities of the test to changes in assumptions to determine 
value in use of the CGUs determined at the end of 2013 are reflected in the following table: 

 

 

NOTE 8 NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

8.1 Changes in non-current assets 

At 31 December 2013, gross values of fixed assets break down as follows: 

 

At 31 December 2012, gross values of fixed assets break down as follows: 

In €000s 
Margin of test =

value in use - Net 
Discount rate + 0.5% Terminal value - 0.5%

Americas 116,995  105,201  116,279  
Europe / Africa / Russia region 65,529  50,714  64,645  
Asia region 19,111  17,347  19,003  

In €000s

01/01/2013 Other changes

First-time 
consolidations 

and value 
adjustments 

Increases
Disposals or 

decommissioned 
assets 

Translation 
differences 31/12/2013

Goodwill 114,895   - 641   -  -  (3,695)  111,843  

Commercial goodwill 4,674   - 1,001  386   -  (254)  5,806  
Software and brands 6,295  101  228  963   (1)   (52)  7,534  
Development expenditure 6,534  127   - 888   -  (26)  7,523  
Fixed assets under construction 1,556   (215)   - 1,322   -  (4)  2,658  

Other intangible assets 19,058  12  1,229  3,559   (1)   (336)  23,522  

Land 14,053  22  1,583  109   -  (276)  15,492  
Buildings & improvements 82,719  5,940  5,001  6,219   (69)   (1,465)  98,345  
Plant, machinery and equipment 67,920  3,005  169  6,207   (758)   (1,563)  74,980  
Other tangible assets 10,570  410  3  2,559   (640)   (284)  12,619  
Fixed assets under construction 10,274   (9,389)   - 8,860   (230)   (103)  9,412  

Property, plant and equipment 185,537   (12)  6,757  23,954   (1,698)   (3,690)  210,847  

Equity securities 340   -  -  -  -  - 340  
Loans 113   -  -  -  (110)   - 3  
Deposits and guarantees 4,428   -  - 330   (3,326)   (50)  1,382  

Financial assets 4,882   -  - 330   (3,436)   (50)  1,725  

Equity accounted investees  -  - 4,442   -  -  (173)  4,268  

Total non-current assets - gross value 324,372   - 13,068  27,844   (5,135)   (7,944)  352,205  
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8.1 Amortisation, depreciation and impairment 

At 31 December 2013, amortisation, depreciation and impairment on fixed assets broke down as follows: 

 

  

In €000s

01/01/2012 Other changes

First-time 
consolidations 

and value 
adjustments 

Increases
Disposals or 

decommissioned 
assets 

Translation 
differences 31/12/2012

Goodwill 93,467  - 22,117  -  -  (689)  114,895

Commercial goodwill 3,142  (221)   - 1,791  -  (38)  4,674 
Software and brands 5,118  (1)  275 907  -  (3)  6,295 
Development expenditure 4,941 1    - 1,592  -  (1)  6,534 
Fixed assets under construction 713 5    - 837  - 1   1,556 

Other intangible assets 13,913  (216)  275 5,127  -  (41)  19,058 

Land 14,042  (10)  960 735  (1,773)  99 14,053 
Buildings & improvements 75,051 1,352 378 7,566  (1,413)   (215)  82,719 
Plant, machinery and equipment 58,535 2,168 1,914 5,982  (399)   (280)  67,920 
Other tangible assets 8,517 49 270 2,154  (397)   (23)  10,570 
Intangible assets under construction 4,234  (3,343) 2 9,560  (192)  13   10,274 

Property, plant and equipment 160,379 216 3,524 25,998  (4,174)   (406)  185,537 

Equity securities 1,546  -  -  -  (1,206)   - 340 
Loans 14  -  - 120  (19)   (2)  113 
Deposits and guarantees 814  - 25  3,750  (123)   (37)  4,428 

Financial assets 2,374  - 25  3,871  (1,348)   (39)  4,882 

Equity accounted investees  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

Total non-current assets - gross value 270,133  - 25,941 34,995  (5,522)   (1,175)  324,372 

In €000s

01/01/2013

First-time 
consolidations 

and value 
adjustments 

Allowances
Disposals or 

decommissioned 
assets

Impairment Translation 
differences

31/12/2013

Commercial goodwill 636  - 566  - - (16) 1,186  
Software and brands 3,660  - 1,279  (1) - (25) 4,913  
Development expenditure 2,606  - 1,233  (2) - (11) 3,826  

Other intangible assets 6,901  - 3,079  (3) - (52) 9,925  

Buildings & improvements 22,931  2,140  6,126  (5) - (359) 30,832  
Plant, machinery and equipment 39,634  29  6,573  (674) (26) (797) 44,739  
Other tangible assets 5,962  3  1,956  (596) - (127) 7,198  

Property, plant and equipment 68,526  2,172  14,655  (1,275) (26) (1,283) 82,768  

Equity securities - - - - - -

Financial assets - - - - - - -

Total amortisation, depreciation and impairment 75,428  2,172  17,733  (1,279) (26) (1,335) 92,693  
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At 31 December 2012, amortisation, depreciation and impairment on fixed assets broke down as follows: 

 

8.3 Acquisition of the Valence manufacturing site 

In July 2013, Group acquired 100% of the share capital and voting rights of Natraceutical Industrial SL, renamed Naturex 
Industrial SL. 

This company was made up mainly of the property assets of the Valence production site originating from the former 
Ingredient's division of Natraceutical. 

The real estate assets were appraised for a value of €4.4 million. 

The deferred tax assets generated from losses predating consolidation were recognized for €4.7 million. 

8.4 Equity accounted investees 

AKER is the only partner in which the Group has an equity interest. 

Aker Biomarine Manufacturing LLC and AKER Biomarine Financing LLC are joint ventures created in partnership with 
Aker Biomarine Antartic AS. The Aker Biomarine Manufacturing joint venture, whose production plant is based in the 
US, combines Aker BioMarine's know-how with Naturex's expertise in extraction, and guarantees increased volumes for 
sourcing krill oil. The joint venture Aker Biomarine Financing LLC represents the financing vehicle for the joint 
arrangement. 

Aker Biomarine Antartic AS and the Group each hold 50 % of the capital and voting rights of these joint arrangements. 
On that basis, the Group accounts for its interest in this joint AKER joint venture as a joint operation. 

The corresponding amount of equity accounted income for the period represented a loss of €86,000. 

The Group partner in the joint venture has a put option for the total amount of Aker Biomarine Manufacturing LLC 
shares held by NATUREX INC. exercisable in March 2019 

 

NOTE 9 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
The fair value of the Group's financial instruments is measured when it can be estimated reliably on the basis of market 
data with the assumption that they are not intended to be sold. 

In €000s

01/01/2012 Other changes Allowances
Disposals or 

decommissioned 
assets

Impairment Translation 
differences

31/12/2012

Commercial goodwill 427   -  266   (49)   -   (8)  636  
Software and brands 2,662   -  999   -   -   (2)  3,660  
Development expenditure 1,558   -  1,049   -   -   (1)  2,606  

Other intangible assets 4,647   -  2,315   (49)   -   (11)  6,901  

Buildings & improvements 18,551  25  5,187   (733)   -   (99)  22,931  
Plant, machinery and equipment 34,124   (21) 6,182   (333)   -   (319)  39,634  
Other tangible assets 4,530   (4)  1,574   (121)   -   (17)  5,962  

Property, plant and equipment 57,206   -  12,942   (1,187)   -   (434)  68,526  

Equity securities 1,206   -   -   (1,206)   -   -   -  

Financial assets 1,206   -   -   (1,206)   -   -   -  

Total amortisation, depreciation and impairment 63,059   -  15,257   (2,442)   -   (445)  75,428  
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The fair value hierarchy for disclosure purposes is as follows: 

- Level 1: fair value measured in reference to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement data; 

- Level 2: fair value measured in reference to inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.  

- Level 3: fair value as determined from inputs relating to the assets or liabilities which are not based on observable 
inputs. 

The following table presents the carrying values and fair values of financial assets and liabilities as well as their position 
in the fair value hierarchy. It does not however include information regarding the fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities not measured at fair value for those cases where the carrying value does not correspond to a reasonable 
approximation of the fair value. 

 
For the measurement of derivatives (forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps), the valuation technique used 
is based on comparable market inputs. This method uses trading prices of securities brokers. Similar contracts are traded 
in an active market and their price reflects transactions include similar instruments. 

For put options granted to owners of non-controlling interest, the value is based on the contractual terms by applying 
the discounted cash flow method. 

For debt instruments and other financial liabilities the valuation technique takes into account these discounted cash 
flows at a rate of 3.2%. 

 

 

 

 

 

En milliers d'euros
Niveau 1 Niveau 2 Niveau 3

Titres de participation, nets 340  340   -   -  340  
Instruments dérivés actif non courants  -   -   -   -  
Instruments dérivés actif courants 188  188   -  188   -  

Actifs financiers évalués à la juste valeur 188  340   -   -  528   -  188  340  

Clients et autres débiteurs 79 867  79 867  
Trésorerie et équivalents de trésorerie 12 623  12 623  

Actifs financiers non évalués à la juste valeur  -   -  92 490   -  92 490  

Instruments dérivés passif non courants  (724)   (724)   -   (724)   -  
Instruments dérivés passif courants  (628)   (628)   -   (628)   -  
Dettes sur participations ne donnant pas le contrôle  (3 939)   (3 939)   -   -   (3 939)  

Passifs financiers évalués à la juste valeur  (5 291)   -   -   -   (5 291)   -   (1 353)   (3 939)  

Emprunts obligataires convertibles  (17 343)   (17 343)   -   (19 255)   -  
Emprunts et leasing  (132 794)   (132 794)   -   (128 625)   -  
Autres dettes financières  (9 129)   (9 129)   -   (8 697)   -  
Dettes rattachées à des participations  (49)   (49)  
Fournisseurs et autres créditeurs  (58 628)   (58 628)  
Découverts bancaires  (29)   (29)  

Passifs financiers non évalués à la juste valeur  -   -   -   (217 972)   (217 972)   -   (156 577)   -  

Valeur comptable par classe  (5 103)  340  92 490   (217 972)   (130 244)   -   (157 741)   (3 599)  

Valeur 
comptable

Juste ValeurActif / Passif 
désigné à la 
juste valeur

Passif au coût 
amorti

Prêt et 
créance

Actif 
disponible à 

la vente



Chapter 6 

Consolidated financial statements and Notes 
 
 

2013 Registration Document   187 

The fair value for derivative financial instruments is as follows: 

 

 

NOTE 10 INVENTORIES AND WORK IN PROGRESS 
Inventories breakdown by type as follows:  

 

 

NOTE 11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
Trade and other receivables break down as follows: 

 

Changes in impairment charges for trade and other receivables break down as follows: 

 

In €000s
Total Assets Current

assets
Non-current

assets
Total liabilities Current

liabilities
Non-current

liabilities
Interest rate derivatives  -    -    -    (1,353)   (628)   (724)  
Exchange rate derivatives 188  188   -    -    -    -  

Derivatives relating to cash flow hedging 188  188   -    (1,353)   (628)   (724)  

Interest rate derivatives  -    -    -    -    -    -  
Exchange rate derivatives  -    -    -    -    -    -  

Derivatives relating to fair value hedging  -    -    -    -    -    -  

Net position at 31 December 2013 188  188   -    (1,353)   (628)   (724)  

Net position at 31 December 2012 311  307  4   (2,629)   (1,046)   (1,583)  

In €000s

01/01/2013 Other changes

First-time 
consolidations 

and value 
adjustments 

Change
Translation 
differences 31/12/2013

Raw materials 40,412   (365)   (14)  9,087   (1,557)  47,564  
Consumables 1,544  338   -  967   (51)  2,798  
Finished and semi-finished goods 96,659  27  269  13,002   (2,963)  106,994  
Work-in-progress – goods & services  -   -  10  11   -  21  

Total inventories – gross 138,615   -  265  23,067   (4,571)  157,377  

Provisions  (1,458)   -   (82)   (238)  20   (1,758)  

Total inventories – net 137,158   -  183  22,829   (4,551)  155,619  

In €000s
31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Trade receivables 57,935  52,113  
Tax and social security receivables 20,331  13,647  
Other receivables 3,057  6,907  

Total – gross 81,323  72,666  

Impairment  (1,456)   (1,603)  

Total – net 79,867  71,063  

In €000s
01/01/2013 Other changes Change Translation 

differences
31/12/2013

Trade receivables – impairment 1,085   (68)  41   (24)  1,033  
Other receivables – impairment 519  68    (113)   (50)  423  

Total 1,603   -  (73)   (74)  1,456  
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NOTE 12 FINANCIAL DEBT  
 

 
The Group's gross financial debt amounted to €163 million at 31 December 2013 compared to €127 million at 31 
December 2012. 

The increase in gross financial debt reflects mainly: 

- the OCÉANES convertible bond issue of €18 million at par, initially recognized for its debt component of 
€16.4 million, net of debt issuance costs of €375,000, and its equity component of €1.2 million; 

- a €22 million drawdown of a CAPEX financing facility; 
- an €18 million drawdown of a revolving credit line; 
- debt payable to the Natraceutical Group for the acquisition of Naturex Industrial SL for €8.6 million; 
- debt relating to the obligation to purchase non-controlling interests of Naturex Dbs LLC and Chile Botanics for 

respectively €1.9 million and €2.1 million; 
- reduced by amounts repaid in the period of €26 million. 

The loan agreement between the Group and its lenders contains a clause regarding compliance with the bank covenants 
on a half-yearly basis.  

At 31 December 2013, the Group was in compliance with these ratios. 

 

 

 

 

 

In €000s
01/01/2013 New First-time 

consolidation
Repaid Transfers <1 

year
Translation 
differences

31/12/2013

Non-current portion 

Convertible bonds  -  16,441   -   -  58   -  16,499  
Borrowings and leasing 68,479  18,351   -   -   (25,159)    -  61,671  
Other financial l iabil ities 863  11,853  238   -   (98)    -  12,855  
Liabilities l inked to investments and shareholder loans  -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Subtotal – Non-current financial debt 69,341  46,645  238   -   (25,199)    -  91,025  

Current portion 

Convertible bonds  -  847   -  54   (58)    -  844  
Borrowings and leasing 49,504  21,161   (24,599)   25,159   (102)   71,123  
Other financial l iabil ities 30  135  78   (46)   98   (83)   212  
Liabilities l inked to investments and shareholder loans 1,442   -  36   (1,428)    -   (1)   49  

Subtotal 50,976  22,144  114   (26,019)   25,199   (186)   72,228  

Bank credit facil ities 7,168  1     (7,139)    -   ()   29  

Subtotal – Current financial debt 58,143  22,146  114   (33,158)   25,199   (187)   72,257  

Total financial debt – gross 127,485  68,791  352   (33,158)    -   (187)   163,282  

Cash and cash equivalents 10,631  6,256  1,814   (5,542)   -   (536)  12,623  

Total financial debt – net 116,854  62,535   (1,462)   (27,616)   -  349  150,659  
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12.1 Breakdown of debt by currency expressed in euros 

Debt broken down by currency is as follows: 

 
A portion of the debt that was initially denominated in dollars covered by a currency hedged was fully amortised at 31 
December 2013. The change in fair value for this hedging instrument generated a financial loss of €306,000. 

12.2 Breakdown of debt at fixed and variable rates 

The breakdown between fixed and variable rate debt is as follows: 

 
The debt, which was initially at a variable rate, was swapped for a portion at a fixed rate in 2010.  

The corresponding derivatives were taken out starting 31 March 2010 and details are provided in Notes 5.6 and 9 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 

  

In €000s
Total EUR USD CHF Other

Convertible bonds* 17,343  17,343   -   -   -  
Borrowings and leasing 132,794  86,734  35,532  10,447  81  
Other financial l iabil ities 13,067  9,126  1,882   -  2,059  
Liabilities l inked to investments and shareholder loans 49  13   -   -  36  

Subtotal 163,253  113,217  37,414  10,447  2,176  

Bank credit facil ities 29  20   -   -  9  

Total financial debt at 31 December 2013 163,282  113,237  37,414  10,447  2,185  

Total financial debt as a % at 31 December 2013 69.4% 22.9% 6.4% 1.3%

Total financial debt at 31 December 2012 127,485  67,349  45,616  14,213  307  

Total financial debt as a % at 31 December 2012 52.8% 35.8% 11.1% 0.2%

* Convertible bond debt includes accrued interest not yet due

In €000s
Total Fixed rate Variable rate

Convertible bonds* 17,343  17,343   -  
Borrowings and leasing 132,794  48,876  83,918  
Other financial l iabil ities 13,067  13,067   -  
Liabilities l inked to investments and shareholder loans 49  49   -  

Subtotal 163,253  79,336  83,918  

Bank credit facil ities 29   -  29  

Total financial debt at 31 December 2013 163,282  79,336  83,947  

Total financial debt as a % at 31 December 2013 48.6% 51.4%

Total financial debt at 31 December 2012 127,485  53,036  74,449  

Total financial debt as a % at 31 December 2012 41.6% 58.4%

* Convertible bond debt includes accrued interest not yet due
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NOTE 13 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
Net benefit obligations of the Group have been measured with the assistance of independent appraisers and in 
accordance with the revised IAS 19. The Group's main pension plan is a defined benefit plans of its Swiss subsidiary 
accounting for 62% of the Group's net benefit obligations. 

 

The change in the discounted value of defined benefit commitments breaks down as follows: 

 

The change in the fair value of the plan assets breaks down as follows: 

 

Recognised expense breaks down as follows: 

 

In €000s

31/12/2013 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Fair value of plan assets  (15,291)   (14,129)   (15,195)   (14,036)   -   -   -   -   (97)   (93)  
Present value of obligations 19,279  19,022  17,649  17,179  707  887  614  562  309  394  

Plan deficit (surplus) 3,988 4,892  2,454 3,143  707  887  614 562 212  300  

Polish plan Italian plan Other plansSwiss planTotal

In €000s
2013 2012

Discounted value of obligations at 1 January 19,022  15,616  
First-time consolidation  -  964  
Plan benefit payments  (577)   (1,880)  
Service costs in the period 833  740  
Past service costs  (306)   -  
Actuarial losses (gains)  (211)  2,581  
Employee contributions 378  387  
Finance costs 459  427  
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations  (317)  188  

Discounted value of obligations at 31 December 19,279  19,022  

In €000s
2013 2012

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 14,129  13,273  
Employer plan contributions 520  387  
Plan benefit payments  (577)   (1,371)  
Administrative costs  (20)   -  
Actuarial losses (gains) 759  1,037  
Employee contributions 378  387  
Financial income 337  325  
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations  (235)  92  

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 15,291  14,129  

In €000s
2013 2012

Service costs in the period 861  230  
Past service costs  (306)   -  
Financial expenses (income) 122  102  
Recognised in income 677  332  
Actuarial gains and losses and experience adjustments 601  159  
Actuarial gains and losses l inked to demographic assumpti  -  963  
Actuarial gains and losses l inked to financial assumptions  (820)  1,458  
Return on plan assets  (759)   (1,037)  
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations  (83)  97  
Recognised in other comprehensive income  (1,061)  1,640  
Employer plan contributions 57  1,248  
Plan benefit payments  (577)   (1,634)  
Other  (520)   (386)  

Change in total net benefit obligations  (904)  1,586  
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The main portfolio of Swiss assets is comprised of bonds (31%), shares (27%), property (14%) and miscellaneous financial 
assets (28%). 

 
The main actuarial assumptions retained at the closing date are as follows: 

 
 

The mortality assumptions are based on published statistics and mortality tables. 

At 31 December 2013, the average term for bond linked to defined benefits for the Swiss plan was 22 years. 

For the EUR discount rate, the Bloomberg 15-year AA corporate bond rate was used for benefit obligations in France 
and Italy and for the CHF discount rate a 15-year AA corporate bond rate is used for Swiss benefit obligations and for 
the PLN discount rate, 10 year government bonds for the Polish benefit obligation. 

At year-end, modifications that may be considered reasonable (±0.50%) resulting from one of the relevant actuarial 
assumptions have affected the defined benefit obligations for Switzerland, France, Italy and Poland according to the 
following amounts: 

 

 

NOTE 14 CURRENT PROVISIONS 

 

Current provisions concern mainly provisions for employee-related disputes. 

No significant contingent liabilities were identified at 31 December 2013. 

  

Discount rate (CHF) 2.25% 1.85%
Discount rate (EUR) 3.00% 3.21%
Discount rate (PLN) 4.30% 4.00%
Pension benefits revaluation rate 0.25% 0.25%

Salary escalation rate
from 1.5% to 6% according to 
occupational categories and 

age brackets

from 1.5% to 6% according to 
occupational categories and 

age brackets

2013 2012

In €000s
Sensitivity

+0.5%
Sensitivity 

-0.5% 
Discount rate  (1,456)  1,703  
Salary escalation rate 265   (243)  
Pension benefits revaluation rate 932   (863)  

In €000s
01/01/2013 Allowance Used Translation 

differences
31/12/2013

Other provisions 378  113   (88)   (3)  400  

Total provisions 378  113   (88)   (3)  400  



Chapter 6 

Consolidated financial statements and Notes 
 

192  2013 Registration Document 

NOTE 15 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The main risks likely to have a direct impact on the Group’s financial statements are set out and assessed below: 

- Credit risk 
- Liquidity risk 
- Exchange risk 
- Interest rate risk 

The Group’s exposure to non-financial risks is reviewed in the management report of the registration document. 

15.1 Credit risk 

Credit risk is a risk of financial loss for the Group in the event a client fails to meet its contractual obligations. 

The Group’s credit risk is limited for several reasons, and notably its extensive customer base. Accordingly, the top ten 
customers account for 21% of Group revenue, the top 20 for 29% and the top 30 for 33% compared to 18%, 25% and 
30% respectively in 2012.  

15.2 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk involving a potential inability by the Group to honour its debts when they reach their term. 

The Group's policy regarding the management of its liquidity risk is to ensure, through a Group wide daily cash 
management system, that it always has sufficient funds to honour its liabilities when they reach maturity, both under 
normal and "difficult" conditions, without incurring losses that could harm the Group's reputation. 

The company performed specific reviews of its liquidity risk and considers that it is able to honour the terms for future 
payments. 

The structured loan set in place on 30 December 2009 includes authorisations for several short-term tranches:  

- a €20 million Capex 1 (Euros) tranche used in full with €8 million having been repaid at 31 December 2013,  
- a €30 million Capex 2 (Euros) tranche used in full at 31 December 2013 unpaid*** at 31 December 2013, 
- a €20 million Capex 3 (Euros) tranche still undrawn at 31 December 2013; 
- a €20 million Revolving 1 (Euros) tranche used in full at 31 December 2013 unpaid*** at 31 December 2013;  
- a €15 million Revolving 2 (multi-currency) tranche able to be drawn in EUR, USD and CHF, with €9.4 million drawn 

at 31 December 2013; 
- a €25 million revolving 3 (Euros) tranche with €16 million drawn at 31 December 2012, 

The US subsidiary has a short-term facility of US$7 million that at 31 December 2013 had not been drawn. 

The loan agreement binding the Group to its lenders contains a clause regarding compliance with two bank ratios, which 
are assessed every six months: These consist of a gearing ratio defined as the ratio of net financial debt to total 
shareholders’ equity and a financial leverage ratio defined as the ratio of net financial debt to EBITDA. 

If the Group should breach these contractual ratios and/or the majority of lenders so request, the lenders may demand 
the repayment of the corresponding loan. 

At 31 December 2013, these ratios were respected. 
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15.3 Exchange rate risk 

Naturex Group carries out most of its transactions in foreign currencies and therefore incurs an exchange rate risk due 
to exchange rate fluctuations of these currencies. Since 2010, the currency exposure has been substantially modified by 
integrating, in addition to the dollar (43% of the Group's revenue is billed in dollars), the pound sterling (6%) and the 
Swiss franc (4%). 

These three currencies and the euro represent 92% of the Group's revenue. The financial debt was restructured in 2009 
in line with this change (see Note 12 – Financial debt). 

At year-end the Group had exchange derivatives (forward exchange purchase) on the Swiss franc. 

 
Sensitivity tests indicated that a 1% drop in the euro at year-end would have generated a €377,000 expense and a 
€20,000 increase in shareholders’ equity. 

The impact of a 1% decline in the US dollar at year-end would generate a gain of €24,000 and a €45,000 increase in 
shareholders' equity. 

The 1% decline in the pound sterling and Swiss franc would not have had an impact on financial results in equity. 

  

In €000s
Carrying

value
Expected cash 

flows
Less than

1 year
Between

2 and 5 years
More than

5 years
Convertible bonds 17,343   (22,654)   (1,801)   (3,613)   (17,241)  
Borrowings and leasing 132,794   (136,363)   (73,155)   (63,207)   -  
Other borrowings and financial l iabilities 13,067   (13,745)   (380)   (11,256)   (2,109)  
Liabilities l inked to investments and shareholder loans 49   (49)   (49)   -   -  
Short-term bank facil ities and overdrafts 29   (29)   (29)   -   -  
Trade and other payables 58,628   (58,628)   (58,628)   -   -  

Total at 31 December 2013 221,911   (231,469)   (134,042)   (78,077)   (19,350)  

In €000s
Carrying

value
Expected cash 

flows
Less than

1 year
Between

2 and 5 years
More than

5 years
Interest rate derivatives at 31 December 2013 1,353   (1,496)   (758)   (737)   -  
Interest rate derivatives at 31 December 2012 2,544   (2,793)   (1,169)   (1,623)   (2)  

In €000s
31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Exchange rate derivatives (USD)  - 306
Exchange rate derivatives (CHF) 188   (80)  
Exchange rate derivatives (PLN)  -  -

Fair value of exchange rate derivatives - assets /(liabilities) 188 226
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Financial assets and liabilities in foreign currencies break down as follows: 

 

15.4 Interest rate risk 

At 31 December 2013, the Group's interest rate risk was essentially linked to its variable-rate loans. 

The Group's policy is to use financial derivatives only for cash flow hedging purposes, so that these instruments do not 
correspond to speculative operations. 

The Group is not exposed to any amounts above those listed below: 

 

A 100 basis point drop in interest rates would result in a €800,000 drop in financial income.  

At year-end, the fair value of financial instrument interest rate derivatives liabilities amounted to €1.4 million compared 
to €2.5 million at 31 December 2012. 

 

  

In €000s
EUR USD CHF GBP OTHER Total

Bonds  (17,343)   -   -   -   -   (17,343)  
Borrowings and leasing  (86,734)   (35,532)   (10,447)   (81)   -   (132,794)  
Other financial l iabil ities  (9,126)   (1,882)   -   (2,059)   -   (13,067)  
Liabilities l inked to investments and shareholder loans  (13)   ()   -   -   (36)   (49)  
Bank overdrafts  (20)   -   -   -   (9)   (29)  

Financial liabilities  (113,237)   (37,414)   (10,447)   (2,140)   (45)   (163,282)  

Deposits and guarantees 614  98  318   -  352  1,382  
Investments*** 340   -   -   -   -  340  
Equity-accounted investees  -  4,268   -   -   -  4,268  
Cash and cash equivalents 3,122  3,872  416  726  4,487  12,623  

Financial assets 4,076  8,239  734  726  4,839  18,614  

Total – net  (109,161)   (29,175)   (9,713)   (1,414)  4,794   (144,669)  

In €000s
31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Fixed-rate instruments 

Convertible bonds 17,343   -  
Borrowings and leasing  (158)   1,196  
Other financial l iabil ities 13,067  893  

Total before hedging 30,252  2,088  

Hedging - interest rate swaps 49,034  49,506  

Total after hedging 79,286  51,594  

Variable-rate instruments

Convertible bonds  -   -  
Borrowings and leasing 132,952  116,787  
Other financial l iabil ities  -   -  

Total before hedging 132,952  116,787  

Hedging - interest rate swaps  (49,034)    (49,506)   

Total after hedging 83,918  67,282  
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NOTE 16 OPERATING SEGMENTS 
The operating segments are defined in Note 5.11. 

The figures for each operating segment are set out below: 

In 2013 

 

In 2012 

 

At 31 December 2013 

 

At 31 December 2012 

 
  

In 2013

In €000s
Americas Europe, Africa Asia / Pacific All segments Restatements Inter-segment 

eliminations
Consolidated

Revenue 131,217  169,877  19,692  320,786   -   -  320,786  
Inter-segment revenue 28,230  173,727  1,604  203,561   -   (203,561)   -  
Allowances for amortisation and depreciation  (2,385)   (14,432)   (399)   (17,217)   (517)   (17,733)  
Segments' operating income 16,769  18,258   (278)  34,749   (312)  58  34,496  
Share of net income of equity-accounted investees  (86)   -   -   (86)  
Net financial income (expense)  (8,095)   (332)   (117)   (8,544)  
Tax  (10,090)  1,046   -   (9,044)  
Net income 16,478  403   (59)  16,822  

In €000s
Americas Europe, Africa Asia / Pacific All segments Restatements Inter-segment 

eliminations
Consolidated

Revenue 120,449  161,568  17,805  299,823   -   -  299,823  
Inter-segment revenue 11,935  162,667  7,206  181,807   -   (181,807)   -  
Allowances for amortisation and depreciation  (2,009)   (12,296)   (381)   (14,685)   (473)     (15,158)  
Segments' operating income 8,401  31,605  826  40,832   (2,584)   (599)  37,649  
Net financial income (expense)  (5,970)   -   -   (5,970)  
Tax  (8,741)   -   -   (8,741)  
Net income 22,939   -   -  22,939  

In €000s
Americas Europe, Africa  Asia / Pacific All segments

Total assets 146,173  349,985  19,632  515,790  
Total acquisitions of intangible investments 28  3,464  67  3,559  
Total acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 3,797  18,987  1,171  23,954  
Total l iabilities (excluding shareholders' equity) 23,594  216,441  2,565  242,601  

In €000s
Americas Europe, Africa  Asia / Pacific All segments

Total assets 135,400  315,356  20,876  471,632  
Total acquisitions of intangible investments 1,561  3,325  241  5,127  
Total acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 6,569  18,909  519  25,998  
Total l iabilities (excluding shareholders' equity) 18,855  189,859  4,294  213,007  
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NOTE 17 STAFF COSTS 

17.1 Number of employees 

The breakdown of the Group workforce at 31 December by geographical region is as follows: 

 

17.2 Stock options 

Options were valued at €109,000 using the Black–Scholes model and recognised in accordance with IFRS 2.  The expense 
for the period amounted to €513,000. 

Employee benefits derived from stock options grants were calculated using the Euribor rate in effect on the date the 
plan was implemented. Volatility reflects the average annual volatility for the 20 trading sessions preceding the grant 
date. The maturity period corresponds to the average time between the grant date and the exercise date, namely 4 
years. Options may not be exercised during the three year period following the grant date. Since the dividend paid by 
Naturex is very low, no assumptions were made concerning it. 

Highlights of the different stock option plans are presented in the table below: 

 

 

 

 

Number of employees 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Total Americas 277                 231                 
Total Europe & Africa 1,169             1,130             
Total Asia / Pacific 115                 94                   

Total 1,561             1,455             

Plan 11 Plan 12 Plan 13 Plan 14 Plan 15 Plan 16

Shareholders' Meeting date 30/06/2007 30/06/2008 30/06/2009 30/06/2010 08/06/2012 26/06/2013
Board of Directors' meeting date 25/03/2008 13/03/2009 26/04/2010 15/04/2011 19/11/2012 04/12/2013
Type of option Subscription Subscription Subscription Subscription Subscription Subscription

Inception date to exercise options 26/03/2011 14/03/2012 27/04/2013 16/04/2014 20/11/2015 05/12/2016
Expiry date 25/03/2014 13/03/2015 26/04/2015 15/04/2016 19/11/2017 04/12/2018

Subscription or purchase price 27.54 24.00 30.12 45.33 57.00 65.00
Weighted average fair value at valuation date 23.85 20.89 30.12 45.58 53.94 58.93
Risk free rate 2.5% 2.2% 1.0% 2.1% 0.6% 0.5%
Volatil ity 33.6% 22.0% 17.0% 22.8% 30.7% 18.7%

Total number of options granted: 47,362 53,650 52,150 57,094 64,480 46,250
Of which to corporate officers 33,000 33,000 26,000 26,000 14,000 14,000
Of which to employees 14,362 20,650 26,150 31,094 50,480 32,250
including the 10 employee beneficiaries granted the largest amount 5,600 10,500 12,200 12,000 16,100 17,600

Number of shares subscribed or cancelled at 01/01/2013 5,204 3,668 4,820 3,524  -  -
Number of shares exercised during the period 39,762 25,960 18,230 18,000  -  -
Number of shares cancelled during the period  -  - 230 979 1,728  -

Outstanding subscription or purchase options at 31 December 2013 2,396 24,022 28,870 34,591 62,752 46,250
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NOTE 18 EXTERNAL EXPENSES AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURES 

External expenses break down as follows: 

 

Most of Naturex's development expenditures do not satisfy the criteria for classification as assets set forth in IAS 38, 
especially with regard to their future economic benefits. 

Research and development expenditures represent 5% of revenue. 

NOTE 19 OTHER CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES 
Other current operating expenses break down as follows: 

 

NOTE 20 OTHER NON-CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES 
Non-current operating items*** break down as follows:  

 
 

Restructuring expenses of €0.3 million correspond primarily to reorganisation measures related to the Pektowin 
consolidation. 

Expenditures relating to external growth concern mainly €0.2 million in acquisition-related costs for Naturex Industrial 
SL.  

In €000s
2013 2012

Other production costs 30,993 27,833
Leasing 6,883 5,666
Fees 9,596 8,359
Communication expenses 3,398 2,557
Shipping costs 18,224 14,710
Travel and subsistence expenses 5,250 5,724
Other external charges 5,195 6,180

Total external charges 79,539 71,028

In €000s 2013 2012

Impairment on current assets 869 784
Disposals of fixed assets  - 2,284
Other expenses 416 1,342

Total other operating expenses 1,286 4,410

In €000s
2013 2012

Reorganisations  ( 296)   ( 2,269)  
Stock options  ( 148)  -  
Acquisitions  ( 340)   ( 2,123)  

Other non-current operating expenses  ( 784)   ( 4,393)  

"Key man" policy insurance premium -  6,121  

Other non-current operating income -  6,121  
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Stock option expenses concerned options exercised in connection with the execution of the estate of Mr. Jacques 
Dikansky for €0.1 million.  

 

NOTE 21 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 

21.1 Cost of net financial debt 

 

21.2 Other financial income and expenses 

 

 

NOTE 22 INCOME TAX 

Breakdown of deferred taxes/taxes payable in the income statement 

 

Reconciliation between the theoretical and actual tax expense 

 

The tax rate for the Group over the period was 35%, compared to 27.6% in fiscal 2012. 

The increase in the effective tax rate reflects mainly deferred taxes on unrecognised tax losses. 

In €000s
2013 2012

Financial income 90  159  
Interest and related expenses  (5,526)   (5,234)  

Net borrowing costs  (5,437)   (5,075)  

In €000s
2013 2012

Foreign exchange gains / (losses)  (3,006)   (894)  
Other financial expenses  (101)   -  

Other financial income and expenses  (3,107)   (894)  

In €000s
2013 2012

Current tax 9,642 6,915
Deferred tax (598) 1,825

Total tax 9,044 8,741

In €000s
2013 2012

Net income 16,822 22,939
Tax recognised (9,044) (8,741)
Net earnings before income tax 25,866 31,679
Theoretical tax 8,622 10,560
Impact of local tax rates (538) (1,871)

 Impact of tax losses not recognised as assets 1,017 240
Impact of permanent differences (57) (189)

Tax recognised 9,044 8,741
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Breakdown of recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised based on their likelihood of recoverability. In the absence of sufficient prospects for 
recovery in the short-term, certain tax losses were not recognised as deferred tax assets. Unrecognised deferred tax 
assets calculated according to rates applicable at the end of the reporting period concern mainly €4.1 million for Spain 
million (Naturex Industrial SL) and €0.6 million for Poland. 

 

NOTE 23 LEASE AGREEMENTS 

23.1 Finance leases 

Fixed assets recognized in connection with finance leases amounted to a net value of €0.8 million at 31 December 2013 
compared to €0.9 million at 31 December 2012. 

23.2 Operating leases 

The terms for operating leases that cannot be cancelled are as follows:  

 

These amounts correspond mainly to the rental of offices, warehousing and plant facilities.  

Rent paid in connection with operating leases for buildings are subject to regular increases in line with the applicable 
market rates. The Group does not incur risks related to the residual value of buildings. The Group has therefore 
considered that the owners retain almost all of the risks and benefits related to the buildings, and has concluded on 
that basis that the contracts are operating leases. 

 

NOTE 24 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
The Group's policy is to maintain a solid capital base to retain the trust of investors, creditors and the market and support 
the future development of operations.  

In €000s

01/01/2013
First-time 

consolidations and fair 
value adjustments

Change in results 
(expenses) / income

Change in other 
comprehensive 

income
Other changes Translation 

differences
31/12/2013

Provisions (IAS 19) 675   -   1   (194)  169   (11)  639  
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment  (9,233)   (712)   (17)   ()   -   328   (9,634)  
Provisions and other timing differences  (1,947)  118   (283)   -    (157)   (23)   (2,293)  
Loss carryforwards 1,685  4,712  752   -    (1)   (27)  7,121  
Financial instruments 865   -   144   (901)   -   10  118  

Net deferred taxes  (7,956)  4,118  598   (1,096)  10  277   (4,049)  

In €000s
2013 2012

Less than 1 year 1,109 706
1 to 5 years 2,763 1,781
More than 5 years 6,101 6,128
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Note 24.1 Capital management 

Ordinary shares  

At 31 December 2013, the share capital consisted of 7,843,251 ordinary shares compared to 7,728,539 ordinary shares 
at 31 December 2012, all with a par value of €1.50.  

This increase corresponds to the distribution of dividends in the form of shares resulting in 12,760 newly created shares 
and the exercise of 101,952 stock options. 

All of the shares issued were fully paid up.  

Holders of ordinary shares have the right to any dividends decided upon and benefit from one vote per share at 
shareholders’ meetings.  

Translation reserve 

The translation reserve includes all gains/losses on foreign currency conversions following the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations, as well as the translation of liabilities recognised as investments in a foreign 
subsidiary. 

 
Treasury shares  

The reserve for treasury shares includes the costs of shares of the company held by the Group. At 31 December 2013, 
the Group held 7,291 shares of the company through a liquidity agreement managed by an independent services 
provider. 

Information on the liquidity agreement is presented in Section 4 "Changes in share capital" of this report. 

24.2 Diluted earnings per share 

 
For FY 2012, the shareholders' meeting approved the payment of a dividend of €0.10 per share, with shareholders 
having the option of receiving all or part of their dividend in cash or in the form of shares with a discount of 10% on the 
share’s market price. 

In 2012, the dividend paid for FY 2011 was €0.10 per share. 

 

2013 2012

Net income attributable to the Group (in €000s) 16,815 22,901
Average number of shares comprising the capital 7,804,655 7,716,836

Earnings per share 2.1544 2.9677

Number of potential shares 398,823 200,460

Diluted earnings per share 2.1230 2.8925
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NOTE 25 RELATED PARTIES AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS 

25.1 Related parties 

Compensation of principal executive officers  

Total gross compensation paid to Naturex’s management bodies amounted to €1.1 million in 2013 compared to 
€1.6 million in 2012. These amounts include compensation, benefits in kind and the valuation of stock options granted 
in the period, and are recognised by Naturex Inc. (€0.8 million) and Naturex S.A. (€0.3 million). 

Thierry Lambert is a beneficiary of retirement severance benefits. 

On 30 August 2012, the Board of Directors decided to guarantee a severance payment for Stéphane Ducroux should the 
latter be dismissed within a period of 18 months following a change in control or management of Naturex S.A. This 
severance payment equals two years of salary. This amount is not due if the dismissal is a consequence of gross or wilful 
misconduct of Stéphane Ducroux. 

Information on compensation is presented in Chapter 3 "Organization and Corporate Governance". 

Other operations with related parties 

SGD's capital is 98.79%-held by Finasucre following the acquisition of the holdings of the children of Mr. Jacques 
Dikansky in SGD on 22 February 2013. 

On 2 April 2013, Stéphane Ducroux reported selling on an off-market basis of 2,000 Naturex shares in favour of SGD.  

Between 3 and 9 April 2013, SGD acquired on NYSE Euronext Paris, 21,819 Naturex shares, increasing its holdings to 
21.06% (1,651,735 Naturex shares) of the share capital and 28.13% of the voting rights. 

On the date of this report, the group formed by Finasucre and SGD represented 21.38% of Naturex's share capital 
(1,676,783 Naturex shares) and 28.42% of the voting rights of Naturex SA. 

Senior executives created SCI La Pinède with a view to constructing a building on land next to the current head office so 
it can be extended in the future. 

The part of the land purchased by SCI Les Broquetons (Group Company) was transferred to SCI La Pinède as soon as the 
financing was put into place.  

At 31 December 2012, €0.4 million was paid as security for the rent of the extension. The expense recognized for fiscal 
2013 in rent paid to SCI La Pinède amounted to €0.7 million. 

The Naturex AG Group company rents, for use as a warehouse, part of a building located on a land adjacent to the 
Burgdorf plant from Grünes Blatt, a real estate company in which the executive officers are shareholders. This company 
granted a 10-year commercial lease to Naturex AG. 

Grünes Blatt rents the building to Naturex AG at market conditions for a maximum of CHF 0.4 million less the amount 
paid by third parties who occupy part of said building. In addition, Naturex AG has the right to build on the free part of 
the land any building it may require. 

In fiscal 2013, Naturex AG recognized CHF 0.3 million as expenses for the year. 

 



Chapter 6 

Consolidated financial statements and Notes 
 

202  2013 Registration Document 

25.2 Off-balance sheet commitments 

Commitments received
In €000s

31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Commitments related to Group financing

Available credit l ines 39,588 32,195

Commitments given
in €000s

31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Commitments related to Group financing

Guarantees for subsidiaries' commitments 4,351 6,426

Pledging of securities and/or business assets in connection with the structured loan agreement 130,811 113,641

Commitments relating to Group operating activities

Guarantees for customs 889 969

Guarantees for trade payables 62 241

Commitment in favour of Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation 120  -

Guarantees in connection with research and development projects  - 240

Investment undertaking of Naturex SA in Pektowin  - 2,455
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STATUTORY AUDITORS’ REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 
This is a free translation into English of the statutory auditors’ report issued in the French language and is provided solely for the convenience of English speaking readers. The statutory 
auditors’ report includes information specifically required by French law in all audit reports, whether qualified or not, and this is presented below the opinion on the financial statements. 
This information includes an explanatory paragraph discussing the auditors’ assessments of certain significant accounting and auditing matters. These assessments were considered 
for the purpose of issuing an audit opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole and not to provide separate assurance on individual account captions or on information taken 
outside of the financial statements. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and professional auditing standards applicable in 
France. 

Period ended 31 December 2013 

 

To the shareholders: 

In accordance with the terms of our appointment at your shareholders’ meeting, we hereby submit our report for the 
year ended 31 December 2013 regarding: 

- Our examination of the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Naturex S.A., 

- The basis of our assessments, and 

- The specific procedures and disclosures required by law. 

The Board of Directors has approved the consolidated financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audit. 

1. Opinion on the consolidated financial statements 

We conducted our audit in accordance with professional auditing standards applicable in France. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis or by other selection methods, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used, the significant estimates made and the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the 
financial position of the Group at year-end and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance 
with IFRS as adopted for use in the European Union. 

2. Basis of our assessments 

Pursuant to the provisions of article L.823-9 of the French Commercial Code regarding the basis of our assessments, we 
draw your attention to the following matters: 

At each year-end, the company systematically carries out a goodwill impairment test using the methods described in 
Note 5.1 to the financial statements. We have examined how these impairment tests are performed as well as the cash 
flow forecasts and assumptions used and we have verified that note 7 to the financial statements discloses appropriate 
information. 

The assessments on these matters were made in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements taken 
as a whole and therefore helped us form our opinion expressed in the first part of this report. 
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3. Specific procedures and disclosures 

In accordance with professional standards applicable in France, we have also performed the specific procedures 
required by law regarding the group information given in the management report. 

We have no matters to report regarding its fair presentation and consistency with the consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

 
Paris-La Défense, 24 April 2014 Avignon, 24 April 2014 

KPMG S.A.  AREs X.PERT AUDIT 
 

[French original signed by]  

Jean Gatinaud  Laurent Peyre 
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BALANCE SHEET  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Assets 

31/12/2013 31/12/2012
In €000s Notes Gross value Depr., amort. & prov. Net value

Non-current assets 278,766   (23,743)  255,024  250,913  
Intangible assets 2 28,780   (4,276)  24,504  22,971  
Property, plant and equipment 2 43,053   (19,466)  23,587  18,567  
Financial assets 3 206,933   -  206,933  209,375  

Current assets 170,737   (1,544)  169,193  132,451  
Inventories and work in progress 4 35,488   (1,410)  34,078  29,752  
Trade receivables and related accounts 5 19,211   (134)  19,077  19,633  
Miscellaneous receivables 6 99,589   -  99,589  71,097  
Cash at bank and in hand 7 5,177   -  5,177  1,085  
Accrual accounts 8 2,839  2,839  2,365  
Translation differences (assets) 9 8,433  8,433  8,518  

TOTAL ASSETS 449,503   (25,287)  424,216  383,364  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

In €000s
Notes 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Capital 11,765  11,593  
Additional paid-in capital 182,832  179,285  
Legal reserve 1,065  788  
Statutory reserves 28  885  
Tax-based reserves 885  28  
Retained earnings 7,065  2,590  
Annual profit or loss  (3,207)  5,533  
Investment grants 222  245  
Tax-based provisions 3,817  2,913  

Shareholders’ equity 10 204,473  203,861  

Provisions for contingencies and expenses 11 6,211  3,452  
Borrowings and financial l iabil ities 12 166,559  125,270  
Current bank facil ities 12 21  7,167  
Partners' current accounts 12 13  1,441  
Trade payables and related accounts 13 16,746  21,837  
Other payables 14 27,054  14,430  
Prepaid income 15 90  195  
Translation differences (l iabil ities) 9 3,049  5,711  

Payables 213,533  176,050  

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 424,216  383,364  
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INCOME STATEMENT  
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Income statement

In €000s
Note 2013 2012

Revenue 16 111,330  110,644  
Carriage charges invoiced 246  275  
Change in finished goods and in-progress inventory 3,966  5,523  
Capitalised production 1,422  629  
Other operating income 17 25,357  20,205  

OPERATING INCOME 142,321  137,278  

Purchases 83,519  82,400  
Other external charges 30,278  26,780  
Taxes other than on income 1,339  1,151  
Staff costs 15,289  12,254  
Payroll taxes 7,619  5,380  
Amortisation/depreciation allowances and provisions 4,932  4,636  
Other expenses 29  541  

OPERATING EXPENSES 143,006  133,141  

NET OPERATING INCOME  (685)  4,136  

Financial income 11,742  9,231  
Financial expenses 14,383  11,126  

NET FINANCIAL INCOME / (EXPENSE) 18  (2,641)   (1,895)  

Exceptional income 70  3,432  
Exceptional expenses 1,373  1,217  

NET EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 19  (1,302)  2,215  

INCOME BEFORE TAX  (4,629)  4,456  

Income tax 20  (1,421)   (1,078)  

NET INCOME  (3,207)  5,533  
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Note 1  General information 

The financial period runs for twelve months from 1 January 2 31 December 2013.  

1.1 Annual operating highlights 

Continuing organic growth 

Revenue for the period remained stable in relation to the prior year at €111.3 million compared to €110.6 million in 
2012.  

This performance reflects a relatively sluggish economic environment in Europe combined with a higher foreign 
exchange exposure in the period.  

Net income after tax declined from a profit of €5.5 million in 2012 to a loss of €3.2 million in 2013.   

On 1 June 2013, Naturex inaugurated the extension of the Group headquarters at the Avignon site.  

This extension adding an additional 107,639 sq.ft (10,000  sq.m) has doubled the total area of the premises housing 
industrial operations, research and development and the support functions.  

Convertible debt issue  

On 17 January 2013, Naturex issued convertible bond issue in an amount of €18 million for private investors with a term 
of approximately six and a half years. 

The face value of this issue amounted to €18 million divided by 257,143 OCEANE convertible bonds of €70 at par per 
bond, with issue premium of 21.95% in relation to Naturex's closing price in the regulated market of NYSE Euronext 
Paris for the trading session of 15 January 2013 and 21.69% in relation to the average closing price for the 20 trading 
sessions in this market preceding the issue date. 

Change in the capital structure 

Following the death of the company's chief executive, on 22 February 2013, Jacques Dikansky's children sold the full 
amount of their stake in the capital in SGD to the Finasucre Group. Following this transaction, Finasucre Group held 
98.79% of SGD's capital.  

This transaction led to changes in Naturex's Board of Directors with the appointment of Charles Feys, Secretary General 
of Finasucre Group, in replacement of Isabelle Dikansky, and the resignation of Olivier Dikansky from his office as 
director.  

Following these changes in the composition of the Board of Directors, Hélène Martel-Massignac, Chief Executive Officer 
of Caravelle was appointed as director by co-optation. 

Acquisition of Natraceutical Industrial S.L. 

Naturex acquired Natraceutical Industrial SL (renamed Naturex Industrial SL) in July 2013 for €8.5 million. This company 
was made up mainly of the property assets of the Valence production site originating from the former ingredient's 
division of Natraceutical. 

This acquisition is in line with the Group strategy to secure its production base along with significant capacity for 
industrial expansion in Europe. 
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Capital increases  

In 2013 Naturex increased the capital of several of its subsidiaries:  

� Naturex SPRL, a distribution subsidiary in Belgium through a cash contribution for €0.9 million;  
� Naturex Mexique, a distribution subsidiary in Mexico for €0.3 million (or MXN  4.95 million);  
� Naturex Canada Inc., a distribution subsidiary in Mexico for €0.3 million (or CAD 0.4 million);  
� Pektowin, a Polish company specialised in fruit and vegetable pectins and concentrated juices, for €2.4 million 

(PLN 10 million);  
� Valentine Agro Private Ltd, an Indian company specialised in the production of natural colours and fruit and 

vegetable powders, through a cash contribution for €1.7 million (INR 123.9 million). Furthermore, in early 2013, 
Naturex obtained the payment of shares acquired at the end of 2012.  

Creation of distribution subsidiaries 

To reinforce proximity to customers and increase the density of its geographic coverage, Naturex created a new 
distribution subsidiaries in South Africa that is currently under formation.  

1.2 Subsequent events 

Valentine Agro Private Ltd capital increase 

In February 2014, Naturex increased the capital of its Indian subsidiary Valentine Agro Private Ltd. by €1 million.  

1.3 Basis of preparation and statement of compliance 

The annual financial statements are prepared and presented on the basis of French GAAP and notably the decisions 
issued by the French accounting rules committee (Comité de la Réglementation Comptable or CRC). 

In fiscal 2013, no changes in accounting methods were adopted by Naturex S.A.  

The CICE (Crédit d’Impôt pour la Compétitivité et l’Emploi) wage tax credit 

The CICE tax corresponds to an accrued tax income in the form of a tax credit applied to personnel expenses.   

 

Note 2 Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 

2.1 Accounting method 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are measured at the purchase price. When criteria for recognising 
development expenditures as assets are met, they are capitalised. Other research and development expenditures are 
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

When there is evidence of a loss in value, an impairment test is carried out to compare the net carrying amounts of the 
fixed asset with its present value. If the present value is substantially lower than the net carrying amounts, an 
impairment charge is recognised to reduce the assets' value to the present value. Pursuant to recommendation No. 
2006-12 of 24 October 2006 of the French standard setter (Conseil National de la Comptabilité), the initial depreciation 
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schedule remains unchanged. On that basis, the allowance for depreciation for the period is recognised for the amount 
that would have been applied if no impairment had been recognised and the resulting reversal of the provision for 
impairment and the corresponding allowances for depreciation are recognised as exceptional income. 

2.2 Acquisitions and disposals 

 

 
Goodwill is largely comprised of: 

� Commercial goodwill of €10.3 million arising from the acquisition of the "Actifs innovants" (Innovative Active 
Ingredients) division of Berkem. This division proposes patented natural ingredients with clinically proven 
effects for food processing, pharmaceutical and nutraceutical industry and the cosmetics markets applications. 

� Goodwill relating to a partnership agreement with Scalime Nutrition for €2.1 million for the purpose of 
accelerating the marketing, commercial and technical development of polyphenolic extracts. 

� Burgundy goodwill pursuant to the merger effective 1 January 2012. This merger was carried out at the net 
carrying amount with a merger loss of €6.3 million (mali de fusion) recognised and allocated in full to goodwill.  

Intangible assets in progress consist of development expenditures and the purchase of software. 

Tangible assets in progress consist mainly of laboratory and manufacturing equipment installations.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In €000s
01/01/2013 Reclassifications Acquisitions 

Disposal or 
retirement of 

assets
31/12/2013

Start-up costs, research and development expenditures 383  127  374   -  883  

Concessions, patents and similar rights 4,308  101  954   -  5,362  

Goodw ill 19,485   -   -   -  19,485  

Other intangible assets 490   -   -   -  490  

Intangible assets under construction 1,484   (227)  1,339  35  2,560  

Intangible assets 26,149   -  2,666  35  28,780  

Buildings f ixtures and fittings 1,108  713  255   -  2,076  

Land 60   -   -   -  60  

Plant, machinery and equipment 14,592  1,377  1,632  60  17,541  

Sundry f ittings and installations 8,311  4,843  2,340  1  15,493  

Vehicles 936   -  607  22  1,521  

Office and computer equipment 1,911  107  490  129  2,379  

Furniture 250  258  137   -  645  

Property, plant, and equipment under construction 7,399   (7,297)  3,239  2  3,339  

Property, plant and equipment 34,567   -  8,700  214  43,053  

Total 60,716   -  11,366  249  71,833  
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2.3 Amortisation/depreciation of fixed assets 

 
 

2.4 Amortisation, depreciation and impairment 

At 31 December 2013, amortisation, depreciation and impairment on fixed assets broke down as follows: 

 

 

2.5 Assets held under leases 

 

 
 

Nature Method Duration

Software  Straight-line  4 years 
Patents  Straight-line  20 years 
R&D expenditures  Straight-line  5 years 
Goodwill  Unamortised  - 
Buildings on leasehold property  Straight-line  10 years 
Machinery and equipment  Straight-line  7 years 
Laboratory equipment  Straight-line  5 years 
Fixtures and fittings  Straight-line  10 years 
Vehicles  Straight-line  4 years 
Office and computer equipment  Straight-line  4 and 5 years 
Furniture  Straight-line  7 years 

En milliers d'euros
01/01/2013 Dotations de 

l'exercice
Provisions de 

l'exercice
Cessions ou 

mises au rebut
31/12/2013

Frais d'établissement, de recherche et de développement 233  91   -   -  323  
Concessions, brevets et droits similaires 2 456  1 008   -   -  3 463  
Fonds commercial  -   -   -   -   -  
Autres immobilisations incorporelles 490   -   -   -  490  

Total immobilisations incorporelles 3 178  1 098   -   -  4 276  

Installations générales, agencements et aménagements des 
constructions

830  111   -   -  942  

Installations techniques, matériels et outil lage industriels 8 614  1 601   -  41  10 174  
Installations générales, agencements, aménagements divers 4 632  1 258   -  1  5 889  
Matériel de transport 497  243   -  22  719  
Matériel de bureau et informatique 1 271  367   -  120  1 517  
Mobilier 155  70   -   -  225  

Total immobilisations corporelles 16 000  3 650   -  184  19 466  

Total général 19 178  4 748   -  184  23 742  

for the period accumulated

Land 38   -   -  38  
Buildings 539  27  150  388  
Machinery and equipment 398  57  156  242  
Other tangible assets 36  9  24  12  

Total 1,010  93  331  680  

In €000s Initial cost

Allowances for amortisation and depreciation

Net value
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Note 3 Financial assets 

3.1 Acquisitions, provisions and disposals 

 
 

Acquisitions relate mainly to equity investments breaking down as follows: 

� Acquisition of Natraceutical Industrial S.L. (Spain) in July 2013 for € 8.7 million with €0.2 million in acquisition-
related expenses. 

� Capital increases in Naturex SPRL (Belgium) for €0.9 million and Valentine Agro Private Ltd (India) for €1.7 
million.  

� Capital increase in Pektowin for €2.4 million (PLN 10 million).  

During the year, subsidiaries repaid €11.5 million in redeemable loans.  

The impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on loans denominated in foreign currency generated a translation 
differences €3.1 million in the period.  

A foreign currency hedge was concluded in 2010 to hedge the exposure of US-dollar denominated debt. The company 
opted to recognise the hedge agreement as a loan in the initial currency and the debt in the swapped currency. The 
amortisation over the year amounted to €2.9 million. 

3.2 Measurement of equity investments– impairment. 

Equity securities are measured at cost including acquisition fees. 

Impairment can be recognised if the carrying amount of a security is greater than its value in use determined in reference 
to the percentage of equity, the subsidiary's development prospects and revenue. Development prospects are 
determined in reference to past experience and various other factors.  

In consequence, actual results may differ from estimates used to measure the value of the company's portfolio of equity 
investments. 

 

 

 

 

 

Up to 1 year More than 1 and 
less than 5 years

More than 5 
years

Total

Land  -   -  38  38   -   -  
Buildings 62  247  88  397    62  
Machinery and equipment 66  213   -  279    66  
Other tangible assets 10  3   -  13  57  10  

Total 138  464  126  727  57  138  

Residual 
purchase price

Amount assumed 
in the periodIn €000s 

Lease payments due

In €000s
01/01/2013 Inter-account 

transfers
Acquisitions Disposals / 

Decreases
Translation 
differences

31/12/2013

Majority equity investments 133,064   -  14,957   -   -  148,021  
Investment-related receivables 72,921   -   -  11,457   (3,148)  58,316  
Financial instruments (foreign exchange hedges) 2,881   -   -  2,881   -    
Deposits and guarantees 509   -  112  25   -  596  

Financial assets 209,375   -  15,069  14,363   (3,148)  206,933  
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3.3 Subsidiaries and associates 

 

Note 4 Inventories and work in progress 

4.1 Accounting method  

The cost of inventories is evaluated by batch at the cost price and includes purchase costs for raw materials, production 
or transformation costs, the appropriate share of the indirect costs based on the normal production capacity and the 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.  

Inventories are measured at the lower of the cost and the net realisable value. 

A provision for impairment is recognised when the purchase cost or cost price falls below the market price 

4.2 Breakdown by type of inventory 

 
The provision for inventory at year-end amounted to €1.4 million.  
Changes in provisions on inventory break down accordingly: 

  

Note 5 Receivables 
Receivables are measured at nominal value. 

Subsidiaries

In €000s

Naturex Holdings Inc. United States 52,380   -  46,976  100%   51,417   (863)   -  6,423  
Naturex Maroc Morocco 6,245   -   -  96% 2,192  9,677  760  11,752  875  
SCI Les Broquetons France 580   -   -  100% 495  418  40  483   -  
Naturex SpA Italy 8,422   -   -  100% 1,200  6,597  857  35,110   -  
Naturex Spain SL Spain 12,114   -  900  100% 11,414  3,215  1,410  34,327   -  
Naturex AG Switzerland 38,793   -  10,391  100% 12,454  25,940  4,312  64,056   -  
Naturex U.K. United 

Kingdom
148   -   -  100% 120  384  9   -   -  

Naturex Trading Shanghai China 600   -  49  100% 672  843   (26)  2,228   -  
Naturex SPRL Belgium 1,000   -   -  100% 1,000   (448)   (269)  8,865   -  
Naturex GMBH Germany 150   -   -  100% 150  217  75  10,790   -  
Naturex LLC Russia 100   -   -  99% 33  937  351  6,675   -  
Naturex K.K. Japan 44   -   -  100% 35   (346)   (621)  616   -  
Naturex Corée South Korea 65   -   -  100% 69   (239)   (165)   -   -  
Naturex Inc. Canada Canada 380   -   -  100% 341   (458)   (238)  6,291   -  
Naturex Ingredientes Naturales S.A. de C.V Mexico 313   -   -  100% 277   (205)   (180)  1,555   -  
Zpow Pektowin SA Poland 8,513   -   -  100% 11,143   (6,034)   (2,326)  10,601   -  
Valentine Agro Private Limited India 7,340   -   -  100% 421  2,586   (55)  1,806   -  
Valentine Agro Private Limited India 1,812   -   -  100% 1  68   (26)  104   -  
Itrad Ivory Coast 75   -   -  100% 9   (3)  44  883   -  
Naturex Industrial SL Spain 8,945   -   -  100% 3,497   (1,136)  39   -   -  

Total 148,021   -  58,316  
 -   -   -   -   -  

Revenue Guarantees and 
sureties

Gross value of 
securities

Provisions Investment-related 
receivables

Ownership 
interest (%)

Capital
Capital 

reserves and 
retained 

Net income / 
(loss) 

In €000s
31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Raw materials 6,590  6,976  
Finished and semi-finished goods 28,898  24,932  
Provision for inventory losses  (1,410)   (2,157)  

Total inventory-  net 34,078  29,752  

In €000s
01/01/2013 Allowances     Reversals  31/12/2013

Provision for inventory losses 2,157 65 812 1,410

Total provisions for inventory losses 2,157 65 812 1,410



Chapter 7 

Naturex S.A annual financial statements and notes 
 
 

2013 Registration Document   215 

A provision for impairment is recorded when there is a collection risk for the full or a partial amount of the receivable. 

 

All receivables included under current assets are due within one year.  

 
Receivables stated in foreign currency amounted to €6.2 million. 

 

Changes in provisions for receivables break down accordingly: 

 

 

Note 6 Other receivables 

 

Note 7 Cash and cash equivalents 
Naturex did not purchase or sell any OEIC (SICAV) holdings in the period. 

Note 8 Accrual accounts 
 

 
Financial expenses correspond to issuance fees for the restructured loan and the bond issue redeemable over the 
borrowing term.  

In €000s
31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Gross trade receivables 19,211  19,819  
Of which affiliated undertakings 13,151  13,957  
Provisions  (134)   (186)  

Net trade receivables 19,077  19,633  

Used Unused
Trade receivables 186  119   (3)   (167)  134  

Total 186  119   (3)   (167)  134  

 31/12/2013
In €000s

01/01/2013 Allowances     Reversals

In €000s
31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Advances to subsidiaries 92,004  61,604  

Tax receivables and equivalent 4,987  3,268  

Advances to employees 378  382  

Deductible VAT 624  533  

VAT receivables 1,073  934  

Credit notes receivable 31  31  

Other accrued income 4  3,027  

Other receivables 489  1,319  

Total Other receivables 99,589  71,097  

In €000s
31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Financing expenses 1,654  1,301  
Operating expenses (excl. production) 1,069  929  
Production expenses 115  136  

Total 2,839  2,365  
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Note 9  Nature of translation differences 

 

Note 10 Shareholders' equity 

10.1 Changes in equity  

The share capital is divided into 7,843,251 fully-paid up shares with a par value of €1.50. 

 

10.2 Capital grants 

Investment grants of €0.2 million consist of grants for investments by the Company in wastewater treatment facilities. 
Additional grant funding of €10,000 was released in February 2013. Of this amount, €33,000 was recognised in the 
income statement in 2013. 

10.3 Tax-based provisions 

Tax-based provisions relate to the accelerated depreciation of acquisition-related costs for equity investments over a 
five-year period. 

10.4 Stock options 

Highlights of the different stock option plans are presented in the table below: 

In €000s
Assets Liabilities

Trade receivables 399 17
Trade payables 29 68
Borrowings 2,833 125
Loans to subsidiaries 1,977 2,612
Subsidiaries current account balances 3,196 228

Total 8,433 3,049

In €000s
01/01/2013 Earnings 

appropriation
Equity capital 

transactions
Dividends Net income

2013
Misc. 31/12/2013

Capital 11,593   -  172   -   -   -  11,765  
Additional paid-in capital 178,934   -  3,547   -   -   -  182,481  
Merger premium 351   -   -   -   -   -  351  
Legal reserve 788  277   -   -   -   -  1,065  
Statutory reserves 28   -   -   -   -   -  28  
Tax-based reserves 885   -   -   -   -   -  885  
Retained earnings 2,590  4,475   -   -   -   -  7,065  
Investment grants 245   -   -   -   -   (23)  222  
Tax-based provisions 2,913   -   -   -   -  904  3,817  
Income / (loss) 5,533   (4,751)   -   (782)   (3,207)   -   (3,207)  

203,861   -  3,719   (782)   (3,207)  882  204,473  
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Note 11 Provisions for contingencies and expenses 

11.1 Accounting method 

Provisions for contingencies and expenses are recorded to cover litigation, disputes, guarantee commitments and risks 
related to the company's normal operating activities expected to result in an outflow of economic resources. 

Non-euro denominated payables and receivables are recorded at fair value in euros according to the exchange rate on 
the transaction date and recognised in the balance sheet at the year-end exchange rate. The resulting translation 
differences for payables and receivables in non-Euro currencies based on this year-end rate is recorded in the balance 
sheet under "translation differences" heading after factoring in hedging transactions . A provision for foreign exchange 
losses is recorded for the portion not offset by gains. 

Retirement severance liabilities are calculated by independent actuaries in accordance with the terms of the collective 
bargaining agreement of the French chemical industry (Union des Industries Chimiques) and the French national 
accounting board (CNC) of 1 April 2003. For this purpose, the projected unit credit method is used that takes into 
account estimated years of service at retirement, final salaries, life expectancy and staff turnover, based on actuarial 
assumptions. The present value of the benefit obligation is calculated by applying the appropriate discount rate. This 
obligation is partially financed through payments into a group life insurance policy with the corresponding assets 
measured at fair value.  

 

The main assumptions used for estimating pension obligations are as follows: 

- Future compensation calculated on the basis of current compensation and an annual salary escalation rate of 
2% to 3 % according to the occupational category and age bracket (including long-term inflation); 

- A discount rate of 3.00 %;  
- An average payroll tax rate of 42%; and 
- And employee turnover rate determined by age bracket. 
- Benefit obligations are not recognised and are included under off-balance sheet commitments.  

Plan 11 Plan 12 Plan 13 Plan 14 Plan 15 Plan 16

Shareholders' Meeting date 30/06/2007 30/06/2008 30/06/2009 30/06/2010 08/06/2012 26/06/2013
Board of Directors' meeting date 25/03/2008 13/03/2009 26/04/2010 15/04/2011 19/11/2012 04/12/2013
Type of option Subscription Subscription Subscription Subscription Subscription Subscription

Inception date to exercise options 26/03/2011 14/03/2012 27/04/2013 16/04/2014 20/11/2015 05/12/2016
Expiry date 25/03/2014 13/03/2015 26/04/2015 15/04/2016 19/11/2017 04/12/2018

Subscription or purchase price 27.54 24.00 30.12 45.33 57.00 65.00
Weighted average fair value at valuation date 23.85 20.89 30.12 45.58 53.94 58.93
Risk free rate 2.5% 2.2% 1.0% 2.1% 0.6% 0.5%
Volatil ity 33.6% 22.0% 17.0% 22.8% 30.7% 18.7%

Total number of options granted: 47,362 53,650 52,150 57,094 64,480 46,250
Of which to corporate officers 33,000 33,000 26,000 26,000 14,000 14,000
Of which to employees 14,362 20,650 26,150 31,094 50,480 32,250
including the 10 employee beneficiaries granted the largest amount 5,600 10,500 12,200 12,000 16,100 17,600

Number of shares subscribed or cancelled at 01/01/2013 5,204 3,668 4,820 3,524  -  -
Number of shares exercised during the period 39,762 25,960 18,230 18,000  -  -
Number of shares cancelled during the period  -  - 230 979 1,728  -

Outstanding subscription or purchase options at 31 December 2013 2,396 24,022 28,870 34,591 62,752 46,250
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- At 31 December 2013, the present value of projected benefit obligation amounted to €178,000 and the fair 
value of fund assets amounted to €97,000 representing a net liability of €81,000. 

No specific benefit plans exist for company executives. 

11.2 Change in provisions 

 

Note 12 Financial debt 

 
Interest rate and foreign exchange risks are hedged through interest rate derivatives and loans granted to subsidiaries 
at interest rates and maturities that match the underlying liability. The residual exposure to foreign exchange risk 
concerns 2% of foreign currency denominated payables and the interest rate exposure concerns 56% of the debt.  

Note 13  Trade payables and related accounts  

 
Trade payables in foreign currency amounted to €2.2 million at 31 December 2013. 

ALLTEL are due in less than one year 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In €000s Used Unused
Foreign exchange losses (1) 3,427  5,821   -   (3,427)   -   -  5,821  
Other 25  390   -   (25)   -   -  390  

Total provisions for contingencies and expenses 3,452  6,211   -   (3,452)   -   -  6,211  

(1) Unrealised foreign exchange losses from the remeasurement of payables and receivables denominated in currencies other than the euro.

31/12/201301/01/2013 Allowances Reversals Change of 
method

Other

In €000s
Total < 1 year 2 to 5 years > 5 years

Borrowings 157,769  70,150  69,619  18,000  
Accrued interest not yet due 790  790   -   -  
Investment-related payables 8,013  13   -  8,000  
Financial instruments (foreign exchange hedges)  -   -   -   -  
Bank credit facil ities 21  21   -   -  

Total financial liabilities at 31/12/2013 166,594  70,974  69,619  26,000  

Total financial liabilities at 31/12/2012 133,879  60,412  65,392  8,075  

In €000s
31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Trade payables 15,463  21,426  
Of which affiliated undertakings 5,696  4,790  
Invoices not yet received 1,284  411  

Total 16,746  21,837  
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Note 14 Other payables 
Other payables with maturities of less than one year break down as follows: 

 

Note 15 Prepaid income 
Prepaid income relates to the repurchase of certain IT equipment lease contracts by a finance lease organisation and 
written back as the lease payments are invoiced. The balance at the end of the reporting period was €90,000.  

Note 16 Revenue 
The proceeds from asset sales are recognised in the income statement when substantially all the significant risks and 
rewards incident to ownership of the assets have been transferred to the buyer. 

 

Revenue by geographic area breaks down as follows: 

 

Note 17 Other income 
Pursuant to the reorganization by Naturex of its operating departments and support functions initiated in 2012 and 
continued in 2013, services rendered and charged back to its subsidiaries by the parent company have significantly 
increased. 

In €000s
31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Advances to subsidiaries 19,731  9,658  
Payables to social security agencies 2,890  1,793  
Including accrued expenses 1,479  865  

Accrued employee compensation 2,701  1,343  
Other accrued expenses 1,375  963  
Government payables 341  657  
Including accrued expenses 317  565  

Accrued financial expenses 16  15  

Total 27,054  14,430  

In €000s
2013 2012

United States 40,377 40,283
Other countries 54,086 54,481
France 16,866 15,881

Total Revenue 111,330 110,644
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Note 18 Net financial income / (expense) 

 

Note 19 Net exceptional income / (loss) 

 

Note 20 Income tax 

  
 

SCI les Broquetons is included in the French tax group of Naturex SA. The tax sharing agreement providing for the sharing 
of taxes between a parent company and subsidiaries in France (intégration fiscale) stipulates that Naturex incurs the 
tax on income for the entire tax group generating a tax receivable in its favour on the SCI (société civile immobilière) a 
French non-trading property company, equal to the amount that would be owed by the subsidiary if taxed separately. 
In application of this principle, Naturex recognised an income of €20,000 from this tax sharing arrangement 
corresponding to income payable by the SCI. 

 
  

  

2013 2012

11,742  9,231  
Interest income from affil iates 4,271  3,842  
Foreign exchange gains 4,002  3,358  
Reversal of provision for foreign exchange losses 3,427  1,885  
Reversal of provision for equity investments  -   -  
Other 42  147  

14,383  11,126  
Borrowing costs 4,295  3,879  
Foreign exchange losses 2,966  2,891  
Provisions for foreign exchange losses 5,821  3,427  
Provision for equity investments  -  
Interest expense on affi l iates 677  389  
Other 625  541  

Net financial income (expense)  (2,641)   (1,895)  

Income

Expenses

in €000s

In €000s
Income Expenses

Accelerated tax depreciations and amortisations  -  904  
Asset disposals 3  28  
Other 67  440  

Total 70  1,373  

In €000s
Income Expenses

Research tax credit 1,414   -  
Income from French tax sharing provisions 20   -  
Tax charge of the period  -   (13)  

Total 1,434   (13)  

In €000s
Profit before tax Taxes payable

Loss 
carryforwards 

applied

French tax-
sharing 

provisions
Net income

Profit or loss before exceptional items  (3,326)  1,414   -  20   (1,892)  
Net exceptional items  (1,302)   (13)   -   (1,315)  

Total  (4,629)  1,401   -  20   (3,207)  
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Note 21 Average headcount and statutory training benefits 
At 31 December 2013, the workforce of 400 employees broke down as follows: 

  
The total accumulated number of "individual training rights" (Droit individuel à la Formation or DIF) to which employees 
are entitled under French law amounted to 22,840 hours at 31 December 2013. 

Note 22 Commitments 

22.1 Commitments given 

  
 
Two commitments were given pursuant to the acquisition of Pektowin in January2012 summarised as follows: 

� Maintain the primary activity of the Company for at least three years from the completion date of the 
acquisition;  

� Invest a minimum of PLN 10 million over three years from the acquisition completion date. These investments 
necessary for the company's activity consist mainly in modernising existing production facilities, supplying new 
manufacturing equipment and strengthening the company's integration and development within the 
production resources of Naturex Group.  This obligation was fulfilled in 2013 by a capital increase (see Note 
1.1). 

22.2 Commitments received 

 

22.3 Interest rate derivative commitments 

Interest rate risk derivatives are not recognised on the balance sheet. The mark-to-mark valuation of these instruments 
at year-end amounted to €1.3 million. 

Category Headcount

Managers 173
Supervisory staff 62
Office staff and plant workers 156
Other 9

Total 400

31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Guarantees with banks on behalf of subsidiaries 6,498 6,426

130,811 113,641

Retirement severance benefit obligations 178 192

Commitment in favour of Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation 120  -

Customs guarantee in favour of Naturex Maroc 800 969

Guarantee in favour of Naturex SL in connection with an R&D project 60 240

Investment undertaking of Naturex SA in Pektowin  - 2,455

Commitments given
in €000s
Commitments related to company financing activities

Commitments related to company operating activities

Pledging of securities and/or business assets in connection with the 
structured loan agreement

31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Credit l ines 34,512 26,889
Commitments related to company financing activities

Commitments received
in €000s
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Note 23 Breakdown of capital 

 
SGD's capital is 98.79%-held by Finasucre following the acquisition of the holdings of Mr. Jacques Dikansky's heirs in 
SGD on 22 February 2013.  

Note 24 Executive compensation 
Growth compensation of company executive officers  amounted to €261,000. Detailed information on executive 
compensation is presented in Chapter III of the Group's management report. 

Note 25 Changes in future tax liabilities 
Timing differences with respect to taxes break down as follows: 

 
The corresponding tax receivable amounted to €391,000. 

in 2012, the company recognised two insurance payments, the first of €3 million under a "key -man" policy in other 
income and the second for a policy taken out in favour of banks to guarantee the repayment of tranche A1 of its 
restructured loan under exceptional income for an amount totalling €3.1 million. The exceptional impact of these two 
income items increased future tax expenses by €1.2 million. 

At 31 December 2013, Group tax receivables broke down as follows: 

 

Note 26 Note 26 – Research and development expenditures 
Research and development expenditures expensed in the period amounted to €3.2 million. 

Shareholders % of capital at 
31/12/2013

% of voting rights at 
31/12/2013

SGD 21.06% 28.13%
Caravelle 15.15% 13.48%
Finasucre 0.32% 0.28%
Thierry Lambert 0.07% 0.08%
Stéphane Ducroux 0.01% 0.02%
Treasury shares 0.09% 0.00%
Free float 63.29% 58.01%

In €000s
31/12/2013

Social solidarity contribution 236  
Unrealised foreign exchange gains 437  
Insurance income  (3,644)  
Decreases and tax credits carried forward 132  
Loss carryforward 4,010  

Total 1,172  

In €000s
31/12/2012 Change 31/12/2013

Tax credits  (3,268)   (1,414)   (4,683)  

Total  (3,268)   (1,414)   (4,683)  
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Note 27 Related party transactions 
Decree No. 2009-267 dated 9 March 2009 imposes disclosure requirements in France about transactions with related 
parties not included at normal market conditions. No material agreements of this nature were concluded in the period. 

Note 28 Auditors' fees 
Auditors’ fees for fiscal 2013 amounted to €143,000.  
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STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
 

This is a free translation into English of the statutory auditors’ report issued in the French language and is provided solely for the convenience of English speaking readers. 
The statutory auditors’ report includes information specifically required by French law in all audit reports, whether qualified or not, and this is presented below the opinion on 
the financial statements. This information includes an explanatory paragraph discussing the auditors’ assessments of certain significant accounting and auditing matters. These 
assessments were considered for the purpose of issuing an audit opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole and not to provide separate assurance on individual 
account captions or on information taken outside of the financial statements. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and 
professional auditing standards applicable in France. 

------------- 

Year ended 31 December 2013  
 
Dear shareholders, 
 
In accordance with the terms of our appointment at your shareholders’ meeting, we hereby submit our report for the 
year ended 31 December 2013 regarding: 

� Our examination of the accompanying annual financial statements of Naturex S.A.; 

� The basis of our assessments, and 

� The specific procedures and disclosures required by law. 

The Board of Directors has approved the annual financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audit. 

1. Opinion on the annual financial statements 

We conducted our audit in accordance with professional auditing standards applicable in France. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the annual financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis or by other selection methods, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the annual financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used, the significant estimates made and the overall financial statement presentation. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position and the assets and 
liabilities of the company as at 31 December 2012 and the results of its operations for the year ended in accordance 
with French accounting standards. 
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2. Basis of our assessments 

Pursuant to the provisions of article L.823-9 of the French Commercial Code regarding the basis of our assessments, we 
draw your attention to the following matters: 

Note 3.2 hereto describes the accounting rules and methods used for measuring equity investments. 

As part of our assessment of the accounting principles, rules and policies applied by your company, we verified the 
appropriateness of the accounting policies specified above and the disclosures in the notes to the financial statements, 
and verified that they were applied correctly. 

These assessments were made as part of our audit of the annual financial statements taken as a whole and therefore 
contributed to the opinion we expressed in the first part of this report. 

3. Specific procedures and disclosures 

We also performed the specific procedures and disclosures required by law in accordance with professional standards 
applicable in France. 

We have no matters to report in connection with the fair presentation and consistency with the financial statements of 
the information given in the report of the Board of Directors and the documents addressed to the shareholders in 
respect to the financial position and the financial statements. 

Regarding the information provided in accordance with the provisions of article L.225-102-1 of the French Commercial 
Code on compensation and benefits paid to corporate officers as well as commitments incurred in their favour, we have 
verified their consistency with the accounts or with the data used to prepare these financial statements, and when 
necessary, with any information obtained by your company from companies controlling your company or controlled by 
your company. Based on this work, we attest the accuracy and fair presentation of this information.  

Pursuant to the law, we have verified that the management report contains the appropriate disclosures about the 
identity of holders of capital and voting rights. 

 
Paris La Défense, 24 April 2014 
 

French original signed by: 

Avignon, 24 April 2014 

KPMG S.A.  AREs X.PERT Audit 

  

Jean Gatinaud  Laurent Peyre 
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STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON REGULATED AGREEMENTS AND 
COMMITMENTS 
 

This is a free translation into English of a report issued in the French language and is provided solely for the convenience of English 
speaking readers. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and professional auditing 
standards applicable in France. 

------------- 
 
Annual General Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ended 31 
December 2013 

Dear Shareholders, 
 
In our capacity as your company’s statutory auditors, we  hereby present our report on regulated agreements and 
commitments. 

The terms of our engagement require us to communicate to you, based on information provided to us, the principal 
terms and conditions of those agreements and commitments brought to our attention or that we may have discovered 
during the course of our audit, without expressing an opinion on their utility and merits or identifying such other 
agreements and commitments, if any. It is your responsibility, pursuant to article R.225- 31 of the French commercial 
code, to assess the merits of these agreements and commitments with a view to their approval.   

 

Furthermore, our role is also to provide you with the information provided for by Article R. 225-31 of the French 
Commercial Code regarding the execution, during the past year, of the agreements and commitments already approved 
by the shareholders’ meeting, if any. 

 

We performed procedures we deemed necessary in accordance with the professional guidelines of the French National 
Institute of Statutory Auditors (Compagnie nationale des Commissaires aux Comptes) relating to this engagement. These 
standards require that we ensure that the information provided to us is consistent with the relevant source documents. 
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I. Agreements and commitments subject to approval by the 
shareholders' meeting 

Agreements and commitments approved in the period ended 

Pursuant to Article L. 225-40 of the French Commercial Code, we have been advised of the following agreements and 
commitments previously authorised by your Board of Directors.  

 

� Amendment No. 5 to the multi-currency credit facility of 16 December 2009 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose:  

As authorised by the Board of Directors’ meeting of 3 May 2013, an addendum to the multi-currency credit facility 
agreement of 16 December 2009 Naturex SA concluded with a banking syndicate was executed on 7 June 2013. This 
amendment renews the guarantees initially granted by Naturex Holdings Inc. for the total number of its Naturex Inc., 
Naturex Cooperatief U.A., Naturex Cooperative LLC shares, as security for additional financing. 

� Terms and conditions: 

The net carrying values of Naturex Inc., Naturex Cooperatief U.A., Naturex Cooperative LLC in the books of Naturex 
Holdings Inc. amounted to respectively US$65,719,329, US$50,054,865 and US$100 at 31 December 2013. 
 

� Counter guarantee of Naturex S.A. for loans granted to Aker Biomarine Manufacturing LLC 
and Aker Biomarine Financing LLC 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose:  

Pursuant to the Board of Directors' authorization of 29 August 2013, Naturex S.A. has provided a counter guarantee for 
the standby letters of credit issued by HSBC in favour of JPM Chase, that granted a credit line to Aker Biomarine 
Manufacturing LLC and a loan to Aker Biomarine Financing LLC in connection with NMTC federal financing program. 

� Terms and conditions:  

The credit lines and standby letters of credit amounted to respectively US$1.5 million for Aker Biomarine Manufacturing 
LLC and US$6 million for Aker Biomarine Financing LLC. 

� Grants paid to the Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

Pursuant to the Board of Directors' authorization of 29 August 2013, Naturex S.A. provided a grant amounting to 1% of 
sales from the NAT oleis range to the Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation, in connection with the "Sustainability 
Natoleis" programme. 

In accordance with addendum No.°2 to the Naturex-Jacques Dikansky Foundation articles of association executed on 12 
September 2012, Naturex S.A. undertakes to contribute a new multi-year action plan covering a period of five years 
from 2013 for an amount totalling €150,000 (or five €30,000 annual instalments). 

� Terms and conditions: The amount of the grant paid in 2013 was €30,007.31. 
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Agreements and commitments approved after the end of the financial year 

We have been informed of the following agreements and commitments, authorised after the end of the financial year 
and approved in advance by your Board of Directors of your Company. 

 
� Amendment to the agreement to sublet the head office expansion to SCI Avenue la Pinède 

� Related parties: Thierry Lambert and Stéphane Ducroux 

� Nature and purpose:  

On 5 March 2014, the Board of Directors authorized the amendment to the sublease agreement signed on 29 March 
2012 between Naturex S.A. and SCI Avenue La Pinède. By virtue of this amendment, in addition to the building 
corresponding to the headquarters extension for Naturex S.A, SCI Avenue La Pinède will rent to Naturex S.A a new 
extension comprising a pilot facility. In accordance with article 1 of this sublease agreement, Naturex S.A. incurs the 
expenses for the premises. 

� Terms and conditions: The lease, after being amended, will have a fixed term of nine years as from the amendment's 
date of effect. The total amount of annual rent for all buildings leased through the lease agreement was set at 
€920,000.  

 
� Counter guarantee for KF Specialty Ingredients Pty Ltd 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

The bank HSBC will be called upon to issue a first demand guarantee for KF Specialty Ingredients Pty Ltd in favour of the 
owners of offices rented by the latter. The issuance of the bank guarantee by HSBC is subject to issuance of a counter 
guaranteed by Naturex S.A. 

On 5 March 2014, the Board of Directors authorised Naturex S.A. to issue this counter guarantee in favour of HSBC. 

� Terms and conditions: This counter-guarantee is for a maximum amount of US$180,000 or six months of rent and 
expires on 28 February 2018.  
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II. Agreements and commitments already approved by the 
shareholders' meeting 

Agreements and commitments authorised in prior periods that remained in force 
during the period ended 

Pursuant to article 225-30 of the French Commercial Code, we have been informed that the following agreements and 
commitments, previously approved by shareholders’ meetings of prior years, remained in force during the year. 
 
� Group cash management agreement 

� With the following companies: SCI Les Broquetons, Naturex SpA, Naturex A.G., Naturex Ltd, KF Speciality Ingredients 
Pty Ltd, Naturex SPRL, Naturex GmbH, Naturex Australia Pty Ltd, Naturex Inc, Naturex Inc (Canada), Naturex 
Ingredientes Naturales SA de CV, Naturex (South Korea), Naturex K.K, Naturex Holdings Inc, Naturex Cooperative 
LLC, Naturex Spain SL, Naturex Coöperatief U.A, ZPOW Pektowin, Naturex Industrial SL. 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

As authorised by the Board of Directors' meeting of 26 April 2010, a "Group Cash Management" agreement was 
concluded on 3 May 2010 between Naturex S.A. and its subsidiaries (direct or indirect) whereby Naturex S.A. provides 
centralised cash management services on their behalf. Under the terms of this agreement, the daily cash position is 
subject to an interest rate of 3.5%. 

� Terms and conditions: Interest paid/received by Naturex S.A. for fiscal 2013 was: 

- interest paid: €505,661; 

- interest received: €2,355,977. 

 

� Loan granted by Naturex A.G. to Naturex S.A. 

� Nature and purpose: 

A loan agreement and amendment thereto executed on 31 October 2010 between Naturex S.A. and Naturex A.G. 
whereby Naturex A.G. grants a long-term loan to Naturex S.A. The funds for this €8 million loan originate from the 
conversion of the current account balance of treasury advances by Naturex A.G. to Naturex S.A. on the agreement 
date.- Repayable on 31 October 2014, this loan may be prepaid or its term be extended by mutual agreement. Interest 
rate: 2% per annum 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Terms and conditions: Interest paid on this loan in fiscal 2013 amounted to €159,910. 

 

� Leasing of offices from SCI Les Broquetons 

� Nature and purpose: 

Naturex S.A. leases from SCI Les Broquetons the premises where it exercises business activities.  

� Terms and conditions: For fiscal 2013, your company paid rent of €483,078 under this lease. 
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� Loans granted by Naturex S.A. to Naturex A.G., Naturex Holdings Inc. and Naturex Inc. 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

Loan agreements were executed on 30 September 2009 by Naturex S .A. in favour of the following direct or indirect 
subsidiaries: 

- Naturex A.G., 

- Naturex Holdings Inc., 

- Naturex Inc. 

The loans granted to Naturex A.G. and Naturex Inc. are repayable on 31 December 2016 and the loan granted to Naturex 
Holdings Inc. repayable on 30 November 2016. 

The interest rate applicable is that incurred by Naturex SA in connection with the syndicated credit facility defined every 
year. 

� Terms and conditions: 

At 31 December 2013, the loans granted by Naturex S.A. to its subsidiaries as well as interest received in fiscal 2013 
break down as follows: 

- Loan granted to Naturex A.G.: CHF 12,756,000; interest received: €.282,659, 

- Loan granted to Naturex Holdings Inc.: USD 21,452,085; interest received: €807,235; 

- Loan granted to Naturex Inc.: USD 4,464,306; interest received: €157,990; 

 

� Addendum No. 2 to the multi-currency credit facility of 16 December 2009 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

As authorised by the Board of Directors’ meeting of 2 February 2011, an addendum to the multi-currency credit facility 
agreement of 16 December 2009 and by Naturex SA concluded with a banking syndicate was executed on 15 April 2011. 
This addendum renews the guarantees initially granted by Naturex Holdings Inc. for the full amount of Naturex Inc. 
shares or securities, as security for the additional financing for the acquisition of a real estate complex in Valence and 
an additional €15 million tranche for a revolving credit. 

 

� Terms and conditions: The net carrying amount of Naturex Inc. shares recognised by Naturex Holdings Inc. 
amounted to USD 65,719,329 at 31 December 2013. 
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� Agreement to sublet the head office expansion to SCI Avenue la Pinède 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

As authorised by the Board of Directors’ meeting of 8 September 2011, a sublease agreement was executed on 29 March 
2012 between Naturex S.A. and SCI Avenue La Pinède, whereby SCI Avenue La Pinède will rent the building 
corresponding to the expansion of Naturex S.A.’s head office. 

� Terms and conditions: 

This lease is for a fixed term of nine years. The annual rent was set as from 1 January 2013 at €700,000.  

For fiscal 2013, your company paid €700,000 under this lease. 

 

� Security bond for Naturex Spain S.L. 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

Within the framework of the “Estrategias de microencapsulacion de l’alimentacion functional” project carried out by 
the Spanish subsidiary Naturex S.L., Naturex S.A. provided a guarantee for its subsidiary Naturex Spain S.L., as authorised 
by the Board of Directors’ meeting of 13 September 2011.  

� Terms and conditions: This guarantee was for €240,112.37.  

 

� Addendum No. 3 to the multi-currency credit facility of 16 December 2009 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

As authorised by the Board of Directors’ meeting of 7 December 2011, an addendum to the multi-currency credit facility 
agreement of 16 December 2009 and by Naturex SA concluded with a banking syndicate was executed on 12 January 
2012. This addendum renews the guarantees initially granted by Naturex Holdings Inc. for the full amount of Naturex 
Inc. shares or securities, as security for the revolving tranches whose term was extended by Addendum No 3 and the 
extension of the guarantee of obligations on the additional Capex 2 tranche.  

Terms and conditions: The net carrying amount of Naturex Inc. shares recognised by Naturex Holdings Inc. amounted 
to USD 65,719,329 at 31 December 2013. 

 

� Loan agreement concluded between Naturex S.A. and Burgundy Botanical Extracts Iberica, 
S.A. in favour of the latter 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

On 28 February 2012 Naturex S.A. and Burgundy Botanical Extracts Iberica, S.A. concluded an equity loan agreement in 
favour of the latter and merged with Naturex Spain SL in October 2012. 

This loan for €2.4 million was paid back in full in April 2013. 

� Terms and conditions: Interest of 3.5% received on this loan in fiscal 2013 amounted to €24,855. 
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� Amendment to the loan agreement concluded between Naturex S.A. and Naturex Trading 
(Shanghai) Co. Ltd in favour of the latter  

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

An amendment to the loan agreement of 31 August 2009 was concluded by Naturex S.A. in favour of Naturex Trading 
(Shanghai) Co. Ltd. 

This amendment extended the initial term of the €42,000 loan from 5 to 8 years. 

� Terms and conditions: No interest payments were received on this loan in fiscal 2013. 

 

� A loan agreement concluded between Naturex S.A. and Naturex (South Korea) in favour of 
the latter 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

Two loan agreements were concluded on 12 March 2012 and 30 October 2012 by Naturex S.A. and Naturex (South 
Korea) in favour of the latter. 

These loans maturing on 3 April 2013 and 5 November 2013 for respectively US$150,000 and US$200,000 were 
extended by mutual agreement by the parties.  

The loan incurs interest based on the LIBOR plus a margin of 1%. 

� Terms and conditions: Interest of 1% received on this loan in fiscal 2013 amounted to €3,384.  
 

� Agreement for the provision of administrative services to SGD S.A.S. 

� Related parties: Thierry Lambert and Paul Lippens  

� Nature and purpose: Pursuant to the proposal of the Board of Directors’ meeting of 26 March 2012, an 
administrative services agreement was concluded on 29 March 2012 between Naturex S.A. and SGD S.A.S., whereby 
Naturex S.A. provides the latter selected administrative services for a fixed charge of €250 per month. Expenses 
that may be incurred by Naturex S.A. in connection with this agreement are not reimbursed by SGD S.A.S.  

� Terms and conditions: 

Naturex S.A. charged SGD S.A.S. €3,000 for services rendered in the period. 

 

� Agreement for the provision of administrative services to SCI Avenue La Pinède  

� Related party: Thierry Lambert  

� Nature and purpose: 

Pursuant to the proposal of the Board of Directors’ meeting of 26 March 2012, an administrative services agreement 
was concluded on 29 March 2012 between Naturex S.A. and the French non-trading property company (société civile 
immobilière) SCI Avenue La Pinède, whereby Naturex S.A. provides the latter selected administrative services for a fixed 
charge of €250 per month. Expenses that may be incurred by Naturex S.A. in connection with this agreement are not 
reimbursed by SCI Avenue La Pinède. 

� Terms and conditions: Naturex S.A. charged SCI La Pinède €3,000 for services rendered in the period. 
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� Agreement for the provision of administrative, accounting and legal services to Grünes Blatt 

AG 

� Related party: Thierry Lambert 

� Nature and purpose: 

As authorised by the Board of Directors’ meeting of 29 March 2012, an administrative, accounting and legal services 
agreement was concluded on 29 March 2012 between Naturex S.A. and Grünes Blatt AG., whereby Naturex S.A. 
provides the latter selected administrative services for a fixed charge of €250 a month. 

� Terms and conditions: 

Naturex S.A. charged Grünes Blatt AG €3,000 for these services in the period.  

 

� A loan agreement concluded between Naturex S.A. and Naturex Inc. in favour of the latter 

� Related parties: Thierry Lambert and Stéphane Ducroux  

� Nature and purpose: 

As authorised by the Board of Directors’ meeting of 30 August 2012, Naturex S.A. granted to its subsidiary, Naturex Inc., 
a loan agreement for USD 19,000,000 to finance the acquisition of Decas Botanicals Synergies LLC. repayable on 31 
December 2022. 

The loan incurs interest based on the LIBOR  plus a margin of 2%. 

� Terms and conditions: interest received on this loan in fiscal 2013 amounted to €327,281. 

� Severance payment guarantee for Stéphane Ducroux 

� Nature and purpose: 

On 30 August 2012, the Board of Directors decided to guarantee a severance payment for Stéphane Ducroux should the 
latter be dismissed within a period of 18 months following a change in control or management of Naturex S.A. 

� Terms and conditions: 

This severance payment equals two years of salary. This amount is not due if the dismissal is a consequence of gross or 
wilful misconduct of Stéphane Ducroux. 

 

 

 

Paris La Défense, 24 April 2014 
French original signed by: 

Avignon, 24 April 2014 
 

KPMG S.A.  AREs X.PERT Audit 
Jean Gatinaud  Laurent Peyre 
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT AND AUDITORS 

I. Person responsible for the Registration Document 

Chair and Chief Executive Officer 

Thierry Lambert 
Renewal of his appointment as director by the General Meeting of 8 June 2012 for a term of six years ending on the 
close of the General Meeting that will be called to approve the financial statements for the fiscal year ending 31 
December 2017. 
Appointment by the Board of Directors on 16 October 2012 as Chairman of the Board of Directors for the duration of 
his term as director. 

Responsibility statement 

“I hereby certify, after having taken all reasonable measures in this regard, that to the best of my knowledge the 
information contained in this registration document provides a true and fair picture of the Company’s existing 
situation, and has no omissions likely to alter its import. 
I also certify that to the best of my knowledge, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting standards and give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities, financial position and 
results of the operations of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, and 
that the management report for the period (included herein in chapters1 2) Sustainable development, 3) Organisation 
and corporate governance, 4) Share capital and shareholder structure and 5) Review of operations for 2013 faithfully 
presents business trends, the results and financial position of the Company and the undertakings included in the 
consolidation taken as a whole and a description of the main risks and uncertainties. 
The statutory auditors have issued reports on the historical information presented in this document reproduced in 
chapter 6 (page 208) and 7 (page 230) that contain no emphasis of matter paragraphs. 
I have obtained a letter from the statutory auditors confirming the completion of their engagement whereby, in 
compliance with accounting doctrine and professional standards applicable in France, they verified information on the 
financial position and financial statements presented in this document and which they have reviewed in its entirety. 
This letter does not contain any observations. 
The statutory auditors' reports on the financial information incorporated by reference for fiscal 2012 reproduced on 
pages 226 and 252 of the original French language version of the registration document filed with the AMF (No. D.13-
0471) on 30 April 2013 reproduced on page 226 contains an emphasis of matter paragraph relating to a change in 
accounting method: 
"(…) Without qualifying the opinion expressed above, we draw your attention as an emphasis of matter to notes 4.1 
and 13 to the financial statements presenting a change in accounting method concerning employee benefits resulting 
from the early adoption of amended IAS 19." 
The statutory auditors' reports on the financial information incorporated by reference for fiscal 2011 reproduced on 
pages 193 and 215 of the original French language version of the registration document filed with the AMF (No. D.12-
0424) on 26 April 2012 do not contain any emphasis of matter paragraphs. 

30 April 2014 

Thierry Lambert 

                                                                 
1 Disclosures required under articles L.225-100, L.225-100-2, L225-100-3 and L.225-211 subsection 2 of the French commercial code. 
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Chair and Chief Executive Officer 

II. Statutory Auditors 

 
 
 
 

Statutory Auditors 

KPMG S.A. 
Represented by Jean Gatinaud 
 
Immeuble le Palatin - 3 cours du triangle 
92939 Paris – La Défense Cedex 
 
Current term: 6 years 
 
Expiry date of current term: annual ordinary 
shareholders' meeting called in 2016 to approve the 
financial statements for the fiscal year ending on 31 
December 2015. 
 

ARES X. PERT AUDIT 
Represented by Laurent Peyre 
 
26 boulevard Saint Roch - BP 278 
84 011 Avignon 
 
Current term: 6 years 
 
Expiry date of current term: annual ordinary 
shareholders' meeting called in 2014 to approve the 
financial statements for the fiscal year ending on 31 
December 2013. 
 

 
 
 

Alternate Auditors 

KPMG Audit ID 
 
 
3, Cours du Triangle – Immeuble "Le Palatin" Puteaux 
92939 Paris – La Défense Cedex – France 
 
Current term: 6 years 
 
Expiry date of current term: annual ordinary 
shareholders' meeting called in 2016 to approve the 
financial statements for the fiscal year ending on 31 
December 2015. 
 

Olivier Rousset 
 
 
26 boulevard Saint Roch - BP 278 
84011 Avignon Cedex 9 
 
Current term: 6 years 
 
Expiry date of current term: annual ordinary 
shareholders' meeting called in 2014 to approve the 
financial statements for the fiscal year ending on 31 
December 2013. 
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III. Information policy 

 
 

Responsibility for financial information 

Thierry-Bertrand LAMBERT 
Chief Financial Officer 
Tel: +33 (0)4 90 23 96 89 
E-mail: t.blambert@naturex.com 
 
 

Financial communications / Investor relations 

Carole Alexandre 
Tel: +33 (0)4 90 23 96 89 
E-mail: c.alexandre@naturex.com 
 
 
 

 
 

The memorandum and the articles of association of Naturex S.A. as well as all of the legal documents and the 
historical financial information for prior periods may be consulted at the Company's head office: 

Pôle Technologique d’Agroparc – BP 1218 – 84911 Avignon Cedex 09 – France 
 

All press leases and documents published by Naturex Group are also available to the public at the website 
www.naturex.com 

. 
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Fees payable to Statutory Auditors and member firms of their 
network 

Fees for statutory auditors and members of their network paid by Naturex Group for fiscal 2013, compared with fiscal 2012, break down 
as follows: 

 

 

  

In €000s Euros (%) Euros (%) Euros (%) Euros (%) Euros (%) Euros (%)

Audit engagement 

Consolidating company 326  56% 118  100% -       0% 361  64% 108  100%  -  0%
Fully consolidated subsidiaries 227  39%  -  0% 192   71% 192  34%  -  0% 239  78%

b  - Other assignment
Consolidating company 6  1%  -  0% -       0%  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%
Fully consolidated subsidiaries  -  0%  -  0% 16     6%   0%  -  0%  -  0%

Audit engagement subtotal (1) 559   95% 118   100% 208   77% 553   98% 108   100% 239   78%

Other services
- Tax, legal and labour law related assignments

Consolidating company  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%
Fully consolidated subsidiaries 27  5% 0% 63  23% 14  2% 0% 68  22%

d - Other assignments
Consolidating company  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%
Fully consolidated subsidiaries  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%  -  0%

Other services subtotal (2) 27     5% -       0% 63     23% 14     2% -       0% 68     22%

Total (1) + (2) 586   100% 118   100% 271   100% 567   100% 108   100% 306   100%

ARES X PERT Other KPMG ARES X PERT Other

a - Certification, examination of the separate and 
consolidated accounts

31/12/2013 31/12/2012
KPMG 
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Dissemination of regulated information and availability of information 

Dissemination of regulated information 

In compliance with the Transparency Directive on the harmonisation of obligations for the disclosure, dissemination 
and storage of regulated information about issuers whose securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market, 
adopted by the AMF on 20 January 2007, NATUREX selected Actusnews Wire as its primary information provider for the 
dissemination of regulated information officially recognised by the AMF. 
Through this primary information provider, Naturex's financial information is disseminated throughout the European 
Union both to financial market professionals and press agencies as well as the websites of the main European financial 
media. 

Availability of information 

In electronic form 
All regulated and periodic information is published online in French and English at the websites of Naturex 
(www.naturex.com), its primary information provider for electronic dissemination (www.actusnews.com) and NYSE 
Euronext Paris (www.euronext.fr). 

Official mandatory legal notices are available at the website of the Bulletin des annonces Légales Obligatoires (BALO): 
http://balo.journal-officiel.gouv.fr/. 
Annual financial statements filed with the Registrar of the Avignon Commercial Court are available at the website 
http://www.infogreffe.fr. 

Archives of regulated information published by Naturex are available at the official website (www.info-financiere.fr) 
for central storage of regulated information of listed companies designated by the AMF:  
http://www.info-financiere.fr/search.php?action=search&by=societe&q=NATUREX&x=5&y=9 

Printed versions 
All of the documents mentioned in this annual information document may be obtained free on request by contacting 
the Company: 
 
Naturex S.A. 
Service Actionnaires 
Pôle Technologique d’Agroparc – BP 1218 – 84911 Avignon Cedex 09 – France 
Tel: +33 (0)4 90 23 96 89 
E-mail: c.alexandre@naturex.com 
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TABLE OF CROSS-REFERENCES WITH DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS OF COMMISSION 
REGULATION (EC) NO. 809/2004 
For the convenience of readers of the annual financial report filed as a registration document the following table 
provides cross-references with the main information headings provided for by Appendix 1 of Commission Regulation 
(EC) No. 809/2004 (Prospectus Directive). 
Information not applicable to Naturex is indicated by N/A. 

Headings of Appendix 1 of EC Regulation No. 809/2004 Page No. in this registration document 
1. Persons responsible 
1.1 Persons responsible for information given in the registration document 
1.2 Responsibility statement  

 
235 to 237 

235 

2. Statutory auditors 
2.1 Presentation of the statutory auditors   
2.2 Statutory auditors having resigned, been removed or not reappointed 

 
236 
N/A 

3. Selected financial information 
3.1 Selected historical financial information 
3.2 Selected financial information for interim periods 
comparative data from the same period in the prior financial year 

 
4-5, 160-162, 207-208  

N/A 

4. Risk factors 
4.1 Specific business-related risks  
4.2 Industrial and environmental risks 
4.3 Market risks  
4.4 Legal risks  
4.5 Insurance and risk management   

 
26 to 31 

28, 30 
25 

25-26 
31 

5. Information about the issuer 
5.1 History and development of the Company and the Group 
5.2 Investments 
5.2.1 Principal investments for each financial year for the period covered by the 

historical financial information up to the date of the registration 
document 

5.2.2 Principal investments in progress 
5.2.3 Information concerning the issuer's principal future investments on which 

its management bodies have already made firm commitments 

 

2-3, 133-135, 164-165, 209 
147-148, 183-184, 211 

 

6. Business overview 
6.1 Principal activities  
6.2 Principal markets  
6.3 Exceptional factors having had an influence on the Company's activity  
6.4 Dependency of the Company on patents or licences, industrial, 
commercial or financial contracts or new manufacturing processes   
6.5 5.1 Competitive position of the Company  

 
7 to 21 

14-17, 22-23 
133-135, 164-165, 209 

 
N/A 

22-23 

7.      Organisational structure 
7.1 Group organisation  
7.2 List of subsidiaries 

 
6, 167 

167, 170, 171, 214 
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Headings of Appendix 1 of EC Regulation No. 809/2004 Page No. in this registration 
document 

8. Property, plants and equipment 
8.1 Information regarding any existing or planned material tangible fixed assets, 
including leased properties  
Environmental issues that may affect the issuer’s utilisation of tangible fixed assets  

 
183 to 185 

 
48 to 57 

9. Operating and financial review 
9.1 Financial condition  
9.2 Operating results 

 
133 to 149 

139-140 

10. Capital resources 
10.1 Information concerning the issuer’s capital resources 
10.2 Sources and amounts of the issuer's cash flows  
Information on the borrowing requirements and funding structure of the issuer  
Information regarding any restrictions on the use of capital resources  
10.5 Information regarding the anticipated sources of funds needed to fulfil commitments 
with respect to investment decisions 

 
163, 216 
146, 162 

147, 188-189 
N/A 

125, 147, 188-189  

11. Research and development, patents and licenses  177, 197, 222   

12. Trend information 
12.1 Significant recent trends in production, sales and inventory, and costs and selling prices 
since the end of the last financial year 
to the date of the registration document  
12.2 Information on any known trends or events that are reasonably likely to have a material 
effect on the issuer's prospects 

 
133-135, 164-165 

 
158 

13. Profit forecasts or estimates  N/A 
14. Administrative, management, and supervisory bodies and senior management 
14.1 Members of the administrative, management and supervisory bodies 
14.2 Conflicts of interest within administrative, management and supervisory bodies 

 
74 

78, 113 

15. Remuneration and benefits 
15.1 Total remuneration paid 
15.2 Total amounts set aside or accrued  

 
106 to 113 
106 to 113 

16. Board practices 
16.1 Date of expiration of current terms of office 
16.2 Information about members of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies' 
service contracts 
16.3 Information about the issuer’s audit committee and remuneration committee 
16.4 A statement as to whether or not the issuer complies with its country’s of incorporation 
corporate governance regime(s)  

 
74 

 
N/A 

84-85 
73 

17. Employees 
17.1 Number of employees and breakdown of persons employed by main category of 
activity and geographic location 
17.2 Shareholdings and stock options 
17.3 Any arrangements for involving the employees in the capital of the issuer 

 
38 to 40 

 
126 to 128 

N/A   
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Headings of Appendix 1 of EC Regulation No. 809/2004 Page No. in this registration document 
18. Major shareholders 
18.1 Holdings and changes thereto subject to disclosure obligations 
18.2 Voting rights  
18.3 Information concerning the control of the issuer 
18.4 Any arrangements relating to changes in control 

 
120 to 122 

115, 120 
120, 122 

N/A 
19. Related party transactions  148, 201, 223  

20. Financial information concerning the issuer’s assets and liabilities, financial position 
and profits and losses 
20.1 Historical financial information  
20.2 Pro forma financial information  
20.3 Financial statements 
20.4 Auditing of historical annual financial information  
20.5 Age of latest financial information 
20.6 Interim and other financial information  
20.7 Dividend policy 
20.8 Legal and arbitration proceedings 
20.9 Significant change in the issuer’s financial or trading position 

 
 

4-5, 160-162, 207-208 
N/A 

160 to 203 
203-204, 224-225 

159, 205 
N/A 
156 

31 
N/A  

21. Additional information 
21.1 Share capital  

21.1.1. The amount of issued capital, and for each class of share capital 
(a) the number of shares authorised; 
(b) the number of shares issued and fully paid and issued but not fully paid; 
(c) the par value per share, or that the shares have no par value; and  
(d) a reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and end of the year. If 
more than 10% of capital has been paid for with assets other than cash within the period covered 
by the historical financial information, state that fact; 
21.1.2. If there are shares not representing capital, state the number and main characteristics of 
such shares; 
21.1.3. The number, book value and face value of shares in the issuer held by or on behalf of the 
issuer itself or by subsidiaries of the issuer; 
21.1.4. The amount of any convertible securities, exchangeable securities or securities with 
warrants, with an indication of the conditions governing and the procedures for conversion, 
exchange or subscription; 
21.1.5. Information about and terms of any acquisition rights and/or obligations over authorised 
but unissued capital or an undertaking to increase the capital; 
21.1.6. Information about any capital of any member of the group which is under option or agreed 
conditionally or unconditionally to be put under option and details of such options including the 
identity of those persons to whom such options relate; 
21.1.7. A history of share capital, highlighting information about any changes, for the period 
covered by the historical financial information. 

 
115 to 128 

 

115 
 

115 
 

115 
 

115, 116, 118 
 

120 
 

120 
 

125 to 128 
 

119 
 
 

125 to 128 
 

117-118 
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Headings of Appendix 1 of EC Regulation No. 809/2004 Page No. in this registration document 
21.2 Memorandum and Articles of Association 

21.2.1. A description of the issuer’s objects and purposes and where they can be found in the 
memorandum and articles of association. 
21.2.2. A summary of any provisions of the issuer's articles of association, statutes, charter or 
bylaws with respect to the members of the administrative, management and supervisory bodies. 
21.2.3. A description of the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to each class of the 
existing shares 
21.2.4. A description of what action is necessary to change the rights of holders of the shares, 
indicating where the conditions are more significant than is required by law. 
21.2.5. A description of the conditions governing the manner in which annual general meetings and 
extraordinary general meetings of shareholders are called including the conditions of admission. 
21.2.6. A brief description of any provision of the issuer's articles of association, statutes, charter or 
bylaws that would have an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the 
issuer. 
21.2.7. An indication of the articles of association, statutes, charter or bylaw provisions, if any, 
governing the ownership threshold above which shareholder ownership must be disclosed. 
21.2.8. A description of the conditions imposed by the memorandum and articles of association 
statutes, charter or bylaw governing changes in the capital, where such conditions are more 
stringent than is required by law. 

 

 
67-68 

 
81 

 
115 

 
67 to 72 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
122 

 
N/A 

22. Material contracts  149 
23. Third party information, statements by experts and declarations of interest                                           N/A 

24. Documents on display  239 

25. Information on holdings 6, 166-167, 214  
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TABLE OF CROSS-REFERENCES WITH THE REQUIRED DISCLOSURES  
IN THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT AND THE MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Annual financial report 

This Registration Document includes all of the items in the Annual Financial Report mentioned in Articles L.451-1-2 I of 
the French Monetary and Financial Code and 222-3 of the AMF General Regulation.  
The following table of cross-references refers to excerpts from the Registration Document corresponding to the 
various sections of the Annual Financial Report. 
 

Items required by articles L.451-1-1 of the French Monetary and Financial Code  
and 222-3 of the AMF General Regulations 

Pages 

1. Consolidated financial statements of the Group 159 and sq 

2. Annual financial statements of the Company 205 and sq 
3. Management report  See below 
4. Annual financial report responsibility statement 235 
5. Auditors’ report  203-204, 224-225 
6. Statutory Auditors’ fees 238 
7. Chairman's report on the make-up, preparation and organisation of the work of the Board of Directors and 

internal control and risk management procedures 
73 to 98 

8. Statutory Auditors' Report on the Chairman's report on the Board 99-100 

 
  



Chapter 10 

Table of cross-references 
 
 

2013 Registration Document  245 

Management report 

The Management Report for fiscal 2012 reporting on items mentioned below is included in this registration document. 
This report was approved by the Board of Directors of Naturex S.A on 27 March 2013. 
 

Disclosures required by the French Commercial Code, the French Monetary and Financial Code, the 
French General Tax Code and the AMF General Regulations 

Pages 

Analysis of changes in the business development, results and financial position of the Company for the 
period ended (L.225-100 and L.232-1 of the French commercial code) 

150 to 157 

Analysis of changes in the business development, results and financial position of the Group for the period 
ended (L.225-100-2 and L.233-26 of the French commercial code) 

133 to 149 

Results of subsidiaries and controlled companies by division (L.223-6 of the French commercial code) 195, 214 

Trend forecasts and outlook (L.232-1 and L.233-6 of the French commercial code) 158 

Research and development activities (L.232-1 and L.233-26 of the French commercial code) 155, 173, 197, 
222 

Acquisition of holdings in companies having their registered office in France (L.233-6 of the French 
commercial code) 

166, 214 

Information on environmental issues and environmental impacts of the business activity (L.225-100, L.225-
102-1 and R.225-105 of the French commercial code) 

48-57 

Information on employee issues and social consequences of the business activity (L.225-100, L.225-102-1 
and R.225-104 of the French commercial code) 

36-47 

Description of the main risks and uncertainties (L.225-100 and L.225-100-2 of the French commercial code) 24-31 

Group financial risk management policy (L.225-100 and L.225-100-2 of the French commercial code) 24, 192-194 

Group exposure to price, credit, liquidity and cash flow risks (L.225-100 and L.225-100-2 of the French 
commercial code) 

24-26, 192-194 

Summary of authorisations in force granted by the General Meeting to the Board of Directors for capital 
increases and uses made of these authorisations during the year (L.225-100 of the French commercial 
code) 

119 

Factors having a potential impact in the event of public share offers (article L.225-100-3 of the French 
commercial code) 

101-114, 120-128 

Employee stock ownership on the last day of the year (L.225-102 of the French commercial code) 121 

Aged trial balance information for payables (L.441-6-1 of the French commercial code) 154 

Five-year financial highlights (R.225-102 of the French commercial code) 155 

Shareholders holding more than 5% of the capital; treasury shares (L.233-13 of the French commercial 
code) 

120 

Summary of trading in own shares of the Company by executives (L.621-18-2 of the French monetary and 
financial code and 223-26 and the AMF General Regulation) 

114 

Total remuneration and benefits of any kind paid to executive officers (L.225-102-1 of the French 
commercial code) 

106-113 

Offices and responsibilities exercised in any company by each executive officer during the year (L.225-102-
1 of the French commercial code) 

101-106 

Information on trading in own shares (L.225-211 of the French commercial code) 122-124 

Amount of dividends distributed for the last three years (243 bis of the French general tax code) 156 

Changes in the presentation of annual financial statements (L.232-6 of the French commercial code) N/A 
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